

13.1.3 IIROC Amendments to Implement the CSA Registration Reform Project

INVESTMENT INDUSTRY REGULATORY ORGANIZATION OF CANADA (“IIROC”) AMENDMENTS TO IMPLEMENT THE CSA REGISTRATION REFORM PROJECT

I OVERVIEW

The Canadian Securities Administrators, (the Securities Regulatory Authorities or SRAs), the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada Inc. (IIROC) and the Mutual Fund Dealers Association (MFDA) have worked jointly on a project – the Registration Reform Project – to modernize, streamline and harmonize registration and approval requirements for dealers and their registered individuals. The project has resulted in a proposal to harmonize securities legislation across the CSA jurisdictions and the development of proposed National Instrument (NI) 31-103 – Registration Requirements, intended to be adopted by all CSA jurisdictions.

IIROC and its predecessor, the Investment Dealers Association of Canada (IDA) have been involved to provide policy recommendations and ensure that there is no inconsistency between CSA and IIROC regulations regarding registration requirements.

A Current Rules

Rule 1 contains the definitions of terms used in the Rules.

Rule 4 establishes rules regarding the establishment of branch offices of Dealer Members, branch membership in district councils and requirements for appointment and the qualification and approval of branch managers.

Rule 7 establishes requirements regarding the qualification and approval of partners, directors and officers of Dealer Members.

Rule 18 establishes requirements regarding the qualification and approval of Registered Representatives (RRs) and Investment Representatives (IRs) of Dealer Members.

Rule 20 establishes the authority and processes of decision-making panels. In particular, it establishes the authority of and the processes through which District Councils can accept or reject registration applications, impose terms or conditions on the approval of applications and grant exemptions to rule requirements.

Rule 29 sets a number of conduct standards for Dealer Members and Approved Persons. In particular, Rule 29.27 establishes supervision and compliance requirements.

Rule 38 establishes executive-level positions and processes within a Dealer Member designed to ensure that compliance becomes part of a Dealer Member’s corporate governance, including the appointment of senior executives responsible for compliance and the involvement of a Dealer Member’s Board of Directors or similar body.

Rule 40 establishes requirements for the filing of approval applications and notices of changes to information on Approved Persons through the National Registration Database.

Rule 1300 governs the opening and supervision of client accounts, including requirements for the handling of managed accounts and the qualification and approval of discretionary portfolio managers at Dealer Members.

Rule 1800 governs the conduct of exchange-listed commodity futures business by Dealer Members, including the qualification and approval of persons conducting or supervising such business.

Rule 1900 governs the conduct of exchange-listed options business by Dealer Members, including the qualification and approval of persons conducting or supervising such business.

Rule 2500 establishes minimum supervision standards for opening, operating and supervising retail accounts designed to meet the more general requirements of Rule 1300.

Rule 2700 sets the parameters under which an account can be treated as an institutional account and establishes minimum supervision standards for opening, operating and supervising institutional accounts designed to meet the more general requirements of Rule 1300.

Rule 2900 establishes proficiency requirements for approval in specific capacities. Part I establishes the requirement; Part II specifies exemptions from the Part I requirements and establishes requirements to re-qualify after periods of not being approved in a capacity.

B Issue

Changes need to be made to the current IIROC registration related rules to make them consistent with the objectives of the CSA Registration Reform Project proposals. The proposed new rules are designed to implement the approach and objectives of the Registration Reform Project in the IIROC Dealer Member Rules.

C Objectives

The objectives of the rule changes are for the most part those of the Registration Reform Project:

1. Simplify the categories of approval and eliminate rote, follow-on approvals, such as approvals to trade specific products that are based almost entirely on meeting specific proficiency requirements, in favour of notice processes.
2. Derive approval requirements from functions rather than titles. In this regard, the rule changes propose ceasing to approve all those with specific officer titles, instead approving those exercising executive management functions at a Dealer Member – the “mind and management” of the Dealer Member.
3. Modernize registration-related requirements on Dealer Members, moving to the extent reasonable to a principles-based approach. In this regard they remove as far as possible prescriptive structural requirements that are not appropriate to all of the different types of Dealer Members’ businesses and business models, such as requirements to place supervisory responsibilities on resident branch managers of all business locations about a certain size. They will therefore give Dealer Members greater flexibility to develop compliance and supervision structures and processes appropriate for their size, type(s) of business, business structures, systems and resources.
4. Harmonize as far as possible the IIROC Rules with those of the SRAs and MFDA. Where harmonization is not possible, ensure that there is no conflict between SRA and IIROC rules. In general, conflicts occur where IIROC has more elaborate rules, such as capital rules and the suitability regime, and in those cases the proposal includes a provision that some sections do not apply to IIROC Dealer Members. Where NI 31-103 sets a standard applicable to IIROC Dealer Members that would be in conflict, such as eligibility for registration/approval as Ultimate Designated Person, the proposed rule changes harmonize the IIROC Rules with proposed NI 31-103.

Some of the proposed rule changes are housekeeping or are directed at improving the clarity of the rules. Where extensive changes are made the revised rules are written in plainer language, and related but unchanged parts have been rewritten to conform to the plain language style of the new provisions¹. There have also been a few deletions of transitional provisions that are no longer required, such as the transition provisions in Rule 40 required to get Approved Person data into the NRD System.

D Effect of Proposed Rules

The proposed amendments will make the Rules consistent with the goals of the CSA Registration Reform Project.

The proposed amendments will give Dealer Members greater flexibility in designing their compliance systems. In doing so they may result in savings to Dealer Members by permitting them to take more efficient approaches. However, cost savings are not the objective of the proposed amendments and the Corporation will review changes to Dealer Member systems as part of its normal business conduct reviews to ensure that changes result in systems that are at least as effective as those prescribed by the current Rules.

The proposed amendments will require Dealer Members to maintain extensive records of both Approved Persons and assignment of responsibilities. In the case of Approved Persons, some Dealer Members currently rely on the NRD System for their own record keeping in ways that they will not be able to after implementation of the proposed amendments. In that case the proposed amendments may increase registration record keeping costs of some Dealer Members.

II DETAILED ANALYSIS OF RECOMMENDED PROPOSAL

A Proposed Amendments

Overview

The following describes the main overall effect of the proposed amendments. Some of the changes necessary to achieve the results described are spread through more than one Rule.

¹ The plain language changes are not part of the IIROC Rule Rewrite Project and have not been reviewed by plain-language experts.

1. Simplification of approval categories

The Corporation currently has 46 approval categories for individuals; the proposed amendments reduce the number to 9².

Each category now represents a different conjunction of five elements:

- (1) the type of trading activity – trading, order-taking only, advisory or portfolio management;
- (2) the type(s) of product(s): securities, mutual funds only, options or commodities;
- (3) type of client: retail or non-retail
- (4) the individual's position with the Dealer Member: representative, partner, officer or director;
- (5) supervisory responsibilities: Ultimate Designated Person, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Compliance Officer, Alternate Designated Person or Branch Manager; and

Each element of an approved person's function includes a specific proficiency requirement. As any of these items changes, the Dealer Member has to file an application for a category change and, if necessary, notification of completion of the applicable proficiency requirements.

The proposed amendments simplify the categories by focusing solely on functions. These are:

- (1) Investment Representative: approved to take unsolicited orders
- (2) Registered Representative: approved to give investment advice
- (3) Trader: approved to enter orders into the trading systems of specific exchanges
- (4) Supervisor: approved to supervise the business activities of other approved persons
- (5) Executive: approved to participate in the executive management of a Dealer Member
- (6) Director: approved to sit on the Board of Directors of a Dealer Member or occupy a similar position in a Dealer Member not organized as a corporation
- (7) Ultimate Designated Person: the Chief Executive Officer of a Dealer Member or person in a similar position, approved to have overall responsibility for the Dealer Member's compliance with laws and regulations, including the Rules, governing its securities-related activities;
- (8) Chief Financial Officer, approved to be responsible for ensuring that the Dealer Member complies with the financial adequacy requirements of the Rules;
- (9) Chief Compliance Officer, approved to be responsible for ensuring that the Dealer Member has systems and controls reasonably designed to ensure its compliance with laws and regulations, including the Rules, governing its business conduct.

Under the proposal, specifics as to the types of products, clients and services will be information items, but will remain subject to proficiency requirements. They will be reported in initial applications, but subsequent changes will require only notification that the Approved Person has completed the necessary proficiencies and will be undertaking the applicable business activity. There will be no approval by IIROC staff, only a check, which may come after the fact, that the Dealer Member has disclosed the completion of the necessary proficiency requirements.

2. Merging of supervisory categories and implementation of a principles-based approach to supervision

The Rules currently require that each location of a Dealer Member have a Branch Manager who is approved as such by the Corporation. A location having less than 3 or 4 RRs (depending on the rules of local SRA) may be designated as a sub-branch supervised by the resident Branch Manager of a full branch. Dealer Member Rule 2500 sets out specific account supervision requirements for Branch Managers of retail branches.

² There is one other category – Investor under Rule 5 – that is not covered in the proposals.

While establishing one effective method of supervising branch retail activity, the current requirements restrict Dealer Members from adopting any other supervisory structure and therefore from being innovative in the way they supervise business conduct. They are inappropriate for Dealer Members conducting non-retail or non-advisory other businesses, for example institutional sales and trading, proprietary trading and suitability-exempt discount brokerage.

The current requirements do not fit many business models of Dealer Members. For example, under the current regulations a Branch Manager is responsible for all activity in the branch. However, a large branch may also do institutional business, research and corporate finance that a Branch Manager does not have the necessary expertise to supervise. Those doing those types of business may in fact report directly to a department supervisor in the Dealer Member's head office.

The proposed rule changes remove the forced structural element of the Branch Manager requirements, merging all supervisory categories into one: Supervisor. Current Branch Managers will become approved in that category, as will other specific supervisory categories including product-specific supervisors such as options and futures contracts principals. As with trading categories, the proficiency requirements to supervise specific types of activity will remain. Changes in proficiency and types of business being supervised will be matters of notice.

In place of the prescribed positions and functions, Dealer Members will be required to maintain detailed historical records of their supervisory structures and the persons responsible for fulfilling specific supervisory functions.

The proposed rule changes continue to require that specific persons be designated to perform specific functions, such as overall supervision of options or futures trading, portfolio supervision and retail account supervision. However, under the proposed rules those fulfilling those functions will no longer have a separate category and approval requirement; they will be approved as Supervisors³. Dealer Members will be required to maintain historical records as to who fulfills those designated roles, and their alternates.

The proposed amendments are not intended to eliminate the branch manager structure as a viable way of supervising business activity. Dealer Members will still be able to designate branch managers and assign them the same responsibilities currently contained in the Rules. However, they will be approved as Supervisors. The proposed rules contain no restrictions on the use of most currently used titles such as Branch Manager.

Proposed changes to Dealer Member Rule 2500 make it more of a guidance document, but establish the two-tier method of retail account supervision prescribed in the current Rule as an acceptable option rather than a specific requirement. This change will permit Dealer Members to develop alternative approaches to supervision.

The proposed revisions to Dealer Member Rule 2500 also include new guidance designed to give effect to the more principles-based approach, and additions designed to more fully delineate some requirements, including:

- Guidelines for a risk-based approach to selecting accounts for supervisory review;
- A general requirement that Dealer Member's account opening procedures take into account gatekeeper obligations;
- A restriction preventing ongoing trading in an account when a fully completed new account form has not been approved;
- A requirement that Dealer Members restrict the ability to update customer information on their electronic systems and have means independent of the RR handling an account for verifying significant changes to client information;
- Expanded descriptions of requirements regarding placing restrictions on the types of strategies to be used in options and futures accounts;
- An expanded description of the available means of monitoring losses and loss limits in futures accounts.

3. Limiting partner / officer / director registration to the mind and management of the Dealer Member

The current rules require approval of all partners, directors and senior officers of Dealer Members. "Senior officers" include any persons having titles listed in Dealer Member Rule 1: Chairman, Vice-Chairman, President, Vice-President, Treasurer, Secretary and General Manager. Anyone using any of those titles is required to have the Approval of the Corporation in the position and to complete the Partners, Directors and Senior Officers Qualifying Examination (PDO).

³ A proposed change to Dealer Member Rule 1 defines "Designated Supervisor" as a person fulfilling one of these roles. However, "Designated Supervisor" is not proposed as an approval category. The term is defined because of frequent references to specific "Designated Supervisors" in the proposed amendments. Each reference to a Designated Supervisor in the proposed amendments contains a reference to which Designated Supervisor where the reference is not apparent from the context.

Many Dealer Members appoint individuals to positions like Vice-President in recognition of seniority and accomplishment, even though they have no involvement in the actual management of the Dealer Member. They are first required to complete the PDO, which focuses on corporate governance issues in the securities industry that are irrelevant to their actual functions.

Changes to partnership structures have also made the current rules outdated. Partnership interests set up for compensation purposes but that do not include the ability to bind the partnership continue to be treated as full partnerships, requiring Approval by the Organization and completion of the PDO.

The proposed rules deal with these problems by focusing on the function of managing a Dealer Member rather than on specific titles. Those filling executive management functions, the "mind and management" of the Dealer Member, will have to apply and be approved in the Executive category, whatever their title, and will continue to have to complete the PDO.

4. Bringing the Ultimate Designated Person and Chief Compliance Officer categories into the approval system and making them consistent with NI 31-103

Dealer Member Rule 38.1 requires the appointment of one of a Dealer Member's senior management to the role of Ultimate Designated Person (UDP) to "be responsible to the [Corporation] for the conduct of the firm and the supervision of its employees." Those eligible to take the position are "its Chief Executive Officer, its President, its Chief Operating Officer or its Chief Financial Officer (or such other officer designated with the equivalent supervisory and decision-making responsibility)."

Dealer Member Rule 38.1 ensures that at least one person in a senior management position has direct, individual responsibility for compliance and supervision matters.

Proposed NI 31-103 adopts the UDP requirement, but requires that it be occupied by the Chief Executive Officer. The proposed changes include an amendment to Dealer Member Rule 38 to make it consistent with proposed NI 31-103 in that regard. Dealer Members will be subject to the NI 31-103 provision therefore it would be impractical and confusing to retain the current Rule provision and risk having different people in the same role, one under NI 31-103 and the other under Dealer Member Rule 38.

Proposed NI 31-103 includes UDP and CCO as registration categories. At present Dealer Member Rule 38 requires a Dealer Member to appoint senior officers to those positions, but does not contain any requirement for them to be Approved by the Corporation to occupy those roles. The proposed amendments require Approval by the Corporation of UDPs and CCOs, giving the Corporation authority to refuse Approval or grant it subject to conditions.

5. Eliminating transfer of Approval delays

The current process for an IR or RR to transfer from one Dealer Member to another involves an application for transfer filed through NRD and Approved by the Corporation. NI 31-103 proposes a new process under which an individual's registration with a new firm will, for the first 90 days after termination of employment at the previous registered firm, be granted automatically at the time a transfer filing through NRD. The exact details of the filing are not yet determined because of NRD technical issues. The new process will eliminate any waiting time for the review and approval of a transfer application.

The proposed amendments will implement the same process for the transfer of Approved Persons between Dealer Members. As with the proposed NI31-103, automatic transfers will be made only when there is no change of category involved.

Because there is no waiting for transfer of an Approval, it is essential that the Corporation have the power to act if it later receives information that calls into question the fitness or propriety of the transferring person. In most cases, such as when an investigation has been launched, information received is not sufficient to deny or revoke Approval, but raises enough questions to warrant putting conditions on the individual's Approval until the matter is resolved. The most frequent conditions are close or strict supervision.

It is therefore important to ensure that the Corporation has the authority to impose conditions on an existing approval. The proposed amendments include changes to Dealer Member Rule 20.18 to make that authority clear.

6. Repeal or amendment of Outmoded or Redundant Provisions

The proposed amendments include deletion or amendment of the following outmoded provisions⁴:

- Dealer Member Rule 7.4(c) requiring a Dealer Member to have two officers, at least one of whom must be full-time;
- Dealer Member Rule 7.7 regarding multiple employment of officers

⁴ The rationale for each deletion or amendment is provided in the detailed descriptions of the amendments to each Rule below.

- Dealer Member Rule 18.13 requiring notice of Approvals by the Corporation to be sent to SRAs and SROs.
- Dealer Member Rule 18.14 requiring an undertaking by Dealer Members to supervise employees with outside business activities
- Dealer Member Rules 40.1(17) and (18), 40.10 and 40.13 governing requirements for the transition to NRD
- Dealer Member Rule 1300.5 regarding a reference to a Corporation staff position that no longer performs the function
- Dealer Member Rules 1300.5(e) and 1300.8(d) regarding use of a specific delivery method for a notice
- Dealer Member Rules 1800.2(e) and (f) requiring an office trading futures contracts or futures contracts options to have two people approved to do so
- Dealer Member Rule 1800.6 regarding dealings in futures with institutions and registered firms
- Dealer Member Rule 1900.4 and 1900.7 regarding opening and supervision of options accounts
- Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part VII.E regarding managed accounts

7. Miscellaneous changes

The proposed amendments include miscellaneous amendments designed to promote consistency and reflect current practice:

- References in Dealer Member Rules 7 and 18 to remuneration in relation to the sale or placement of securities are changed to refer to “securities-related activities” to reflect the application of the Rules to ancillary activities that may fall outside of a strict definition of “placed or sale of securities.”
- A new Dealer Member Rule 1.3 has been added to clarify that the onus for compliance with the Rules falls on both Dealer Members and their Approved Persons where the Rules refer only to Dealer Members. Similarly, Dealer Member Rule 18.2 has been amended to clarify the onus on both Dealer Members and individuals.
- In places such as Dealer Member Rule 18.2 where rules relating to securities also cover futures contracts, references to futures contract have been added.
- Proposed new Dealer Member Rule 18.7 limits the period during which an IR or RR can be restricted to mutual funds business.
- A proposed replacement for Dealer Member Rules 18.16 and 18.17 regarding use of titles contains a general prohibition against the use of misleading titles or designations.
- Proposed amendments to Dealer Member Rule 1300.4 regarding discretionary accounts makes controls on such accounts consistent with those on managed accounts
- A proposed amendment to Dealer Member Rule 2700 makes it consistent with proposed NI 31-103 by incorporating the concept of “permitted clients” from NI 31-103. For most “permitted clients” the Dealer Member can accept a waiver from the client that removes any suitability obligation to the client. The proposed provision is limited because it does not apply to the individuals that can be “permitted clients” under the proposed NI 31-103 definition.
- A proposed amendment to Dealer Member Rule 2900, Part I.A.6 adds options for the supervision of those managing discretionary portfolios during the first two years of their portfolio management, a period during which they would be in the category Associate Portfolio Manager under the current categories. The amendment permits the supervision to be done by a qualified person at another Dealer Member or a registered adviser under Canadian securities legislation.

Detailed descriptions of specific amendments

The following explains the specific proposed amendments, rule by rule:

Dealer Member Rule 1

A definition of “Business Location” will be added. The term is used in the proposed changes to Dealer Member Rule 4 with regard to membership in a District, and the proposed changes to Dealer Member Rule 40 to require notification through NRD of

business locations. It is limited to those locations housing individuals requiring Approval by the Corporation, i.e. it excludes those housing only operations such as back office functions. It refers only to locations used on a regular and ongoing basis. The factors to be taken into account in determining whether a location is used on a regular and ongoing basis will be the subject of guidance.

The term “Designated Person” will be replaced with “Designated Supervisor.” The current definition lists a number of registration categories or positions that will be eliminated or changed under the proposed amendments. The definition of “Designated Supervisor” is more general, referring to anyone assigned a supervisory role defined in the Rules, whether or not listed in the definition. Those positions already designated under the proposed Dealer Member Rules are listed as exemplary rather than exhaustive of the general definition. “Designated Supervisor” is not itself an Approval category. Those having specific designated roles will be Approved as Supervisors.

A definition of “Director” will be added, to include members of the Board of Directors of the Corporation or of a Dealer Member, as the context indicates, or anyone performing a like function in a Dealer Member that is not a corporation.

“Executive” will be defined to be a partner, director or officer of a Dealer Member involved in its management as a corporation or other entity. The definition includes a non-exhaustive list of typical roles or titles for such people drawn in part from the deleted definition of “Senior Officer,” and adds members of any executive management committee.

A definition of “Institutional Customer” will be added, drawn from Dealer Member Rule 2700, as the revisions use the term in other Rules.

The definitions of “Investment Representative” and “Registered Representative” will be broadened. The current definitions:

- exclude those who trade in or advise on exempt debt securities and non-exchange traded options and futures (because of the definitions of those products in Dealer Member Rules 1800 and 1900);
- exclude investment products not defined as securities under Provincial securities legislation such as guaranteed investment certificates
- exclude those who only trade on the Dealer Member’s behalf.

All of these activities fall within the Corporation’s regulatory ambit and should trigger a requirement for Approval, so the exclusions will be deleted. Proposed NI 31-103 also makes it clear that proprietary trading falls within the registration requirements.

A definition of “Retail Customer” will be added, being any customer that is not an institutional customer. The term is used with regard to the requirement to disclose the types of business in which an IR or RR will engage under the revisions to Approval categories in Dealer Member Rule 1800.

The definitions of “Officer,” “Sales Manager,” “Senior Officer,” and “Sub branch Office” will be deleted as they are no longer necessary under the proposed revisions.

A definition of “Supervisor” will be added. It defines the new Approval category for anyone given supervisory responsibility by a Dealer Member. It requires that a Supervisor have both the responsibility and authority to supervise others, but restricts the goal of that supervision to compliance with laws or regulations dealing with the Dealer Member’s securities-related activities. The restriction means that there may be supervisors whose authority deals solely with operational or other issues that are not subject to securities-related legal or regulatory requirements and who are not, therefore, required to be approved by the Corporation as Supervisors.

A new Dealer Member Rule section 1.3 will be added to state that where the context indicates, references in any Rule to a Dealer Member includes its partners, directors, officers, employees and agents. The numbers of subsequent sections have been increased accordingly. The new section is intended to make it clear that a requirement or prohibition placed on a Dealer Member is equally applicable to the individuals through whom the Dealer Member acts.

Dealer Member Rule 4

Dealer Member Rule 4 will be changed to refer to Business Locations instead of Branch and Sub-Branch Offices.

Most of Dealer Member Rule 4 will be repealed to reflect the elimination of the currently mandatory Branch Office supervision structure.

Dealer Member Rule sections 4.1 through 4.5 deal with eligibility to join a District and attend District meetings. The term “Branch Office Member” of a district will be retained for that purpose.

The proposed amendments rewrite the remaining sections in plain language.

Current Dealer Member Rule section 4.6(c) will be kept as Rule 4.6; Rules 4.6(a) and (b) will be deleted. The current provisions require the Approval of the Corporation to open or close Branch and Sub-Branch Offices; the proposed section 4.6 will require Dealer Members to notify the Corporation of the opening and closing of Business Locations. The Corporation staff uses Business Location information in conducting its oversight of Dealer Members’ compliance and supervision systems so it is important that the Corporation know where Dealer Members conduct business with the public.

Dealer Member Rule 7

Under the proposed amendments, Dealer Member Rule 7 will be amended to replace requirements relating to partners and directors with requirements relating to Directors and requirements relating to officers with requirements relating to Executives, limiting their application to the “mind and management” of the Dealer Member.

The proposed amendments to Dealer Member Rule section 7.3 change the requirements as described above with regard to a Dealer Member’s Directors. 40% must meet proficiency and experience requirements and be actively involved in the Dealer Member’s business or occupy an Executive or Director role at a related or affiliated dealer or financial institution.

The proposed amendments to Dealer Member Rule section 7.4 change the requirements as described above with regard to a Dealer Member’s Executives, who must all meet proficiency and experience requirements and be actively involved in the Dealer Member’s business or be an Executive or Director or have a similar role to Executive or Director in a related or affiliated dealer or financial institution.

Current Dealer Member Rule sections 7.3 and 7.4 give examples of affiliated financial institutions, all Canadian. The Corporation now has Dealer Members, some resident primarily in the United States, in which the Executives are also Executives of U.S. parent companies or affiliates. The examples of affiliated or related financial institutions will therefore be removed in the proposed amendments.

Dealer Member Rule subsection 7.4(c) currently requires a Dealer Member to have two officers, at least one full-time. The diversification of business types among Dealer Members has made this provision obsolete. Some Dealer Members only have officers that spend most of their time working for an affiliate. The Corporation has also had small Dealer Members, introducing brokers, having only one Executive but forced to appoint someone else simply to fulfill the requirements of the section. The proposed amendments therefore include repeal of section 7.4(c).

Dealer Member Rule section 7.5 establishes a requirement for a Dealer Member to appoint a Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and the proficiency requirement at the CFO must meet. Under the proposed amendments the requirement will be moved to Dealer Member Rule 38 so that all of the requirements for specific Executive positions are in one Rule. Dealer Member Rule 38 contains the requirements to appoint an Ultimate Designated Person and a Chief Compliance Officer. All following sections will be renumbered accordingly.

Current Dealer Member Rule section 7.7 (renumbered 7.6) permits an officer to be employed at an affiliated Dealer Member or non-Dealer Member dealer, subject to conditions and where permitted by the laws of the jurisdiction where the individual is employed. This section will be deleted as unnecessary. There is no prohibition from such multiple employment under NI 31-103 so a permissive section is unnecessary. NI 31-103 prevents multiple registrations except with affiliates. The current section also contains specific disclosure requirements to deal with conflicts of interest, while proposed NI 31-103 takes a principles-based approach to dealing with conflicts of interest. The NI 31-103 approach will apply to Dealer Members after the repeal of current Dealer Member Rule 7.7.

Current Dealer Member Rule section 7.8, to be renumbered 7.6, deals with proficiency requirements for individuals owning more than 10% of the voting securities of a Dealer Member. The references to voting securities will be changed to “a voting interest of 10% or more in the Dealer Member” to recognize the multiple forms of organization of Dealer Members.

Current Dealer Member Rule section 7.9, to be renumbered 7.7, prohibits Directors and Executives from accepting compensation from anyone other than the Dealer Member or its affiliates or related companies “in connection with the sale or placement of securities on behalf of any of them.” The latter reference will be changed to the “securities-related activities of any of them.” As the variety of services provided by Dealer Members in relation to securities transactions has broadened, to include such activities as advisory services to issuers and financial planning services to clients, application of the Rules has also broadened to ensure that such activities are conducted and compensated through the Dealer Member. The reference to the placement or sale of securities is therefore narrower than required.

Dealer Member Rule 18

Dealer Member Rule section 18.1 defines “recognized stock exchange” for the purposes of the Rule. The term is not used in the proposed revisions, so the section will be repealed.

Dealer Member Rule section 18.2 contains the requirement for RRs to be Approved. It will be amended as follows:

- It currently prohibits a Dealer Member employing anyone as an RR or IR unless registered by the appropriate SRA and approved by the Corporation. It will be rewritten to prohibit individuals from acting as RRs or IRs unless registered or approved and to eliminate the reference to employment in favour of one to acting on a Dealer Member’s behalf, which encompasses both employer/employee and principal/agent relationships.
- References to trading in securities will be amended to add trading in futures contracts.
- The registration requirement will be made more explicit by adding that it applies to both the Dealer Member and the individual RR or IR, that it applies in any jurisdiction in which a customer of the Dealer Member or RR resides and that the Dealer Member or individual need not be registered if they are exempt from the jurisdiction’s registration or licensing requirements.
- A new subsection (b) will require a Dealer Member to notify the Corporation prior to an IR or RR beginning to conduct any of the following types of business: retail, institutional, mutual funds only, options, futures and portfolio management. This will replace previous requirements to apply for approval in specific categories dealing with each type of business. The types of business are aligned similarly to current categories – related to types of customers, products and services. They are defined to show where an IR or RR is restricted to a particular type of customer or product or can combine multiple types of customer or product.
- A new subsection (c) will prohibit an IR or RR from conducting a type of business and the Dealer Member from permitting him or her doing so before the notice in subsection (b) has been made and notice has been provided to the Corporation that the IR or RR has completed the required proficiencies. The section also notes, for greater clarity, that the initial application for approval of an IR or RR is a form of notice of the types of business listed on the application.

Dealer Member Rule section 18.3 establishes the requirement that RRs and IRs complete the applicable proficiency requirements in Dealer Member Rule 2900. It will be rewritten to note that an exemption is an alternative to completing the proficiency requirement.

The current provision of Dealer Member Rule section 18.3 will be renumbered 18.3(a) and a new subsection (b) will be added containing a new statement of principle regarding proficiency: that a Dealer Member has an obligation to take reasonable steps to ensure that its IRs and RRs are proficient and understand the products they trade in as necessary to meet their regulatory obligations. A similar statement of principle is included in section 4.3 of proposed NI 31-103.

Current Dealer Member Rule sections 18.5 and 18.6 are duplicative. They set out the requirement for a new retail RR or IR to be closely supervised for his or her first six months. Current section 18.5 will therefore be repealed and 18.6 amended as follows:

- The starting date for the supervision will be the date of notification to the Corporation that the person will be conducting retail business. It therefore applies to a person who has previously conducted only non-retail business.
- The revised rule provides an exemption for anyone with six months of prior retail experience.

Dealer Member Rule section 18.7 currently permits RRs or IRs to be restricted to mutual funds only where permitted under Provincial securities laws and regulations. Several SRAs permit RRs and IRs with Dealer Members to be restricted permanently to mutual funds advice and trading. Others require that such persons complete the proficiencies to conduct full retail business within 270 days of initial registration with a Dealer Member. At present, some require that such persons upgrade to unrestricted registration, although the restricted category will no longer be included in proposed NI 31-103.

In order to develop a uniformity of practice across the country, a proposed revision to Dealer Member Rule section 18.7 will add a requirement for IRs and RRs restricted to mutual funds business to complete the necessary proficiency requirements to conduct full retail securities business within 270 days of initial approval, and to complete an upgrade to full retail or institutional business within a 18 months of initial approval. The 18 months provides time to complete the 6 month internal training program required for to conduct full retail business. Thereafter such persons will be required to complete the post-licensing requirements relevant to full retail or institutional business.

Because it would be unfair to force an upgrade on those already employed at Dealer Members who joined them with the intention, compatible with the rules at the time, of limiting their business to mutual funds only, the proposed revisions include a grandfathering provision for those restricted to mutual funds business on the effective date of the proposed amendments who are registered only in Provinces permitting the permanent restriction for employees or agents of Dealer Members.

Dealer Member Rule sections 18.8 and 18.9 establish approval categories that will not longer exist. They will therefore be repealed.

Dealer Member Rule section 18.11 is a statement of the Corporation's jurisdiction over RRs and IRs and their obligation to comply with the Rules and Rulings of the Corporation. It requires that an RR or IR cease acting as an RR or IR of a Dealer Member if their approval is revoked. It will be subdivided and rewritten to eliminate references to employment, since some RRs and IRs are agents rather than employees. However, the import of its provisions remains unchanged.

Dealer Member Rule section 18.13 requires the Corporation to give notice to all recognized stock exchanges and securities commission in Canada of approvals and terminations of approval of RRs and IRs. It has been rendered obsolete by the National Registration Database, to which all SRAs have access, and the transfer of member regulation functions from the stock exchanges to the Corporation. It will therefore be repealed.

Dealer Member Rule section 18.14 governs outside business activities of Approved Persons. Under the proposed rule changes, subsection (b) will be repealed. It requires that a Dealer Member acknowledge in writing its responsibility to supervise RRs or IRs with outside business activities. This section is unnecessary. A Dealer Member's duty to supervise RRs and IRs flows from its general supervision obligations and an acknowledgement is superfluous.

Dealer Member Rule section 18.15 prohibits RRs and IRs from accepting compensation from anyone other than their Dealer Member sponsor or its affiliates or related companies "in connection with the sale or placement of securities on behalf of" the Dealer Member or its affiliates or related companies. The reference to "sale or placement of securities" will be changed to "securities-related activities" so as to capture all activity, such as trading advice and financial planning, that is related to securities advice but is not directly the sale or placement of securities.

Dealer Member Rule section 18.16 limits the use of titles for RRs and IRs. When originally passed it proposed the use of the term "investment advisor" for RR's, but was rejected by some SRAs because of possible confusion with their Advisor registration category. It was then changed to use the terms "registered representative" and "investment representative" but has never been implemented because doing so would cause unnecessary cost and confusion at firms that use other designations. The proposed amendments change the section to a prohibition against using a designation that wrongly indicates that the RR or IR has been approved to or does conduct a type of business or fulfills a role requiring approval by the Corporation. An example would be calling an RR an "investment manager" when the RR is not qualified to manage client portfolios on a discretionary basis.

Dealer Member Rule section 18.17 permits an RR or IR to use a designation for which he or she has been approved under the Rules of the Corporation. The changes to section 18.16 noted above make it redundant and it will be deleted in the proposed amendments.

Dealer Member Rule 20

Dealer Member Rule 20 gives District Councils authority to grant initial Approval of individuals at a Dealer Member and their transfer to another Dealer Member.

Proposed amendments to Dealer Member Rule section 20.18 change the references to categories of approval to the new categories.

Proposed amendments to Rule 38 make appointments to the positions of Ultimate Designated Person, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Compliance Officer subject to Corporation. A proposed amendment to Rule 20.18(1) adds the granting of those approvals to the District Councils' authority.

The proposed amendments also remove references to the power of District Councils to grant applications for transfer. Changes to National Instrument 33-109 which are part of the CSA Registration Reform proposals will make transfers of SRA registration automatic provided that an application for transfer is made within 90 days of the termination of the individual's registration at another registered firm and there is no change of registration category. Proposed amendments to Dealer Member Rule 40 will make Corporation's transfer process consistent with that of the NI 33-109 revisions.

Proposed new section 20.18(3) gives District Councils the explicit authority to place conditions on the current approval of an Approved Person where it finds those conditions to be appropriate and in the interest of the public. This authority was inadvertently taken out of IDA By-law 20 during a previous revision.

The need for the Corporation to have the authority to impose conditions on an Approved Person is increased under the CSA Registration Reform proposals because individual transfers from one Dealer Member to another will be automatic on filing, within 90 days of termination from another Dealer Member, of an application to join a new Dealer Member. The Corporation needs the authority to impose terms and conditions if it discovers from a termination notice regarding a transferred Approved Person that there were problems at a previous firm giving cause to impose a condition such as strict supervision.

The proposed amendment will give a District Council the same authority to delegate the power in section 20.18(3) to a Sub-Committee as it has with the authorities to approve, refuse or impose conditions on an approval application.

A proposed amendment to section 20.19 makes it clear that Corporation staff or the Approved Person involved can appeal any decision under Rule 20.18, including a decision to impose conditions on an existing approval. It has been established through a Hearing Committee decision at the IDA that the individual has a right to be heard when the Registration Staff proposes to recommend conditions on an approval. That right is exercised through an opportunity to make written submissions.

Dealer Member Rule 29

Dealer Member Rule 29 includes a variety of provisions regarding business conduct.

Dealer Member Rule section 29.7 sets content and supervision standards for advertising, sales literature and correspondence of Dealer Members.

Dealer Member Rule sub-section 29.7(3) requires the appointment of partners, directors, officers or branch managers to review certain types of advertising, sales literature and correspondence prior to use. The proposed revisions will require the designation of one or more Supervisors to pre-approval each type of material. More than one Supervisor may be necessary because such material can be issued in multiple locations, to different types of clients and covering different types of products or trading. It is therefore appropriate to allow Dealer Members to appoint different Supervisors to accommodate differences in the material or location.

Dealer Member Rule section 29.27 outlines requirements on Dealer Members to supervise their business activity in a way reasonably designed to achieve compliance with laws and regulations, including the Corporation's, governing their securities and futures business.

The change in the proposed amendments in the direction of a more principles-based approach makes it appropriate to include the broad provisions regarding Dealer Member's compliance and supervision infrastructure in one place. The revisions therefore propose repealing section 29.27 and moving its provisions into an expanded Dealer Member Rule 38, which contains the high-level structural and accountability requirements, including the appointment of the UDP, CFO and CCO and the involvement of the Dealer Member's Board of Directors (or similar body) in its compliance system.

Dealer Member Rule 38

As noted above, the proposal includes the movement of current Dealer Member Rule section 7.5 regarding the Chief Financial Officer and Dealer Member Rule section 29.27 regarding general supervision requirements into Dealer Member Rule 38 to make Rule 38 a general regulation regarding compliance and supervision. The combined rule proposal is reorganized.

Dealer Member Rule 38 contains sections outlining the general duties of the Ultimate Designated Person (UDP) and Chief Compliance Officer (CCO). In order to make the description of the Chief Financial Officer role consistent, a new subsection 38.6(c) is added in the proposed amendments, setting out the general obligation of the Chief Financial Officer to ensure that the Dealer Member monitor adherence to the Dealer Members policies and procedures to provide reasonable assurance that the Dealer Member meets the financial rules of the Corporation.

The proposed changes include the following changes to the requirements currently in Dealer Member Rule section 29.27, both to ensure the adequacy of supervisory records maintained by Dealer Members:

- A provision in Dealer Member Rule subsection 38.1(v) requiring that Dealer Members keep records of the assignment of supervisory responsibility has been changed to include recording of the scope of the responsibility assigned;
- A new Dealer Member Rule subsection 38.4(b)(iv) in the section regarding delegation of functions. It will require that the Dealer Member record the terms of the delegation and the follow-up and review done to ensure that the delegate is properly conducting the delegated function.

A new Dealer Member Rule section 38.3 will establish the requirement from all Supervisors to be Approved by the Corporation. To ensure an onus on all parties, it will prohibit anyone from acting as a Supervisor and a Dealer Member from permitting any person to act as a Supervisor without the approval of the Corporation.

Proposed NI 31-103 limits eligibility for appointment as Ultimate Designated Person (UDP) to the Chief Executive Officer or someone holding a similar position. In order to make Dealer Member Rule 38 consistent with that limit, the proposed amendments will remove from Rule 38 the eligibility of the Chief Operating Officer or Chief Financial Office to occupy the UDP position.

Appointments to the UDP and Chief Compliance Officer (CCO) position are currently done by the Dealer Member with notice to the Corporation. Under proposed NI 31-103 they will be registration categories subject to an application process. As two critical roles in a Dealer Member's compliance system, it is appropriate that those appointed to them go through an application and approval process. The proposal therefore amends Dealer Member Rule 38 to require approval by the Corporation of both the UDP and CCO.

The current requirement is for the CCO to be an Alternate Designated Person (ADP), but the proposed amendments eliminate that category. The proposed amendments will therefore require that the CCO be an Executive.

Although not included explicitly in proposed NI 31-103, the SRAs have indicated that they are prepared to allow a registered firm to have more than one UDP and/or CCO where the firm is separated into distinct businesses having different reporting lines up to the Board level. The proposed amendments will continue to permit the appointment of more than one UDP and CCO under those circumstances, but will make doing so subject to approval by the Corporation so that Corporation and SRA staff can maintain consistency regarding the circumstances in which allowing more than one UDP and/or CCO is permitted.

As noted above, the Alternate Designated Person category is eliminated in the proposed amendments. Current ADPs will become Supervisors. The proposed amendments to current Dealer Member Rule section 38.6, moved in the amendments to section 38.2, will:

- Change the references to ADP to Supervisor.
- Add a general statement that a Dealer Member needs to appoint enough Supervisors to meet the goal of compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
- Add a requirement that the Dealer Member take reasonable steps to ensure that Supervisors understand the businesses they are supervising, including a minimum requirement that they meet the applicable proficiency requirements of Dealer Member Rule 2900.

Current Dealer Member Rule section 38.10 requires that ADPs report to the UDP as necessary. Supervisory structures will vary between firms depending on their size and the nature of their business. While all Supervisors may ultimately report to the UDP, section 38.10 implies a more direct reporting relationship that may be the case or may be necessary. The proposed amendments therefore include the repeal of current section 38.10.

Current Dealer Member Rule section 38.11 requires an annual compliance report to the Board by the CCO. The proposed amendments will add a requirement in Dealer Member Rule subsection 38.7(h), consistent with requirements in proposed NI 31-103, that the CCO have access to the UDP and Board at other times to report significant issues requiring their attention.

A proposed amendment to current Dealer Member Rule section 38.9, renumbered 38.8 in the proposed amendments, will require that the Board of a Dealer Member, or its equivalent, maintain records of the actions it decides to take in response to the annual compliance report and its monitoring to ensure that those actions are carried out.

Dealer Member Rule 40

Dealer Member Rule 40 sets out the requirements for filing of applications for Approval and notices related to Approval or changes in information regarding Approved Persons through the National Registration Database (NRD).

Many of the changes of category under the current rules will become changes of business type under the proposed amendments. They will become matters for filing notice rather than requiring an application and approval. The proposed amendments therefore include additions to Dealer Member Rule section 40.4, which deals with changes of category, to include notification through NRD of changes in business type. The amendments will require Dealer Members to ensure that the Corporation has received notice through NRD that the individual has completed the proficiencies (or received an exemption from them) necessary to conduct the new type of business. In some cases the individual may have completed them in the past, so no new notice will be required. In others the Dealer Member will be required to ensure that a notice that the person has met the proficiency requirements is filed at the same time as the notice of change in business type.

Under the proposed amendments, Dealer Member Rule 4 will no longer contain requirements regarding the approval of branch offices. However, the Corporation will continue to require information on the locations in which a Dealer Member conducts business with the public. Proposed amendments to Dealer Member Rule 40 therefore refer to "business locations" instead of

branch or sub-branch offices and will require that Dealer Members notify the Corporation through NRD of the opening or closing of business locations.

Dealer Member Rule subsections 40.1(17) and (18) and sections 40.10 and 40.13 are transitional provisions. As the transitional phases that they governed are now over, they are no longer necessary and will be repealed by proposed amendments.

Dealer Member Rule 1300

The proposed changes to Dealer Member Rule 1300 presuppose the approval and implementation of the proposed new account application guidelines in Dealer Member Rules 2500, 2700 and 3200 which are currently awaiting CSA approval.

Dealer Member Rule section 1300.2 will be amended to change references to a designated partner, officer or director to a designated Supervisor having overall responsibility for the opening of new accounts. A new subsection will permit a Designated Supervisor for each of retail business, institutional business and suitability-exempt discount business

The current requirements permit branch managers to approve the opening of new accounts. The proposed revisions will change this to Supervisors designated in the firm's policies and procedures. The section will also specify that the approval must be recorded.

The definitions in Dealer Member Rule section 1300.3 of "associate portfolio manager" and "futures contracts portfolio manager" will be repealed as they refer to categories that are being eliminated. The definition of "portfolio manager" will be changed to refer to an RR that has discretionary authority over managed accounts. These changes reflect the change from portfolio manager being a separate category to portfolio management being a separate service or type of business that qualified RRs can conduct.

Dealer Member Rule section 1300.4 provides for controls on discretionary accounts. The proposed amendments include a new requirement to designate a Supervisor to be responsible for discretionary accounts, who must approve each discretionary account and record that approval. A proposed amendment to Dealer Member Rule section 1300.6 will place special supervision responsibilities on the Designated Supervisor. Currently no specific supervisor needs to be designated for discretionary accounts; the approval and supervision roles fall to the partner, director or officer designated in Dealer Member Rule section 1300.2 as responsible for the opening and supervision of all accounts. While in some firms one person may be designated to fulfill both roles, it is important that there be specific designation of responsibility for discretionary accounts because of the additional risks of those accounts.

Another addition to Dealer Member Rule section 1300.4 will specify that a representative can only exercise discretionary authority over an account at his or her Dealer Member.

Proposed amendments to Dealer Member Rule subsections 1300.5(e) and 1300.8(d) will eliminate outmoded requirements to use prepaid mail to deliver notices.

A proposed amendment to Dealer Member Rule section 1300.7 governing managed accounts will eliminate a reference to approval of a portfolio manager. The section will continue to refer to "portfolio manager," but will be a defined term in the Rule rather than a separate Approval category. A proposed amendment to subsection (c) will require that the approval of managed accounts by a Supervisor be recorded.

Dealer Member Rule sections 1300.9 through 1300.13 provide for portfolio manager categories that are eliminated under the proposed new category structure. They are therefore repealed in the proposed amendments.

References in Dealer Member Rule section 1300.15 to designated partners, officers, directors or futures contract principals will be replaced by the proposed amendments with references to Supervisors.

The current registration categories include "Associate Portfolio manager." An Associate Portfolio Manager must be supervised by a full Portfolio Manager for two years before he or she is eligible to become a full Portfolio Manager. The proposed amendments make portfolio management a service rather than a registration category.

A new Dealer Member Rule subsection 1300.15(c) will replace the Associate Portfolio Manager with a supervision requirement. It will require that a person who has not previously provided portfolio management to clients for at least two years with a Dealer Member, a Provincially registered Advisor or a government-regulated institution (for example a trust company) must be supervised by another portfolio manager who is not under such supervision or by a Provincially registered Advisor under contract. The latter option is necessary because in smaller centres it can be difficult for Dealer Members wanting to provide portfolio management to hire a qualified person to provide the management or supervise those attempting to qualify to provide portfolio management.

Dealer Member Rule section 1300.15 requires a Dealer Member having managed accounts to establish a committee to conduct an annual review of its policies and procedures to supervise managed accounts. An amendment to this provision will require that the Chief Compliance Officer be a member of this committee because of the Chief Compliance Officer's overall responsibility for monitoring the effectiveness of the Dealer Member's policies and procedures.

Dealer Member Rule 1800

The proposed changes to Dealer Member Rule 1800 will change references to futures contracts and futures contracts options principals to Supervisors as the current categories will no longer exist. They will also consolidate the provisions regarding futures contracts and futures contracts options, which are identical, into one section instead of listing the provisions separately with regard to the two products.

Current Dealer Member Rule subsections 1800.2(e)(1) and (f)(1) require that a Dealer Member have at least two people approved to trade, respectively, the futures contracts and futures contracts options available at every office where they are traded. This provision is designed to ensure that, because of the volatility and high leverage of futures contracts and futures contract options, customers can at all times during trading hours get access to a person who can give them advice or take and enter orders.

However, with modern communications systems it is unnecessary that there be two persons physically located in the same office in order to provide the necessary back-up. The proposed revisions will therefore replace the sections with a requirement (in revised Dealer Member Rule subsection 1800.2(e)) that the Dealer Member ensure that clients have access at all times during normal business hours to an IR or RR qualified to trade in or advise on futures contracts or futures contracts options.

Current Dealer Member Rule subsection 1900.2(e) requires the delivery of a disclosure statement regarding options that is in compliance with securities legislation. As the Corporation approves such document as they change, the rule will be amended to refer to a disclosure document approved by the Corporation.

Dealer Member Rule section 1800.5 outlines the supervisory duties of the designated futures contracts principal, a category being eliminated. None of the specific duties varies from general supervisory responsibilities outlined in the proposed amendments to Dealer Member Rule 38 and the specific duties outlined in proposed Dealer Member Rule section 1800.2; therefore section 1800.5 is repealed in the proposed amendments.

Dealer Member Rule section 1800.6 governs suitability requirements in dealings with registered advisers, dealers, acceptable institutions and acceptable counterparties. As these requirements are dealt with in proposed NI 31-103 and Dealer Member Rule 2700, the section is redundant and is repealed in the proposed amendments.

Dealer Member Rule subsection 1800.11(b) requires the retention of completed orders for six years. The proposed revisions change this to seven years to make the requirement consistent with the records retention requirements of NI 31-103.

Dealer Member Rule 1900

Dealer Member Rule 1900 governing options trading will be amended to change references to options approvals. Options activity will be a type of business and involvement in it a matter of notice. Specifically, the amendments will replace references to the "registered options principal," currently an Approval category, with "Supervisor qualified to supervise options trading."

Current Dealer Member Rule subsection 1900.2(e) requires the delivery of a disclosure statement regarding options that is in compliance with securities legislation. As the Corporation approves such documents as they change, the rule will be amended to refer to a disclosure document approved by the Corporation.

Dealer Member Rule section 1900.4 reiterates account opening and supervision requirements covered in Dealer Member Rules 1300, 2500 and 2700. It will therefore be repealed in the proposed amendments.

Dealer Member Rule section 1900.7 states that other Corporation rules regarding trading and advising in securities apply, as appropriate, to options trading and advising. Those rules apply without the need of an additional rule; therefore the section is repealed in the proposed amendments.

Dealer Member Rule 2500

The proposed changes to Dealer Member Rule 2500 will change it from a prescriptive delineation of required structures and procedures for the supervision of retail accounts to principles-based guidelines. However, the structures and procedures established in the current Rule 2500 will continue to work for many multi-branch retail firms. The proposed amendments to Rule 2500 will therefore include the currently prescribed two-tier structure of branch and head office supervision as one that will meet the requirements of the Rule, but not as the only option.

As with the current Rule 2300, the proposed revisions will include reiterations of some of the principles and requirements regarding supervision found in other Rules. Dealer Members have found that including them in one place with the guidelines found only in Rule 2500 make it a more useable resource.

The proposed revisions presume that the repeal of Part VIII – Client Complaints passed by the IDA Board on October 17, 2007 will have been implemented prior to the implementation of the proposed changes.

Dealer Member Rule 2500 -

Introduction

The last paragraph of the introduction will be deleted. It presumes the current prescriptive requirements of Dealer Member Rule 2500, but gives Dealer Members the option of developing alternative supervision systems with the approval of the Corporation. It is no longer applicable because of the change from the prescriptive branch/head office structure to a principles-based approach. Dealer Members will be permitted to develop their own supervisory structures, subject to the principles enunciated in Dealer Member Rule 38 and guidelines in the revised Rule 2500, but will not require advance approval to implement them. Instead, they will be reviewed in operation during business conduct examinations.

Part I – Establishing and Maintaining Procedures, Delegation and Education

A proposed amendment to Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part I, section A.2 will replace a statement that new and amended policies should have senior management approval to a statement with a requirement to have a procedure for approving new policies and procedures. It will state that those have a significant impact on the Dealer Member' compliance system should have senior management approval. This change will give Dealer Members the option of having minor changes approved at lower levels in the organization.

Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part I, section .B.1 requires the maintenance of evidence of account reviews that are part of a Dealer Member's compliance process. Because record-keeping is critical to an effective system and the Corporation's review of the system, the requirements in subsection I.B.1 will be moved into a new record-keeping section: I.F.

The new Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part I, section F adopts the record retention requirement of NI 31-103. Account review records will be considered "activity records" under the terms used in NI 31-103 and must therefore be kept for seven years from the date of creation, in a form in which they can be provided to the Corporation promptly for two years and within a reasonable time for the rest of the retention period.

Proposed Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part I, section C is new. It will provide for a risk-based approach to selecting accounts for review and gives examples of the factors that can be taken into account in a risk-based analysis. The current Rule 2500 uses only commission amount as a basis for account selection. Commission level does not take into account such factors as size of account. The same commission level can mean little for a very large account and a great deal for a small one or one trading in derivatives where the commission may be small in relation to the risk. While not mandatory, a well-designed risk based approach can develop a better focus on accounts requiring review.

Subsections 2 and 3 of the proposed new Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part I, section C establish requirements for a risk-based approach, including documentation of the analytical approach and its consistent application across retail accounts. This does not mean that a Dealer Member will be required to use a single-factor analysis. For example, a Dealer Member might have different analyses or triggers for the review of equities-only or derivatives accounts, but the Dealer Member will be required to apply those analyses or triggers consistently across accounts of a similar type within its analytical framework.

Proposed Subsection 4 of new Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part I, section C is an expansion of current section I.B.3. It will require enhanced supervision of "Approved Persons who have had a history of questionable conduct." The proposed revision adds examples of what should be considered as "questionable conduct."

A proposed change to current Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part I, subsection D.1, renumbered E.1 in the proposed revisions, will change the requirement to provide sales policies and procedures to all sales and supervisory personnel. It will limit the requirement to those policies and procedures relevant to the individual's function. A similar relevance criterion is added to proposed subsection I.E.3 regarding communication of the information contained in compliance-related bulletins. In addition, the proposed revision will explicitly accept access to policies and procedures maintained on electronic systems as one method of providing them, but with the proviso that personnel must be trained on the use of the electronic systems.

Part II – Opening New Accounts

The proposed revisions will change references to account application forms throughout Dealer Member Rule 2500 by dropping the word “forms” to recognize that account applications are frequently completed electronically. They will also change references to “branch manager” to “Supervisor.”

The proposed amendments to Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part II contain a new paragraph in the introduction referring to gatekeeper obligations. It will explicitly require Dealer Members to ensure that their know-your-client procedures are directed at meeting gatekeeper obligations by identifying clients that present a high risk to the Dealer Member or the securities markets. It also makes reference to anti-money laundering and terrorist financing requirements, one important and specific type of gatekeeper obligation to which Dealer Members are subject.

Current Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part II, section A.1 requires that a Dealer Member complete a New Account Application Form for each account. A proposed revision will change the requirement to completing an account application for each customer. The proposed revision will make it clear that an additional application will not have to be completed if the same customer opens another account, unless a separate application is specifically required.

A proposed amendment to Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part II, subsection A.2 on approval of new accounts adds a new requirement to restrict a new account to liquidating trades if an account application received for approval after the first trade is not fully completed. The Corporation staff believes that this is a necessary control to prevent ongoing trading by accounts that have not been properly documented and approved. It is consistent with a revision to the anti-money laundering rules that prohibits a Dealer Member from trading for a new client until the client’s identity has been verified.

Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part II, subsection A.4 currently requires that the RR maintain a copy of the new account forms of his or her clients. A proposed amendment will modernize the requirement by stating that this requirement can be met by maintaining the information on the form in an electronic form accessible to the RR.

Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part II, subsection A.5 requires RRs to update new account information when there is a material change. Proposed amendments will specify controls on the processes for updating information that the Corporation already requires Dealer Members to implement as part of a proper internal control system. These are:

- Restricting access to electronic systems containing customer information so that it is not changed without proper approval, currently required in subsection II.C.1, and
- Having procedures independent of the RR to verify material changes in customer information such as change of address, financial situation, investment objectives or risk tolerance.

Proposed new Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part II, subsection B.2 will support client agreement requirements found elsewhere in the rules in terms of a requirement to have systems and procedures to prevent trading before the required agreements have been obtained from the client.

Part III – Account Supervision Generally [New]

Proposed Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part III is a new section that will provide guidance on determining how to meet the general supervision requirements in proposed Dealer Member Rule section 38.1. It encapsulates the considerations informing the current prescriptive requirements and includes guidelines on supervision of retail business in locations remote from Head Office. The guidance applies to supervision of trading in all instruments.

Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part III, section A sets out guidelines for establishing a supervisory structure:

- Taking all necessary factors into account in designing a supervisory structure and appointing supervisors.
- Ensuring proper supervision of remote business locations through the assignment of a specific Supervisor, an analysis of the need for a resident Supervisor and, where there is no resident Supervisor, the necessity for periodic visits to the location by the assigned Supervisor.
- Independent supervision of a Supervisor’s handling of his or her own client accounts;
- Ensuring that a Supervisor with other duties devotes sufficient time and attention to Supervision.
- Ensuring that Supervisors are qualified to supervise trading in all products and provision of all services by those under his or her Supervision. The guideline notes that it is possible to split supervisory duties provided there is adequate

communication between the Supervisors involved, an overall view of the client's situation and clear assignment of responsibilities.

- Ensuring that Supervisors have the necessary information.
- Ensuring proper back-up during a Supervisor's absence.
- Providing oversight to ensure that Supervisors are properly fulfilling their assigned roles.
- Ensuring that Supervisors have the necessary authority to take appropriate remedial action. This provision notes that escalation to a more senior Supervisor or Executive is an acceptable form of action.

Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part III, section B sets out guidelines regarding supervision of retail account activity including possible methods of conducting reviews and the scope of matters to be looked for.

Part IV – Two-Tier Supervision

Dealer Member Rule 2500 currently prescribes a two-tier system of supervision requiring Branch Office (Part III) and Head Office (Part IV) daily and monthly reviews of account activity. While its current form is not in keeping with a more principles-based approach to supervision, it is a good system that many Dealer Members may wish to keep. The proposed amendments therefore retain in large part Parts III and IV so that those firms that choose to retain such a system have assurance that it continues to meet the requirements of the Corporation. The two parts are conjoined in a new Part IV and revised to refer to first and second level reviews rather than branch and head office reviews.

The proposed Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part IV is less prescriptive. The introduction notes, for example, that the first level review can be conducted by head office or on a regional basis. The sections on selecting accounts for monthly review allow for alternative selection criteria, while leaving the current prescribed criteria as one choice that meets the guidelines.

Part V – Option Account Supervision

Proposed revisions to Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part V will remove references to the category Designated Registered Options Principal, which will be merged into the general Supervisor category. It will introduce the term "Designated Options Supervisor" for ease of reference to the Supervisor required to be designated in the proposed revisions to Dealer Member Rule section 1900.2.

Current Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part V, subsection A.4 notes that the DROP must indicate trading restrictions on the option account application form. The proposed revision will remove the reference to the DROP and expand on the nature of these restrictions, giving as their purpose the prevention of the use of strategies that are not in keeping with the customer's investment objectives or risk tolerance.

The proposed revision is less prescriptive than the current version, permitting a Dealer Member to develop its own criteria to select activity for review. However, with one exception it adopts the current criteria for branch and head office reviews as meeting the requirements of the Rule. The exception is the selection of accounts for monthly review. At present Part V permits use of the same criteria as for head office review of non-options accounts. Because of the high leverage of options, the commission-level criteria may not be appropriate for accounts that concentrate in options trading and the proposed revision therefore suggests the development of alternate criteria for such accounts.

Current Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part V, section D requires the involvement of the DROP in establishing specific procedures related to options accounts. The section has been rewritten in the proposed revisions to require implementation of the same procedures without specific prescribing that the designated options supervisor be responsible for the conduct of those procedures.

Part VI – Futures/Futures Options Account Supervision

Proposed amendments to Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part VI will remove references to the category Designated Registered Futures Principal, which will be merged into the general Supervisor category. The proposed amendments introduce the term "Designated Futures Supervisor" for ease of reference to the Supervisor required to be designated in Dealer Member Rule section 1800.2.

Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part VI, subsection A.5 currently requires that the DRFP indicate trading restrictions on the futures account application form. The proposed amendments will remove the reference to the DRFP and expand on the nature of those restrictions, giving as their purpose the prevention of the use of strategies that are not in keeping with the customer's investment objectives or risk tolerance.

New Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part VI, subsection A.5 will expand on requirements regarding loss limits. Current Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part VI, subsection B.1 requires supervisors to look for cumulative losses exceeding the customer's stated risk capital. However, some Dealer Members do not have systems that can track cumulative losses beyond a year. In those cases, Dealer Members have adopted an annual risk limit, to be updated annually taking into account any losses during the previous year. This alternative approach will be recognized in the new section.

Current Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part VI contains no specific criteria establishing what must be reviewed at the branch or head office or for selecting accounts for review. The proposed amendments will require a system reasonably designed to detect improper activity, and will include the current list of examples of improper activity that supervision should identify

Current Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part VI, section C requires the involvement of the DRFP in establishing specific procedures related to discretionary futures accounts. The proposed amendments will require implementation of the same procedures without prescribing the Designated Futures Supervisor's role in the regular conduct of those procedures. It will also be expanded to include other necessary procedures, generally parallel to those in Part V on options, re-named "Other Futures Policies and Procedures."

Part VII – Discretionary Account Supervision

The proposed amendments to Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part VII eliminate references to categories being eliminated.

Current Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part VII includes both discretionary and managed accounts. However, Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part VII, section E on managed accounts is solely a reiteration of the requirements of Dealer Member Rule 1300. The proposed revisions will therefore delete section VII.E and deal solely with discretionary accounts.

Current Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part VII, section A.3 states that an Approved Person cannot have discretionary authority over an account anywhere else than at his/her Dealer Member. This provision is in place in Dealer Member Rule 1300 and follows from registration requirements, so will be deleted.

A proposed new Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part VII, section A.3 will require that discretionary accounts be identified in a Dealer Member's books and records in a manner that ensures they can be supervised. It will not prescribe the method used. This proposed requirement flows out of supervisory necessities in any event, but has been an occasional point of contention during business conduct examinations and will therefore be added for clarity.

Dealer Member Rule 2700

Several proposed amendments to Dealer Member Rule 2700 are technical. One will remove a reference to Dealer Member Rule section 29.27, which under the proposed amendments will become part of Dealer Member Rule 38. Two others will replace references to partners, directors or officers with references to Supervisors.

The proposed amendments will delete the definition of "Institutional Customer" in Dealer Member Rule 2700 as it will be added to Dealer Member Rule section 1.1.

Proposed National Instrument 31-103 contains a definition of and suitability exemption regarding "permitted clients." It contains the same general suitability exemption regarding trades for financial institutions and other registered entities as currently included in Dealer Member Rule 2700, but adds a suitability exemption for other "permitted clients" that sign a suitability waiver. A proposed amendment to Rule 2700 will include the suitability waiver approach for "permitted clients" as defined in NI 31-103, other than:

- those to which the exemption for financial institutions and dealers already applies, and
- individuals. Proposed NI 31-103 includes some individuals in the definition of "permitted client" based on an asset test, whereas the definition of "institutional customer" in current Dealer Member Rule 2700, proposed to be moved into Dealer Member Rule section 1.1, excludes individuals.

The Corporation staff does not believe that it is appropriate to grant a suitability waiver option to individuals.

Dealer Member Rule 2900, Part I

The proposed amendments to Dealer Member Rule 2900, Part I include technical amendments such as the replacement of the term "registered" with "approved" and of "Canadian Securities Institute" with "CSI Global Education Inc." They will not change the proficiency requirements except where specifically noted below, but will change references to how the requirements apply that mirror the changes in the category structure. For example, the proficiency requirements currently referring to portfolio

managers in the current Dealer Member Rule 2900, Part I refer in the proposed amendments to Representatives who conduct discretionary portfolio management.

Currently Dealer Member Rule 2900, Part I, section A.1 deals with branch managers and sales managers. Under the proposed amendments it will apply to Supervisors who supervise Approved Persons. It will retain the specific course requirements related to different kinds of business, which will be moved into the section on Supervisors from the current product-related sections. It will remove the requirement for Supervisors of branches in which options business is conducted to do the proficiencies for options supervision. This change will permit Dealer Members to develop alternative means of supervising options business where a resident Supervisor is not qualified to supervise it, subject to the general provisions of Dealer Member Rule 2500 regarding supervisory systems.

The proposed amendments will make Dealer Member Rule 2900, Part I, section A.2 applicable only to Directors and Executives, not to all partners and officers. The section will continue, with appropriate reference changes, to make it clear that Directors and Executives must also meet the proficiency requirements for other approved positions they hold, including RR or IR for trading or advising customers and Supervisor for directly supervising others. The Director and Executive categories deal solely with the overall management of the firm.

Proposed amendments to Dealer Member Rule 2900, Part I, section A.6 regarding portfolio managers will remove the current requirements for the current associate portfolio manager categories. As noted above, the category will be replaced by a supervision requirement in revised Dealer Member Rule 1300.15(c).

Rule 2900, Part II

Dealer Member Rule 2900, Part II on course and examination exemptions has been rewritten extensively in the proposed amendments without changing its requirements. The most significant change is to the re-writing requirements, in the form of the reduction of an exhaustive list of categories with numerous exemptions for current and re-applying Approved Persons to two general requirements in proposed part A. In summary, the courses of a person who has been Approved in a category under the current categories, or conducted a type of business under the new approach, will remain valid for three years after their approval lapses or they cease to do the type of business.

If a person completes required courses but never obtains approval in a category or, in the new system, does the type of business, the course validity will expire after two years.

A new general exemption is proposed for both the writing and re-writing sections of Dealer Member Rule 2900, Part II. It will exempt Approved Persons from having to fulfill new requirements not in place when they were approved unless the rule implementing the change specifically requires them to do so. This is necessary so that every course change is not applied to those who are already qualified to do the type of business or hold the category covered by the change. It will also exempt applicants whose approval has lapsed but are re-applying for approval while their previous courses are still valid under the re-write requirements. This will not change the current requirements.

B Comparable Rules in Other Jurisdictions

The proposed rules are designed to conform to the rules and principles of the Registration Reform Project and particularly NI 31-103. Rules in other jurisdictions including Australia, the United Kingdom and the United States were reviewed and considered in developing the CSA Registration Reform Proposals. They were not considered further in developing the IIROC rule proposals, which do not deviate from the principles of the larger project.

C Alternatives Considered

No other alternatives were considered.

D Systems Impact of the Amendments

Implementation of the proposed amendments will require changes to the NRD System. These changes are under development by the NRD operator in coordination with the changes necessary to implement NRD changes related to the CSA Registration Reform Project.

E Public Interest Objective

IIROC has determined that the proposed amendments are Public Comment Rule changes.

According to the Joint Rule Review Protocol for IIROC (the "Protocol"), forming part of the Memorandum of Understanding regarding oversight of IIROC, the Corporation must provide "a concise statement, together with supporting analysis, of the

nature, purpose and effect of the proposed Rule.” Statements have been made elsewhere as to the nature and effects of the proposed Rule, as well as analysis. The purposes of the proposed Rule are to:

- promote the protection of investors;
- foster fair, equitable and ethical business standards and practices;
- promote just and equitable principles of trade and the duty to act fairly, honestly and in good faith; and
- prevent fraudulent and manipulative acts and practices.

The proposed Rule does not impose any burden or constraint on competition or innovation that is not necessary or appropriate in furtherance of IIROC’s regulatory objectives. It does not impose costs or restrictions on the activities of market participants that are disproportionate to the goals of the regulatory objectives sought to be realized.

F Anticipated Effective Date

IIROC anticipates that the proposed Rule will be made effective on the same date as National Instrument 31-103 and the related changes to implement the CSA Registration Reform Project. The coordination of the two sets of changes is necessary because of the significant changes in the NRD System that must be made at the same time.

III COMMENTARY

A Filing In Other Jurisdictions

The proposed Rule amendments will be filed with each of IIROC’s Recognizing Regulators, in accordance with s.3 of the Protocol.

B Effectiveness

The proposed Rule amendments should be effective in ensuring Dealer Members meet minimum standards in relation to the proficiency and supervision of Approved Persons and in ensuring that they meet their obligations under the IIROC Rules and other laws and regulations affecting the conduct of their securities-related business.

C Process

The proposed Rule amendments were developed by IIROC staff after initial discussions with District Councils, the Compliance and Legal Section and the Private Client Advisory Committee. They were reviewed in draft by and technical changes were made after comments by District Councils, a special task committee of the Compliance and Legal Section and the Private Client Advisory Committee.

IV SOURCES

References:

- Proposed National Instrument 31-103, Companion Policy 31-103CP and related amendments to National Instrument 31-102 and 33-109.
http://www.osc.gov.on.ca/Regulation/Rulemaking/Current/Part3/rule_20080229_31-103_rfc-reg-req.pdf
- IIROC Dealer Member Rules 1, 4, 7, 18, 20, 29, 38, 40, 1300, 1800, 1900, 2500, 2700 and 2900
<http://iiroc.knotia.ca/Knowledge/Browse/BrowseToc.cfm?kType=445&nc=12175786428220080624>

V REQUIREMENT TO PUBLISH FOR COMMENT

IIROC proposes to publish for comment the accompanying proposed amendments. The IIROC Board has determined that the proposed amendments would not be contrary to the public interest. Comments are sought on the proposed amendments. Comments should be made in writing. One copy of each comment letter should be delivered within 30 days of the publication of this notice, addressed to the attention of Larry Boyce, Vice-President, Business Conduct Compliance, Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada, Suite 1600, 121 King Street West, Toronto, Ontario, M5H 3T9 and one copy addressed to the attention of the Manager of Market Regulation, Ontario Securities Commission, 20 Queen Street West, 19th Floor, Box 55, Toronto, Ontario, M5H 3S8.

SRO Notices and Disciplinary Proceedings

Those submitting comment letters should be aware that a copy of their comment letter will be made publicly available on the IOROC website (www.iiroc.ca) under the heading "IIROC Rulebook - Dealer Member Rules - Policy Proposals and Comment Letters Received".

Questions may be referred to:

Larry Boyce
Vice-President, Business Conduct Compliance
Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada
(416) 943-6903
lboyce@iiroc.ca

**INVESTMENT INDUSTRY REGULATORY ORGANIZATION OF CANADA
AMENDMENTS TO IMPLEMENT THE REGISTRATION REFORM PROJECT**

BOARD RESOLUTION

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS of the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada hereby makes the following amendment to the Rules and Forms of the Corporation:

1. Dealer Member Rule 1 is amended by:
 - (a) Repealing the definitions of the terms “Designated Person”, “Officer”, “Sales Manager”, “Senior Officer” and “Sub branch Office” in section 1.1.
 - (b) Repealing and replacing the definitions of the terms “Investment Representative” and “Registered Representative” in section 1.1 with the following:

“Investment Representative” means a partner, director, officer, employee or agent of a Dealer Member who trades in but does not advise on an investment product on behalf of the Dealer Member;

“Registered Representative” means a partner, director, officer, employee or agent of a Dealer Member who trades and advises on trades in an investment product on behalf of the Dealer Member;
 - (c) Enacting definitions for the terms “Business Location”, “Designated Supervisor”, “Director”, “Executive”, “Institutional Customer”, “Retail Customer” and “Supervisor” in alphabetical order in section 1.1 as follows:

“Business Location” means a physical location at which any employee or agent of a Dealer Member conducts on a regular and ongoing basis business requiring approval of the Corporation or registration under Provincial securities legislation;

“Designated Supervisor” means a Supervisor designated by a Dealer Member as having responsibility to fulfill a supervisory role defined in a Rule, including but not limited to:

 - (1) the Supervisor designated to be responsible for the opening of new accounts and the supervision of account activity under Rule 1300.2
 - (2) the Supervisor designated to be responsible for the supervision of discretionary accounts under Rule 1300.4
 - (3) the Supervisor designated to be responsible for the supervision of managed accounts under Rule 1300.15
 - (4) the Supervisor designated to be responsible for the supervision of options accounts under Rule 1800.2(a)
 - (5) the Supervisor designated to be responsible for the supervision of futures contract accounts under Rule 1900.2
 - (6) the Supervisor or Supervisors designated to pre-approve advertising, sales literature and correspondence, including research reports, under Rule 29.7(3) and Rule 3400, Guideline 7;

“Director” means a member of the Board of Directors of, as the context dictates, a Dealer Member or the Corporation or a person performing a similar function in a Dealer Member that is not a corporation;

“Executive” means a partner, director or officer of a Dealer Member who is involved in the management of the Dealer Member, including but not limited to anyone fulfilling the role of chair or a vice-chair of the Board of Directors, chief executive officer, president, chief administrative officer, chief financial officer, chief compliance officer, member of an executive management committee or any position designated by a Dealer Member as being an Executive position;

“Institutional Customer” means:

- (1) An Acceptable Counterparty (as defined in Form 1);
- (2) An Acceptable Institution (as defined in Form 1);
- (3) A Regulated Entity (as defined in Form 1);
- (4) A Registrant (other than an individual registrant) under securities legislation; or
- (5) A non-individual with total securities under administration or management exceeding \$10 million;

“Retail Customer” means a customer of a Dealer Member that is not an institutional customer;

“Supervisor” means a person to whom a Dealer Member has given responsibility and authority and who is approved by the Corporation to manage the activities of other partners, directors, officers, employees or agents of the Dealer Member so as to ensure their compliance with laws and regulations governing their and the Dealer Member’s securities-related activities;

- (d) Enacting new section 1.3 as follows:

1.3 Where the context indicates, references to a Dealer Member include the partners, directors, officers, employees and agents of the Dealer Member.

- (e) Renumbering sections 1.3 through 1.5 as sections 1.4 through 1.6.

2. Dealer Member Rule 4 is repealed and replaced by:

RULE 4

BUSINESS LOCATIONS

- 4.1. Every Business Location of a Dealer Member in a District having a Supervisor who is normally present at the Business Location is a Branch Office Member of the District.
- 4.2. There is no Membership or other fees for Branch Office Membership.
- 4.3. A Branch Office Member has the same privileges in its District as any other Branch Office Member except that at a District meeting each Dealer Member has only one vote no matter how many Branch Office Members it has in the District.
- 4.4. The representative of any Branch Office Member in any District is eligible for election as Chair or member of the District Council of the District.
- 4.5. Each Branch Office Member may send one or more representatives to the Annual Meeting of the District.
- 4.5A. Repealed.
- 4.6. A Dealer Member must notify the Corporation in accordance with Rule 40 of the opening or closure of a Business Location.
- 4.7. Repealed.
- 4.7A. Repealed.
- 4.8. Repealed.
- 4.9. Repealed.

- 4.9A. Repealed.
- 4.10. Repealed.
- 4.11. Repealed.
- 4.12. Repealed.
- 4.13. Repealed.
- 4.14. Repealed.

3. Dealer Member Rule 7 is repealed and replaced by:

RULE 7

DEALER MEMBER DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES

7.1 Definitions

For the purposes of this Rule 7, “actively engaged in the business of the Dealer Member” means, participating in any regular business activities of the Dealer Member including but not limited to trading in securities or futures contracts and related services, research, investment banking, operations or promotion of the Dealer Member’s services, but shall not include participation in meetings of the board of directors or related corporate governance committees of the board of directors or occasional referrals to the Dealer Member where such referrals do not result from solicitation of business on behalf of the Dealer Member.

7.2 Approval

No person may be a Director or Executive of a Dealer Member unless that person has been approved as such by the Corporation.

7.3 Directors

- (a) At least 40% of the Directors of a Dealer Member must:
 - (1) Either:
 - (A) Be actively engaged in the business of the Dealer Member and devote the major portion of their time to the securities industry, except those on active government services, or who for health reasons are prevented from such active engagement; or,
 - (B) Occupy positions at related or affiliated securities dealers or affiliated financial institutions that a equivalent to that of a Director or Executive;
 - and
 - (2) Have satisfied the applicable proficiency requirements in Rule 2900, Part I.A(2); and
 - (3) Have experience acceptable to the Corporation in the financial services industry for at least five years or such lesser period as may be approved by the Corporation.
- (b) The remaining Directors, if actively engaged in the business of the Dealer Member or a related company of the Dealer Member must have the qualifications described in paragraphs 7.3(a) (1) and (2).

7.4 Executives

- (a) All of the officers of a Dealer Member must:
 - (1) Be actively engaged in the business of the Dealer Member and devote the major portion of their time to the securities industry, except those on active government services, or who for health reasons are prevented from such active engagement; or,
 - (2) Be Executives or Directors of related or affiliated securities dealers, or affiliated financial institutions; and
 - (3) Have satisfied the applicable proficiency requirements outlined in Rule 2900, Part I.A(2);
- (b) Not less than 60% of the Executives of a Dealer Member must have experience acceptable to the Corporation in the financial services industry for at least five years or such lesser period as may be approved by the Corporation.

7.5 Exemptions

The applicable District Council may grant an exemption, in whole or in part, from any requirement under Rules 7.3 and 7.4, where it is satisfied that to do so would not be prejudicial to the interest of the Dealer Member, its clients, the public or the Corporation and, in granting such an exemption, it may impose such terms and conditions as it considers necessary.

7.6 Persons Owning or Controlling a Significant Equity Interest in a Dealer Member

- (a) Any Director of a Dealer Member who directly or indirectly owns or controls a voting interest in the Dealer Member of 10% or more must have the proficiency requirement outlined in Rule 2900, Part I.A(2)(a);
- (b) Any person other than a Director, who is actively engaged in the business of a Dealer Member and directly or indirectly owns or controls a voting interest in the Dealer Member of 10% or more must have the proficiency requirement outlined in Rule 2900, Part I.A(2)(a).

7.7 Remuneration of Directors and Executives

No Director or Executive of a Dealer Member shall accept or permit any associate to accept, directly or indirectly, any remuneration, gratuity, advantage, benefit or any other consideration from any person other than the Dealer Member, its affiliates or related companies, in respect of the activities carried out by the Director or Executive on behalf of the Dealer Member, its affiliates or related companies in connection with the securities-related activities of any of them.

7.8 Jurisdiction

Every person whose application for approval as a Director or Executive of a Dealer Member has been accepted is subject to the jurisdiction of the Corporation, must comply with the Rules of the Corporation as they are from time to time amended or supplemented and, if such approval is subsequently revoked, must forthwith terminate his or her relationship as a Director or Executive with the Dealer Member in respect of which he or she is approved at the time of such revocation.

7.9 Late Filing Fees re Executive and Directors

A Dealer Member is liable for and must pay the Corporation fees in the amounts prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors for the failure of the Dealer Member to file within ten business days after the end month a report in writing with respect to the conditions imposed on approval or continued approval of a Director or Executive of the Dealer Member pursuant to Rule 20.

4. Dealer Member Rule 18 is repealed and replaced by:

RULE 18

REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES AND INVESTMENT REPRESENTATIVES

- 18.1. Repealed.
- 18.2. (a) No person may act and no Dealer Member may permit any person to act as a registered representative or investment representative on behalf of the Dealer Member unless:
- (i) The Dealer Member is registered or licensed to trade, as the case may be, in securities or futures contracts under the statutes relating to the sale of securities or futures contracts in all jurisdictions in which customers of the Dealer Member reside or is exempt from the registration or licensing requirements under those statutes;
 - (ii) The person is registered or licensed to trade, as the case may be, in securities or futures contracts under the statutes relating to the sale of securities or futures contracts in all jurisdictions in which customers of the person reside or is exempt from the registration or licensing requirements under those statutes; and
 - (iii) The Corporation has approved the person as a Registered Representative or Investment Representative under this Rule.
- (b) A Dealer Member must notify the Corporation of the types of businesses which a Registered Representative or Investment Representative will conduct, as follows:
- (i) **Customer Type:** the types of customers the Registered Representative or Investment Representative will deal with, either:
 - A. retail business – taking orders from or giving advice to all types of customers regarding trades in securities, or
 - B. institutional business – restricted to taking orders from or giving advice to institutional customers
 - (ii) **Product(s):** the types of financial instruments in which the Registered Representative or Investment Representative will deal, being:
 - A. restricted to mutual funds, Government or Government-guaranteed debt instruments and deposit instruments issued by a federally-regulated bank, trust company, credit union or caisse populaire, excluding those on which all or part of the interest or return is indexed to the performance of another financial instrument or index
 - B. general securities business, including equities, fixed income and other investment products other than options or futures
 - C. options business
 - D. futures contracts and futures contracts options
 - (iii) **Portfolio Management:** whether the Registered Representative will engage in discretionary portfolio management under the provisions of Rule 1300.
- (c) A person may not conduct on behalf of a Dealer Member and a Dealer Member may not permit a person to conduct on its behalf a type of business described in (a) unless the Dealer Member has notified the Corporation:

- (i) that the person will conduct the type of business; and
- (ii) that the person has completed the proficiencies required to conduct the type of business as specified in Rule 2900, Part I within the proficiency time limits specified in Rule 2900, Part II.

For the purposes of this subsection (c), an application to the Corporation for initial Approval is notice that the person will conduct the types of business identified in the application.

- 18.3. (a) An applicant for approval as a Registered Representative or Investment Representative must complete or obtain an exemption from the applicable proficiency requirements in Rule 2900, Part I, section A.3(a) before the Corporation will grant approval.
 - (b) A Dealer Member must take reasonable steps to ensure that all of its Registered Representatives and Investment Representatives are proficient and understand the products they trade in or advise on to a sufficient degree to meet the requirements of the Rules of the Corporation. At a minimum, the Dealer Member must ensure that all Registered Representatives and Investment Representatives meet the applicable proficiency requirements of Rule 2900.
- 18.4. The Approval of a Registered Representative is suspended automatically if the person fails to satisfy the requirement in paragraph A.3(b) of Part I of Rule 2900 until the person has satisfied the requirement.
- 18.5. Repealed.
- 18.6. (a) A Dealer Member must closely supervise a Registered Representative or Investment Representative who conducts retail business in accordance with the "Registered / Investment Representative Monthly Supervision Report" as specified by the Corporation for a period of six months after the Corporation is notified that the person will deal with retail customers. The Dealer Member must keep this report for inspection by the Corporation.
- (b) Subsection (a) does not apply if:
 - (i) the Registered Representative was previously approved for six months or more to advise on trades for retail customers for a securities firm which is a member of a self-regulatory organization or a recognized foreign self-regulatory organization; or
 - (ii) the Investment Representative was previously approved for six months or more to advise on trades or to trade for retail customers for a securities firm which is a member of a self-regulatory organization or a recognized foreign self-regulatory organization;
- 18.7. (a) A Registered Representative or Investment Representative qualified to conduct mutual funds business only must:
- (i) within 270 days of initial approval, complete the proficiency requirements in Rule 2900, Part I, sections A.3(a)(i)(A) and (B); and
 - (ii) within 18 months of initial approval, complete the training programme required under Rule 2900, Part I, section A.3(a)(i)(C).
- (b) A Dealer Member must notify the Corporation:
 - (i) when a Registered Representative or Investment Representative restricted to mutual funds business only has completed the requirements in each of subsections (a)(i) and a(ii); and

- (ii) within 18 months of initial approval, that the Registered Representative or Investment Representative will conduct either retail or institutional business without restriction to mutual funds.
 - (c) Subsections (a) and (b) do not apply to a Registered Representative or Investment Representative who was restricted to mutual funds only on the date on which this section becomes effective and who is registered only in Provinces in which a restriction on an Investment Representative or Registered Representative with a Dealer Member to mutual funds business only complies with the securities legislation, rules and policies of the Province.
- 18.08. Repealed.
- 18.09. Repealed.
- 18.10. Repealed.
- 18.11. (a) A Registered Representative or Investment Representative of a Dealer Member is subject to the jurisdiction of the Corporation, must comply with the Rules and Rulings of the Corporation as the same are from time to time amended or supplemented.
- (b) If the approval of a Registered Representative or Investment Representative is revoked, the Registered Representative or Investment Representative must immediately cease acting as a Registered Representative or Investment Representative of his or her Dealer Member.
- 18.12. Repealed.
- 18.13. Repealed.
- 18.14. A Registered Representative or Investment Representative may have, and continue in, another gainful occupation if:
- (a)
 - (i) Either the Registered Representative's or Investment Representative's other gainful occupation is in a remote area where there is no office of a broker or dealer in securities and the Registered Representative's or Investment Representative's activities as such are limited to such remote area in which he or she resides; or
 - (ii) The securities commission in the jurisdiction in which the Registered Representative or Investment Representative acts or proposes to act as a Registered Representative or Investment Representative, or the securities legislation or policies administered by such securities commission, specifically permit him or her to devote less than his or her full time to the securities business of the Dealer Member employing him or her; and
 - (b) Repealed.
 - (c) The Dealer Member establishes and maintains procedures acceptable to the Corporation to ensure continuous service to clients and to address potential problems of conflict of interest; and
 - (d) Any other occupation of the Registered Representative or Investment Representative is not
 - (i) One which would bring the securities industry into disrepute; or
 - (ii) With another Dealer Member of a recognized self-regulatory organization unless

- (1) Such Dealer Member is a related company of the Dealer Member employing the registered representative or investment representative and the Dealer Member and related company provide cross-guarantees pursuant to Rule 6.6, and
- (2) Such dual employment is not contrary to the provisions of the applicable securities legislation or any policy made pursuant thereto.

- 18.15. No Registered Representative or Investment Representative may accept or permit any associate to accept, directly or indirectly, any remuneration, gratuity, benefit or any other consideration from any person other than the Dealer Member or its affiliates or related companies, for the securities-related activities her or she conducts on behalf of the Dealer Member or its affiliates or its related companies.
- 18.16. No Dealer Member shall permit a Registered Representative or Investment Representative to use a designation when dealing with the public that wrongly indicates that he or she conducts or has been approved by the Corporation to conduct a type of business or fulfils or has been approved by the Corporation to fulfil a role.
- 18.17. Repealed.
- 18.18. Each Dealer Member is liable for and must pay to the Corporation fees in the amounts prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors for the failure of the Dealer Member to file within ten business days of the end of each month a report with respect to the conditions imposed under Rule 20 on the approval or continued approval of a Registered Representative, or Investment Representative of the Dealer Member pursuant to Rule 20.

5. Dealer Member Rule section 20.18 is repealed and replaced by:

20.18 Powers of District Council

- (1) The District Council shall have the power, which it may delegate to a Sub-Committee of the District Council comprised of three industry members or to Corporation Staff, to:
 - (a) approve an application for approval as a:
 - (i) Supervisor under Rule 4,
 - (ii) Director or Executive under Rule 7,
 - (iii) Registered Representative or Investment Representative, under Rule 18,
 - (iv) Ultimate Designated Person, Chief Financial Officer or Chief Compliance Officer under Rule 38, or
 - (v) trader under Rule 500.
- (2) The District Council shall have the power, which it may delegate to a Sub-Committee of the District Council, pursuant to subsection (1), to:
 - (a) approve an application for approval referred to in Rule 20.18(1)(a) subject to such conditions as may be considered just and appropriate;
 - (b) refuse an application for approval referred to in Rule 20.18(1)(a), if in its opinion:
 - (i) the Applicant does not meet any requirements prescribed by the Rules or Rulings;

- (ii) the Rules and Rulings of the Corporation will not be complied with by the Applicant;
 - (iii) the Applicant is not qualified for approval by reason of integrity, solvency, training or experience; or
 - (iv) such approval is otherwise not in the public interest.
- (3) The District Council shall have the power, which it may delegate to a Sub-Committee of the District Council, pursuant to subsection (1), to impose such conditions on the continued approval of an Approved Person as the District Council considers appropriate and in the public interest.

6. Dealer Member Rule section 20.19 is repealed and replaced by:

20.19 Review Hearings

- (1) Corporation Staff or the Applicant may request a review of a decision under Rule 20.18 by a Hearing Panel within ten business days after release of the decision.
- (2) If a review is not requested within ten business days after release of the decision, the decision under Rule 20.18 becomes final.
- (3) No member of a District Council who has participated in a decision under Rule 20.18 shall participate on the Hearing Panel.
- (4) A review hearing held under this Part shall be held in accordance with the Corporation Practice and Procedure.
- (5) The Hearing Panel may:
 - (a) affirm the decision;
 - (b) quash the decision;
 - (c) vary or remove any terms and conditions imposed on approval;
 - (d) limit the ability to re-apply for approval for such period of time as it determines just and appropriate; and
 - (e) make any decision that could have been made by the District Council pursuant to Rule 20.18.
- (6) No appeal shall be available from the decision of the Hearing Panel.

7. Dealer Member Rule 29 is amended by:

- (a) Repealing and replacing sections 29.5 and 29.6 with the following:

29.5. Every director of a corporation any of whose securities are held by the public has a fiduciary obligation not to reveal any privileged information to anyone not authorized to receive it. Except to the extent referred to in the third paragraph of this Rule 29.5, a director is not released from the necessity of keeping information of this character to himself or herself until there has been full public disclosure of such information, particularly when the information might affect the market price of the corporation's securities. Any director of such corporation who is also a Director, Executive or Employee of a Dealer Member should recognize that his or her first responsibility in this area is to the public corporation on whose board he or she serves and that he or she must, except to the extent referred to in the third paragraph of this Rule 29.5, meticulously avoid any disclosure of inside information to the Directors, Executives, employees, customers, or research or trading departments of the Dealer Member.

Where a representative of a Dealer Member is not a director of a corporation but is acting in an underwriting or advisory capacity to such corporation and is discussing confidential matters, his or her responsibilities regarding disclosure are the same as those that would apply if such representative were a director of such corporation.

With reference to the two preceding paragraphs of this Rule 29.5, a Director or a representative, as the case may be, of a Dealer Member may consult with other personnel of the Dealer Member if a matter requires such consultation but in this event adequate measures should be taken to guard the confidential nature of the information to prevent its misuse within or outside the organization of the Dealer Member and the responsibilities of any such other personnel regarding disclosure are the same as those that would apply if such personnel were directors of the relevant corporation.

29.6. No Dealer Member or any Director, Executive or employee or shareholder of a Dealer Member shall give, offer or agree to give or offer, directly or indirectly, to any partner, director, officer, employee, shareholder or agent of a customer, or any associate of such persons, a gratuity, advantage, benefit or any other consideration in relation to any business of the customer with the Dealer Member, unless the prior written consent of the customer has first been obtained.

(b) Repealing and replacing section 29.7 (3) with the following:

29.7 (3) The policies and procedures referred to in subsection (2) may provide that such review and supervision will be done by pre-use approval, post use review or post use sampling, as appropriate to the type of material. However, the following types of advertisements, sales literature or correspondence must be approved prior to publication or use by a one or more Supervisors specifically designated to approve each specified type of material:

- (a) Research reports,
- (b) Market letters,
- (c) Telemarketing scripts,
- (d) Promotional seminar texts (not including educational seminar texts),
- (e) Original advertisements/original template advertisements; and
- (f) Any material used to solicit clients that contain performance reports or summaries.

(c) Repealing section 29.27.

8. Dealer Member Rule 38 is repealed and replaced by:

RULE 38

COMPLIANCE AND SUPERVISION

38.1 a Dealer Member must establish and maintain a system to supervise the activities of each partner, director, officer, registered representative, employee and agent of the Dealer Member that is reasonably designed to achieve compliance with the Rules of the Corporation and all other laws, regulations and policies applicable to the Dealer Member's securities and commodity futures business. Such a supervisory system shall provide, at a minimum, the following:

- (i) The establishment, maintenance and enforcement of written policies and procedures acceptable to the Corporation regarding the conduct of the types of business in which it engages and the supervision of each partner, director, officer, registered representative, employee and agent of the Dealer Member that are reasonably designed to achieve compliance with the applicable laws, rules, regulations and policies;

- (ii) Procedures reasonably designed to ensure that each partner, director, officer, registered representative, employee and agent of the Dealer Member understands his or her responsibilities under the written policies and procedures in (i);
 - (iii) Procedures to ensure that the written policies and procedures of the Dealer Member are amended as appropriate within a reasonable time after changes in applicable laws, regulations, rules and policies and that such changes are communicated to all relevant personnel;
 - (iv) Sufficient personnel and other resources to fully and properly enforce the written policies and procedures in (i);
 - (v) The designation of Supervisors with the qualifications and authority to carry out the supervisory responsibilities assigned to them. Each Dealer Member shall maintain an internal record of the names of all Supervisors, the scope of their responsibility and the dates for which such responsibility and authority is or was in effect. The records must be preserved by the Dealer Member for seven years, and on-site for the first year;
 - (vi) Procedures for follow-up and review to ensure that supervisory personnel are properly executing their supervisory functions. Where the supervision is conducted and supervisory records are maintained at a branch office, the follow-up and review procedures shall include periodic on-site reviews of branch office supervision and record-keeping as necessary depending on the types of business and supervision conducted at the branch office;
 - (vii) The maintenance of adequate records of supervisory activity, including on-site reviews of branch offices as described in (vi), compliance issues identified and the resolution of those issues.
- 38.2 (a) A Dealer Member must appoint as many Supervisors as are necessary to properly supervise the officers, partners, employees and agents of the Dealer Member, taking into account the scope and complexity of its businesses to ensure that the businesses of the Dealer Member are carried out in compliance with the Rules and Rulings of the Corporation and any other laws or regulations governing the Dealer Member's business conduct.
- (b) A Dealer Member must take reasonable steps to ensure that all of its Supervisors are proficient and understand the products that persons under their supervision trade in or advise on and the services that persons under their supervision provide to a sufficient degree to properly supervise those persons. At a minimum, the Dealer Member must ensure that all Supervisors meet the applicable proficiency requirements of Rule 2900.
- 38.3 No person may act and no Dealer Member may permit a person to act as a Supervisor without the approval of the Corporation.
- 38.4 (a) A Supervisor must fully and properly supervise each partner, director, officer, registered representative or agent in accordance with the supervisory responsibilities assigned to the Supervisor, the Rules of the Corporation and the written policies and procedures of the Dealer Member so as to ensure their compliance with the Rules of the Corporation and all other laws, regulations and policies applicable to the Dealer Member's securities and commodity futures business.
- (b) A Supervisor may delegate specific supervisory functions or procedures, provided that:
- (i) the delegation of such functions in not contrary to applicable laws, regulations, rules or policies;

- (ii) the person to whom such functions are delegated is qualified by virtue of registration, training or experience to properly execute them;
- (iii) the Supervisor conducts sufficient follow-up and review to ensure that the person to whom the functions have been delegated is properly executing them; and
- (iv) the Dealer Member records the terms of the delegation and the follow up and review.

38.5 Ultimate Designated Person

- (a) A Dealer Member must, subject to the Approval of the Corporation, its Chief Executive Officer or another Executive with the equivalent responsibility to act as the Ultimate Designated Person, who shall be responsible to the Corporation for the conduct of the firm and the supervision of its employees.
- (b) Where a Dealer Member is organized into two or more separate business units or divisions, the Dealer Member may designate an Ultimate Designated Person for each separate business unit or division.
- (c) The Ultimate Designated Person must ensure that policies and procedures are developed and implemented which adequately reflect the regulatory requirements of the Dealer Member.

38.6 Chief Financial Officer

- (a) Each Dealer Member must, subject to the Approval of the Corporation, appoint one Executive as Chief Financial Officer who, in addition to the requirements under Rule 7.4(a), must have met the proficiency requirements of Rule 2900, Part I, section A.2A. The Chief Financial Officer need not be engaged full time in the business of the Dealer Member.
- (b) Notwithstanding subsection (a), if the Chief Financial Officer of a Dealer Member terminates his/her employment with the Dealer Member and the Dealer Member is unable to immediately appoint another qualified person as Chief Financial Officer, the Dealer Member may, with the Corporation's approval, appoint an Executive as Acting Chief Financial Officer, provided that within 90 days of the termination:
 - (1) the Acting Chief Financial Officer meets the requirement of subsection (a) and is approved by the Corporation as Chief Financial Officer; or
 - (2) another qualified person is appointed Chief Financial Officer by the Dealer Member and approved by the Corporation.
- (c) The Chief Financial Officer must monitor adherence to the Dealer Member's policies and procedures as necessary to provide reasonable assurance that the Dealer Member complies with the financial rules of the Corporation.

38.7 Chief Compliance Officer

- (a) Every Dealer Member must, subject to the Approval of the Corporation, appoint an Executive to act as Chief Compliance Officer.
- (b) A Dealer Member may appoint the Ultimate Designated Person to act as the Chief Compliance Officer.
- (c) Where a Dealer Member is organized into two or more separate business units or divisions, a Dealer Member may, with the Approval of the Corporation, designate a Chief Compliance Officer for each separate business unit or division.

- (d) The Chief Compliance Officer must have the qualification required under Rule 2900, Part I, section A.2B.
 - (e) Notwithstanding subsection (a), a Dealer Member may, with the Corporation's approval, appoint an officer as Acting Chief Compliance Officer if the Chief Compliance Officer terminates his or her employment with the Dealer Member and the Dealer Member is unable to immediately appoint another qualified person as Chief Compliance Officer provided that, within 90 days of the termination of the previous Chief Compliance Officer:
 - (i) the Acting Chief Compliance Officer meets the requirement of subsection (d) and is approved by the Corporation as Chief Compliance Officer; or
 - (ii) another qualified person is appointed Chief Compliance Officer by the Dealer Member and is approved by the Corporation.
 - (f) The Corporation may grant to a Dealer Member an exemption from subsection (d) where it is satisfied that the nature of the Dealer Member's business is such that the qualification is not relevant to the Dealer Member and that to do so would not be prejudicial to the interests of the Dealer Member, its clients, the public or the Corporation. In granting such an exemption, it may impose such terms and conditions as it considers necessary.
 - (g) The Chief Compliance Officer must monitor adherence to the Dealer Member's policies and procedures as necessary to provide reasonable assurance that in conducting its securities-related activities the Dealer Member meets the non-financial requirements to which the Dealer Member is subject.
 - (h) The Chief Compliance Officer must report to the Board of Directors (or equivalent) of the Dealer Member as necessary but at least annually on the status of compliance at the Dealer Member. The Chief Compliance Officer must have access to the Ultimate Designated Person and the board of directors (or equivalent) at other times to raise significant issues requiring their attention.
- 38.8 The Board of Directors (or equivalent) of the Dealer Member must review the report of the Chief Compliance Officer and determine what actions are necessary to rectify any compliance deficiencies noted in the report and ensure such actions are carried out. The Board of Directors (or equivalent) must maintain records of the actions it determines to be necessary and the monitoring to ensure that those actions are carried out.
- 38.9 A Dealer Member must file with the Corporation:
- (a) A copy of a governance document setting out the organizational structure and reporting relationships, which support the compliance arrangement set out above; and
 - (b) Notice of any material changes to the organizational structure and reporting relationships as set out in subsection (a).

9. Dealer Member Rule 40 is amended by:

- (a) Repealing paragraphs (17) and (18) of section 40.1
- (b) Repealing and replacing section 40.3 with the following:

40.3 Approvals and Notifications

- (1) Each Dealer Member making an application for approval of an individual in any capacity required under any Rule of the Corporation shall make such application to the Corporation through the NRD on Form 33-109F4.
- (2) Each Dealer Member shall notify the Corporation of the appointment of an Ultimate Designated Person pursuant to Rule 38.5(a), a Chief Compliance

Officer pursuant to Rule 38.7(a) or a Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 38.6(a) through the NRD on Form 33-109F4.

- (3) Each Dealer Member making an application under subsection (1) shall be liable for and pay such fees as are prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors, including but not limited to application fees payable to the NRD Administrator for use of the NRD for the making of such an application.
- (4) Any fees payable to the Corporation or to the NRD Administrator pursuant to subsection (3) above shall be submitted by electronic pre-authorized debit through NRD.

(c) Repealing and replacing section 40.4 with the following:

40.4 Change of Approval Category or Type of Business

- (1) Each Dealer Member making an application for approval of any Approved Person in a different or additional capacity requiring approval under any Rule of the Corporation or to surrender an existing approval shall make such application to the Corporation through the NRD on Form 33-109F2.
- (2) Each Dealer Member making an application under subsection (1) shall be liable for and pay such change of status fees as are prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors, including but not limited to application fees payable to the NRD Administrator for use of the NRD for the making of such an application.
- (3) Any fees payable to the Corporation or the NRD Administrator pursuant to subsection (2) above shall be submitted by electronic pre-authorized debit through NRD.
- (4) Each Dealer Member must notify the Corporation through NRD on Form 33-109F2 when an Approved Person changes the type of business in which he or she engages as described in Rule 18.2(b).
- (5) Prior to providing notice of a change in the type of business in which an Approved Person will engage, a Dealer Member must ensure that it has notified the Corporation through NRD of the completion of the proficiency requirements under Rule 2900 necessary to undertake the type of business or that the Approved Person has been granted an exemption from the proficiency requirements under Rule 2900 and Rule 20.

(d) Repealing and replacing section 40.8 with the following:

40.8 Notification of Opening or Closing of a Business Location

- (1) Each Dealer Member required to notify the Corporation of the opening or closing of a Business Location pursuant to Rule 4.6 must do so through the NRD on Form 33-109F3 within the time period prescribed in NRD Multilateral Instrument 33-109 for a registered firm, as defined in NRD Multilateral Instrument 33-109, to notify the regulator of the opening or closing, as applicable, of a business location.
- (2) Each Dealer Member must notify the Corporation through the NRD of any change in the address or supervision of any Business Location within the time period prescribed in NRD Multilateral Instrument 33-109 for a registered firm, as defined in Multilateral Instrument 33-109, to notify the regulator of a change in a business location.

(e) Repealing sections 40.10 and 40.13.

10. Dealer Member Rule 1300 is amended by:

- (a) Repealing and replacing sections 1300.2 through 1300.8 with the following:

1300.2.

- (a) A Dealer Member must designate a Supervisor to be responsible for the opening of new accounts establishing and maintaining procedures acceptable to the Corporation for account supervision to ensure that the handling of client business is within the bounds of ethical conduct, consistent with just and equitable principles of trade and not detrimental to the interests of the securities industry. As part of this supervision each new account must be opened pursuant to a new account form which meets the guidelines provided for in Rule 2500 for retail accounts, in Rule 2700 for institutional accounts and in Rule 3200 for accounts exempt from suitability reviews.
- (b) Where a Dealer Member conducts more than one of retail business, institutional business and suitability-exempt business under Rules 1300.1(t) and 3200.B, the Dealer Member may designate separate Supervisors for each type of business.
- (c) The Designated Supervisor or another Supervisor assigned the responsibility for doing so in the policies and procedures of the Dealer Member must approve and record the approval of the opening of an account prior to or promptly after the completion of any transaction.

Discretionary and Managed Accounts

1300.3. In this Rule 1300 unless the context otherwise requires, the expression:

“discretionary account” means an account of a customer other than a managed account in respect of which a Dealer Member or any person acting on behalf of the Dealer Member exercises any discretionary authority in trading by or for such account, provided that an account shall not be considered to be a discretionary account for the sole reason that discretion is exercised as to the price at which or time when an order given by a customer for the purchase or sale of a definite amount of a specified security, option, futures contract or futures contract option shall be executed;

“futures contracts managed account” means a managed account which includes only investments in commodity futures contracts or commodity futures contract options;

“investment” includes a commodity futures contract and a commodity futures contract option;

“managed account” means any account solicited by a Dealer Member in which the investment decisions are made on a continuing basis by the Dealer Member or by a third party hired by the Dealer Member;”

“portfolio manager” means a registered representative exercising discretionary authority over a managed account;

“responsible person” means a partner, director, officer, employee or agent of a Dealer Member who:

- (a) exercises discretionary authority over the account of a client or approves discretionary orders for an account when exercising such discretion or giving such approval pursuant to Rule 1300.4, or
- (b) participates in the formulation of, or has prior access information regarding investment decisions made on behalf of or advice given to a managed account

but does not include a sub-adviser under Rule 1300.7(a)(ii);

1300.4. A registered representative may not exercise discretionary authority over a customer account unless:

- (a) the Dealer Member has designated a Supervisor or Supervisors to be responsible for discretionary accounts;
- (b) the customer has given prior written authorization in compliance with in compliance with Rule 1300.5; and
- (c) a Supervisor designated under subsection (a) has approved the account as a discretionary account and recorded that approval,
- (d) the registered representative authorized to effect discretionary trades for the account has actively dealt in, advised on or performed analysis for a period of two year with respect to all types of products which are to be traded on a discretionary basis; and
- (e) the account is maintained at the Dealer Member of the Registered Representative.

1300.5. The prior written authorization provided for by clause (a) of Rule 1300.4 must:

- (a) define the extent of the discretionary authority which has been given to the Dealer Member;
- (b) except for a managed account, have a term of no more than twelve months, unless the Dealer Member has satisfied the Corporation that a longer term is appropriate and the customer is aware of such longer term;
- (c) except for a managed account, only be renewable in writing;
- (d) only be terminated by the customer by notice in writing, effective on receipt of the notice by the Dealer Member except with respect to transactions entered into prior to the receipt; and
- (e) only be terminated by the Dealer Member by notice in writing, effective not less than 30 days from the date of delivery to the customer.

1300.6. In addition to any other account supervision requirements under the Rules, the designated Supervisor must review at least monthly the financial performance of each discretionary account other than a managed account, including a review to determine whether any person permitted to effect discretionary trades for the account should continue to do so. The Designated Supervisor may not be delegate the conduct of the review to any other person.

1300.7. A Dealer Member may not exercise any discretionary authority with respect to a managed account unless:

- (a) the individual who is responsible for the management of the account is:
 - (i) a portfolio manager; or
 - (ii) a sub-adviser with which the Dealer Member has entered into a written sub-adviser agreement, provided that
 - A. the sub-adviser is an individual or firm registered in the jurisdiction in which it resides, in a category of registration that permits the person or company to provide discretionary portfolio management services or as a broker or investment dealer active as a portfolio manager; and
 - B. the Dealer Member has determined that the sub-adviser is subject to legislation or regulations containing conflict of

interest provisions at least equivalent to Rules 1300.18 and 1300.19 or has entered into an agreement with the sub-adviser that the sub-adviser will comply with Rules 1300.18 and 1300.19.

- (b) the customer has given prior authorization to the Dealer Member in accordance with Rule 1300.8
- (c) the Supervisor designed under Rule 1300.15(b) or in the Dealer Member's policies and procedures has specifically approved the account as a managed account and the approval has been recorded;
- (d) the Dealer Member has provided to the accountholder a copy of its policy ensuring fair allocation of investment opportunities.

1300.8. The prior written authorization provided for by clause (b) of Rule 1300.7 must:

- (a) describe the investment objectives and risk tolerance of the customer with respect to the managed account or accounts;
- (b) where permitted by the Dealer Member, describe any constraints imposed by customer on investments to be made in the managed account or accounts;
- (c) only be terminated by the customer by notice in writing, effective on receipt by the Dealer Member except with respect to transactions entered into prior to the receipt; and
- (d) only be terminated by the Dealer Member by notice in writing, effective not less than 30 days from the date of delivery of the notice to the customer.

(b) Repealing sections 1300.9 through 1300.14

(c) Repealing and replacing sections 1300.15 through 1300.17 with the following:

1300.15.A Dealer Member that has managed accounts or futures contracts managed accounts must establish and maintain a system acceptable to the Corporation to supervise the activities of those responsible for the management of such accounts under Rule 1300.7. The system must be reasonably designed to achieve compliance with the Rules and Forms of the Corporation. A Dealer Member firm's supervisory system must provide, at a minimum, for the following:

- (a) the establishment and maintenance of written procedures, including:
 - (i) procedures designed to disclose when a responsible person has contravened Rules 1300.18 or 1300.19;
 - (ii) procedures to ensure fairness in the allocation of investment opportunities among its managed accounts;
- (b) the designation of one or more Supervisors specifically responsible for the supervision of managed accounts.
- (c) direct supervision of any Registered Representative providing discretionary management to managed accounts who has less than two years experience providing such discretionary management, including at least one year managing on a discretionary basis more than \$5 million in assets, by
 - (i) a Registered Representative at the Dealer Member or another Dealer Member who is authorized to provide discretionary management to managed accounts and who is not in the period of supervision, or

- (ii) A person registered as an advisor under Canadian securities legislation who has entered into a contract with the Dealer Member to provide the supervision.

The period of experience includes any period spent providing discretionary management as a registered advisor under Canadian securities legislation or while employed by a government-regulated institution.

- (d) in addition to any other account supervision requirements under the Rules, a review by the Designated Supervisor with respect to each managed account, to be conducted at least quarterly, to ensure that the investment objectives of the client are being diligently pursued and that the managed account or futures contracts managed account is being conducted in accordance with the Rules. The review may be conducted at an aggregate level for managed accounts for which key investment decisions are made centrally and applied across a number of managed accounts, subject to minor variations to allow for client-directed constraints and the timing of client cash flows into the managed account.
- (e) the establishment of a committee, including at least the Designated Supervisor of managed accounts and the Chief Compliance Officer, that shall review at least annually the supervisory system and procedures for managed accounts and recommend to senior management any action necessary to achieve the Dealer Member's compliance with applicable securities legislation and with the Rules and Forms of the Corporation.

1300.16. A Dealer Member may charge a client directly for services rendered to a managed account but, except with the written agreement of the client, the charge may not be based on the volume or value of transactions initiated for the account or be contingent upon profits or performance.

1300.17. A Dealer Member may not pay remuneration to anyone managing a managed account that is computed on the basis of the value or volume of transactions in the account.

- (d) Repealing and replacing sections 1300.20 and 1300.21 with the following:

1300.20. Where investment decisions are made centrally and applied across a number of managed accounts, Rule 29.3A does not apply to the managed accounts of partners, directors, officers, registered persons, employees or agents of the Dealer Member who participate on the same basis as client accounts in the implementation of those decisions.

1300.21. Except as specifically permitted in the Rules or Rulings, a Dealer Member may not charge a customer a fee that is contingent upon the profit or performance of the customer's account.

- 11. Dealer Member Rule 1800 is amended by:

- (a) Repealing and replacing section 1800.2 with the following:

1800.2. (a) A Dealer Member that trades in futures contracts or futures contract options on behalf of customers must designate a Supervisor qualified to supervise trading in futures contracts and futures contract options to be responsible for the opening of new accounts and establishing and maintaining procedures acceptable to the Corporation for account supervision to ensure that the handling of client business is within the bounds of ethical conduct, consistent with just and equitable principles of trade and not detrimental to the interests of the securities industry.

- (b) A Dealer Member must enter into a futures contract trading agreement or futures contract options trading agreement in compliance with Rule 1800.9 with a customer before effecting the customer's initial trade in futures contracts or futures contract options;

- (c) The Supervisor designated under Rule 1800.2(a) or another Supervisor qualified to supervise futures contracts or futures contract options trading must approve

the opening of the account of each customer of the Dealer Member for trading in futures contracts or futures contract options before the customer's first trade in futures contracts or futures contract options.

- (d) A Dealer Member must:
 - (i) provide to each customer the then current risk disclosure statement approved by the Corporation and obtain from the customer acknowledgement of its receipt before the customer's initial trade in futures contracts or futures contract options
 - (ii) distribute to each customer having a futures contract or futures contract options account any amendments to the risk disclosure statement approved by the Corporation; and
 - (iii) Maintain records showing the names and addresses of all persons to whom a current risk disclosure statement or an amendment thereto has been provided and the date or dates on which they were provided;
 - (e) A Dealer Member must have systems and procedures to ensure that in normal circumstances customers of the Dealer Member have access at any time during usual business hours to a registered representative or investment representative, as appropriate to the services provided to the client, qualified to advise on or trade in futures contracts or futures contract options and registered as necessary in the jurisdiction in which the client resides.
 - (f) A Dealer Member must obtain the approval of the Corporation of its accounting, settlement and credit control systems for trading in futures contracts or futures contract options for customer and firm accounts with respect to futures contracts or futures contract options before trading in futures contracts or futures contract options.
- (b) Repealing sections 1800.3, 1800.5 and 1800.6
- (c) Repealing and replacing sections 1800.7 through 1800.11 with the following:
- 1800.7. A Dealer Member that trades in futures contracts must file any reports on that are required by the Corporation. A Dealer Member must report to the Corporation on a form of monthly position report approved by the Corporation the greater of the market value of the total long or the total short futures contracts for each commodity, determined as at the close of business on the last day of each month or, where that day is not a trading day, on the next preceding trading day.
- 1800.8. A Registered Representative or Investment Representative must identify all non-customer orders entered for the purchase or sale of futures contracts or futures contract options. A "non-customer" order is an order for an account in which the Dealer Member or any Approved Person of the Dealer Member has a direct or indirect interest other than an interest in the commission charged.
- 1800.9. The account agreement required in Rule 1800.2(b) must define the rights and obligations between the Dealer Member and the customer on the subjects that the Corporation may from time to time determine, including the following:
- (a) The rights of the Dealer Member to exercise discretion in accepting orders;
 - (b) The Dealer Member's obligation with respect to errors and/or omissions and qualification of the time periods during which orders will be accepted for execution;
 - (c) The customer's obligation in respect of the payment of his or her indebtedness to the Dealer Member and the maintenance of adequate margin and security, including the conditions under which the funds, securities or other property held

- in the account or any other accounts of the customer may be applied to such indebtedness or margin;
- (d) The obligation of the customer in respect of commissions, if any, on futures contracts or futures contract options bought and sold for his or her account;
 - (e) The obligation of the customer in respect of the payment of interest, if any, on debit balances in his or her account;
 - (f) The extent of the right of the Dealer Member to make use of free credit balances in the customer's account either in its own business or to cover debit balances in the same or other accounts, and the consent, if given, of the customer to the Dealer Member taking the other side to the customer's transactions from time to time;
 - (g) The rights of the Dealer Member in respect of raising money on and pledging securities and other assets held in the customer's account;
 - (h) The extent of the right of the Dealer Member to otherwise deal with securities and other assets in the customer's account and to hold the same as collateral security for the customer's indebtedness;
 - (i) The customer's obligation to comply with the rules pertaining to futures contracts or futures contract options with respect to reporting, position limits and exercise limits, as applicable, as established by the commodity futures exchange on which such futures contracts or futures contract options are traded or its clearing house;
 - (j) The right of the Dealer Member, if so required, to provide regulatory authorities with information and/or reports related to reporting limits and position limits;
 - (k) The acknowledgement by the customer that he or she has received the current risk disclosure statement required by Rule 1800.2(d);
 - (l) The right of the Dealer Member to impose trading limits and to close out futures contracts or futures contract options under specified conditions;
 - (m) That minimum margin will be required from the customer in such amounts and at such times as the commodity futures exchange on which a contract is entered or its clearing house may prescribe and in such greater amounts at other times as prescribed by the Rules and as determined by the Dealer Member, and that such funds or property may be commingled and used by the Dealer Member in the conduct of its business;
 - (n) In the case of futures contract options accounts, the method of allocation of exercise assignment notices and the customer's obligation to instruct the Dealer Member to close out contracts prior to the expiry date; and
 - (o) Unless provided for in a separate agreement, the authority, if any, of the Dealer Member to effect trades for the customer on a discretionary basis, which authority shall be separately acknowledged in a part of the agreement prominently marked off from the remainder and shall not be inconsistent with any Rules relating to discretionary accounts.

1800.10. Rule 1800.9 does not apply to the opening of a futures contracts or futures contract options account where the customer is a dealer on its own behalf, a dealer on behalf of its customer if the dealer is required to maintain with its customer an account agreement substantially similar to that described in Rule 1800.9, an adviser registered under any applicable legislation relating to trading or advising in respect of futures contracts or futures contract options, an acceptable institution or an acceptable counter-party, provided the Dealer Member has obtained from the customer a letter of undertaking specifying:

- (a) That the person opening the account will comply with the by-laws, rules and regulations of the exchange and clearing house upon or through which trades in

contracts are to be effected including without limitation, the rules and regulations establishing position and reporting limits; and

- (b) Where the customer also maintains with the same Dealer Member an account on which the customer is charged interest when there is a debit balance in the account, the conditions under which transfers of funds, securities or other property held in such other account will be made between accounts, unless provision is made elsewhere in a document signed by the person opening the account.

1800.11(a) A Dealer Member must keep a record of any order or other instruction given or received with respect to a trade in a futures contract or futures contract option, whether executed or unexecuted, showing:

- (i) The terms and conditions of the order or instruction and any modification or cancellation of the order or instruction;
- (ii) The account to which the order or instruction relates;
- (iii) Where the order relates to an omnibus account, the component accounts within the omnibus account on whose behalf the order is to be executed;
- (iv) Where the order or instruction is placed by a person other than the customer in whose name the account is operated, the name, or designation, of the party placing the order or instruction;
- (v) The time of the entry of the order or instruction, and, where the order is entered pursuant to the exercise of discretionary authority by the Dealer Member, identification to that effect;
- (vi) To the extent feasible, the time of altering instructions or cancellation; and
- (vii) The time of report of execution.

- (b) A Dealer Member must keep in a form accessible to the Corporation the records of all unexecuted orders for two years and all executed orders for seven years from the date of the order.

12. Dealer Member Rule 1900 is amended by:

- (a) Repealing and replacing sections 1900.1 and 1900.2 with the following:

1900.1. For the purposes of this Rule 1900, unless the subject matter or content otherwise requires:

“Option” means a call option or put option issued by the Canadian Derivatives Clearing Corporation, Intermarket Services Inc., The Options Clearing Corporation, Intermarket Clearing Corporation, International Options Clearing Corporation or any other corporation or organization recognized by the Board of Directors for the purposes of this Rule but does not include a futures contract or futures contract option as defined in Rule 1800.1.

- 1900.2. (a) A Dealer Member that trades in options on behalf of customers must designate a Supervisor qualified to supervise options trading to be responsible for approving customer accounts to trade in options and for establishing and maintaining procedures acceptable to the Corporation for the supervision of account activity involving options, to ensure that the handling of customer business is within the bounds of ethical conduct, consistent with just and equitable principles of trade and not detrimental to the interests of the securities industry;

- (b) A Dealer Member's must enter into an options trading agreement in compliance with Rule 1900.6 with a customer before effecting the customer's initial trade in options;
 - (c) The Supervisor designated under Rule 1900.2(a) or another Supervisor qualified to supervise options trading must approve each customer account of the Dealer Member for trading in options before the customer's first trade in options;
 - (d) A Dealer Member must:
 - (i) provide to each customer the then current disclosure approved by the Corporation and obtain from the customer acknowledgement of its receipt before the customer's first trade in options;
 - (ii) Provide to each customer having an account approved for options trading any amendments to the disclosure document in subsection (i); and
 - (iii) Maintain records showing the names and addresses of all persons to whom a current disclosure statement or an amendment thereto has been provided and the date or dates on which they were provided.
 - (e) A Dealer Member must comply with the applicable rules and rulings of any exchange, clearing corporation or other organization on or through which the option is traded or issued including, without limitation, those respecting position limits and exercise limits.
- (b) Repealing sections 1900.3 and 1900.4
- (c) Repealing and replacing sections 1900.5 and 1900.6 with the following:
- 1900.5. A Dealer Member that trades in options must file reports as required by the Corporation on the following matters:
- (a) All transactions together with a summary of open positions showing those that are covered and those that are uncovered; and
 - (b) All holdings on the previous day in aggregate long or short positions of any single class of options of the minimum amount or over as specified by the rules, regulations or by-laws of the exchange or the clearing house on or through which the option is traded. For each class of option the report must include the number of options in each position and, in the case of short positions, whether they are covered.
- 1900.6. (a) The options trading agreement required in Rule 1900.2(b) must define the rights and obligations between the Dealer Member and the customer on the subjects that the Corporation may from time to time determine, including the following:
- (i) The rights of the Dealer Member to exercise discretion in accepting orders;
 - (ii) The Dealer Member's obligations with respect to errors and/or omissions and qualification of the time periods during which orders will be accepted for execution;
 - (iii) The method of allocation of exercise assignment notices;
 - (iv) The notice that maximum limits may be set on short positions and that during the last 10 days to expiry cash only terms may be applied and, in addition, that the Corporation may impose other rules affecting existing or subsequent transactions;

- (v) The customer's obligation to instruct the Dealer Member to close out contracts prior to expiry date;
 - (vi) The customer's obligation to comply with applicable Rules and Rulings of the Corporation and any exchange, clearing corporation or other organization on or through which the option is traded or issued including, without limitation, those respecting position limits and exercise limits;
 - (vii) The acknowledgement by the customer that he or she has received the current disclosure statement referred to in Rule 1900.2(d);
 - (viii) A statement of the time limit set by the Dealer Member prior to which the client must submit an exercise notice; and
 - (ix) Any other matter required by the exchange, clearing corporation or other organization on or through which an option is traded or issued.
- (b) Notwithstanding Rule 1900.6(a), if the client is an acceptable institution or acceptable counter-party the Dealer Member may, in lieu of maintaining an options trading agreement, accept a letter of undertaking from the acceptable institution or acceptable counter-party in which the institution or counter-party agrees to abide by the Rules, Rulings and requirements of the Corporation and of the exchange, clearing corporation or other organization on or through which an option is traded including those relating to exercise and position limits.
- (d) Repealing section 1900.7

13. Dealer Member Rule 2500 is repealed and replaced by:

RULE 2500

MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR RETAIL ACCOUNT SUPERVISION

Introduction

This Rule establishes minimum industry standards for retail account supervision.

These standards represent the minimum requirements necessary to ensure that a Dealer Member has in place procedures to properly supervise retail account activity. The Rule does not:

- (a) relieve Dealer Members from complying with specific SRO by-laws, rules, regulations and policies and securities legislation applicable to particular trades or accounts; or
- (b) preclude Dealer Members from establishing a higher standard of supervision and in certain situations a higher standard may be necessary to ensure proper supervision.

Many of the standards in this Rule are taken from existing Rules of the Corporation and of other self-regulatory organizations. Securities legislation was generally not canvassed. To ensure that a Dealer Member has met all applicable standards, Dealer Members are required to know and comply with Corporation and other self-regulatory organization by-laws, rules, regulations and policies and applicable securities legislation which may apply in any given circumstance.

The following principles have been used to develop these minimum standards:

- (a) The term "review" in this Rule has been used to mean a preliminary screening to detect items for further investigation or an examination of unusual trading activity or both. It does not mean that every trade meeting the selection process of this Rule must be investigated. The reviewer must use reasonable judgement in selecting the items for further investigation.
- (b) While Dealer Members must provide the necessary resources and qualified supervisors to meet these standards, the standards do not specify what the resources must be. The Dealer Member

must determine what resources and supervisors are necessary based on the nature of the Dealer Member's business.

- (c) The compliance with the know-your-client rule and suitability of investment requirements is primarily the responsibility of the registered representative. The supervisory standards in this Rule relating to know-your-client and suitability are intended to provide supervisors with guidelines on how to monitor the handling of these responsibilities by the registered representative.

I. Establishing and Maintaining Procedures, Delegation and Education

Introduction

Effective self-regulation begins with the Dealer Member establishing and maintaining a supervisory environment which fosters the business objectives of the Dealer Member and enables the Dealer Member to meet regulatory requirements and its obligations to its customers. To that end a Dealer Member must establish and maintain procedures which are supervised by qualified individuals. A major aspect of self-regulation is the ongoing education of staff in all areas of business conduct.

A. Establishing Procedures

1. A Dealer Member must:
 - (a) appoint designated principals who have the necessary knowledge of industry regulations and Dealer Member policy to properly perform their duties;
 - (b) maintain written policies and procedures to document supervision requirements; and
 - (c) supply written instructions to all supervisors and alternates to advise them on what is expected of them.
2. A Dealer Member must have a procedure establishing the approval process for new policies and procedures. Those having a significant impact on the Dealer Member's compliance system should be approved by senior management approval.

B. Maintaining Procedures

1. A Dealer Member must have a reasonable process to review the efficacy of its business conduct procedures and practices and rectify any deficiencies identified.

C. Risk-based Procedures

1. A Dealer Member may select accounts for review on the basis of risk-based procedures, taking into account factors such as the size of account, nature of the trading, products traded, volume of activity, commissions generated or Approved Persons advising the customer.
2. A Dealer Member must document the basis used for selecting accounts for review in its policies and procedures.
3. The procedures for selecting accounts for review must be applied consistently across retail accounts.
4. At a minimum, a Dealer Member must conduct enhanced supervision of trading by Approved Persons who have had a history of questionable conduct. Evidence of such conduct can include trading activity that frequently raises questions in account reviews, frequent or serious client complaints, regulatory investigations, frequent account credit problems or failure to take appropriate remedial action on account problems identified.

D. Delegation

1. Supervisors may delegate tasks but not responsibility.
2. A Dealer Member must advise supervisors of those specific functions that cannot be delegated.

3. The supervisor delegating the task must ensure that these tasks are being performed adequately and that exceptions are brought to his or her attention.
4. Those to whom tasks are delegated must have the qualifications to perform them and should be advised in writing what is expected.

E. Education

1. A Dealer Member must provide all sales and supervisory personnel with the current sales practices and policies relevant to their functions. The provision can be done through access to electronic systems on which the policies and procedures are maintained, in which case personnel must be trained on use of the systems. A Dealer Member should obtain and record acknowledgements from all sales and supervisory personnel that they have read and understood the policies and procedures relevant to their responsibilities.
2. A Dealer Member must provide introductory and continuing education to all approved persons on the Dealer Member's policies and procedures and any relevant changes to them.
3. A Dealer Member must communicate information contained in compliance-related bulletins from the Corporation and other SROs and Regulatory Organizations to all sales and other approved persons to whom it is relevant. A Dealer Member must maintain procedures relating to the method and timing of distribution of compliance-related bulletins.

F. Records

1. A Dealer Member must maintain records of supervisory review for seven years.
2. A Dealer Member must maintain the records in a manner that permits them to be provided to the Corporation promptly for the first two years after its creation and within a reasonable time thereafter.
3. The evidence must record who conducted the review and when, inquiries made, replies received and actions taken.

II. Opening New Accounts

Introduction

To comply with the "Know-Your-Client" rule each Dealer Member must establish procedures to maintain accurate and complete information on each client. The first step towards compliance with this rule is completing proper documentation when opening new accounts. Accurate completion of the documentation when opening a new account allows both the registered representative and the supervisory staff to conduct the necessary review to ensure that recommendations made for any account are appropriate for the client and in keeping with his investment objectives. Maintaining accurate and current documentation will allow the registered representative and the supervisory staff to ensure that all recommendations made for any account are appropriate for the client and in keeping with the client's investment objectives.

"Know-Your-Client" procedures must also be directed at meeting a Dealer Member's gatekeeper obligations by identifying clients that present a high risk to the Dealer Member or a high risk of conducting improper activities in the securities markets. The procedures must also meet the requirements of anti-money laundering and terrorist financing legislation and regulations.

A. Documentation

1. A Dealer Member must complete an account application for each new customer that conforms to the account information requirements of this Policy.
2. A Supervisor authorized in the Dealer Member's policies and procedures to do so must approve a fully completed new account application no later than the business day after the initial trade. 'Fully completed' means that all information necessary to assess suitability, creditworthiness and risk has been obtained but does not mean that the client must have signed the application if the Dealer Member requires that the client do so. Alternate procedures for securing interim approval are acceptable to prevent undue delays provided the Supervisor applies prompt final approval following

the initial trade. If an account application received after the initial trade is not fully completed, a Dealer Member must restrict the account to liquidating trades only until a fully completed application has been approved.

3. Where the customer is an employee or agent of another registered dealer, a Dealer Member must obtain written approval of the customer's employer or principal before opening the account. A Dealer Member must designate such accounts as non-client accounts.
4. A Dealer Member must maintain a complete set of documentation regarding each account. The Registered Representative(s) handling an account must maintain a copy of the account application. A Dealer Member can meet this requirement by maintaining the information on the application in an electronic application accessible to the Registered Representative.
5. The Registered Representative must update the information on the application where there is a material change in client information. The update must be approved in the manner provided in subsection A.2. A Dealer Member must restrict the access of Registered Representatives and other persons to its electronic systems for maintaining know-your-client information so that material information cannot be changed without the required approval. A Dealer Member must have procedures independent of the Registered Representative for verifying material changes to customer information, such as changes of address, financial situation, investment objectives or risk tolerance.
6. When there is a change of Registered Representative, the new Registered Representative must verify the account information to ensure it is current. A Dealer Member must have a procedure for recording that the new Registered Representative has reviewed the customer information and that the appropriate Supervisor is satisfied that it has been reviewed and has approved any material changes. It is acceptable for the Registered Representative to record and initial any changes on a photocopy of the existing application provided that it was previously approved within two years of the review.
7. A Dealer Member must not assign an account number for a new customer unless it has the proper name and address of the customer.

B. Pending Documents

1. A Dealer Member must have procedures in place to ensure supporting documents are received within a reasonable period of time of opening the account.
2. A Dealer Member must have systems or procedures to prevent:
 - Trading on margin until the customer entered into a margin agreement with the customer as described in Rule 200.1(i)(2)
 - Trading in futures contracts or futures contract options until the customer has entered into a futures contracts or futures contract options trading agreement with the customer as described in Rule 1800.2(b)
 - Trading in options until the customer has entered into an options trading agreement with the customer as described in Rule 1900.2(b)
3. A Dealer Member must have a system for recording pending account documentation and following up where it is not received in a reasonable time.
4. A Dealer Member must take positive action specified in its policies and procedures to obtain required documentation not obtained within 25 business days of the opening of the account.

C. Other Requirements

1. All hold mail must be authorized by the client in writing and be controlled, reviewed on a regular basis and maintained by the responsible Supervisor.
2. Returned mail must be properly investigated and controlled by a person who is independent of the sales function but may be located within a branch.

3. For supervisory purposes, "non-client" accounts, RRSP accounts, managed accounts, discretionary accounts and restricted accounts must be readily identifiable.

III. Account Supervision Generally

Introduction

Rule 38.1 requires a Dealer Member to implement systems of supervision and control to ensure that is reasonably designed to achieve compliance with the Rules and Rulings of the Corporation and all other laws, regulations and policies applicable to the Dealer Member's securities and commodity futures business. This section provides guidance on the means used by Dealer Members to meet that requirement with respect to retail customer accounts.

A. Supervisory Structure

1. In maintaining a supervisory structure and appointing Supervisors, a Dealer Member must take into consideration all factors necessary to ensure the adequacy of the supervision, including the products traded, type of trading, location of business and other functions of Supervisors.
2. Where the Dealer Member conducts retail business in business locations outside its Head Office, it should consider the following:
 - A resident supervisor is in the best position to know the Registered Representatives in the office, know or meet many of the clients, understand local conditions and needs, facilitate business through the timely approval of new accounts and respond immediately to questions or problems. However, a Dealer Member may determine to what extent a resident supervisor is necessary, considering factors such as:
 - The number of Registered Representatives in the location
 - The experience of Registered Representatives in the location
 - The nature of the business conducting in the location
 - The availability of a Supervisor or Supervisors in nearby locations
 - Other systems and controls mitigating the risk of remote supervision
 - Where a business location does not have a Supervisor working in the office, it must have an outside Supervisor assigned to it. A Dealer Member's policies and procedures and the instructions to the outside Supervisor must include provision for periodic visits to the location by the Supervisor as necessary to ensure that business is being conducted properly at the location.
3. While it is not always possible in a very small firm, a Dealer Member should ensure independent supervision of all retail accounts. A Supervisor's advice and trades for his or her own clients should be supervised by another Supervisor.
4. A Dealer Member must ensure that a Supervisor who advises and trades for his or her own clients devotes sufficient time and attention to his or her supervisory role.
5. A Dealer Member must ensure that Supervisors are qualified to supervise trading activity in all products traded by those under his or her supervision and any other services that they provide to retain customers. Where the Supervisor is not so qualified, the Dealer Member may divide the supervision between two or more Supervisors, but must ensure that there are appropriate mechanisms for them to communicate with one another, that the system ensures that the Dealer Member maintains an overall view of the client's situation and activity and that the assignment of responsibilities is clear and complete. One acceptable mechanism for doing so is the appointment of a primary Supervisor to whom the other Supervisor(s) provide advice with regard to the activity in the products or services the primary Supervisor is not qualified to supervise.
6. A Dealer Member's supervisory system must provide Supervisors with the information necessary to properly conduct their supervision. For account reviews this includes readily accessible client

information and full information about account activity including relevant non-trade activity such as receipts, deliveries, deposits, withdrawals and journal entries.

7. A Dealer Member's supervisory system must provide for back-up during the absence of responsible Supervisors. For any prolonged absence of a Supervisor, the back-up Supervisor should be advised as necessary of any ongoing issues or concerns as necessary to provide proper supervision.
8. A Dealer Member must have systems of supervision and review to ensure that Supervisors are properly fulfilling their supervisory functions. This requirement can be met by a two-tiered system of first and second level reviews as described in this policy.
9. A Supervisor must have sufficient authority to take effective and timely remedial action where account activity or any other matter under his or her supervision falls or appears to fall outside the bounds of proper conduct, just and equitable principles of trade or good business practice. Escalation for a decision by a more senior Supervisor or Executive will be considered an acceptable form of action.

B. Supervision of Account Activity

A Dealer Member must have systems and procedures to supervise trading activity in retail accounts. The supervision must provide reasonable assurance that the Dealer Member is meeting its regulatory obligations, including those to clients such as suitability and gatekeeper obligations such as preventing market abuses. The following principles should be taken into consideration:

1. Reviews may be conducted on a pre-trade or post-trade basis. A properly crafted pre-trade review process may obviate or lessen the need for post-trade reviews.
2. Review procedures must cover all accounts. Where a Dealer Member offers both commission and fee-based accounts, it cannot select accounts for review solely on the basis of commission levels; it must also have a procedure for selecting fee-based accounts for review.
3. Reviews procedures must be able to identify patterns of activity that are not apparent by reviewing trades singly. For example, a review of trading over a longer period may raise questions about the overall level of activity even though each trade, looked at singly, appears to be suitable for the client.
4. Reviews must encompass non-trade issues such as late payment, margin problems, trade cancellations or transfers and flows of funds or securities that might be suspicious of money laundering.
5. The selection of activity for post-trade review may be done using a risk-based approach reasonably designed to detect improper activity. A risk-based approach can be used to determine the period of activity to be reviewed. For example, in some cases it may be appropriate to conduct longer-term reviews of monthly activity; in others they may consider shorter or longer periods.
6. Reviews must take into consideration, and reviewers must have access to, information about customers that may reasonably be assessed as presenting a higher risk of improper market activity such as those known by the Dealer Member to have access to material non-public information about issuers, holders of control blocks of public issuers and market professionals.
7. All account activity of employees and agents should be subject to review.
8. Reviews must be done on a timely basis, as established in the Dealer Member's policies and procedures. The timing should be reasonably designed to identify as early as possible matters requiring supervisory attention.
9. It is acceptable to use computer analysis to assist in selecting activity to be reviewed.

IV. Two-Tier Reviews

In a Dealer Member with multiple business locations conducting retail account activity, a two-tier system of post-trade activity reviews as described in this section is an acceptable structure.

The first level review will normally be conducted by a Supervisor at each business location having a resident supervisor. Such reviews may also be carried out on a regional basis or at a Dealer Member's head office provided that the systems and resources to conduct the review are available at the regional or head office and that the Dealer Member has adequate systems and procedures for dealing with any issues identified.

The second-tier review will normally be conducted at the Dealer Member's Head Office, but may also be done regionally. The second level of supervision is generally not at the same depth as first level supervision. It should and be reasonably designed to identify serious account problems, including all those listed regarding first level reviews, that may have been missed by the first level supervision and ensure that first level supervision is being adequately conducted.

Where second level reviews are conducted by personnel or a department responsible only for monitoring activity, the Dealer Member should have procedures for referring issues that cannot be resolved with first level Supervisors to a higher level Supervisor who has the authority to resolve them.

A. First-Tier Daily Reviews

A first-tier review examines the previous day's trading using means described in the Dealer Member's procedures to attempt to detect the following:

- unsuitable trading;
- undue concentration of securities in a single account or across accounts;
- excessive trade activity;
- trading in restricted securities;
- conflict of interest between registered representative and client trading activity;
- excessive trade transfers, trade cancellations etc. indicating possible unauthorized trading;
- inappropriate / high risk trading strategies;
- quality downgrading of client holdings;
- excessive / improper crosses of securities between clients;
- improper employee trading;
- front running;
- account number changes;
- late payment;
- outstanding margin calls;
- violation of any internal trading restrictions;
- undisclosed short sales;
- manipulative or deceptive trading;
- insider trading.

B. First-Tier Monthly Reviews

1. A first-tier monthly review should encompass the areas of concern as described in subsection IV.A for daily activity reviews.

2. It may not be possible to review each statement produced. A first-tier monthly review starts with the selection, on a basis reasonably designed to detect improper account activity, of retail client accounts to be reviewed. A Dealer Member can meet this obligation by reviewing the activity of all customers charged gross commissions of \$1,500 or more for the month.
3. A first-tier monthly review should include all non-client accounts showing any activity other than receipt of dividends or interest or payment of interest.
4. This review should be completed within 21 days of the period covered unless precluded by unusual circumstances.

C. Second-Tier Daily Reviews

1. Daily reviews should cover the following:
 - trades meeting criteria established in the Dealer Member's policies and procedures. For this purpose, the following meet the requirement:
 - stock trades with a value over \$5,000 and a price under \$5.00 per share;
 - stock trades with value over \$20,000 and a price at or over \$5.00 per share;
 - bond trades over \$100,000 value per trade;
 - non-client trading;
 - client accounts of producing branch managers;
 - all client accounts not reviewed by a branch manager;
 - trade cancellations;
 - trading in restricted accounts;
 - trading in suspense accounts;
 - account number changes;
 - late payment;
 - outstanding margin calls.
2. Daily reviews should be completed no later than the business day following the activity unless precluded by unusual circumstances.

D. Second-Tier Monthly Reviews

1. A Dealer Member must select accounts for second-tier review based on criteria established in its policies and procedures. This requirement can be met using the following criteria:
 - accounts of customers charged more than \$3,000 in commission during the month;
 - accounts of, all customers and non-clients charged more than \$1,500 in commission during the month that were not subject to a first level review by the normal first level Supervisor, including the customer accounts of producing first-tier Supervisors.
2. Monthly reviews should be completed within 21 business days of the period covered unless precluded by unusual circumstances.

E. Other Activity

In addition to transactional activity, a Dealer Member must have systems and procedures designed to identify, deal with and keep first level Supervisors informed about other client related matters such as:

- client complaints;
- cash account violations;
- transfers of funds and securities between unrelated accounts or between pro and client accounts or deposits from pro to client accounts;
- trading while under margin.

V. Option Account Supervision

Introduction

A Dealer Member dealing in options or Exchange traded commodity or index warrants must appoint a Supervisor (the "Designated Options Supervisor") qualified to supervise options trading to have overall responsibility for the opening of new option accounts and the supervision of account activity. The Designated Options Supervisor must ensure that the Dealer Member implements policies and procedures reasonably designed to ensure that all recommendations made for any account are and continue to be appropriate for the customer and in keeping with his or her investment objectives. In addition, a Dealer Member should, where the level of options trading activity warrants it, have a qualified Supervisor to assist in supervisory activities and to carry out the functions of the Designated Options Supervisor in his or her absence. All supervisory procedures regarding options must be conducted by options qualified Supervisors.

A. Account Opening and Approval

1. The option trading agreement and option account application must be completed and the client's agreement recorded before the first trade. This applies to new accounts or existing accounts approved for other products.
2. The option trading agreement contents must meet or exceed Corporation requirements.
3. The Designated Options Supervisor or another options qualified Supervisor must approve all accounts to trade in options and their approval and the date of approval must be recorded.
4. The approving Supervisor must determine whether the risk characteristics of the strategies the customer intends to use are appropriate for the customer and in keeping with his or her investment objectives and risk tolerance. If they are not, the approving Supervisor should restrict the account from using inappropriate strategies and note with the option account approval any trading restrictions imposed. The Supervisor must ensure that the Registered Representative handling the account is aware of any restrictions.

B. Activity Reviews

1. A Dealer Member's supervisory procedures must include reviews of option trading activity for suitability, exceeding position or exercise limits, concentration, commission activity, and exposure of uncovered positions.
2. A two-tier post-trade review system using the following criteria is not mandatory but will be deemed to meet the review requirement:
 - Daily first-tier review of all option trading activity;
 - Daily second-tier review of opening option trading activity in excess of ten contracts in any one account.

C. Monthly Reviews

Accounts must be selected for monthly first- and second-tier reviews of account using criteria reasonably designed to detect improper activity. For accounts that trade in equities and fixed income products as well as options, it may be appropriate to use the criteria described in Section IV.D. For accounts in which the trading is more concentrated in options, the criteria should take into account the risks related to the type of strategies being used.

D. Other Options Policies and Procedures

A Dealer Member's policies and procedures must include, where applicable:

1. The Designated Options Supervisor's involvement in the approval and daily and monthly reviews of any discretionary managed accounts trading in options. The Designated Options Supervisor need not conduct such reviews but should be aware of the use of options in discretionary or managed accounts and exercise heightened care to ensure that it is conducted and supervised properly.
2. Procedures to ensure clients are notified of impending expiry dates.
3. Procedures to ensure the dissemination of information on new developments in the trading and regulation of options in a prudent and appropriate manner; and the dissemination to all clients of any changes in a firm's business policy.
4. Procedures for notifying clients of significant changes in options contracts in which they have open positions resulting from changes to the underlying security.
5. Procedures to ensure that only qualified Registered Representatives or Investment Representatives engage in trading in or advising on options and that they do so only after the Corporation has been notified as required in Rule 18.
6. Procedures to review and approve advertising and sales literature relating to options. The Designated Options Supervisor need not conduct such reviews but should be aware of the use of advertising or sales literature and exercise heightened care to ensure that it is prepared and supervised properly.
7. Procedures requiring the review and approval of the use of and solicitation of clients to use option programmes.

VI. Future and Futures Options Account Supervision

Introduction

A Dealer Member dealing in futures contracts and futures contract options must designate a Supervisor qualified to supervise futures contract and futures contract options trading (the "Designated Futures Supervisor") to have overall responsibility for the opening of new futures and futures options accounts and the supervision of account activity. The Designated Futures Supervisor must ensure that the Dealer Member implements policies and procedures reasonably designed to ensure that all recommendations made for any account are and continue to be appropriate for the client and in keeping with his or her investment objectives. In addition, a Dealer Member should, where the level of futures and futures options trading activity warrants it, have a qualified Supervisor to assist in supervisory activities and to carry out the functions of the Designated Futures Supervisor in his or her absence. All supervisory procedures regarding futures and futures options must be conducted by futures and futures options qualified Supervisors.

A. Account Opening and Approval

1. The futures trading agreement or letter of undertaking under Rule 1800.2(b) and futures account application must be completed, and the client's agreement recorded, before the first trade. This applies to new accounts or existing accounts approved for other products.
2. The Designated Futures Supervisor or another futures qualified Supervisor must approve all accounts and their approval and the date of approval must be recorded before any trading.
3. The Supervisor approving the opening of a hedging account must ensure that the Dealer Member has reliable evidence establishing acceptability of a client as a hedger. Such evidence can take the form of a hedge letter or statement supported by verification procedures.
4. The approving Supervisor must determine whether the risk characteristics of the futures contracts or futures contract options and strategies the customer intends to use are appropriate for the customer and in keeping with his or her investment objectives and risk tolerance. If they are not, the approving Supervisor should restrict the account from using inappropriate contracts or strategies and record with the futures account approval any trading restrictions imposed. The

approving Supervisor must ensure that the Registered Representative handling the account is aware of any restrictions.

5. A Dealer Member's futures account application or futures account agreement must include, other than for a hedging account, a risk limit for futures trading indicating the maximum amount of cumulative loss the client can afford to sustain. The maximum loss can be stated on a lifetime basis or on an annual basis. If the loss limit is stated on an annual basis, the Dealer Member must have a procedure to update it annually and the Designated Futures Supervisor or a Supervisor qualified to supervise futures must review and approve the updated loss limit and ensure that it takes into account any previously accumulated losses.

B. Supervision

A Dealer Member's supervisory procedures must be reasonably designed to detect improper activity such as the following:

- excessive day trading resulting in trading large numbers of contracts;
- trading while under margin;
- trading without approval of the account;
- trading beyond margin or credit limits;
- cumulative losses exceeding risk limits;
- unsuitable trading;
- inappropriate trading strategies;
- position and exercise limits;
- front running;
- conflicts of interest;
- excessive commission activity;
- speculative trading in hedge accounts;
- exposure to delivery through holding contracts into delivery month;
- excessive risk or loss to account guarantors.

C. Other Futures Policies and Procedures

A Dealer Member's policies and procedures must include where applicable:

1. The Designated Futures Supervisor's involvement in the approval and daily and monthly reviews of discretionary or managed futures or futures options accounts. The Designated Futures Supervisor should approve any use of discretionary authority in a futures account.
2. A monthly review of the financial performance of each discretionary account by the Designated Futures Supervisor or a Supervisor qualified in futures contracts acting under the Designated Futures Supervisor's supervision.
3. Procedures to ensure that positions with pending delivery months are handled properly.
4. Procedures to ensure the dissemination of information on new developments in the trading and regulation of futures contracts, such as changes in minimum margin requirements, in a prudent and appropriate manner; and the dissemination to all clients of any changes in a firm's business policy.

5. Procedures to ensure that only qualified Registered Representatives engage in trading in or advising on futures contracts or futures contracts options and that they do so only after the Corporation has been notified as required in Rule 18.
6. Procedures to review and approve sales literature or advertising relating to futures The Designated Futures Supervisor need not conduct such reviews but should be aware of the use of futures advertising or sales literature and exercise heightened care to ensure that it is prepared and supervised properly.
7. Procedures requiring the review and approval of the use and solicitation of clients to use futures programmes.

VII. Discretionary Account Supervision

Introduction

Simple discretionary accounts are accounts where the discretionary authority has not been solicited and which are designed to accommodate customers who are frequently or temporarily unavailable to authorize trades.

Managed accounts are investment portfolios solicited for discretionary management on a continuing basis where the Dealer Member has held itself out as having special skills or abilities in the management of investment portfolios.

A Dealer Member must consent to accepting discretionary accounts and have the proper documentation and supervisory procedures in place to handle such accounts.

A. Account Approval

1. The designated Supervisor under Rule 1300.4(a) must approve any request for discretion.
2. The Dealer Member and customer must enter into a discretionary account agreement that includes any restrictions to the trading authorization. The Supervisor designated under Rule 1300.4(a) must approve the agreement.
3. The Dealer Member must identify discretionary accounts in its books and records in a manner that ensure that the Dealer Member can properly supervise them.

B. Entry of Orders

1. A Supervisor must approve any discretionary order for a discretionary account handled by a Registered Representative prior to the order being entered unless:
 - the Registered Representative is qualified to provide discretionary management services and the Dealer Member has notified the Corporation that he or she provides those services, or
 - the Registered Representative is also an approved Executive.
2. A discretionary account may not hold any publicly traded securities of the Dealer Member or its affiliates.

C. Account Supervision

1. The Supervisor designated under Rule 1300.4(a) must review discretionary orders entered by an Executive no later than next day unless the Executive is also a Registered Representative qualified to provide discretionary management services and the Dealer Member has notified the Corporation that he or she provides those services.

14. Dealer Member Rule 2700 is repealed and replaced by:

RULE 2700

MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR INSTITUTIONAL ACCOUNT OPENING, OPERATION AND SUPERVISION

Introduction

This Rule covers the opening, operation and supervision of institutional accounts, which are accounts for investors that are not individuals who meet the requirements of the definition herein.

This document sets out minimum standards governing the opening, operation and supervision of institutional accounts.

Pursuant to Rule 38, the Dealer Member must provide adequate resources and qualified supervisors to achieve compliance with these standards.

Adherence to the minimum standards requires that a Dealer Member have in place procedures to properly open and operate institutional accounts and monitor their activity. Following these minimum standards, however, does not:

- (a) relieve a Dealer Member from complying with specific SRO by-laws, rules, regulations and policies and securities or other legislation applicable to particular trades or accounts; (e.g. best execution obligation, restrictions on short selling, order designations and identifiers, exposure of customer orders, trade disclosures);
- (b) relieve a Dealer Member from the obligation to impose higher standards where circumstances clearly dictate the necessity to do so to ensure proper supervision; or
- (c) preclude a Dealer Member from establishing higher standards.

Any account which is not an institutional account governed by these standards will be governed by the Minimum Standards for Retail Account Supervision (Rule 2500).

A Dealer Member may, with the written approval of the Corporation, establish policies and procedures that differ from this Rule, provided that, in the opinion of the Corporation, the Dealer Member's policies and procedures are appropriate to supervise trading of its institutional customers.

I. Customer Suitability

- 1. When dealing with an institutional customer, a Dealer Member must make a determination whether the customer is sufficiently sophisticated and capable of making its own investment decisions in order to determine the level of suitability owed to that institutional customer. Where a Dealer Member has reasonable grounds for concluding that the institutional customer is capable of making an independent investment decision and independently evaluating the investment risk, then a Dealer Member's suitability obligation is fulfilled for that transaction. If no such reasonable grounds exist, then the Dealer Member must take steps to ensure that the institutional customer fully understands the investment product, including the potential risks.
- 2. In making a determination whether a customer is capable of independently evaluating investment risk and is exercising independent judgment, relevant considerations could include:
 - (a) any written or oral understanding that exists between a Dealer Member and its customer regarding the customer's reliance on the Dealer Member;
 - (b) the presence or absence of a pattern of acceptance of the Dealer Member's recommendations;
 - (c) the use by a customer of ideas, suggestions, market views and information obtained from other Dealer Members, market professionals or issuers particularly those relating to the same type of securities;

- (d) the use of one or more investment dealers, portfolio managers, investment counsel or other third party advisors;
 - (e) the general level of experience of the customer in financial markets;
 - (f) the specific experience of the customer with the type of instrument(s) under consideration, including the customer's ability to independently evaluate how market developments would affect the security and ancillary risks such as currency rate risk; and
 - (g) the complexity of the securities involved.
3. A Dealer Member has no suitability obligation under Section I.1 and is not required to make a determination required under Section I.2 when the Dealer Member executes a trade on the instructions of another Dealer Member, a portfolio manager, investment counsel, limited market dealer, bank, trust company or insurer.
4. A Dealer Member has no suitability obligation under Section I.1 and is not required to make a determination required under Section I.2 when the Dealer Member executes a trade on the instructions of a "permitted client" as defined in Section 1.1(1) of National Instrument 31-103, other than an individual or a customer described in Section I.3, if the customer has waived, in writing, the protections offered to the customer under Sections I.1 and I.2

II. New Account Documentation and Approval

- 1. A Dealer Member must complete a new customer account form for each Institutional Customer;
- 2. A Dealer Member may establish a 'master' new account documentation file, containing full documentation and, when opening sub-accounts, it should refer to the principal or 'master' account with which it is associated.
- 3. Each new account must be approved by a Supervisor who is Department Head or his or her designate prior to the initial trade or promptly thereafter. Such approval must be recorded in writing or auditable electronic form.
- 4. The Dealer Member must exercise due diligence to ensure that the new customer account form is updated whenever the Dealer Member becomes aware that there is a material change in customer information.

III. Establishing and Maintaining Procedures, Delegation and Education

Introduction

Effective self-regulation begins with the Dealer Member establishing and maintaining a supervisory environment which fosters both the business objectives of the Dealer Member and maintains the self-regulatory process. To that end, a Dealer Member must establish and maintain procedures which are supervised by qualified individuals.

A. Establishing Procedures

- 1. A Dealer Member must appoint a designated Supervisor, who has the necessary knowledge of industry regulations and Dealer Member policy to properly establish procedures reasonably designed to ensure adherence to regulatory requirements and to supervise Institutional Accounts.
- 2. Written policies must be established to document and communicate supervisory requirements.
- 3. All supervisory alternates must be advised of and adequately trained for their supervisory roles.
- 4. All policies established or amended should have senior management approval.

B. Maintaining Procedures

- 1. Evidence of supervisory reviews must be maintained for seven years and on-site for one year.

2. A periodic review of supervisory policies and procedures should be carried out by the Dealer Member to ensure they continue to be effective and reflect any material changes to the businesses involved.

C. Delegation of Procedures

1. Tasks and procedures may be delegated but not responsibility.
2. The supervisor delegating the task must take steps designed to ensure that these tasks are being performed adequately and that exceptions are brought to his/her attention.
3. Those to whom tasks are delegated must have the qualifications to perform them and should be advised in writing what is expected.

D. Education

1. The Dealer Member's current sales practices and policies must be made available to all sales and supervisory personnel. Dealer Members should obtain and record acknowledgements from all sales and supervisory personnel that they have received, read and understood the policies and procedures relevant to their responsibilities.
2. A major aspect of self-regulation is the ongoing education of staff. The Dealer Member is responsible for appropriate training of institutional sales and trading staff, as well as ensuring that Continuing Education requirements are being met.

E. Compliance Monitoring Procedures

Dealer Members must establish compliance procedures for monitoring and reporting adherence to rules, regulations, requirements, policies and procedures. A compliance monitoring system should be reasonably designed to prevent and detect violations. The compliance monitoring system will ordinarily include a procedure for reporting results of its monitoring efforts to management and, where appropriate, the board of directors or its equivalent.

IV. Supervision of Accounts

A. Policies and Procedures

1. Dealer Members must implement policies and procedures for the supervision and review of activity in the accounts of institutional customers. Such procedures may include periodic reviews of account activity, exception reports or other means of analysis.
2. The policies and procedures may vary depending on factors including, but not limited to, the type of product, type of customer, type of activity or level of activity.
3. The policies and procedures should outline the action to be taken to deal with problems or issues identified from supervisory reviews.

B. Account Activity Detection

The supervisory procedures and the compliance monitoring procedures should be reasonably designed to detect account activity that is or may be a violation of applicable securities legislation, requirements of any self-regulatory organization applicable to the account activity and the rules and policies of any marketplace on which the account activity takes place, and would include the following:

1. Manipulative or deceptive methods of trading;
2. Trading in restricted list securities;
3. Employee or proprietary account frontrunning;
4. Exceeding position or exercise limits on derivative products; and

5. Transactions raising a suspicion of money laundering or terrorist financing activity.

V. Client Complaints

1. Each Dealer Member must establish procedures to deal effectively with client complaints.
 - (a) The Dealer Member must acknowledge all written client complaints.
 - (b) The Dealer Member must convey the results of its investigation of a client complaint to the client in due course.
 - (c) Client complaints involving the sales practices of a Dealer Member, its partners, directors, officers or employees must be in writing and signed by the client and then handled by sales supervisors or compliance staff. Copies of all such written submissions must be filed with the compliance department of the Dealer Member.
 - (d) Each Dealer Member must ensure that registered representatives and their supervisors are made aware of all complaints filed by their clients.
 2. All pending legal actions must be made known to head office.
 3. Each Dealer Member must put procedures in place so that senior management is made aware of complaints of serious misconduct and of all legal actions.
 4. Each Dealer Member must maintain an orderly record of complaints together with follow-up documentation for regular internal/external compliance reviews. This record must cover the past two years at least.
 5. Each Dealer Member must establish procedures to ensure that breaches of the by-laws, regulations, rules and policies of the SROs as well as applicable securities legislation are subjected to appropriate internal disciplinary procedures.
 6. When a Dealer Member finds complaints to be a significant factor, internal procedures and practices should be reviewed, with recommendations for changes to be submitted to the appropriate management level.
15. Dealer Member Rule 2900, Part I is repealed and replaced by:

RULE 2900

PROFICIENCY AND EDUCATION:

PART I – PROFICIENCY REQUIREMENTS

INTRODUCTION

This Part I outlines the proficiency requirements for Approved Persons. These proficiency requirements consist of both entrance thresholds and on-going requirements.

DEFINITIONS

For the purpose of this Part I:

“Recognized Foreign Self-regulatory Organization” means a foreign self-regulatory organization which offers a reciprocal treatment to Canadian applicants and which has been approved as such by Corporation.

All courses and examinations, unless otherwise specified, are administered by CSI Global Education Inc.

A. Proficiency Requirements for Approved Persons

1. Supervisors

- (a) The proficiency requirements for Supervisors of Approved Persons dealing with retail customers are:
 - (i) Two years of relevant experience working for a broker or dealer in securities or such equivalent experience as may be acceptable to the applicable District Council;
 - (ii) If supervising Registered Representatives dealing with retail customers, successful completion of
 - A. The Branch Managers Course, and
 - B. The Effective Management Seminar within 18 months after beginning to supervise Registered Representatives dealing with retail customers .
 - (iii) If supervising Investment Representatives only, successful completion of the Branch Managers Course
 - (iv) If supervising options trading, successful completion of The Options Supervisors Course
 - (v) If supervising futures contract and futures contract options, successful completion of:
 - A.
 - 1. The Derivatives Fundamentals Course and the Futures Licensing Course ("FLC"), or
 - 2. The FLC and the National Commodity Futures Examination administered by the National Association of Securities Dealers;
 - and
 - B. the Canadian Commodity Supervisors Examination.
- (b) The proficiency requirements for Supervisors of Approved Persons dealing with institutional accounts only are:
 - (i) Successful completion of:
 - A. The Branch Managers Course, or
 - B. the Partners, Directors and Senior Officers Course, and
 - (ii) The proficiency requirements necessary to conduct or supervise any trading activity carried on by Approved Persons he or she supervises.

2. Directors and Executives

The proficiency requirements for a Director or Executive under Rule 7.3 or 7.4 are:

- (a) Successful completion of the Partners, Directors and Senior Officers Course;
- (b) If also approved in a trading category, successful completion of the applicable proficiency requirements; and
- (c) If supervising the handling of customer accounts, successful completion of the applicable proficiency requirements for a Supervisor.

2A. Chief Financial Officers

1. The proficiency requirements for a chief financial officer pursuant to Rule 38.6 are:
 - (a) A financial accounting designation, university degree or diploma, or equivalent work experience; and
 - (b) Successful completion of the Partners, Directors and Senior Officers Course, and
 - (c) Successful completion of the Chief Financial Officers Qualifying Examination.
2. A person approved as Acting Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 7.5(b) shall have 90 days from the date of termination of the Chief Financial Officer to successfully complete of the Chief Financial Officers Qualifying Examination.
3. Any Dealer Member that fails to provide to the Corporation proof of successful completion of the Chief Financial Officers Qualifying Examination within 10 days of the dates specified for successful completion in section 2 above, or such other dates as the Corporation may specify, shall be liable for and pay to the Corporation such fees as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe.

2B. Chief Compliance Officers

1. The proficiency requirements for a chief compliance officer pursuant to Rule 38.7 are:
 - (a) Successful completion of the Partners, Directors and Senior Officers Qualifying Examination;
 - and
 - (b) Successful completion of the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Examination.
2. Notwithstanding subsection 1(b) above, any person approved as Chief Compliance Officer with a Dealer Member as of October 1, 2007 shall have until April 1, 2009 to successfully complete the Chief Compliance Officers Examination in order to maintain approval as Chief Compliance Officer.
3. A person approved as acting Chief Compliance Officer pursuant to Rule 38.7 shall have 90 days from the date of termination of the Chief Compliance Officer to successfully complete of the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Examination.
4. Any Dealer Member that fails to provide to the Corporation proof of successful completion of the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Examination within 10 days of the dates specified for successful completion in sections 2 or 3 above, or such other dates as the Corporation may specify, shall be liable for and pay to the Corporation such fees as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe.

3. Registered Representatives and Investment Representatives

The proficiency requirements for a Registered Representative or Investment Representative under Rule 18.3 are:

- (a) (i) Successful completion of
 - (A) The Canadian Securities Course prior to commencing the training programme described in subsection (C),
 - (B) The Conduct and Practices Handbook Course, and
 - (C) Either

1. For a Registered Representative dealing with retail customers a three-month training programme during which time he or she has been employed with a Dealer Member firm on a full-time basis, or
2. For an Investment Representative, a 30-day training programme during which time he or she has been employed with a Dealer Member firm on a full-time basis;

or

- (ii) Successful completion of the New Entrants Course, where the person was registered or licensed with a recognized foreign self-regulatory organization within three years prior to application with the Corporation;

and

- (b) For a Registered Representative dealing with retail customers other than a registered representative dealing in mutual funds only, successful completion of the Wealth Management Essentials course within 30 months after his or her approval as a Registered Representative.

4. Registered Representatives and Investment Representatives Dealing only in Mutual Funds

The proficiency requirement for a Registered Representative or Investment Representative dealing only in mutual funds under Rule 18.7 is successful completion of:

- (a) The Canadian Securities Course;
- (b) The Canadian Investment Funds Course administered by IFIC,
- (c) The Investment Funds in Canada Course administered by the Institute of Canadian Bankers, or
- (d) The Principles of Mutual Funds Investment Course administered by the Canadian Trust Institute.

5. Traders

The proficiency requirement for a Trader under Rule 500.2 is:

- (a) for a Trader on the Toronto Stock Exchange or TSX Venture Exchange, the Trader Training Course, unless an exemption is granted by either exchange or its market regulation services provider.
- (b) for a Trader on the Bourse de Montreal, the proficiency requirements determined to be acceptable by Bourse de Montreal.

6. Portfolio Management

6.1 The proficiency requirements for a Registered Representative providing discretionary portfolio management for managed accounts that do not trade in futures contracts are:

- (a) Successful completion of
 - (i) The Conduct and Practices Handbook Course, and
 - (ii) either
 - A. The Portfolio Management Techniques Course and The Investment Management Techniques Course, or
 - B. The three levels of the Chartered Financial Analyst programme administered by the CFA Institute

and

- (b) Experience
 - (i) Of at least three years as a registered representative or a research analyst for a Dealer Member,
 - (ii) Of at least two years ending not more than three years prior to the date of application as a registered advisor under Canadian securities legislation managing on a discretionary basis at least \$5,000,000 in aggregate assets; or
 - (iii) Of at least five years ending not more than three years prior to the date of application, managing a portfolio of \$5,000,000 or more, on a discretionary basis, while employed by a government-regulated institution.
- 6.2 The proficiency requirements for Registered Representative exercising discretionary authority over managed accounts trading in futures contracts or futures contracts options are:
 - (a) Successful completion of
 - (i) The Canadian Commodity Supervisors Exam, the Futures Licensing Course and the courses necessary to attain the Derivatives Market Specialist Designation; or
 - (ii) The Chartered Financial Analyst program administered by the CFA Institute; and
 - (b) Experience ending no earlier than three years prior to the date of commencing to exercise discretionary authority over managed accounts of at least 5 years as an Approved Person actively engaged in advising on and trading in futures contracts or futures contracts options for customer accounts.

7. Commodity Futures Contracts and Options

- 7.1 The proficiency requirements for a Registered Representative or Investment Representative who deals with customers in futures contracts or futures contract options are successful completion of:
 - (a) The Derivatives Fundamentals Course and the Futures Licensing Course, or
 - (b) The Futures Licensing Course and the National Commodity Futures Examination administered by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority.

8. Options

The proficiency requirement for a Registered Representative or Investment Representative who deals with customers in options is successful completion of the Derivatives Fundamentals Course and the Options Licensing Course.

B. General Exemption

- 1. The applicable District Council may, under Rule 20.24, exempt any person or class of persons from the proficiency requirements on such terms and conditions, if any, as the applicable District Council may see fit.
- 2. The Board of Directors may prescribe a fee to be paid for any exemption application under paragraph 1.

16. Dealer Member Rule 2900, Part II is repealed and replaced by:

RULE 2900

PROFICIENCY AND EDUCATION:

PART II – EXAMINATION REWRITE REQUIREMENTS AND COURSE AND EXAMINATION EXEMPTIONS

INTRODUCTION

This Part II outlines the exemptions that exist from the Corporation's course and examination requirements for persons seeking to be approved in certain categories of registration. This Part II exempts applicants from the requirement to rewrite courses or examinations that they have successfully completed if they are re-entering the industry, re-registering in a category of registration or seeking initial registration within certain time periods. This Part II also provides exemptions to applicants from the requirements to initially write a course or examination if the applicant satisfies one of the specifically enumerated exemptions based on grandfathering provisions or the successful completion of other courses and examinations. In addition, this Part II sets out the basis upon which the applicable District Council may grant a discretionary exemption.

All courses and examinations, unless otherwise specified, are administered by CSI Global Education Inc.

A. Requirement to Rewrite Courses and Examinations

1. Current and Former Approved Persons

- (a) An applicant for Approval who was previously approved in a category must complete a proficiency requirement if he or she has not been approved in the category to which the requirement applies within the three years prior to the date of application.
- (b) An Applicant or Approved Person who has previously conducted a type of business must complete a proficiency required to conduct the type of business if he or she has not conducted the type of business within the past three years.
- (c) Sections (a) and (b) do not apply to new or amended course requirements not required when the Approved Person or applicant for Approval was initially approved or began to conduct the type of business, provided that the applicant was not under a requirement to complete the course or examination when the applicant's approval lapsed.

2. Approval after Completion of Course

An applicant for Approval who has never been approved or conducted a type of business must rewrite a required examination or course if it was completed more than two years before the date of application.

3. The Canadian Securities Course

- (a) An applicant for approval who has not previously been approved in a category or conducted a type of business requiring the Canadian Securities Course who would otherwise be required to rewrite the course is exempt if the applicant has:
 - (i) within two years prior to the date of application, successfully completed any one of the Professional Financial Planning Course, Wealth Management Techniques Course, Investment Management Techniques Course, Portfolio Management Techniques Course, or the three levels of the Chartered Financial Analyst programme administered by the CFA Institute, or;
 - (ii) within three years prior to the date of application completed the New Entrants Course or the Canadian Securities Course
- (b) An applicant for approval in a category or to conduct business requiring the Canadian Securities Course who was approved in a category or conducted a type of business requiring the course and who would otherwise be required to rewrite the course is exempt if the applicant has within three years prior to the date of application successfully completed any one of the Professional Financial Planning Course, Wealth Management

Techniques Course, Investment Management Techniques Course, Portfolio Management Techniques Course, or the three levels of the Chartered Financial Analyst programme administered by the CFA Institute.

4. The Chief Financial Officers Qualifying Examination

An applicant who would otherwise be required to rewrite the Chief Financial Officers Qualifying Examination is exempt if the applicant has, since completing the Chief Financial Officers Qualifying Examination, been working closely with and providing assistance to a Chief Financial Officer.

5. The Derivatives Fundamentals Course

- (a) An applicant for Approval or Approved Person who will be dealing with customers in futures contracts or futures contracts options and who would otherwise be required to rewrite the Derivatives Fundamentals Course is exempt if the applicant or Approved Person has within the past two years completed the Futures Licensing Course or the Canadian Commodity Supervisors Examination.
- (b) An applicant for Approval or Approved Person who will be dealing with customers in options and who would otherwise be required to rewrite the Derivatives Fundamentals Course is exempt if the applicant or Approved Person has within the past two years completed the Options Licensing Course.

6. The Futures Licensing Course

An applicant for Approval or Approved Person who will be dealing with customers in futures contracts or futures contracts options and who would otherwise be required to rewrite the Futures Licensing Course is exempt if the applicant or Approved Person has within the past two years completed the Canadian Commodity Supervisors Examination.

7. The Wealth Management Essentials course

An applicant who would otherwise be required to rewrite the Wealth Management Essentials Course is exempt if the applicant is currently seeking approval within two years of successfully completing the Investment Management Techniques Course, Portfolio Management Techniques Course, 3 levels of the Certified Financial Analyst programme administered by the CFA Institute, Professional Financial Planning Course, or the Wealth Management Techniques Course.

8. 30-Day Training Program

An applicant is exempt from re-doing the 30-day training program required under Rule 2900 Part 1, section 3(a)(iii) B if, within three years prior to application, the applicant was approved for trading for retail clients in securities with a Dealer Member or by a recognized foreign regulatory authority or self regulatory organization or a Canadian securities regulatory authority.

9. 90-Day Training Program

An applicant is exempt from re-doing the 90-day training program required under Rule 2900 Part 1, section 3(a)(iii) A if, within three years prior to application, the applicant was approved for trading and advising retail clients in securities with a Dealer Member or by a recognized foreign regulatory authority or self regulatory organization or a Canadian securities regulatory authority.

B. Exemptions from Writing

1. Current and Former Approved Persons

- (a) An Approved Person is exempt from completing a new or amended proficiency requirement not in place at the time he or she was approved in a category unless the rule setting the requirement specifically provides otherwise.
- (b) An applicant for approval who was an Approved Person is exempt from completing a new or amended proficiency requirement not in place at the time of the applicant's previous

approval in the same category for three years after the applicant's previous approval lapsed unless the rule setting the requirement specifically provides otherwise.

2. The Canadian Securities Course

An applicant is exempt from writing the Canadian Securities Course if the applicant has previously been registered or licensed with a recognized foreign regulatory authority or self-regulatory organization and has successfully completed the New Entrants Course within two years of the application.

3. The Derivatives Fundamentals Course

An applicant is exempt from writing the Derivatives Fundamentals Course if the applicant is seeking approval within two years of successfully completing the Options Course Licensing Course, the Options Supervisors Course, the Futures Licensing Course, or the Canadian Commodity Supervisors Examination.

4. The Wealth Management Essentials Course

An applicant is exempt from writing the Wealth Management Essentials Course if the applicant

- (a) (i) has successfully completed the Investment Management Techniques Course or the Professional Financial Planning Course prior to July 4, 2008, having been enrolled prior to July 4, 2006 and
- (ii) is seeking approval within two years of successfully completing the Wealth Management Techniques Course or the Portfolio Management Techniques Course; or
- (b) Is seeking re-approval within three years of successfully completing the Wealth Management Techniques Course or the Portfolio Management Techniques Course.

5. 90-Day Training Program

An applicant is exempt from completing the 90-day training program if, within three years prior to application, the applicant was approved or registered with a Dealer Member, securities dealer or investment dealer; or by a recognized foreign regulatory authority or self regulatory organization; or as an investment advisor by a Canadian securities regulatory authority in a capacity permitting trading and advising in securities to retail clients.

6. 30-Day Training Program

An applicant is exempt from completing the 30-day training program if, within three years prior to application, the applicant was registered with a Dealer Member, securities dealer or investment dealer; or by a recognized foreign regulatory authority or self regulatory organization; or as an investment advisor by a Canadian securities regulatory authority in a capacity permitting trading in securities to retail clients.

C. Discretionary Exemptions

- (a) The applicable District Council may, under Rule 20.24, grant an exemption from the requirement to rewrite or write any required course or examination, in whole or in part, subject to such conditions or restrictions as may be imposed in the exemption, if the applicant demonstrates adequate experience and/or successful completion of industry courses or examinations that the applicable District Council, in its opinion, determines is an acceptable alternative to the required proficiency.
- (b) The Board of Directors may prescribe a fee to be paid for any exemption application under this Rule 2900 Part II.

BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors adopt, on this 16th day of July, 2008, the English and French versions of these amendments. The Board of Directors also authorizes IIROC Staff to make the minor changes that shall be required from time to time by the securities administrators with jurisdiction. These amendments shall take effect on the date determined by IIROC Staff.

RULE 1

INTERPRETATION AND EFFECT

1.1. In these Rules unless the context otherwise requires, the expression:

“Affiliate” or “Affiliated Corporation” means in respect of two corporations, either corporation if one of them is the subsidiary of the other or if both are subsidiaries of the same corporation or if each of them is controlled by the same person;

“Approved Lender” means a chartered bank, an acceptable counterparty or acceptable institution as defined in Form 1, an industry investor, a Dealer Member or any other lender so designated by the Board of Directors;

“Approved Person” means, in respect of a Dealer Member, an individual who is a partner, director, officer, employee or agent of a Dealer Member who is approved by the Corporation or another Canadian Self Regulatory Organization to perform any function required under any Rule;

“Applicable” in relation to a District Council means the District Council for the District:

- (1) In which the applicant for Membership or the Dealer Member has its principal office and, in the case of a holding company of a Dealer Member corporation, in which the Dealer Member corporation has its principal office;
- (2) In which the branch office or sub-branch office will be located or in which the applicant for approval as a branch manager, sales manager or assistant or co-branch manager resides;
- (3) In which the applicant for approval as a new partner, director, officer or investor resides provided that if such partner, director, officer or investor has changed his or her place of residence to another District within 3 months prior to the change for which approval is being sought then the applicable District Council shall be the District Council for the District where the applicant formerly resided;
- (4) In which the applicant for approval as a registered representative or investment representative resides;
- (5) In which the applicant for approval as a futures contract principal, futures contract options principal or a person who deals with customers with respect to futures contracts or futures contract options resides;
- (6) In which the applicant for approval as a portfolio manager, securities option portfolio manager, futures contract options portfolio manager or futures contracts portfolio manager resides;
- (7) In which the respondent, if an individual, in a disciplinary action pursuant to Rule 20 was approved at the time the activities which are the subject of the disciplinary action primarily occurred, provided that,
 - (a) If the individual was approved in more than one District at the relevant time, and the matter which is the subject of the disciplinary action involves a client in a District where the respondent was approved other than that in which the respondent resides, in which such client resided at the time such activities occurred; or
 - (b) If the applicable District Council cannot otherwise be determined, in which the respondent resided at the relevant time; or
- (8) In which the activities which are the subject of a disciplinary action against a respondent Dealer Member pursuant to Rule 20 primarily occurred, or, if such activities are not referable to any specific District, in which the principal office of the respondent Dealer Member is located, provided that, if a disciplinary action involves both an individual and a Dealer Member, the District Council having jurisdiction pursuant to clause (7) herein;

“Beneficial Ownership” in respect of any securities includes ownership by:

- (i) A person other than a corporation, of securities beneficially owned by a corporation controlled by him or her or by an affiliate of such corporation; and
- (ii) A corporation of securities beneficially owned by its affiliates;

;

“Business Location” means a physical location at which any employee or agent of a Dealer Member conducts on a regular and ongoing basis business requiring approval of the Corporation or registration under Provincial securities legislation;

“Callable Debt Security” means a security described in Rule 100.2A(a), which allows the issuer to redeem the security at a fixed price (the call price), subject to the call protection period;

“Call Protection Period” means the period of time during which the issuer cannot redeem a callable debt security;

“Chartered Bank” means a bank incorporated under the Bank Act (Canada);

“Control” or “Controlled”, in respect of a corporation by another person or by two or more corporations, means the circumstances where:

- (i) Voting securities of the first-mentioned corporation carrying more than 50% of the votes for the election of directors are held, other than by way of security only, by or for the benefit of the other person or by or for the benefit of the other corporations; and
- (ii) The votes carried by such securities are entitled, if exercised, to elect a majority of the board of directors of the first-mentioned corporation,

And where the applicable District Council in respect of a particular Dealer Member or its holding company orders that a person shall, or shall not, be deemed to be controlled by another person, then such order shall be determinative of their relationships in the application of the Rules and Rulings with respect to that Dealer Member or holding company;

“Dealer Member Corporation” means an incorporated Dealer Member;

“Debt” means an investment which provides the holder with a legal right, in specified circumstances, to demand payment of the amount owing and includes a debtor-creditor relationship whether or not represented by a written instrument or security;

~~“Designated Person” or a “Designated” Partner, Director, Officer, Futures Contract Principal, Futures Contract Options Principal or Registered Options Principal means either:~~

~~(i) — An Ultimate Designated Person who is either~~

- ~~(a) — The Chief Executive Officer,~~
- ~~(b) — President,~~
- ~~(c) — Chief Operating Officer,~~
- ~~(d) — Chief Financial Officer, or~~

~~(e) — Such other officer designated with the equivalent supervisory and decision-making responsibility who has been granted approval by the Corporation to act as the Ultimate Designated Person; “Designated Supervisor” means a Supervisor designated by a Dealer Member as having responsibility to fulfill a supervisory role defined in a Rule, including but not limited to:~~

~~(ii) — An Alternate Designated Person who~~

- ~~(a) — Has been appointed by the Dealer Member to ensure continuous supervision,~~
- ~~(b) — Is registered as a partner, director, officer or is in the process of applying as one, and~~
- ~~(c) — Has been granted approval by the Corporation to act as an Alternate Designated Person; or~~

~~(iii) — Except where expressly prohibited, a Chief Compliance Officer who~~

- ~~(a) — Has been appointed by the Dealer Member,~~
- ~~(b) — Is registered as a partner, director, officer or is in the process of applying as one, and~~

~~(c) — Has been granted approval by the Corporation to act as a Chief Compliance Officer.~~

- ~~(1) the Supervisor designated to be responsible for the opening of new accounts and the supervision of account activity under Rule 1300.2~~
- ~~(2) the Supervisor designated to be responsible for the supervision of discretionary accounts under Rule 1300.4~~
- ~~(3) the Supervisor designated to be responsible for the supervision of managed accounts under Rule 1300.15~~
- ~~(4) the Supervisor designated to be responsible for the supervision of options accounts under Rule 1800.2(a)~~
- ~~(5) the Supervisor designated to be responsible for the supervision of futures contract accounts under Rule 1900.2~~
- ~~(6) the Supervisor or Supervisors designated to pre-approve advertising, sales literature and correspondence, including research reports, under Rule 29.7(3) and Rule 3400, Guideline 7;~~

“Director” means a member of the Board of Directors of, as the context dictates, a Dealer Member or the Corporation or a person performing a similar function in a Dealer Member that is not a corporation;

“Equity Investment” means an investment the holder of which has no legal right to demand payment until the issuing corporation or its board of directors has passed a resolution declaring a dividend or other distribution, or winding-up of the issuing corporation;

“Executive” means a partner, director or officer of a Dealer Member who is involved in the management of the Dealer Member, including but not limited to anyone fulfilling the role of chair or a vice-chair of the Board of Directors, chief executive officer, president, chief administrative officer, chief financial officer, chief compliance officer, member of an executive management committee or any position designated by a Dealer Member as being an Executive position;

“Extendible Debt Security” means a security described in Rule 100.2A(b), which allows the holder, during a fixed time period, to extend the maturity date of the security to the extension maturity date, and to change the principal amount of the security to a fixed percentage (the extension factor) of the original principal amount;

“Extension Election Period” means the period of time during which the holder may elect to extend the maturity date and change the principal amount of, an extendible debt security;

“Extension Factor” means, if any, the fixed percentage that should be used to change the original principal amount of the extendible debt security when the maturity date is deemed to be equal to the extension maturity date;

“Fully Participating Security” means a participating security other than a limited participation security;

“Guaranteeing” includes becoming liable for, providing security for or entering into an agreement (contingent or otherwise) having the effect or result of so becoming liable for or providing security for a person, including an agreement to purchase an investment, property or services, to supply funds, property or services or to make an investment primarily for the purpose of directly or indirectly enabling such person to perform its obligations in respect of such security or investment or assuring the investor of such performance;

“Holding Company” means, in respect of any corporation, any other corporation which owns more than 50 per cent of each class or series of voting securities and more than 50 per cent of each class or series of participating securities of the corporation or of any other corporation which is a holding company of the corporation, but an industry investor shall not be considered to be a holding company by reason of the ownership of securities in its capacity as an industry investor and the applicable District Council in its discretion may deem any person (including but not limited to a corporation) to be or not to be a holding company for the purposes of the Rules;

“Individual” means a natural person, other than an individual who is a Dealer Member;

“Industry Investor” means, in respect of any Dealer Member or holding company of a Dealer Member corporation, any of the following who owns a beneficial interest in an investment in the Dealer Member or holding company:

- (i) The Dealer Member's full-time officers and employees or the full-time officers and employees of a related company or affiliate of the Dealer Member which carries on securities related activities;
- (ii) Spouses of individuals referred to in clause (i);

- (iii) An investment corporation, if:
 - (a) A majority of each class of the voting securities of the investment corporation is held by individuals referred to in clause (i); and
 - (b) All interests in all other equity securities of the investment corporation are beneficially owned by individuals referred to in clause (i) or (ii) or their children or by industry investors with respect to the particular Dealer Member or holding company;
- (iv) A family trust established and maintained for the benefit of individuals referred to in clause (i) or (ii) or their children, if
 - (a) Full direction and control of the trust, including, without limitation, its investment portfolio and the exercise of voting and other rights attaching to instruments and securities contained in the investment portfolio, are maintained by individuals referred to in clause (i) or (ii); and
 - (b) All beneficiaries of the trust are individuals referred to in clause (i) or (ii) or their children or industry investors with respect to the particular Dealer Member or holding company of a Dealer Member corporation;
- (v) A registered retirement savings plan established under the *Income Tax Act (Canada)* by an individual referred to in clause (i) or (ii) if control over the investment policy of the registered retirement savings plan is held by that individual and if no other person has any beneficial interest in the registered retirement savings plan;
- (vi) A pension fund established by a Dealer Member for its officers and employees if the pension fund is organized so that full power of its investment portfolio and the exercise of voting and other rights attaching to instruments and securities contained in the investment portfolio is held by individuals referred to in clause (i);
- (vii) The estate of an individual referred to in clause (i) or (ii) for a period of one year after the death of such individual or such longer period as may be permitted by the applicable District Council;
- (viii) Any investor referred to in clause (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) or (v) for a period of 90 days or such longer period as the Corporation may permit after the individual who, in the case of clause (i), is the investor or, in the case of such other clauses, is the person through whom the industry investor qualifies as such, is no longer in the employment of the Dealer Member, related company or affiliate, as the case may be, in respect of which he or she has been approved;

But any of the foregoing is an industry investor only if an approval for purposes of this definition has been given, and not withdrawn, by the board of directors of such Dealer Member or holding company, as the case may be, and by the applicable District Council;

"Institutional Customer" means:

- (1) An Acceptable Counterparty (as defined in Form 1);
- (2) An Acceptable Institution (as defined in Form 1);
- (3) A Regulated Entity (as defined in Form 1);
- (4) A Registrant (other than an individual registrant) under securities legislation; or
- (5) A non-individual with total securities under administration or management exceeding \$10 million;

"Investment" in any person means any security or debt obligation issued, assumed or guaranteed by such person, any loan to such person, and any right to share or participate in the assets, profit or income of such person;

"Investment Representative" means ~~any person a partner, director, officer, employee or agent of a Dealer Member who trades in~~ but does not advise on ~~trades in securities, options, futures contracts or futures contract options with the public in Canada, other than a person who trades exclusively in securities of or guaranteed by the government of Canada or any province of Canada or any municipality in Canada, and shall include an investment representative (mutual funds) approved pursuant to Rule 18.7~~ an investment product on behalf of the Dealer Member;

"Investor" means any person who has an interest in an investment;

“Junior Subordinated Debt” means subordinated debt, which is subordinated to other subordinated debt;

“Limited Participation Security” means indebtedness or a preferred share that

- (i) Carries interest or dividends at a fixed rate, and, if dividends, cumulative and payable in priority to any dividends to the holders of common shares;
- (ii) If indebtedness, is repayable at any time and, if a preferred share, is redeemable at any time, in either case at a price that may include a premium if the premium is not based on earnings or retained earnings;
- (iii) Is limited in its participation in earnings to an amount not exceeding annually one-half of the annual fixed interest or dividend rate, although such participation may be cumulative; and
- (iv) Is subject to subordination or equivalent arrangements such that the return to the holders thereof on a bankruptcy would not be adversely affected by section 110 of the Bankruptcy Act (Canada) or equivalent legislation,

And which is approved as a limited participation security by the applicable District Council;

“Membership” means membership in the Corporation as a Dealer Member;

“Non-participating Security” means a security with a claim limited to interest or dividends at a fixed rate;

“Non-subordinated Debt” means debt, which is not subordinated debt;

~~“Officer” means the chair and vice chair of the board of directors, president, vice president, chief executive officer, chief financial officer, chief operating officer, secretary, any other person designated an officer of a Dealer Member by law or similar authority, or any person acting in a similar capacity on behalf of a Dealer Member;~~

“Ordinary Course Indebtedness” means all debt other than debt which is a restrictive or participating security or subordinated debt;

“Ownership Interest” means all direct or indirect ownership of the participating securities;

“Parent” (where used to indicate a relationship with another corporation) means a corporation that has the other corporation as a subsidiary;

“Participating Security” means a security which entitles the holder thereof to participation, limited or unlimited, in the earnings or profits of the issuer, either alone or in addition to a claim for interest or dividends at a fixed rate, and includes, except where the reference is to “outstanding” participating securities, a security which entitles the holder thereof, on conversion, exchange, the exercise of rights under a warrant, or otherwise, to acquire a participating security;

“Person” means an individual, a partnership, or corporation, a government or any department or agency thereof, a trustee, any unincorporated organization and the heirs, executors, administrators or other legal representatives of an individual;

“Predecessor Organization” means the Investment Dealers Association of Canada;

“Public Ownership of Securities” means the ownership of securities (other than ordinary course indebtedness) by any person other than an industry investor, except that ownership by approved lenders of securities of a Dealer Member or a holding company does not, of itself, constitute public ownership of securities;

“Qualified Independent Underwriter” means, in respect of the distribution of securities of a Dealer Member corporation or a holding company of a Dealer Member corporation, a securities firm which is a member of a self-regulatory organization, and:

- (i) Has engaged in the securities business for at least five years immediately preceding the filing of the prospectus or other equivalent document;
- (ii) As of the date the distribution commences:
 - (a) If a corporation, the majority of the members of its board of directors

(b) If a partnership, the majority of its general partners

Has engaged in the securities business for the five-year period immediately preceding that date;

(iii) Has engaged in the underwriting of public offerings of securities for the five-year period immediately preceding the date the distribution commences; and

(iv) Is not an associate or affiliate of the corporation whose securities it is underwriting;

“Recognized Stock Exchange” means any stock exchange designated by the Board of Directors for the purposes of any one or more of these Rules;

~~“Registered Representative” means any person who trades or advises on trades in securities, options, futures contracts, or futures contract options with the public in Canada other than a person who trades or advises on trades exclusively in securities of or guaranteed by the government of Canada or any province of Canada or any municipality in Canada, and shall include a registered representative (mutual funds) approved pursuant to Rule 18.7 and a registered representative (non-retail) approved pursuant to Rule 18.8;~~

“Registered Representative” means a partner, director, officer, employee or agent of a Dealer Member who trades and advises on trades in an investment product on behalf of the Dealer Member;

“Related Company” means a sole proprietorship, partnership or corporation which:

(i) Is related to a Dealer Member in that either of them, or its partners in, and directors, officers, shareholders and employees of, it, individually or collectively, have at least a 20% ownership interest in the other of them, including an interest as a partner or shareholder, directly or indirectly, and whether or not through holding companies;

(ii) Is a securities dealer or adviser in Canada; and

(iii) Is a member of a participating institution of the Canadian Investor Protection Fund;

Provided that the Board of Directors may, from time to time, include in, or exclude from this definition any sole proprietorship, partnership or corporation, and change those included or excluded;

“Restrictive Security” means a security of a Dealer Member or a holding company of a Dealer Member corporation which, in the opinion of the applicable District Council, entitles the holder thereof to rights which give it a more extensive or substantial degree of influence on the Dealer Member or holding company of the operations thereof than is usual for a holder of the same amount of securities of the same type;

“Retail Customer” means a customer of a Dealer Member that is not an institutional customer;

“Retractable Debt Security” means a security described in Rule 100.2A(c), which allows the holder of the security, during a fixed time period to retract the maturity date of the security to the retraction maturity date, and to change the principal amount of the security to a fixed percentage (the retraction factor), of the original principal amount;

“Retraction Election Period” means the period of time during which the holder may elect to retract the maturity date, and change the principal amount of, a retractable debt security;

“Retraction Factor” means, if any, the fixed percentage that should be used to change the original principal amount of the retractable debt security when the maturity date is deemed to be equal to the retraction maturity date;”

“Rules” means these Rules and any Rules made pursuant to the By-laws of the Corporation. ~~“Sales Manager” shall include any person who has been assigned direct or indirect supervisory responsibility over any sales management personnel of a Dealer Member;~~

“Secretary” means the Secretary of the Corporation;

“Securities Commission” means in any jurisdiction, the commission, person or other authority authorized to administer any legislation in force relating to the offering and/or sale of securities or commodity futures to the public and/or to the registration or licensing of persons engaged in trading securities or commodity futures;

“Securities Dealer” means an individual, firm or corporation acting as dealer (principal) or broker (agent) in carrying out transactions in securities and commodity futures contracts or options on behalf of clients and includes, without limitation, acting as an underwriter or adviser;

“Securities Held for Safekeeping,” means those securities held by a Dealer Member for a client pursuant to a written safekeeping agreement. These securities must be free from any encumbrance, be kept apart from all other securities and be identified as being held in safekeeping for a client in a Dealer Member’s security position record, customer’s ledger and statement of account. Securities so held can only be released pursuant to an instruction from the client and not solely because the client has become indebted to the Dealer Member;

“Securities Related Activities” means acting as a securities dealer and carrying on any business which is incidental to or a necessary part of such activities provided that the Board of Directors may, from time to time, include in, or exclude from this definition any activities and change those included or excluded;

“Segregated Securities” means those clients’ securities which are unencumbered and which have either been fully paid for or are excess margin securities. Segregated securities must be distinguished as being held in trust for the client owning the same. These securities must be described as being held in segregation on the Dealer Member’s security position record (or related records), customer’s ledger and statement of account. Whenever a client becomes indebted to a Dealer Member, the Dealer Member has the right to use, by sale or loan, previously segregated securities to the extent reasonably necessary to cover the indebtedness.~~“Senior Officer” means the chairman or a vice chairman of the board of directors, the president, a vice president, the secretary, the treasurer or the general manager of a Dealer Member or any other individual who performs functions for a Dealer Member similar to those normally performed by an individual occupying any such office;~~

“Self-Regulatory Organization” means any of the Corporation, The TSX Venture Exchange, the Montreal Exchange and The Toronto Stock Exchange;

“Sub branch Office” means any office of a Dealer Member having in total less than four registered representatives and supervised by a branch manager or a director, partner or officer designated pursuant to Rule 1300, who is not normally present at such sub branch office;

“Subordinated Debt” means any debt the terms of which specify that its holder will not be entitled to receive payment if any payment to any holder of a senior class of debt is in default;

“Subsidiary”, in respect of a corporation and another corporation, means the first mentioned corporation if:

- (i) It is controlled by:
 - (a) That other; or
 - (b) That other and one or more corporations each of which is controlled by that other; or
 - (c) Two or more corporations each of which is controlled by that other; or
- (ii) It is a subsidiary of a corporation that is that other’s subsidiary;

“Supervisor” means a person to whom a Dealer Member has given responsibility and authority and who is approved by the Corporation to manage the activities of other partners, directors, officers, employees or agents of the Dealer Member so as to ensure their compliance with laws and regulations governing their and the Dealer Member’s securities-related activities;

“Voting Securities” of a Dealer Member or holding company of a Dealer Member corporation means all securities of the Dealer Member or holding company outstanding from time to time that carry the right to vote for the election of directors, and includes:

- (i) Except where the reference is to “outstanding” voting securities, those securities which entitle the holders thereof, on conversion, exchange, the exercise of rights under a warrant, or otherwise, to acquire voting securities; and
- (ii) Preference shares which carry the right to vote for the election of directors only upon the occurrence of a specific event if such specific event has occurred.

- 1.2 Words importing the singular include the plural and vice versa and words importing any gender include any other gender.
- 1.3 Where the context indicates, references to a Dealer Member include the partners, directors, officers, employees and agents of the Dealer Member.
- 1.4 In the event of any dispute as to the intent or meaning of the By-laws or Rules or Rulings or Forms, the interpretation of the Board of Directors, subject to the provisions of Rule 33, shall be final and conclusive.
- 4.41.5 The enactment of these Rules shall be without prejudice to any right, obligation or action acquired, incurred or taken under the By-laws of the Corporation and its Predecessor Organization as heretofore in effect or under the Rules, Rulings or Forms passed pursuant thereto, and any proceedings taken under the By-laws as heretofore in effect or under such Rules, Rulings or Forms shall be taken up and continued under and in conformity with these By-laws and the Rules, Rulings and Forms as from time to time in effect.
- 4-51.6 Terms used in these Rules which are not defined herein shall have the same meanings as used or defined in General By-law No. 1 and the Hearing Committees and Hearing Panels Rule.

RULE 4

BRANCH OFFICE DEALER MEMBERS, BRANCH OFFICES AND SUB-BRANCH OFFICES

BUSINESS LOCATIONS

- 4.1. ~~Where any Dealer Member has one or more branch offices having a manager and staff either in the District in which the principal office of such Dealer Member is situated or in any other District, each such branch office shall be a Branch Office Dealer~~Every Business Location of a Dealer Member in a District having a Supervisor who is normally present at the Business Location is a Branch Office Member of the District.
- 4.2. ~~No~~There is no Membership or other fees and assessments shall be payable in respect of anyfor Branch Office Membership.
- 4.3. A Branch Office ~~Dealer~~ Member ~~shall have~~has the same privileges in its District as any other ~~Dealer~~Branch Office Member except that at ~~all~~a District ~~meetings~~meeting each Dealer Member ~~shall have one vote only in respect of all its offices, whether principal or branch,~~has only one vote no matter how many Branch Office Members it has in the District.
- 4.4. The representative of any Branch Office ~~Dealer~~ Member in any District ~~shall be~~is eligible for election as Chair or member of the District Council of ~~such~~the District.
- 4.5. Each Branch Office ~~Dealer~~ Member ~~shall be entitled to~~may send one or more representatives to the Annual Meeting of the District.
- 4.5A. Repealed.
- 4.6.
- (a) ~~Each Dealer Member shall appoint a branch manager to be in charge of each of its branch offices and, where necessary to ensure continuous supervision of the branch office, a Dealer Member may appoint one or more assistant or co-branch managers who shall have the authority of a branch manager in the absence or incapacity of the branch manager. A branch manager shall be normally present at the branch of which he or she is in charge.~~
- (b) ~~A Dealer Member having a branch office that has no client accounts other than accounts for institutional clients as defined in Rule 2700 may appoint a branch manager (non retail) to be in charge of the branch and, where necessary to ensure continuous supervision of the branch office, a Dealer Member may appoint one or more assistant or co-branch managers (non retail), who shall have the authority of a branch manager in the absence or incapacity of the branch manager. A branch manager (non retail) shall be normally present at the branch of which he or she is in charge.~~(c) ~~A Dealer Member shall~~A Dealer Member must notify the Corporation as ~~required in accordance with Rule 40,40~~ of the opening or closure of a ~~branch office~~Business Location.
- 4.7. ~~A Dealer Member having a sub-branch office shall designate as the supervisor of such office, a branch manager, or a director, partner or officer who is not normally present at such office. The business of the sub-branch office, including the entry of orders, shall be conducted through the head office of the Dealer Member or through the branch office designated as having supervisory responsibility for the sub-branch office. A Dealer Member shall notify the Corporation of the opening and closure of a sub-branch office in accordance with Rule 40.~~
- 4.7A. ~~The Corporation may approve a proposed branch or sub-branch office to be established and maintained outside of Canada, provided that:~~
- (a) ~~The Dealer Member seeking approval for the branch or sub-branch office provides evidence satisfactory to the Corporation that the persons to be employed in such office are registered or licensed to carry on the business which is intended to be carried on at that office, pursuant to the laws of the jurisdiction in which the office will be located; and~~
- (b) ~~In the case of a proposed sub-branch, the proposed sub-branch office is within the same territorial jurisdiction as the branch office designated as having supervisory responsibility for such sub-branch office.~~

4.7. Repealed.

4.7A. Repealed.

SRO Notices and Disciplinary Proceedings

4.8. Repealed.

~~4.9. No person shall act as a sales manager, branch manager, assistant branch manager, co-branch manager, branch manager (non-retail), assistant branch manager (non-retail) or co-branch manager (non-retail) unless the person:~~

~~(a) Has satisfied the applicable proficiency requirements outlined in Part I of Rule 2900; and~~

~~(b) Has been approved by the Corporation.~~

~~4.9A. Failure to satisfy subclause A.1(a)(iii)C of Part I of Rule 2900 will result in the automatic suspension of approval. Approval will be reinstated only at such time as the individual has satisfied the applicable course requirement.~~

4.9. Repealed.

4.9A. Repealed.

4.10. Repealed.

4.11. Repealed.

~~4.12. Every person whose application for approval as a branch manager, assistant or co-branch manager or sales manager has been approved shall be subject to the jurisdiction of the Corporation, shall comply with the Rules and Rulings of the Corporation as the same are from time to time amended or supplemented and, if such approval is subsequently revoked, shall forthwith terminate his or her employment as a branch manager, assistant or co-branch manager or sales manager with the Dealer Member with whom he or she is employed at the time of such revocation.~~

~~4.13. No branch manager or assistant or co-branch manager shall accept, or permit any associate to accept, directly or indirectly, any remuneration, gratuity, advantage, benefit or any other consideration from any person other than the Dealer Member or its affiliates or its related companies in respect of the activities carried out by such branch manager or assistant or co-branch manager on behalf of the Dealer Member or its affiliates or its related companies and in connection with the sale or placement of securities on behalf of any of them.~~

~~4.14. Each Dealer Member shall be liable and pay to the Corporation fees in the amounts prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors for the failure of the Dealer Member to file within ten business days of the end of each month, a report with respect to the conditions imposed on approval or continued approval of a branch manager, assistant or co-branch manager or sales manager of the Dealer Member pursuant to Rule 20.~~

4.12. Repealed.

4.13. Repealed.

4.14. Repealed.

RULE 7

DEALER MEMBER PARTNERS, DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS EXECUTIVES**7.1 Definitions**

For the purposes of this Rule ~~7(a)-7~~, “actively engaged in the business of the Dealer Member” means, participating in any regular business activities of the Dealer Member including but not limited to trading in securities or futures contracts and related services, research, investment banking, operations or promotion of the Dealer Member’s services, but shall not include participation in meetings of the board of directors or related corporate governance committees of the board of directors or occasional referrals to the Dealer Member where such referrals do not result from solicitation of business on behalf of the Dealer Member; ~~(b) — “director” means a member of the board of directors of the Dealer Member.~~

7.2 Approval

No person shall ~~may~~ be a partner, director or officer Director or Executive of a Dealer Member unless that person has been approved as such by the Corporation.

7.3 ~~Partners and Directors~~

(a) At least 40% of the ~~partners or directors~~ Directors of a Dealer Member shall ~~must~~:

(1) Either:

~~(A) —~~ Be actively engaged in the business of the Dealer Member and devote the major portion of their time to the securities industry, except those on active government services, or who for health reasons are prevented from such active engagement; or,

~~(2) — Be partners, officers or directors of (B) —~~ Occupy positions at related or affiliated securities dealers, or affiliated financial institutions ~~such as Canadian chartered banks, Quebec savings banks, trust or insurance companies licensed to do business in Canada or pension funds with aggregate net assets of not less than \$5,000,000; and that a equivalent to that of a Director or Executive;~~

and

~~(3)~~ Have satisfied the applicable proficiency requirements ~~outlined~~ in Rule 2900, Part I.A(2); and

~~(4)~~ Have experience acceptable to the Corporation in the financial services industry for at least five years or such lesser period as may be approved by the Corporation.

(b) The remaining ~~directors~~ Directors, if actively engaged in the business of the Dealer Member or a related company of the Dealer Member, ~~or the remaining partners, shall must~~ have the qualifications described in paragraphs 7.3(a) (1) ~~or~~ and (2) ~~and~~ (3).

7.4 ~~Officers~~ Executives

(a) All of the officers of a Dealer Member shall ~~must~~:

(1) Be actively engaged in the business of the Dealer Member and devote the major portion of their time to the securities industry, except those on active government services, or who for health reasons are prevented from such active engagement; or,

(2) Be ~~partners, officers~~ Executives or ~~directors~~ Directors of related or affiliated securities dealers, or affiliated financial institutions ~~such as Canadian chartered banks, Quebec savings banks, trust or insurance companies licensed to do business in Canada or pension funds with aggregate net assets of not less than \$5,000,000; and~~

(3) Have satisfied the applicable proficiency requirements outlined in Rule 2900, Part I.A(2);

- (b) Not less than 60% of the ~~officers~~Executives of a Dealer Member shallmust have experience acceptable to the Corporation in the financial services industry for at least five years or such lesser period as may be approved by the Corporation.
- (c) ~~At least two officers shall be engaged in the business of the Dealer Member; one of whom shall be engaged full time, while the other may be engaged on a part time basis.~~

7.5 ~~Chief Financial Officer~~

- (a) ~~Each Dealer Member shall appoint one officer as chief financial officer who, in addition to the requirements under 7.4(a), shall have the qualification required pursuant to Rule 2900, Part I.A(2A). The chief financial officer need not be engaged full time in the business of the Dealer Member.~~
- (b) ~~Notwithstanding subsection (a), if the chief financial officer of a Dealer Member terminates his/her employment with the Dealer Member and the Dealer Member is unable to immediately appoint another qualified person as chief financial officer, the Dealer Member may, with the Corporation's approval, appoint an officer as acting chief financial officer, provided that within 90 days of the termination:~~
 - (1) ~~the acting chief financial officer meets the requirement of subsection (a) and is approved by the Corporation as chief financial officer; or~~
 - (2) ~~another qualified person is appointed chief financial officer by the Dealer Member and approved by the Corporation.~~

7.6 Exemptions

The applicable District Council may grant an exemption, in whole or in part, from any requirement under Rules 7.3 to ~~7.5 and 7.4~~, where it is satisfied that to do so would not be prejudicial to the interest of the ~~member~~Dealer Member, its clients, the public or the Corporation and, in granting such an exemption, it may impose such terms and conditions as it considers necessary.

7.7 ~~Multiple Employments of Officers~~

~~Where permitted by the securities legislation of the applicable jurisdiction, a person may be employed as a trading officer of a Dealer Member and affiliated or related Dealer Member or non-member registered dealers provided that:~~

- (a) ~~the reasons for such multiple employments are disclosed to the Corporation;~~
- (b) ~~the Dealer Members employing such a trading officer have filed with the Corporation their policies and procedures that will address any potential for conflicts of interest resulting from such multiple employments; and~~
- (c) ~~the clients of the Dealer Members whose accounts are personally handled by the trading officer are informed of the details of the multiple employments and the potential for conflict of interest.~~

7.8 7.6 ~~Persons Owning or Controlling a Significant Equity Interest in a Dealer Member~~

- (a) Any ~~partner or director~~Director of a Dealer Member who directly or indirectly owns or controls 10% ~~or more of the~~ voting shares ~~of a~~interest in the Dealer Member shallof 10% or more must have the proficiency requirement outlined in Rule 2900, Part I.A(2)(a);
- (b) Any person other than a ~~partner or director~~Director, who is actively engaged in the business of a Dealer Member and directly or indirectly owns or controls 10% ~~or more of the~~ voting securities ~~of interest in the~~ Dealer Member, shallof 10% or more must have the proficiency requirement outlined in Rule 2900, Part I.A(2)(a).

7.9 7.7 ~~Remuneration of Partners, Directors and Officers~~Executives

No ~~partner, director~~Director or ~~officer~~Executive of a Dealer Member shall accept or permit any associate to accept, directly or indirectly, any remuneration, gratuity, advantage, benefit or any other consideration from any person other than the Dealer Member, its affiliates or related companies, in respect of the activities carried out by the ~~partner, director or officer~~Director or Executive on behalf of the Dealer Member, its affiliates or related companies in connection with the sale or placement of securities on behalf ~~related activities~~ of any of them.

7.107.8 Jurisdiction-

Every person whose application for approval as a ~~partner, director~~Director or ~~officer~~Executive of a ~~member~~Dealer Member has been accepted ~~shall be~~is subject to the jurisdiction of the Corporation, ~~shall~~must comply with the Rules of the Corporation as they are from time to time amended or supplemented and, if such approval is subsequently revoked, ~~shall~~must forthwith terminate his or her relationship as a ~~partner, director or officer~~Director or Executive with the Dealer Member in respect of which he or she is approved at the time of such revocation.

7.117.9 Late Filing Fees re ~~Partners, Officers~~Executive and Directors

A Dealer Member ~~shall be~~is liable for and must pay to the Corporation fees in the amounts prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors for the failure of the Dealer Member to file within ten business days after the end month a report in writing with respect to the conditions imposed on approval or continued approval of a ~~partner, director, officer~~Director or Executive of the Dealer Member pursuant to Rule 20.

RULE 18

REGISTERED REPRESENTATIVES AND INVESTMENT REPRESENTATIVES

~~18.1. For the purposes of Rule 18, the Toronto, Montreal and TSX Venture Exchanges are recognized stock exchanges~~

~~18.1. Repealed.~~

~~18.2. (a) No person may act and no Dealer Member shall employ may permit any person to act as a registered representative or investment representative in any province in Canada on behalf of the Dealer Member unless:~~

~~(a) Such person~~

~~(i) The Dealer Member is registered or licensed to sell securities trade, as the case may be, in securities or futures contracts under the statute relating to the sale of securities in the province in which the person proposes to act as a registered representative or investment representative; and statutes relating to the sale of securities or futures contracts in all jurisdictions in which customers of the Dealer Member reside or is exempt from the registration or licensing requirements under those statutes;~~

~~(ii) The person is registered or licensed to trade, as the case may be, in securities or futures contracts under the statutes relating to the sale of securities or futures contracts in all jurisdictions in which customers of the person reside or is exempt from the registration or licensing requirements under those statutes; and~~

~~(iii) The Corporation has approved the person as a Registered Representative or Investment Representative under this Rule.~~

~~(b) Approval as a registered representative or investment representative has been granted by the Corporation in accordance with the provisions of this Rule. A Dealer Member must notify the Corporation of the types of businesses which a Registered Representative or Investment Representative will conduct, as follows:~~

~~(i) **Customer Type:** the types of customers the Registered Representative or Investment Representative will deal with, either:~~

~~A. retail business – taking orders from or giving advice to all types of customers regarding trades in securities, or~~

~~B. institutional business – restricted to taking orders from or giving advice to institutional customers~~

~~(ii) **Product(s):** the types of financial instruments in which the Registered Representative or Investment Representative will deal, being:~~

~~A. restricted to mutual funds, Government or Government-guaranteed debt instruments and deposit instruments issued by a federally-regulated bank, trust company, credit union or caisse populaire, excluding those on which all or part of the interest or return is indexed to the performance of another financial instrument or index~~

~~B. general securities business, including equities, fixed income and other investment products other than options or futures~~

~~C. options business~~

~~D. futures contracts and futures contracts options~~

~~(iii) **Portfolio Management:** whether the Registered Representative will engage in discretionary portfolio management under the provisions of Rule 1300.~~

~~(c) A person may not conduct on behalf of a Dealer Member and a Dealer Member may not permit a person to conduct on its behalf a type of business described in (a) unless the Dealer Member has notified the Corporation:~~

(i) that the person will conduct the type of business; and

(ii) that the person has completed the proficiencies required to conduct the type of business as specified in Rule 2900, Part I within the proficiency time limits specified in Rule 2900, Part II.

For the purposes of this subsection (c), an application to the Corporation for initial Approval is notice that the person will conduct the types of business identified in the application.

18.3. ~~Approval as a registered representative or investment representative may be granted where the applicant has satisfied(a) An applicant for approval as a Registered Representative or Investment Representative must complete or obtain an exemption from the applicable proficiency requirements outlined in Part I in Rule 2900, Part I, section A.3(a) before the Corporation will grant approval.~~

(b) A Dealer Member must take reasonable steps to ensure that all of its Registered Representatives and Investment Representatives are proficient and understand the products they trade in or advise on to a sufficient degree to meet the requirements of the Rules of the Corporation. At a minimum, the Dealer Member must ensure that all Registered Representatives and Investment Representatives meet the applicable proficiency requirements of Rule 2900.

18.4. ~~FailureThe Approval of a Registered Representative is suspended automatically if the person fails to satisfy the requirement in paragraph A.3(e) of Part I of Rule 2900 will result in the automatic suspension of approval. Approval will be reinstated only at such time as the individualuntil the person has satisfied the applicable course requirement.~~

~~18.5. Upon approval as a registered representative, (other than a registered representative (non retail)) or investment representative, a six-month period of supervision, as outlined in Rule 18.6, unless he or she has worked for at least two years in a registered capacity with a securities firm which is a Dealer Member of a self-regulatory organization or a recognized foreign self-regulatory organization.~~

18.5. Repealed.

18.6. ~~Upon approval as a registered representative or investment representative, commence and complete a six-month period of supervision defined to be(a) A Dealer Member must closely supervise a Registered Representative or Investment Representative who conducts retail business in accordance with the "Registered / Investment Representative Monthly Supervision Report" as specified by the Board of Directors. A copy of this report must be maintained on file by the Dealer Member, Corporation for a period of six months after the Corporation is notified that the person will deal with retail customers. The Dealer Member must keep this report for inspection by the Corporation.~~

(b) Subsection (a) does not apply if:

(i) the Registered Representative was previously approved for six months or more to advise on trades for retail customers for a securities firm which is a member of a self-regulatory organization or a recognized foreign self-regulatory organization; or

(ii) the Investment Representative was previously approved for six months or more to advise on trades or to trade for retail customers for a securities firm which is a member of a self-regulatory organization or a recognized foreign self-regulatory organization.

~~18.7. Provided that it is not contrary to either the provisions of the appropriate securities or insurance legislation or any policy made pursuant thereto, the Corporation may grant approval of a person as a registered representative (mutual funds) or an investment representative (mutual funds) if, at the date of such application, the person~~

~~(a) is employed by a Dealer Member solely for the purpose of soliciting orders for mutual fund securities or mutual fund securities and contracts of life insurance;~~

~~(b) is registered under any applicable securities or insurance legislation of each jurisdiction in which he or she deals with the public to sell mutual fund securities or mutual fund securities and contracts of life insurance, as the case may be; and~~

18.7. (a) A Registered Representative or Investment Representative qualified to conduct mutual funds business only must:

~~(e) Has satisfied the applicable~~ within 270 days of initial approval, complete the proficiency requirements outlined in Part I of Rule 2900; in Rule 2900, Part I, sections A.3(a)(i)(A) and (B); and

~~Provided that, in the course of employment with a Dealer Member firm, such person shall not accept orders for the purchase or sale of any securities other than mutual fund securities or contracts of life insurance and provided, further, that the Dealer Member establishes and maintains procedures approved by the Corporation to ensure compliance by such person with the Rules and Rulings.~~

~~18.8. Provided that it is not contrary to the provisions of the appropriate securities legislation or any policy made thereto, the Corporation may grant approval of a person as a registered representative (non-retail) if, at the date of such application, such person is employed by a Dealer Member for the purposes of engaging in the activities of a registered representative solely with or in respect of the accounts of non-retail clients or on account of the Dealer Member. For the purposes of this Rule "non-retail" clients shall be defined as:~~

~~Acceptable Counterparties;~~

~~Acceptable Institutions;~~

~~Registrants under securities legislation or members of a recognized stock exchange;~~

~~qualified Institutions registered in the United States which include:~~

~~(1) Institutions (e.g. pension funds, investment companies, financial institutions other than banks, partnerships and industrial companies, but not individuals), that own or have investment discretion over \$100 million of securities.~~

~~(2) Banks and savings and loan associations that own or have investment discretion over \$100 million in securities and have a net worth of at least \$25 million;~~

~~Foreign Broker Dealers that are members of the following self-regulatory organizations: any Canadian SRO, the International Stock Exchange in the UK and any Stock Exchange registered with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.~~

~~18.9. Notwithstanding the provisions of Rule 18.3, the Corporation may grant approval of a person in the category of "Options Representative - Restricted" if, at the date of such application, such person is approved as a Registered Futures Contract Representative pursuant to Rule 1800 and;~~

~~(a) Takes or solicits orders only for trades in options for which the underlying interest is not an equity security; and~~

~~(b) Has satisfied the applicable proficiency requirements outlined in Part I of Rule 2900.~~

~~(i) within 18 months of initial approval, complete the training programme required under Rule 2900, Part I, section A.3(a)(i)(C).~~

~~(b) A Dealer Member must notify the Corporation:~~

~~(i) when a Registered Representative or Investment Representative restricted to mutual funds business only has completed the requirements in each of subsections (a)(i) and a(ii); and~~

~~(ii) within 18 months of initial approval, that the Registered Representative or Investment Representative will conduct either retail or institutional business without restriction to mutual funds.~~

~~(c) Subsections (a) and (b) do not apply to a Registered Representative or Investment Representative who was restricted to mutual funds only on the date on which this section becomes effective and who is registered only in Provinces in which a restriction on an Investment Representative or Registered Representative with a Dealer Member to mutual funds business only complies with the securities legislation, rules and policies of the Province.~~

~~18.8. Repealed.~~

~~18.9. Repealed.~~

18.10. Repealed.

18.11. ~~Every person whose application for approval as a registered representative or investment representative (a) A~~ Registered Representative or Investment Representative of a Dealer Member has been accepted shall be subject to the jurisdiction of the Corporation, ~~shall~~ must comply with the Rules and Rulings of the Corporation as the same are from time to time amended or supplemented and, if such approval is subsequently revoked, ~~shall forthwith terminate his or her employment as a registered representative or investment representative with the Dealer Member with whom he or she is employed at the time of such revocation.~~

(b) If the approval of a Registered Representative or Investment Representative is revoked, the Registered Representative or Investment Representative must immediately cease acting as a Registered Representative or Investment Representative of his or her Dealer Member.

18.12. Repealed.

~~18.13. The Corporation shall give notice to all recognized stock exchanges in Canada and to all securities commissions in Canada of all approvals of registered representatives, investment representatives and of all revocations or terminations of approval of registered representatives and investment representatives.~~

18.13. Repealed.

18.14. A ~~registered representative or investment representative~~ Registered Representative or Investment Representative may have, and continue in, another gainful occupation if:

(a)

(i) ~~Either the registered representative's or investment representative's~~ Registered Representative's or Investment Representative's other gainful occupation is in a remote area where there is no office of a broker or dealer in securities and the ~~designated registered representative's or investment representative's~~ Registered Representative's or Investment Representative's activities as such are limited to such remote area in which he or she resides; or

(ii) The securities commission in the jurisdiction in which the ~~registered representative or investment representative~~ Registered Representative or Investment Representative acts or proposes to act as a ~~registered representative or investment representative~~ Registered Representative or Investment Representative, or the securities legislation or policies administered by such securities commission, specifically permit him or her to devote less than his or her full time to the securities business of the Dealer Member employing him or her; and

~~(b) The Dealer Member employing such registered representative or investment representative acknowledges in writing to the Corporation its responsibility for the supervision of such registered representative or investment representative; and~~

(b) Repealed.

(c) The Dealer Member establishes and maintains procedures ~~approved by~~ acceptable to the Corporation to ensure continuous service to clients and to address potential problems of conflict of interest; and

(d) Any other occupation of the ~~registered representative or investment representative must not be:~~ Registered Representative or Investment Representative is not

(i) ~~Such as to~~ One which would bring the securities industry into disrepute; or

(ii) With another Dealer Member of a recognized self-regulatory organization unless

(1) Such Dealer Member is a related company of the Dealer Member employing the registered representative or investment representative and the Dealer Member and related company provide cross-guarantees pursuant to Rule 6.6, and

(2) Such dual employment is not contrary to the provisions of the applicable securities legislation or any policy made pursuant thereto.

- 18.15. No ~~registered representative or investment representative in respect of a Dealer Member shall~~Registered Representative or Investment Representative may accept or permit any associate to accept, directly or indirectly, any remuneration, gratuity, benefit or any other consideration from any person other than the Dealer Member or its affiliates or its related companies, ~~in respect of or the securities-related activities carried out by such registered representative or investment representative~~her or she conducts on behalf of the Dealer Member or its affiliates or its related companies and in connection with the sale or placement of securities on behalf of any of them.
- 18.16. No Dealer Member shall permit a ~~registered representative or investment representative who has been approved in accordance with this Rule to use a designation other than "registered representative", "registered representative (mutual funds) or (non-retail)", "investment representative" or "investment representative (mutual funds) or (non-retail)", as the case may be,~~Registered Representative or Investment Representative to use a designation when dealing with the public ~~that wrongly indicates that he or she conducts or has been approved by the Corporation to conduct a type of business or fulfils or has been approved by the Corporation to fulfil a role.~~
- ~~18.17. Nothing in Rule 18.16 shall preclude a registered representative or investment representative from using another designation contained in the Corporation's Rules, provided that he or she has been approved for such designation according to the appropriate Rules.~~
- 18.17. Repealed.
- 18.18. Each Dealer Member ~~shall be~~is liable for and must pay to the Corporation fees in the amounts prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors for the failure of the Dealer Member to file within ten business days of the end of each month a report with respect to the conditions imposed under Rule 20 on the approval or continued approval of a ~~registered representative, restricted registered representative, investment representative or restricted investment representative~~Registered Representative, or Investment Representative of the Dealer Member pursuant to Rule 20.

20.18 Powers of District Council

- (1) The District Council shall have the power, which it may delegate to a Sub-Committee of the District Council comprised of three industry members or to Corporation Staff, to:
 - (a) approve an application for approval ~~as, or the transfer of a:~~
 - ~~(i) sales manager, branch manager, assistant or co-branch manager, pursuant to Rule 4,~~
 - (i) Supervisor under Rule 4,
 - (ii) ~~partner, director or officer, pursuant to~~Director or Executive under Rule 7,
 - ~~(iii) registered representative or investment representative, pursuant to Rule 18,~~
 - ~~(iv) trader, pursuant to Rule 500, or~~
 - ~~(v) portfolio manager, futures contracts portfolio manager and associate portfolio manager pursuant to Rule 1300.~~
 - (iii) Registered Representative or Investment Representative, under Rule 18,
 - (iv) Ultimate Designated Person, Chief Financial Officer or Chief Compliance Officer under Rule 38, or
 - (v) trader under Rule 500.
- (2) The District Council shall have the power, which it may delegate to a Sub-Committee of the District Council, pursuant to subsection (1), to:
 - (a) approve an application for approval ~~or transfer~~ referred to in Rule 20.18(1)(a) subject to such conditions as may be considered just and appropriate;
 - (b) refuse an application for approval ~~or transfer~~ referred to in Rule 20.18(1)(a), if in its opinion:
 - (i) the Applicant does not meet any requirements prescribed by the Rules or Rulings;
 - (ii) the Rules and Rulings of the Corporation will not be complied with by the Applicant;
 - (iii) the Applicant is not qualified for approval by reason of integrity, solvency, training or experience; or
 - (iv) such approval is otherwise not in the public interest.
- (3) The District Council shall have the power, which it may delegate to a Sub-Committee of the District Council, pursuant to subsection (1), to impose such conditions on the continued approval of an Approved Person as the District Council considers appropriate and in the public interest.

20.19 Review Hearings

- (1) Corporation Staff or the Applicant may request a review of ~~an approval~~ decision under Rule 20.18 by a Hearing Panel within ten business days after release of the decision.
- (2) If a review is not requested within ten business days after release of the decision, the ~~approval~~ decision under Rule 20.18 becomes final.
- (3) No member of a District Council who has participated in a decision ~~to refuse an application or impose conditions on an application, pursuant to Rule 20.18,~~ under Rule 20.18 shall participate on the Hearing Panel.
- (4) A review hearing held under this Part shall be held in accordance with the Corporation Practice and Procedure.

- (5) The Hearing Panel may:
 - (a) affirm the decision;
 - (b) quash the decision;
 - (c) vary or remove any terms and conditions imposed on approval;
 - (d) limit the ability to re-apply for approval for such period of time as it determines just and appropriate; and
 - (e) make any decision that could have been made by the District Council pursuant to Rule 20.18.
- (6) No appeal shall be available from the decision of the Hearing Panel.

RULE 29

BUSINESS CONDUCT

- 29.1. Dealer Members and each partner, director, officer, sales manager, branch manager, assistant or co-branch manager, registered representative, investment representative and employee of a Dealer Member (i) shall observe high standards of ethics and conduct in the transaction of their business, (ii) shall not engage in any business conduct or practice which is unbecoming or detrimental to the public interest, and (iii) shall be of such character and business repute and have such experience and training as is consistent with the standards described in clauses (i) and (ii) or as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors.

For the purposes of disciplinary proceedings pursuant to the Rules, each Dealer Member shall be responsible for all acts and omissions of each partner, director, officer, sales manager, branch manager, assistant or co-branch manager, registered representative, investment representative and employee of a Dealer Member; and each of the foregoing individuals shall comply with all Rules required to be complied with by the Dealer Member.

- 29.2. During the period of distribution to the public (as that term is defined in the relevant securities legislation) of any securities a Dealer Member shall not offer for sale or accept any offer to buy all or any part of the securities acquired by such Dealer Member through its participation in such distribution as an underwriter or as a member of a banking or selling group at a price or prices in excess of the stated initial public offering price of such securities.
- 29.3. During such period of distribution to the public a Dealer Member shall make a bona fide offering of the total amount of such participation to public investors. The term "public investors" does not include any officer or employee of a bank, insurance company, trust company, investment fund, pension fund or similar institutional body or the immediate families of any such officer or employee of any such institution regularly engaged in the purchase or sale of securities for such institution, unless such sales are demonstratively for bona fide personal investment in accordance with the person's normal investment practice. For the purposes of this Rule 29.3 the term "normal investment practice" shall mean the history of investment in an account with the Dealer Member and if such history discloses a practice of purchasing mainly "hot issues" such record would not constitute a "normal investment practice".
- 29.3A. A Dealer Member shall give priority to orders for the accounts of customers of the Dealer Member over all other orders for the same security at the same price. The phrase "orders for the accounts of customers of the Dealer Member" shall not include an order for an account in which the Dealer Member or an employee of the Dealer Member has an interest, direct or indirect, other than an interest in a commission charged.
- 29.4. The period of distribution to the public in respect of any securities shall continue until the Dealer Member shall have notified the applicable securities commission that it has ceased to engage in the distribution to the public of such securities.
- 29.5. Every director of a corporation any of whose securities are held by the public has a fiduciary obligation not to reveal any privileged information to anyone not authorized to receive it. Except to the extent referred to in the third paragraph of this Rule 29.5, a director is not released from the necessity of keeping information of this character to himself or herself until there has been full public disclosure of such information, particularly when the information might affect the market price of the corporation's securities. Any director of such corporation who is also a ~~director, partner, officer, or employee~~ Director, Executive or Employee of a Dealer Member should recognize that his or her first responsibility in this area is to the public corporation on whose board he or she serves and that he or she must, except to the extent referred to in the third paragraph of this Rule 29.5, meticulously avoid any disclosure of inside information to the ~~partners, directors, officers~~ Directors, Executives, employees, customers, or research or trading departments of the Dealer Member.

Where a representative of a Dealer Member is not a director of a corporation but is acting in an underwriting or advisory capacity to such corporation and is discussing confidential matters, his or her responsibilities regarding disclosure are the same as those that would apply if such representative were a director of such corporation.

With reference to the two preceding paragraphs of this Rule 29.5, a ~~director~~ Director or a representative, as the case may be, of a Dealer Member may consult with other personnel of the Dealer Member if a matter requires such consultation but in this event adequate measures should be taken to guard the confidential nature of the information to prevent its misuse within or outside the organization of the Dealer Member and the responsibilities of any such other personnel regarding disclosure are the same as those that would apply if such personnel were directors of the relevant corporation.

- 29.6. No Dealer Member or any ~~partner, director, officer,~~ Director, Executive or employee or shareholder of a Dealer Member shall give, offer or agree to give or offer, directly or indirectly, to any partner, director, officer, employee, shareholder or

agent of a customer, or any associate of such persons, a gratuity, advantage, benefit or any other consideration in relation to any business of the customer with the Dealer Member, unless the prior written consent of the customer has first been obtained.

29.7. Definitions

For the purposes of this Rule 29.7;

"advertisement(s) or advertising" shall include television or radio commercials or commentaries, newspaper and magazine advertisements or commentaries, and any published material including materials disseminated or made available electronically promoting the business of a Dealer Member.

"sales literature" shall include any written or electronic communication other than advertisements and correspondence, distributed to or made generally available to a client or potential client which includes a recommendation with respect to a security or trading strategy. Sales literature includes but is not limited to records, videotapes and similar material, market letters, research reports, circulars, promotional seminar text, telemarketing scripts and reprints or excerpts of any other sales literature or published material, but does not include preliminary prospectuses and prospectuses.

"correspondence" means any written or electronic business related communication prepared for delivery to a single current or prospective client, and not for dissemination to multiple clients or to the general public.

"trading strategy" means a broad general approach to investments including matters such as the use of specific products, leverage, frequency of trading or a method of selecting particular investments but does not include specific trade or sectoral weighting recommendations.

29.7 (1) No Dealer Member shall issue to the public, participate in or knowingly allow its name to be used in respect of any advertisement, sales literature or correspondence, and no registered or approved persons shall issue or send any advertisement, sales literature or correspondence in connection with its or his or her business which:

- (a) contains any untrue statement or omission of a material fact or is otherwise false or misleading;
- (b) contains an unjustified promise of specific results;
- (c) uses unrepresentative statistics to suggest unwarranted or exaggerated conclusions, or fails to identify the material assumptions made in arriving at these conclusions;
- (d) contains any opinion or forecast of future events which is not clearly labeled as such;
- (e) fails to fairly present the potential risks to the client;
- (f) is detrimental to the interests of the public, the Corporation or its Dealer Members; or
- (g) does not comply with any applicable legislation or the guidelines, policies or directives of any regulatory authority having jurisdiction.

29.7 (2) Each Dealer Member shall develop written policies and procedures that are appropriate for its size, structure, business and clients for the review and supervision of advertisements, sales literature and correspondence relating to its business. All such policies and procedures shall be approved by the Corporation.

29.7 (3) The policies and procedures referred to in subsection (2) may provide that such review and supervision will be done by pre-use approval, post use review or post use sampling, as appropriate to the type of material. However, the following types of advertisements, sales literature or correspondence must be approved prior to publication or use by a ~~partner, director, officer or branch manager of the Dealer Member who is~~ one or more Supervisors specifically designated to approve such materials each specified type of material:

- (a) Research reports,
- (b) Market letters,
- (c) Telemarketing scripts,
- (d) Promotional seminar texts (not including educational seminar texts),

- (e) Original advertisements/original template advertisements; and
- (f) Any material used to solicit clients that contain performance reports or summaries.

29.7 (4) Where such policies and procedures do not require the approval of advertisements, sales literature or correspondence prior to being issued, the Dealer Member must include provisions for the education and training of registered and approved persons as to the Dealer Member's policies and procedures governing such materials as well as follow-ups to ensure that such procedures are implemented and adhered to.

29.7(5) Copies of all advertisements, sales literature and correspondence and all records of supervision under the policies and procedures required by subsection (2) shall be retained so as to be readily available for inspection by the Corporation. All advertisements, sales literature and related documents must be retained for a period of 2 years from the date of creation and all correspondence and related documents must be retained for a period of 5 years from the date of creation.

29.7A.

(1) Ownership of Trade Name

Subject to subsection (7) all business carried on by a Dealer Member or by any person on its behalf shall be in the name of the Dealer Member or a business or trade or style name owned by the Dealer Member, an approved person in respect of the Dealer Member or an affiliated corporation of either of them.

(2) Approval of Trade Name

No approved person shall conduct any business in accordance with subsection (1) in a business or trade or style name that is not owned by the Dealer Member or its affiliated corporation unless the Dealer Member has given its prior written consent.

(3) Notification of Trade Name

Prior to the use of any business or trade or style name other than the Dealer Member's legal name, the Dealer Member shall notify the Corporation.

(4) Transfer of Trade Name

Prior to the transfer of a business or trade or style name to another Dealer Member, the Dealer Member shall notify the Corporation.

(5) Single Use of Trade Name

Except where Dealer Members are related or affiliated, no Dealer Member or approved person shall use any business or trade or style name that is used by any other Dealer Member unless the relationship with such other Dealer Member is that of an introducing broker/carrying broker arrangement, pursuant to Rule 35.

(6) Legal Name

The Dealer Member's full legal name shall be included in all contracts, account statements and confirmations.

(7) Trade Name of Approved Person to Accompany Legal Name

A business or trade or style name used by an approved person may accompany, but not replace, the full legal name of the Dealer Member on materials that are used to communicate with the public. The Dealer Member's legal name must be at least equal in size to the business or trade or style name used by the approved person.

For greater certainty, "materials" that are used to communicate with the public include, but are not limited to, the following:

- (a) Letterhead;
- (b) Business Cards;
- (c) Invoices;
- (d) Trade Confirmations;

- (e) Monthly Statements;
- (f) Websites;
- (g) Research Reports; and
- (h) Advertisements.

(8) Misleading Trade Name

No Dealer Member or approved person shall use any business or trade or style name that is deceptive, misleading or likely to deceive or mislead the public.

(9) Prohibition on Use of Trade Name

The Corporation may prohibit a Dealer Member or approved person from using any business or trade or style name in a manner that is contrary to the provisions of this Rule or is objectionable or contrary to the public interest.

29.8. No Dealer Member shall impose on any customer or deduct from the account of any customer any service fee or service charge relating to services provided by the Dealer Member for the administration of the customer's account unless written notice shall have been given to the customer on the opening of the account or not less than 60 days prior to the imposition or revision of the fee or charge. For the purposes of this Rule, service fees or charges shall not include interest charged by the Dealer Member in respect of the account and commissions charged for executing trades.

29.9. A Dealer Member which purchases debt securities taken in trade shall purchase the securities at a fair market price at the time of purchase.

A Dealer Member, in the course of a distribution of a fixed price offering of debt securities, shall ensure that any purchase of other debt securities taken in trade in relation to that offering is done at fair market price.

29.10. For the purpose of Rule 29.9, unless the subject matter or context otherwise requires, the expression:

"Taken in Trade" means the purchase by a Dealer Member as principal, or as agent, of a debt security from a customer pursuant to an agreement or understanding that the customer purchase other debt securities from or through the Dealer Member;

"Fair market Price" means a price not higher than the price at which the securities would be purchased from the customer or from a similarly situated customer in the ordinary course of business by a dealer in such securities in transactions of similar size and having similar characteristics but not involving a security taken in trade."

29.11. No Dealer Member shall pay or make any payment on account or in respect of any debt owing by such Dealer Member to any creditor of such Dealer Member contrary to the provisions of, or otherwise fail to comply with, any subordination or other agreement to which such Dealer Member and the Corporation are parties.

29.12. Mutual Fund Sales Incentives

(a) No Dealer Member or related company in respect of a Dealer Member, or partner, director, officer, registered representative or employee of such Dealer Member or related company, shall accept from any person, directly or indirectly, any non-cash sales incentive in connection with the sale or distribution of mutual fund products.

(b) No Dealer Member or related company in respect of a Dealer Member shall pay to any partner, director, officer, registered representative or employee of such Dealer Member or related company any non-cash sales incentive in connection with the sale or distribution of mutual fund products.

(c) Nothing in this Rule shall prohibit a Dealer Member or related company in respect of a Dealer Member or any partner, director, officer, registered representative or employee of such Dealer Member or related company from accepting or paying, as the case may be:

- (i) Non-cash sales incentives earned or awarded for the internal incentive programme of such Dealer Member for which eligibility is determined with respect to all services and products offered by the Dealer Member;

- (ii) Commissions or fees payable in cash and calculated with reference only to particular sales or volumes of sales of mutual fund securities;
 - (iii) Service fees or trailing commissions;
 - (iv) Marketing materials; or
 - (v) Reasonable business promotion activities that are undertaken in the normal course and take place in the locale where the recipient is employed or resides.
- (d) For the purposes of this Rule 29.12, the term "non-cash sales incentive" shall include, without limitation, domestic or foreign trips, goods, services, gratuities, advantages, benefits or any other non-cash consideration.

29.13. Premarketing

- (a) In this Rule 29.13 the expression:

"Bought Deal" means a transaction pursuant to an agreement under which an underwriter, as principal, agrees to purchase securities from an issuer or selling security-holder with a view to a distribution of such securities pursuant to the POP System (as defined in National Policy Statement No. 47) or comparable system in any Canadian province and such agreement is entered into prior to or contemporaneously with the filing of the preliminary short form prospectus;

"Commencement of Distribution" means the time when a Dealer Member has had distribution discussions which are of sufficient specificity that it is reasonable to expect that the Dealer Member (alone or with other underwriters) will propose an underwriting of equity securities to the issuer or selling security-holder;

"Distribution" means a potential offering of equity securities which may proceed as a bought deal;

"Distribution Discussions" means discussions by a Dealer Member with an issuer or a selling security-holder, or with another underwriter that has had discussions with an issuer or selling security-holder, concerning a distribution;

"Equity Security" means any security of an issuer that carries a residual right to participate in earnings of the issuer and, upon liquidation or winding up of the issuer, in its assets and includes a security convertible into an equity security. A security shall be deemed to be convertible into an equity security if the rights attaching to the security include the right or option to purchase, convert or exchange or otherwise acquire any equity security of the issuer or any other security that itself includes the right or option to purchase, convert or exchange or otherwise acquire any equity security of the issuer.

- (b) From the commencement of distribution until the earliest of

- (i) The time at which the receipt for the preliminary prospectus in respect of the distribution is issued;
- (ii) The time at which a press release that announces the entering into of an enforceable agreement in respect of the distribution is issued and filed in accordance with any blanket ruling or order, or notice made pursuant to an existing blanket ruling or order, of a securities regulatory authority of a province or territory of Canada and provided that all of the conditions set forth in such blanket ruling or order or such notice and its related blanket ruling or order are met; and
- (iii) The time at which the Dealer Member determines not to pursue the distribution

no member shall have communications with a person or company wherever resident which are designed to have the effect of determining the interest of that person or company (or any person or company that it represents) in purchasing securities of the type that are the subject of distribution discussions if such communications are undertaken by any director, officer, employee or agent of the Dealer Member:

- (A) Who participated in or had actual knowledge of the distribution discussions, or
- (B) Whose communications were directed, suggested or induced by a person who participated in or had actual knowledge of the distribution discussions or another person acting directly or indirectly at or upon the direction, suggestion or inducement of a person referred to in (B).

A press release is deemed to have been issued when it is disseminated in accordance with the policies of applicable stock exchanges or, in the case of unlisted securities, when it is released to Canada News-Wire or any other national news distribution service for distribution and is deemed to have been filed when delivered or sent by facsimile to the relevant securities regulatory authority of a province or territory of Canada.

- (c) No Dealer Member shall, in connection with a potential offering of equity securities, have communications of the nature described in Rule 29.13(b) even if such communications would otherwise be exempt from prospectus requirements of securities law, unless the Dealer Member and the issuer or selling security-holder can demonstrate a bona fide intention to distribute the securities pursuant to a prospectus exemption. The restrictions referred to in Rule 29.13(b) shall apply from the time it is reasonable to expect that a decision to abandon an exempt offering of equity securities in favour of a prospectus offering will be taken.
- (d) No Dealer Member shall engage in market making or other principal trading activities in securities that are the subject of distribution discussions if such activities are engaged in by a person referred to in Rule 29.13(b)(A) or at or upon the direction, suggestion or inducement of a person referred to in Rule 29.13(b)(A) or (B).
- (e) A Dealer Member involved in a distribution as an underwriter shall file a certificate with respect to compliance with this Rule 29.13 in respect of such distribution with the Corporation not later than three business days after the date the preliminary short form prospectus (or equivalent document) with respect to such distribution is filed with the principal jurisdiction (as defined in National Policy Statement No. 47). Such certificate shall be signed by the chief executive officer of the Dealer Member or the next most senior officer or by such other person as is fulfilling the duties of the chief executive officer in his or her absence and shall be in such form and contain such information as may from time to time be prescribed by the Corporation and approved by the Director of Corporate Finance of the Ontario Securities Commission or his or her equivalent of any member of the Canadian Securities Administrators who notifies the Corporation that approval of the form of such certificate is required.

CERTIFICATE

To: Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada ("Corporation")

I (**name**), in my capacity as (**title**) of (**dealer name**) hereby certify on behalf of (**dealer name**), that (i) policies and procedures are in place designed to ensure compliance with Rule 29.13, and (ii) to the best of my knowledge, information and belief, after making, or having caused to be made, enquiries that I believe to be appropriate, in connection with the distribution of securities of (**issuer name**), the preliminary prospectus (or an equivalent document) for which was dated (**date**), from the commencement of distribution there have not been any communications by (**dealer name**) undertaken by any director, officer, employee or agent of (**dealer name**) with any person or company wherever resident about the interest that such person or company or any person or company that it represented had in purchasing securities of the type that were the subject of distribution discussions which would contravene Rule 29.13.

The terms "commencement of distribution" and "distribution discussions" used in this certificate have the meanings given to those terms in Rule 29.13.

Dated at (city) this day of 20 .

Signature

Name

Title

29.14.

(a) Definitions. For the purposes of these Rules 29.14 to 29.25, the term:

"Advertising" means any promotional material used in or on any newspaper, magazine, radio, video, television, telephone or cassette recording, motion picture, slide presentation or sign or billboard;

"Applicable Securities Laws" means:

- (i) Ontario Securities Commission Rule 61-501 relating to Insider Bids, Issuer Bids, Going Private Transactions and Related Party Transactions; and
- (ii) section 190 of the *Business Corporations Act* (Ontario);

"Corporation Standards" means the disclosure standards specified in Rules 29.14 through 29.24;

"CIPF" means Canadian Investor Protection Fund and "FCPE" means Fonds canadien de protection des épargnants;

"CIPF official explanatory statement" means the following statement:

"Customers' accounts are protected by the Canadian Investor Protection Fund within specified limits. A brochure describing the nature and limits of coverage is available upon request."

Or such other statement as may be prescribed as such by CIPF from time to time for use by Members;

"CIPF official brochure" means any brochure or publication prescribed as such by CIPF for use by Members;

"CIPF official symbol" means the symbol, mark or other designation prescribed as such by CIPF for use by Dealer Members with the word "Dealer Member" appearing on top of the official symbol;

"Fairness Opinion" means a report of a Valuer that contains the Valuer's opinion as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, of a transaction;

"Formal Valuation" means a report of a Valuer that contains the Valuer's opinion as to the value or range of values of the subject matter of the valuation;

"Professional Opinion" means a Formal Valuation or a Fairness Opinion;

"Subject Transaction" means an insider bid, issuer bid, going private transaction or related party transaction as each such term is defined in Applicable Securities Laws; and

"Valuer" means the person who provides a Professional Opinion.

The terms "disclosure document", "interested party" and "prior valuation" as used in these Rules 29.14 to 29.25 have the same respective meanings as in Applicable Securities Laws.

- (b) Display at Premises. Each Dealer Member shall conspicuously display in a prominent place at each of its locations to which customers have access the CIPF official symbol. No Dealer Member shall be required to display the CIPF official symbol until 30 days after the first day of operation as a Dealer Member.
 - (c) Account Statements and Confirmations. Each Dealer Member shall include on the front of each confirmation and account statement sent to a customer the CIPF official symbol, and shall also include in legible print on either the front or the back (at the Dealer Member's option) of each confirmation and account statement sent to a customer the CIPF official explanatory statement in either English or French. No Dealer Member need comply with this paragraph (c) until its existing supplies of confirmation forms and account statements have been exhausted or until a date which is one year after the date this Rule comes into force, whichever is the earlier.
 - (d) CIPF Official Brochure. Each Dealer Member shall make available to its customers on request the current version of the CIPF official brochure in either English or French as requested.
 - (e) Advertising. Each Dealer Member shall include in any written, visual or audio advertising the words "Member CIPF" together with, at the option of the Dealer Member, a reproduction of the CIPF official symbol. Except as provided in this paragraph (e), no Dealer Member shall display any symbol relating to CIPF other than the CIPF official symbol or include any symbol, statement or explanation relating to CIPF or the Members' membership in CIPF in any advertising, promotional or other materials other than the CIPF official symbol or CIPF official explanatory statements.
 - (f) Members of CIPF. For the purposes only of complying with this Rule 29.14 and to the extent permitted by CIPF from time to time, Dealer Members shall identify themselves as members of CIPF.
 - (g) English/French Language. Subject to applicable laws, a Dealer Member may comply with the requirements of this Rule in either the English or French language.
 - (h) Termination of Membership. Upon the termination or suspension of its Membership, each Dealer Member shall immediately cease using the CIPF official explanatory statement, CIPF official brochure or CIPF official symbol, and shall cease identifying itself as a member of CIPF.
 - (i) Exemptions. A Dealer Member may be exempted from all or part of the requirements of paragraph (e) of this Rule 29.14 to the extent prescribed by CIPF from time to time.
- 29.15 No Dealer Member shall prepare a Professional Opinion in connection with a Subject Transaction unless it complies with Corporation Standards.
- 29.16 Corporation Standards apply only to Professional Opinions that are prepared either pursuant to a requirement of Applicable Securities Laws or for the express purpose of publication, in whole or in part (including summaries thereof), in a disclosure document to be filed with any Canadian securities regulatory authority or delivered to security holders in connection with their consideration of the Subject Transaction. For greater certainty, Corporation Standards do not apply to Professional Opinions (i) rendered in connection with transactions other than the Subject Transactions, whether or not they are reproduced or summarized in a disclosure document, or (ii) reproduced or summarized in a

disclosure document in response to a legal or regulatory requirement for the disclosure of prior valuations in respect of an issuer.

- 29.17 The requirements relating to the preparation and disclosure of Professional Opinions prescribed herein shall not be a substitute for the professional judgment and responsibility of the Valuer. Compliance with the Corporation Standards, without the Valuer also exercising professional judgment and responsibility regarding disclosure in a Professional Opinion, shall not be considered compliance with Corporation Standards. Professional judgment and responsibility may, in appropriate cases, justify a departure from the strict application of the requirements under the Corporation Standards.
- 29.18 Professional Opinions prepared in connection with the Subject Transactions shall contain disclosure sufficient to enable the directors and security holders of the particular issuer to understand the principal judgments and principal underlying reasoning of the Valuer in its Professional Opinion so as to form a reasoned view on the valuation conclusion or the opinion as to fairness expressed therein.
- 29.19 A Valuer shall consider the level of disclosure described in Rules 29.20 through 29.24 when considering the appropriate level of disclosure in a Professional Opinion concerning valuation methodologies or matters not specifically addressed in such Rules but that are important in reaching a valuation or fairness conclusion.
- 29.20 A Professional Opinion that is a Formal Valuation prepared by a Dealer Member shall disclose the following information:
1. The identity and credentials of the Dealer Member, including the general experience of the Dealer Member in valuing other businesses in the same or similar industries as the business or issuer in question or similar transactions to the Subject Transaction, the Dealer Member's understanding of the specific marketable securities involved in the Subject Transaction and the internal procedures followed by the Dealer Member to ensure the quality of the Professional Opinion;
 2. The date the Valuer was first contacted in respect of the Subject Transaction and the date that the Valuer was retained;
 3. The financial terms of the Valuer's retainer;
 4. A description of any past, present or anticipated relationship between the Valuer and any interested party or the issuer which may be relevant to the Valuer's independence for purposes of the Applicable Securities Laws;
 5. The subject matter of the Formal Valuation;
 6. The effective date of the Formal Valuation;
 7. A description of any specific adjustments that have been made in the Valuer's conclusions by reason of an event or occurrence after the effective date;
 8. The scope and purpose of the Formal Valuation, including the following statement:

"This Formal Valuation has been prepared in accordance with the Disclosure Standards for Formal Valuations and Fairness Opinions of Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada but the Corporation has not been involved in the preparation or review of this valuation.";
 9. A description of the scope of the review conducted by the Valuer, including a summary of the type of information reviewed and relied upon (such as the documents reviewed, individuals interviewed, facilities visited, other expert reports considered and management representations concerning information requested and furnished to the Valuer);
 10. A description of any limitation on the scope of review and the implications of such limitation on the Valuer's conclusions;
 11. A description of the business, assets or securities being valued sufficient to allow the reader to understand the valuation rationale and approach and the various factors influencing value that were considered;
 12. Definitions of the terms of value used in the Formal Valuation (such as "fair market value", "market value" and "cash equivalent value");

13. The valuation approach and methodologies considered, including the rationale for valuing the business as a going concern or on a liquidation basis and the reasons for selecting a particular valuation methodology and a summary of the key factors considered in selecting the valuation approach and methodologies considered;
 14. The key assumptions made by the Valuer;
 15. Any distinctive material value that the Valuer has determined might accrue to an interested party, whether this value is included in the value or range of values arrived at for the subject matter of the Formal Valuation and the reasons for its inclusion or exclusion;
 16. A discussion of any prior *bona fide* offers or prior valuations or other material expert reports considered by the Valuer pertaining to the subject matter of the transaction and, where the Formal Valuation differs materially from any such prior valuation, an explanation of the material differences where reasonably practicable to do so based on the information contained in the prior valuation or, if it is not reasonably practicable to do so, the reasons why it is not reasonably practicable to do so; and
 17. The valuation conclusions reached and any qualifications or limitations to which such conclusions are subject.
- 29.21 A Professional Opinion that is a Fairness Opinion prepared by a Dealer Member shall disclose the following information:
1. The identity and credentials of the Dealer Member, including the general experience of the Dealer Member in providing Fairness Opinions in connection with transactions similar to the Subject Transaction, the Dealer Member's understanding of the specific marketable securities involved in the Subject Transaction and the internal procedures followed by the Dealer Member to ensure the quality of the Professional Opinion;
 2. The date the Dealer Member was first contacted in respect of the Subject Transaction and the date that the firm was retained;
 3. The financial terms of the Dealer Member's retainer;
 4. A description of any past, present or anticipated relationship between the Dealer Member and any interested party which may be relevant to the Dealer Member's independence for purposes of providing the Fairness Opinion;
 5. The scope and purpose of the Fairness Opinion, including the following statement:

"This fairness opinion has been prepared in accordance with the Disclosure Standards for Formal Valuations and Fairness Opinions of Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada but the Corporation has not been involved in the preparation or review of this fairness opinion.";
 6. The effective date of the Fairness Opinion;
 7. A description of the scope of the review conducted by the Dealer Member, including a summary of the type of information reviewed and relied upon (such as the documents reviewed, individuals interviewed, facilities visited, other expert reports considered and management representations concerning information requested and furnished to the Dealer Member);
 8. A description of any limitation on the scope of review and the implications of such limitation on the Dealer Member's opinion or conclusion;
 9. A description of the relevant business, assets or securities sufficient to allow the reader to understand the rationale of the Fairness Opinion and the approach and various factors influencing financial fairness that were considered;
 10. A description of the valuation or appraisal work performed or relied upon in support of the Dealer Member's opinion or conclusion;
 11. A discussion of any prior *bona fide* offer or prior valuation or other material expert report considered by the Dealer Member in coming to the opinion or conclusion contained in the Fairness Opinion;
 12. The key assumptions made by the Dealer Member;

13. The factors the Dealer Member considered important in performing its fairness analysis;
 14. The statement of opinion or conclusion as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, of the Subject Transaction and the supporting reasons; and
 15. Any qualifications or limitations to which the opinion or conclusion is subject.
- 29.22 If concern is expressed to a Dealer Member regarding the proposed disclosure in a Professional Opinion of competitively or commercially sensitive information regarding an interested party or issuer, the Dealer Member may seek a decision of the special committee of the issuer's independent directors (the "special committee") as to whether the perceived detriment to an interested party, the issuer or its security holders of the disclosure of such information in the Professional Opinion outweighs the benefit of disclosure of such information to the readers of the Professional Opinion. Compliance with any such decision of a special committee shall also constitute compliance with the Corporation Standards in respect of the matters that are the subject of the decision.
- 29.23 A Professional Opinion that is a Formal Valuation prepared by a Dealer Member in connection with a Subject Transaction shall disclose the following:
1. Annual Financial Information. Unless otherwise disclosed through the Canadian continuous disclosure obligations of the issuer or in a disclosure document published in connection with the transaction to which the Professional Opinion applies, the Professional Opinion shall disclose a summary of selected material financial information derived from the most recent year-end balance sheet and income statement and statement of changes in financial position for the most recently completed fiscal year as well as from the balance sheet, income statement and statement of changes in financial position for the immediately preceding fiscal year.
 2. Interim Financial Information. Unless otherwise disclosed through the Canadian continuous disclosure obligations of the issuer or in a disclosure document published in connection with the transaction to which the Professional Opinion applies, the Professional Opinion shall disclose a summary of selected material financial information derived from the most recent interim balance sheet (if any), income statement and statement of changes in financial position for the current fiscal year and the comparable statements for the same interim period of the immediately preceding fiscal year.
 3. Discussion of Historical Financial Statements or Financial Position. The Professional Opinion shall include comment on material items or changes in the issuer's financial statements together with appropriate commentary on items which may have particular relevance to the Professional Opinion. Examples of such items include unusual capital structures, unrecognized tax-loss carryforwards and redundant assets.
 4. Future-Oriented Financial Information. To the extent that the Valuer has relied upon future-oriented financial information ("FOFI"), the Valuer shall disclose the FOFI, at least in summary form, unless otherwise determined by a decision of the special committee referred to in Rule 29.22. To the extent that the FOFI relied upon by the Valuer varies materially from the FOFI provided to the Valuer by the issuer or the interested party, the Valuer shall disclose the nature and extent of such differences and the rationale of the Valuer supporting its judgments.
 5. FOFI Assumptions. To the extent that FOFI is relied upon (whether or not the FOFI itself is disclosed), key financial assumptions (such as sales, growth rates, operating profit margins, major expense items, interest rates, tax rates, depreciation rates, etc.), together with a brief statement supporting the rationale for each specific assumption, shall also be disclosed, unless otherwise determined by a decision of the special committee referred to in Rule 29.22.
 6. Economic Assumptions. Any key economic assumptions having a material impact on the Professional Opinion shall be disclosed, noting the authoritative source used by the Valuer, including interest rates, exchange rates and general economic prospects in the relevant markets.
 7. Valuation Approach, Methodologies and Analysis. The Professional Opinion shall set out the valuation approach and methodologies adopted by the Valuer, together with the principal judgments made in selecting a particular approach or methodology, a comparison of valuation calculations and conclusions arrived at through the different methods considered and the relative importance of each methodology in arriving at the overall valuation conclusion. Depending upon the valuation techniques used by the Valuer, the specific information referred to in items 8 through 12 below shall be disclosed.
 8. Discounted Cash Flow Approach. The Professional Opinion shall include a discussion of all relevant qualitative and quantitative judgments used to calculate discount rates, multiples and capitalization rates. If

the Capital Asset Pricing Model is used, disclosure shall include the basis for determining the discount rate including the risk-free rate, market risk premium, beta, tax rates and debt-to-equity capital structure assumed. The Valuer shall also disclose the basis for the determination of the terminal/residual value together with the underlying assumptions made. The source of the financial data which formed the basis of the discounted cash flow analysis, summary of major assumptions (if not already disclosed) and the details and sources of any economic statistics, commodity prices and market forecasts used in the valuation approach shall also be disclosed. In addition, a summary of the sensitivity variables considered and the general results of the application of such sensitivity analysis shall be disclosed along with an explanation of how such sensitivity analysis was used in the determination of the range of valuation estimates resulting from the discounted cash flow approach. Where the nature of the FOFI and the subject matter of the valuation make it reasonably practicable and meaningful to do so, selected quantitative sensitivity analyses performed by the Valuer shall be disclosed to illustrate the effects of variations in the key assumptions on the valuation results. In determining whether quantitative sensitivity analyses would be meaningful to the reader of the Professional Opinion, the Valuer shall consider whether such analyses adequately reflects the Valuer's judgment concerning the inter-relationship of the key underlying assumptions.

9. Asset Based Valuation Approach. The Professional Opinion shall separately disclose the values of each significant asset and liability including off-balance sheet items (unless otherwise determined by a decision of the special committee referred to in Rule 29.22). If a liquidation-based valuation approach has been utilized, the Professional Opinion shall set out the liquidation values for each significant asset and liability together with summary estimates for significant liquidation costs.
 10. Comparable Transaction Approach. The Professional Opinion shall disclose (preferably in tabular form) a list of relevant transactions involving businesses the Valuer considers similar or comparable to the business being valued. Adequate disclosure shall include the date of the transaction, a brief descriptive note, and relevant multiples implicit in the transaction which may include earnings before interest and taxes ("EBIT"), earnings before interest, taxes depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA"), earnings, cash flow and book value multiples and take-over premium percentages. In the body of the Professional Opinion there shall be a discussion of such transactions together with an explanation as to how such transactions were used by the Valuer in arriving at a valuation conclusion with regard to the comparable transaction approach.
 11. Comparable Trading Approach. The Professional Opinion shall disclose (preferably in tabular form) a list of relevant publicly traded companies the Valuer considers similar or comparable to the business being valued. Adequate disclosure shall include the date of the market data, the relevant fiscal periods for the comparable company, a brief descriptive note regarding the comparable company and relevant multiples implicit in the trading data which may include EBIT, EBITDA, earnings, cash flow and book value multiples. In the body of the Professional Opinion there shall be a discussion as to the comparability of such companies, together with an explanation as to how such data was used by the Valuer in arriving at a valuation conclusion with regard to the comparable trading approach.
 12. Valuation Conclusions. The Valuer shall develop a final valuation range by using a single valuation methodology or some combination of value conclusions determined under different methodologies/approaches. The Professional Opinion shall include a comparison of the valuation ranges developed under each methodology and a discussion of the reasoning in support of the Valuer's final conclusion.
- 29.24 A Professional Opinion that is a Fairness Opinion prepared by a Dealer Member in connection with a Subject Transaction shall include the following:
1. Fairness Opinion Valuation Analyses. While it is generally acknowledged that both the scope and the objectives of a Fairness Opinion differ from those of a Formal Valuation (whether or not the Fairness Opinion is delivered in a transaction where a Formal Valuation exemption is being relied upon), a Fairness Opinion shall include a general description of any valuation analysis performed by the opinion provider or specific disclosure of a valuation opinion of another Valuer which is being relied upon. However, the opinion provider is not required to reach or disclose specific conclusions as to a valuation range or ranges in a Fairness Opinion.
 2. Fairness Conclusions. The specific reasons for the conclusion that the Subject Transaction is fair or not fair to security holders, from a financial point of view, shall be set out in the conclusion section of the Professional Opinion. Support for each of these specific reasons shall be contained in the body of the Professional Opinion in sufficient detail to allow the reader of the opinion to understand the principal judgments and principal underlying reasoning of the opinion provider in reaching its opinion as to the fairness of the transaction.

29.25 Repealed.

29.26

- (1)
- (a) Each Dealer Member, partner, director, officer or registered or approved person of a Dealer Member shall provide to each client a Leverage Risk Disclosure Statement:
 - i) at the time a new account is opened,
 - ii) when a recommendation is made to a client to purchase securities using, in whole or in part, borrowed money, or
 - iii) when the Dealer Member, partner, director, officer, registered or approved person of the Dealer Member becomes aware of a client's intent to purchase securities using, in whole or in part, borrowed money.
 - (b) No Dealer Member or partner, director, officer, registered or approved person of a Dealer Member is required to comply with subsection (a)(ii) or (iii) if within the preceding six month period a Leverage Risk Disclosure Statement has been provided to the client.
 - (c) The Leverage Risk Disclosure Statement shall be in substantially the following words:

Using borrowed money to finance the purchase of securities involves greater risk than using cash resources only. If you borrow money to purchase securities, your responsibility to repay the loan and pay interest as required by its terms remains the same even if the value of the securities purchased declines.
- (2) Section 29.26(1) does not apply to the purchase of securities by a client on margin if the client's margin account is operated in accordance with the Rules of the Corporation.

29.27 Repealed.

- ~~(a) Each Dealer Member shall establish and maintain a system to supervise the activities of each partner, director, officer, registered representative, employee and agent of the Dealer Member that is reasonably designed to achieve compliance with the Rules of the Corporation and all other laws, regulations and policies applicable to the Dealer Member's securities and commodity futures business. Such a supervisory system shall provide, at a minimum, the following:~~
- ~~(i) The establishment, maintenance and enforcement of written policies and procedures acceptable to the Corporation regarding the conduct of the types of business in which it engages and the supervision of each partner, director, officer, registered representative, employee and agent of the Dealer Member that are reasonably designed to achieve compliance with the applicable laws, rules, regulations and policies;~~
 - ~~(ii) Procedures reasonably designed to ensure that each partner, director, officer, registered representative, employee and agent of the Dealer Member understands his or her responsibilities under the written policies and procedures in (i);~~
 - ~~(iii) Procedures to ensure that the written policies and procedures of the Dealer Member are amended as appropriate within a reasonable time after changes in applicable laws, regulations, rules and policies and that such changes are communicated to all relevant personnel;~~
 - ~~(iv) Sufficient personnel and other resources to fully and properly enforce the written policies and procedures in (i);~~
 - ~~(v) The designation of supervisory personnel with the qualifications and authority to carry out the supervisory responsibilities assigned to them. Each Dealer Member shall maintain an internal record of the names of all persons who are designated as having supervisory responsibility and the dates for which such designation is or was in effect. Such record shall be preserved by the Dealer Member for seven years, and on-site for the first year;~~
 - ~~(vi) Procedures for follow up and review to ensure that supervisory personnel are properly executing their supervisory functions. Where the supervision is conducted and supervisory records are~~

~~maintained at a branch office, the follow up and review procedures shall include periodic on-site reviews of branch office supervision and record keeping as necessary depending on the types of business and supervision conducted at the branch office.~~

- ~~(vii) The maintenance of adequate records of supervisory activity, including on-site reviews of branch offices as described in (vi), compliance issues identified and the resolution of those issues.~~
- ~~(b) Each partner, director, officer, registered representative or agent of a Dealer Member who has supervisory authority over any partner, director, officer, registered representative or agent of a Dealer Member shall fully and properly supervise such partner, director, officer, registered representative or agent in accordance with the written policies and procedures of the Dealer Member so as to ensure their compliance with the Rules of the Corporation and all other laws, regulations and policies applicable to the Dealer Member's securities and commodity futures business.~~
- ~~(c) A partner, director, officer, registered representative or agent of a Dealer Member may delegate specific supervisory functions or procedures, provided that:
 - ~~(i) the delegation of such functions is not contrary to applicable laws, regulations, rules or policies;~~
 - ~~(ii) the person to whom such functions are delegated is qualified by virtue of registration, training or experience to properly execute them;~~
 - ~~(iii) the supervisor conducts sufficient follow up and review to ensure that the person to whom the functions have been delegated is properly executing them.~~~~

RULE 38

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE CHIEF COMPLIANCE OFFICER AND SUPERVISION

ULTIMATE DESIGNATED PERSON

- 38.1 ~~Every Dealer Member shall designate~~ Every Dealer Member must establish and maintain a system to supervise the activities of each partner, director, officer, registered representative, employee and agent of the Dealer Member that is reasonably designed to achieve compliance with the Rules of the Corporation and all other laws, regulations and policies applicable to the Dealer Member's securities and commodity futures business. Such a supervisory system shall provide, at a minimum, the following:
- (i) The establishment, maintenance and enforcement of written policies and procedures acceptable to the Corporation regarding the conduct of the types of business in which it engages and the supervision of each partner, director, officer, registered representative, employee and agent of the Dealer Member that are reasonably designed to achieve compliance with the applicable laws, rules, regulations and policies;
 - (ii) Procedures reasonably designed to ensure that each partner, director, officer, registered representative, employee and agent of the Dealer Member understands his or her responsibilities under the written policies and procedures in (i);
 - (iii) Procedures to ensure that the written policies and procedures of the Dealer Member are amended as appropriate within a reasonable time after changes in applicable laws, regulations, rules and policies and that such changes are communicated to all relevant personnel;
 - (iv) Sufficient personnel and other resources to fully and properly enforce the written policies and procedures in (i);
 - (v) The designation of Supervisors with the qualifications and authority to carry out the supervisory responsibilities assigned to them. Each Dealer Member shall maintain an internal record of the names of all Supervisors, the scope of their responsibility and the dates for which such responsibility and authority is or was in effect. The records must be preserved by the Dealer Member for seven years, and on-site for the first year;
 - (vi) Procedures for follow-up and review to ensure that supervisory personnel are properly executing their supervisory functions. Where the supervision is conducted and supervisory records are maintained at a branch office, the follow-up and review procedures shall include periodic on-site reviews of branch office supervision and record-keeping as necessary depending on the types of business and supervision conducted at the branch office;
 - (vii) The maintenance of adequate records of supervisory activity, including on-site reviews of branch offices as described in (vi), compliance issues identified and the resolution of those issues.
- 38.2 (a) A Dealer Member must appoint as many Supervisors as are necessary to properly supervise the officers, partners, employees and agents of the Dealer Member, taking into account the scope and complexity of its businesses to ensure that the businesses of the Dealer Member are carried out in compliance with the Rules and Rulings of the Corporation and any other laws or regulations governing the Dealer Member's business conduct.
- (b) A Dealer Member must take reasonable steps to ensure that all of its Supervisors are proficient and understand the products that persons under their supervision trade in or advise on and the services that persons under their supervision provide to a sufficient degree to properly supervise those persons. At a minimum, the Dealer Member must ensure that all Supervisors meet the applicable proficiency requirements of Rule 2900.
- 38.3 No person may act and no Dealer Member may permit a person to act as a Supervisor without the approval of the Corporation.
- 38.4 (a) A Supervisor must fully and properly supervise each partner, director, officer, registered representative or agent in accordance with the supervisory responsibilities assigned to the Supervisor, the Rules of the Corporation and the written policies and procedures of the Dealer Member so as to ensure their compliance with the Rules of the Corporation and all other laws, regulations and policies applicable to the Dealer Member's securities and commodity futures business.

- (b) A Supervisor may delegate specific supervisory functions or procedures, provided that:
- (i) the delegation of such functions in not contrary to applicable laws, regulations, rules or policies;
 - (ii) the person to whom such functions are delegated is qualified by virtue of registration, training or experience to properly execute them;
 - (iii) the Supervisor conducts sufficient follow-up and review to ensure that the person to whom the functions have been delegated is properly executing them; and
 - (iv) the Dealer Member records the terms of the delegation and the follow up and review.

38.5 Ultimate Designated Person

- (a) A Dealer Member must, subject to the Approval of the Corporation, its Chief Executive Officer, its President, its Chief Operating Officer or its Chief Financial Officer (or such other officer designated with the equivalent supervisory and decision making responsibility) or another Executive with the equivalent responsibility to act as the Ultimate Designated Person (the "UDP"), who shall be responsible to the applicable self-regulatory organization Corporation for the conduct of the firm and the supervision of its employees.

~~38.2(b)~~ Where a Dealer Member is organized into two or more separate business units or divisions, a Dealer Member may designate a UDP an Ultimate Designated Person for each separate business unit or division.

~~38.3~~ Every Dealer Member shall appoint an Alternate Designated Person (an "ADP"), who shall be so approved, to act as Chief Compliance Officer (the "CCO").

~~38.4~~ Notwithstanding section 38.3, a Dealer Member may appoint the UDP to act as the CCO.

~~38.5~~ Where a Dealer Member is organized into two or more separate business units or divisions, a Dealer Member may designate a CCO for each separate business unit or division.

~~38.6~~ The Chief Compliance Officer shall have the qualification required pursuant to Rule 2900, Part IA, Section 2B

- (c) The Ultimate Designated Person must ensure that policies and procedures are developed and implemented which adequately reflect the regulatory requirements of the Dealer Member.

38.6 Chief Financial Officer

- (a) Each Dealer Member must, subject to the Approval of the Corporation, appoint one Executive as Chief Financial Officer who, in addition to the requirements under Rule 7.4(a), must have met the proficiency requirements of Rule 2900, Part I, section A.2A. The Chief Financial Officer need not be engaged full time in the business of the Dealer Member.

~~38.7~~ Notwithstanding Rule 38.6, a (b) Notwithstanding subsection (a), if the Chief Financial Officer of a Dealer Member terminates his/her employment with the Dealer Member and the Dealer Member is unable to immediately appoint another qualified person as Chief Financial Officer, the Dealer Member may, with the Corporation's approval, appoint an Executive as Acting Chief Financial Officer, provided that within 90 days of the termination:

- (1) the Acting Chief Financial Officer meets the requirement of subsection (a) and is approved by the Corporation as Chief Financial Officer; or
- (2) another qualified person is appointed Chief Financial Officer by the Dealer Member and approved by the Corporation.

- (c) The Chief Financial Officer must monitor adherence to the Dealer Member's policies and procedures as necessary to provide reasonable assurance that the Dealer Member complies with the financial rules of the Corporation.

38.7 Chief Compliance Officer

- (a) Every Dealer Member must, subject to the Approval of the Corporation, appoint an Executive to act as Chief Compliance Officer.

- (b) A Dealer Member may appoint the Ultimate Designated Person to act as the Chief Compliance Officer.
- (c) Where a Dealer Member is organized into two or more separate business units or divisions, a Dealer Member may, with the Approval of the Corporation, designate a Chief Compliance Officer for each separate business unit or division.
- (d) The Chief Compliance Officer must have the qualification required under Rule 2900, Part I, section A. 2B.
- (e) Notwithstanding subsection (a), a Dealer Member may, with the Corporation's approval, appoint an officer as Acting Chief Compliance Officer, if the Chief Compliance Officer suddenly terminates his or her employment with the Dealer Member and the Dealer Member is unable to immediately appoint another qualified person as chief compliance officerChief Compliance Officer provided that, within 90 days of the termination of the previous Chief Compliance Officer:
- (i) the acting chief compliance officer successfully completes theActing Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying ExaminationOfficer meets the requirement of subsection (d) and is approved by the Corporation as Chief Compliance Officer; or
 - (ii) another qualified person is appointed Chief Compliance Officer by the Dealer Member and is approved by the Corporation.

~~38.8(f)~~ The Corporation may grant to a Dealer Member an exemption from Rule 38.6subsection (d) where it is satisfied that the nature of the Dealer Member's business is such that the qualification is not relevant to the Dealer Member and that to do so would not be prejudicial to the interests of the Dealer Member, its clients, the public or the Corporation. In granting such an exemption, it may impose such terms and conditions as it considers necessary.

~~38.9~~ Every Dealer Member shall also appoint as many additional ADPs as are necessary, given the scope and complexity of its businesses, who shall be partners, directors or officers of the Dealer Member.

~~38.10~~ The ADPs referred to in Rule 38.6 shall report to the UDP as necessary to ensure that the businesses of the Dealer Member are carried out in compliance with applicable self-regulatory by-laws, regulations, policies and forms.

(g) The Chief Compliance Officer must monitor adherence to the Dealer Member's policies and procedures as necessary to provide reasonable assurance that in conducting its securities-related activities the Dealer Member meets the non-financial requirements to which the Dealer Member is subject.

~~38.11(h)~~ The CCO shallChief Compliance Officer must report to the board of directorsBoard of Directors (or equivalent) of the Dealer Member as necessary but at least annually on the status of compliance at the Dealer Member.38.12 The Chief Compliance Officer must have access to the Ultimate Designated Person and the board of directors (or equivalent) shallat other times to raise significant issues requiring their attention.

~~38.8~~ The Board of Directors (or equivalent) of the Dealer Member must review the report of the CCOChief Compliance Officer and determine what actions are necessary and ensure such actions are carried out in order to address to rectify any compliance deficiencies noted in the report. and ensure such actions are carried out. The Board of Directors (or equivalent) must maintain records of the actions it determines to be necessary and the monitoring to ensure that those actions are carried out.

~~38.13~~ The UDP shall ensure that policies and procedures are developed and implemented which adequately reflect the regulatory requirements of the Dealer Member.

~~38.14~~ The CCO shall monitor adherence to the Dealer Member's policies and procedures as necessary to ensure that the management of the compliance function is effective and to provide reasonable assurance that standards of the applicable self-regulatory organization are met.

~~38.15~~ ~~Every38.9~~ A Dealer Member shallmust file with the applicable self-regulatory organizationCorporation:

- (a) A copy of a governance document setting out the organizational structure and reporting relationships, which support the compliance arrangement set out above; and
- (b) Notice of any material changes to the organizational structure and reporting relationships as set out in paragraphsubsection (a).

RULE 40

**INDIVIDUAL APPROVALS, NOTIFICATIONS AND FEES AND
THE NATIONAL REGISTRATION DATABASE**

40.1 Definitions

For the purposes of this Rule 40,

- (1) "authorized firm representative" or "AFR" means, for a Dealer Member, an individual with his or her own NRD user ID and who is authorized by the Dealer Member to submit information in NRD format for that Dealer Member and individual applicants with respect to whom the Dealer Member is the sponsoring Dealer Member.
- (2) "chief AFR" means, for a Dealer Member filer, an individual who is an AFR and has accepted an appointment as a chief AFR by the Dealer Member.
- (3) Form 33-109F1 means the form for the submission through NRD of a Notice of Termination of an individual mandated by NRD Multilateral Instrument 33-109.
- (4) Form 33-109F2 means the form for the submission through NRD of an application for change or surrender of categories of registration mandated by NRD Multilateral Instrument 33-109.
- (5) Form 33-109F3 means the form for the submission through NRD of information regarding business locations of registered dealers mandated by NRD Multilateral Instrument 33-109.
- (6) Form 33-109F4 means the form for submission through NRD of applications for individual registration and information on non-registered individuals mandated by NRD Multilateral Instrument 33-109.
- (7) Form 33-109F5 means the paper form of a notification of a change in information regarding an individual registrant or Dealer Member mandated by NRD Multilateral Instrument 33-109.
- (8) "National Registration Database" or "NRD" means the online electronic database of registration and approval information regarding Dealer Members, their registered or approved partners, officers, directors, employees or agents and other firms and individuals registered under securities legislation in Canada, and includes the computer system providing for the transmission, receipt, review and dissemination of that registration information by electronic means.
- (9) "NRD account" means an account with a member of the Canadian Payments Association from which fees may be paid with respect to NRD by electronic pre-authorized debit.
- (10) "NRD access date" means the date a Dealer Member receives notice that it has access to NRD to make NRD submissions.
- (11) "NRD Administrator" means CDS INC. or a successor appointed by the Canadian securities regulatory authorities and the Corporation to operate NRD.
- (12) "NRD format" means the electronic format for submitting information through the NRD website.
- (13) "NRD Multilateral Instrument 31-102" means Multilateral Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database adopted by the Canadian securities regulatory authorities.
- (14) "NRD Multilateral Instrument 33-109" means Multilateral Instrument 33-109 Registration Information adopted by the Canadian securities regulatory authorities.
- (15) "NRD submission" means information that is submitted under this Rule 40 in NRD format, or the act of submitting information under this Rule 40 in NRD format, as the context requires.
- (16) "NRD website" means the website operated by the NRD Administrator for the NRD submissions.
- ~~(17) "transition Dealer Member" means a Dealer Member that~~
 - ~~(a) was a Dealer Member on February 3, 2003, or~~

~~(b) — was not a Dealer Member on February 3, 2003 and applied for Membership before March 31, 2003.~~

~~(18) — “Quebec transition Dealer Member” means a Dealer Member registered in the Province of Quebec as of January 1, 2005.~~

40.2 Obligations of Dealer Members regarding the National Registration Database

- (1) Each Dealer Member shall
 - (a) enrol in NRD and pay to the NRD Administrator an enrolment fee calculated as prescribed by the Board of Directors;
 - (b) have one and no more than one chief AFR enrolled with the NRD Administrator;
 - (c) maintain one and no more than one NRD account;
 - (d) notify the NRD Administrator of the appointment of a chief AFR within 5 business days of the appointment;
 - (e) notify the NRD Administrator of any change in the name of the firm's chief AFR within 5 business days of the change; and
 - (f) submit any change in the name of an AFR, other than the firm's chief AFR, in NRD format within 5 business days of the change.

40.3 Approvals and Notifications

- (1) Each Dealer Member making an application for approval of an individual in any capacity required under any Rule of the Corporation shall make such application to the Corporation through the NRD on Form 33-109F4.
- (2) Each Dealer Member shall notify the Corporation of the appointment of an Ultimate Designated Person pursuant to Rule ~~38.4~~, 38.5(a), a Chief Compliance Officer pursuant to Rule ~~38.338.7(a)~~ or a Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule ~~7.538.6(a)~~ through the NRD on Form 33-109F4.
- (3) Each Dealer Member making an application under subsection (1) shall be liable for and pay such fees as are prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors, including but not limited to application fees payable to the NRD Administrator for use of the NRD for the making of such an application.
- (4) Any fees payable to the Corporation or to the NRD Administrator pursuant to subsection (3) above shall be submitted by electronic pre-authorized debit through NRD.

40.4 Application for Change of Approval Category or Type of Business

- (1) Each Dealer Member making an application for approval of any Approved Person in a different or additional capacity requiring approval under any Rule of the Corporation or to surrender an existing approval shall make such application to the Corporation through the NRD on Form 33-109F2.
- (2) Each Dealer Member making an application under subsection (1) shall be liable for and pay such change of status fees as are prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors, including but not limited to application fees payable to the NRD Administrator for use of the NRD for the making of such an application.
- (3) Any fees payable to the Corporation or the NRD Administrator pursuant to subsection (2) above shall be submitted by electronic pre-authorized debit through NRD.
- (4) Each Dealer Member must notify the Corporation through NRD on Form 33-109F2 when an Approved Person changes the type of business in which he or she engages as described in Rule 18.2(b).
- (5) Prior to providing notice of a change in the type of business in which an Approved Person will engage, a Dealer Member must ensure that it has notified the Corporation through NRD of the completion of the proficiency requirements under Rule 2900 necessary to undertake the type of business or that the Approved Person has been granted an exemption from the proficiency requirements under Rule 2900 and Rule 20.

40.5 Report of Changes pursuant to Rule 3100

- (1) Each Dealer Member making a report of a change regarding an Approved Person required pursuant to section I.B.1(a) of Rule 3100 of the Corporation shall make the report through the NRD on Form 33-109F4 in the time required pursuant to NRD Multilateral Instrument 33-109.

40.6 Exemption request

- (1) Each Dealer Member making an application for an exemption of an Approved Person or applicant for approval from a proficiency requirement pursuant to the Corporation's Rule 2900 that is submitted with an application for approval made through the NRD shall make such application to the Corporation through the NRD.
- (2) Each Dealer Member making an application under subsection (1) above shall be liable for and pay to the Corporation an exemption request fee as prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors.
- (3) Any fees payable to the Corporation and to the NRD Administrator pursuant to subsection (2) above shall be submitted by electronic pre-authorized debit through NRD.

40.7 Termination of Approved Persons

- (1) Each Dealer Member shall notify the Corporation of the termination of the Dealer Member's employment of or principal/agent relationship with any individual approved in any capacity under any Rule of the Corporation through the NRD on Form 33-109F1 within the time period prescribed in NRD Multilateral Instrument 33-109 for a registered firm, as defined in NRD Multilateral Instrument 33-109, to notify the regulator of the same type of event.
- (2) Each Dealer Member shall be liable for and pay to the Corporation fees in the amounts prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors for the failure of the Dealer Member to file a notification required under subsection (1) above within the time period referred to in subsection (1).
- (3) Any fees payable to the Corporation pursuant to subsection (2) above shall be submitted by electronic pre-authorized debit through NRD.

40.8 Notification of Opening or Closing of ~~Branch or Sub-branch Office~~ Business Location

- (1) Each Dealer Member required to notify the Corporation of the opening or closing of a ~~branch~~ Business Location pursuant to Rule 4.6 ~~or sub-branch office pursuant to Rule 4.7 shall~~ must do so through the NRD on Form 33-109F3 within the time period prescribed in NRD Multilateral Instrument 33-109 for a registered firm, as defined in NRD Multilateral Instrument 33-109, to notify the regulator of the opening or closing, as applicable, of a business location.
- (2) Each Dealer Member ~~shall~~ must notify the Corporation through the NRD of any change in the address, ~~type of location~~ or supervision of any ~~branch or sub-branch office~~ Business Location within the time period prescribed in NRD Multilateral Instrument 33-109 for a registered firm, as defined in Multilateral Instrument 33-109, to notify the regulator of a change in a business location.

40.9 Annual NRD User Fee

- (1) Each Dealer Member shall be liable for and pay to the NRD Administrator an annual user fee as prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors for each person approved in any capacity under any Rule of the Corporation and recorded as such on the NRD as of the date of calculation of such annual fee as prescribed by the Board of Directors.
- (2) Any fees payable to the NRD Administrator pursuant to subsection (1) above shall be submitted by electronic pre-authorized debit through NRD.

40.10 ~~Transition~~ Repealed.

- ~~(1) Accuracy of Branch or Sub-branch Information — If the information recorded on NRD for a branch or sub-branch office of a transition Dealer Member is missing or inaccurate on the NRD access date, the transition Dealer Member must submit a completed Form 33-109F3 in NRD format in respect of that branch or sub-branch by February 28, 2005.~~

(2) ~~Identification of Branch or Sub-branch of Approved Persons—Each Dealer Member must make submissions through the NRD identifying the branch or sub-branch location of all Approved Persons of the Dealer Member by February 28, 2005.~~

(3) ~~Approved Persons Included in the Data Transfer~~

(a) ~~Except as provided in subsection (b), in respect of Approved Persons who were recorded on NRD as Approved Persons of a transition Dealer Member on the NRD access date, the transition Dealer Member must submit completed Forms 33-109F4 in NRD format for~~

(i) ~~5 percent of those Approved Persons by the end of April 2004,~~

(ii) ~~10 percent of those Approved Persons by the end of May 2004,~~

(iii) ~~15 percent of those Approved Persons by the end of June 2004,~~

(iv) ~~20 percent of those Approved Persons by the end of July 2004,~~

(v) ~~25 percent of those Approved Persons by the end of August 2004,~~

(vi) ~~30 percent of those Approved Persons by the end of September 2004,~~

(vii) ~~35 percent of those Approved Persons by the end of October 2004,~~

(viii) ~~40 percent of those Approved Persons by the end of November 2004,~~

(ix) ~~45 percent of those Approved Persons by the end of December 2004,~~

(x) ~~50 percent of those Approved Persons by the end of March 2005,~~

(xi) ~~55 percent of those Approved Persons by the end of April 2005,~~

(xii) ~~60 percent of those Approved Persons by the end of May 2005,~~

(xiii) ~~65 percent of those Approved Persons by the end of June 2005,~~

(xiv) ~~70 percent of those Approved Persons by the end of July 2005,~~

(xv) ~~75 percent of those Approved Persons by the end of August 2005,~~

(xvi) ~~80 percent of those Approved Persons by the end of September 2005,~~

(xvii) ~~85 percent of those Approved Persons by the end of October 2005,~~

(xviii) ~~90 percent of those Approved Persons by the end of November 2005,~~

(xix) ~~95 percent of those Approved Persons by the end of December 2005, and~~

(xx) ~~all of those Approved Persons by the end of March 2006.~~

(b) ~~Despite subsection (a), a transition Dealer Member is not required to submit a completed Form 33-109F4 in respect of an Approved Person if another Dealer Member or a non-Dealer Member firm registered under securities legislation has submitted a completed Form 33-109F4 in respect of the Approved Person.~~

(4) ~~Reporting Changes to Information regarding Approved Persons~~

~~A transition Dealer Member making a report of a change regarding an Approved Person required pursuant to section I.B.1(a) of Rule 3100 after the NRD access date for an Approved Person for whom a completed Form 33-109F4 in NRD format has not been submitted pursuant to subsection 40.10(3)(a) shall:~~

(a) ~~submit within 5 business days of the change a completed Form 33-109F5 in paper form showing the change, and~~

~~(b) — if the notification concerns any change with regard to:~~

~~Item 1 of Form 33-109F4 — Name~~

~~Item 2 of Form 33-109F4 — Residential Address where the change is a move-out of province~~

~~Item 14 of Form 33-109F4 — Criminal Disclosure~~

~~Item 15 of Form 33-109F4 — Civil Disclosure, or~~

~~Item 16 of Form 33-109F4 — Financial Disclosure~~

~~submit within 15 days of the submission of the completed Form 33-109F5 a completed Form 33-109F4 in NRD format regarding the Approved Person.~~

~~(5) — Currency of Form 33-109F4 — For greater certainty, a completed Form 33-109F4 that is submitted under this section must be current on the date that it is submitted despite any prior submission in paper format.~~

~~(6) — Termination of Relationship — Despite a requirement under this section to submit a completed Form 33-109F4, a transition Dealer Member is not required to submit a Form 33-109F4 in respect of an Approved Person if the Dealer Member has submitted a completed Uniform Termination Notice or Form 33-109F1 in respect of the Approved Person in paper form before the Dealer Member's NRD access date or through the filing of a Form 33-109F1 through the NRD after the Dealer Member's NRD access date.~~

40.11 Temporary Hardship Exemption

(1) If unanticipated technical difficulties prevent a Dealer Member from making a submission in NRD format within the time required under this Rule 40, the Dealer Member is exempt from the requirement to make the submission within the required time period, if the Dealer Member makes the submission in paper format or NRD format no later than 5 business days after the day on which the information was required to be submitted.

(2) Form 33-109F5 is the paper format for submitting a notice of a change to Form 33-109F4 information.

(3) If unanticipated technical difficulties prevent a Dealer Member from submitting an application in NRD format, the Dealer Member may submit the application in paper format.

(4) If a Dealer Member makes a paper format submission under this section, the Dealer Member must include the following legend in capital letters at the top of the first page of the submission:

IN ACCORDANCE WITH CORPORATION RULE 40.11 AND SECTION 5.1 OF MULTILATERAL INSTRUMENT 31-102 NATIONAL REGISTRATION DATABASE (NRD), THIS [SPECIFY DOCUMENT] IS BEING SUBMITTED IN PAPER FORMAT UNDER A TEMPORARY HARDSHIP EXEMPTION.

(5) If a Dealer Member makes a paper format submission under this section, the Dealer Member must resubmit the information in NRD format as soon as practicable and in any event within 10 business days after the unanticipated technical difficulties have been resolved.

40.12 Due Diligence and Record Keeping

(1) Each Dealer Member must make reasonable efforts to ensure that information submitted in any submission through the NRD is true and complete.

(2) Each Dealer Member must retain all documents used by the Dealer Member to satisfy its obligation under subsection (1) for a period of 7 years after the individual ceases to be an Approved Person of the Dealer Member.

(3) A Dealer Member that retains a document under subsection (2) in respect of an NRD submission must record the NRD submission number on the document.

40.13 — Transition of Quebec Transition Members

- (1) — ~~Each Quebec transition Dealer Member having Approved Persons registered solely in the Province of Quebec as of January 1, 2005 shall submit to the Corporation a completed Form 33-109F4 for each such Approved Person by November 30, 2005.~~
- (2) — ~~Despite subsection (1), a Quebec transition Dealer Member is not required to submit a Form 33-109F4 for an Approved Person registered solely in the Province of Quebec if the Dealer Member terminates its employment of or principal/agent relationship with the person prior to having submitted a Form 33-109F4 pursuant to subsection (1) and files with the Corporation a completed Uniform Termination Notice or Form 33-109F1 in paper form.~~
- (3) — ~~A Quebec transition Dealer Member making a report of a change regarding an Approved Person required pursuant to section I.B.1(a) of Rule 3100 after January 1, 2005 for an Approved Person registered solely in the Province of Quebec for whom a completed Form 33-109F4 in NRD format has not been submitted pursuant to subsection (1) shall:~~
 - (a) — ~~submit within 5 business days of the change a completed Form 33-109F5 in paper form showing the change, and~~
 - (b) — ~~submit within 15 business days of the filing in subsection (a) above through the NRD a completed Form 33-109F4 regarding the Approved Person showing the correct information as of the date of filing.~~
- (4) — ~~A Quebec transition Dealer Member applying to make a change of registration or Approval category or add or surrender an Approval category of an Approved Person approved solely in the Province of Quebec as of January 1, 2005 for whom a completed Form 33-109F4 has not been submitted shall:~~
 - (a) — ~~submit a Form 33-109F4 through the NRD showing the Approved Persons current registration and Approval categories, and~~
 - (b) — ~~submit a Form 33-109F2 through the NRD showing the change, addition or surrender of registration or Approval category for which application is being made.~~
- (5) — ~~A Dealer Member applying for transfer of the Approval of a person formerly registered solely in the Province of Quebec for whom a completed Form 33-109F4 has not been submitted through NRD shall:~~
 - (a) — ~~submit an application for transfer in paper form; and~~
 - (b) — ~~within 15 days of the date of the application in (a) above, submit through the NRD a completed Form 33-109F4 regarding the person.~~
- (6) — ~~Each Quebec transition Dealer Member having Approved Persons registered in the Province of Quebec and in other provinces as of January 1, 2005 shall submit to the Corporation a completed Form 33-109F4 for each such Approved Person adding the categories of their registration in the Province of Quebec by November 30, 2005.~~
- (7) — ~~A Quebec transition Dealer Member that terminates its employment of or principal/agent with an Approved Person registered in the Province of Quebec and one or more other provinces prior to the filing of a completed Form 33-109F4 pursuant to subsection (6) above shall file a Form 33-109F1 through the NRD with respect to the Approved Person's registration in the other provinces and a Uniform Termination Notice or Form 33-109F1 in paper form with respect to the Approved Persons registration in the Province of Quebec.~~
- (8) — ~~A Quebec transition Dealer Member required to make a report of a change regarding an Approved Person required pursuant to section I.B.1(a) of Rule 3100 after January 1, 2005 for an Approved Person registered in the Province of Quebec and other provinces for whom a completed Form 33-109F4 in NRD format has not been submitted pursuant to subsection (6) above shall submit through the NRD the Form 33-109F4 pursuant to subsection (6) and then a completed Form 33-109F5 regarding the change within 5 business days of the change.~~
- (9) — ~~A Quebec transition Dealer Member applying to make a change of registration or Approval category or add or surrender an Approval category of an Approved Person registered in the Province of Quebec and other provinces as of January 1, 2005 for whom a completed Form 33-109F4 pursuant to subsection (6) above has~~

~~not been submitted shall submit through the NRD the Form 33-109F4 pursuant to subsection (6) showing only the addition of the current registration categories in Quebec and then a Form 33-109F2 with respect to the change, addition or surrender or registration or Approval category.~~

~~(10) — A Quebec transition member applying for the transfer of an Approved Person registered and Approved at his or her previous Dealer Member firm in Quebec and another province for whom a completed Form 33-109F4 pursuant to subsection (6) above has not been submitted shall:~~

~~(a) — Submit an application for transfer in any other provinces through the NRD system;~~

~~(b) — Submit an application for transfer in Quebec in paper form;~~

~~(c) — Within 15 days of the approval of the transfer in (b) above, submit a Form 33-109F4 pursuant to subsection (6) above adding the registration and Approval categories in Quebec.~~

~~(11) — Subsections 40.10(1) and (2) do not apply to the branch and sub-branch offices located in the Province of Quebec of a Quebec transition Dealer Member.~~

40.13 Repealed.

REGULATION RULE 1300

SUPERVISION OF ACCOUNTS

1300.1.

Identity and Creditworthiness

- (a) Each Dealer Member shall use due diligence to learn and remain informed of the essential facts relative to every customer and to every order or account accepted.
- (b) When opening an initial account for a corporation or similar entity, the Dealer Member shall:
 - (i) ascertain the identity of any natural person who is the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of more than 10% of the corporation or similar entity, including the name, address, citizenship, occupation and employer of each such beneficial owner, and whether any such beneficial owner is an insider or controlling shareholder of a publicly traded corporation or similar entity; and
 - (ii) as soon as is practicable after opening the account, and in any case no later than six months after the opening of the account, verify the identity of each individual beneficial owner identified in (i) using such methods as enable the Dealer Member to form a reasonable belief that it knows the true identity of each individual and that are in compliance with any applicable legislation and regulations of the Government of Canada or any province.
- (c) Subsection (b) does not apply to:
 - (i) a corporation or similar entity that is or is an affiliate of a bank, trust or loan company, credit union, caisse populaire, insurance company, mutual fund, mutual fund management company, pension fund, securities dealer or broker, investment manager or similar financial institution subject to a satisfactory regulatory regime in the country in which it is located
 - (ii) a corporation or similar entity whose securities are publicly traded or an affiliate thereof.
- (d) The Corporation may, at its discretion, direct Dealer Members that the exemption in subsection (c) does not apply to some or all types of financial institutions located in a particular country.
- (e) When opening an initial account for a trust, a Dealer Member shall:
 - (i) ascertain the identity of the settlor of the trust and, as far as is reasonable, of any known beneficiaries of more than 10% of the trust, including the name, address, citizenship, occupation and employer of each such settlor and beneficiary and whether any is an insider or controlling shareholder of a publicly traded corporation or similar entity.
 - (ii) as soon as is practicable after opening the account, and in any case no later than six months after the opening of the account, verify the identity of each individual identified in (i) using such methods as enable the Dealer Member to form a reasonable belief that it knows the true identity of each individual and that are in compliance with any applicable legislation and regulations of the Government of Canada or any province.
- (f) Subsection (e) does not apply to a testamentary trust or a trust whose units are publicly traded.
- (g) If a Dealer Member, on inquiry, is unable to obtain the information required under subsections (b)(i) and (e)(i), the Dealer Member shall not open the account.
- (h) If a Dealer Member is unable to verify the identities of individuals as required under subsections (b)(ii) and (e)(ii) within six months of opening the account, the Dealer Member shall restrict the account to liquidating trades and transfers, payments or deliveries out of funds or securities only until such time as the verification is completed.
- (i) No Dealer Member shall open or maintain an account for a shell bank.
- (j) For the purposes of section (i) a shell bank is a bank that does not have a physical presence in any country.
- (k) Subsection (i) does not apply to a bank which is an affiliate of a bank, loan or trust company, credit union, other depository institution that maintains a physical presence in Canada or a foreign country in which the affiliated bank,

loan or trust company, credit union, other depository institution is subject to supervision by a banking or similar regulatory authority.

- (l) Any Dealer Member having an account for a corporation, similar entity or trust other than those exempt under subsections (c) and (f) and which does not have the information regarding the account required in subsections (b)(i) and (e)(i) at the date of implementation of those subsections shall obtain the information within one year from date of implementation of subsections (b) and (e).
- (m) If the Dealer Member does not or cannot obtain the information required under subsection (l) the Dealer Member shall restrict the account to liquidating trades and transfers, payments or deliveries out of funds or securities until such time as the required information has been obtained.
- (n) Dealer Members must maintain records of all information obtained and verification procedures conducted under this Rule 1300.1 in a form accessible to the Corporation for a period of five years after the closing of the account to which they relate.

Business Conduct

- (o) Each Dealer Member shall use due diligence to ensure that the acceptance of any order for any account is within the bounds of good business practice.

Suitability Generally

- (p) Subject to Rule 1300.1(r) and 1300.1(s), each Dealer Member shall use due diligence to ensure that the acceptance of any order from a customer is suitable for such customer based on factors including the customer's financial situation, investment knowledge, investment objectives and risk tolerance.

Suitability Determination Required When Recommendation Provided

- (q) Each Dealer Member, when recommending to a customer the purchase, sale, exchange or holding of any security, shall use due diligence to ensure that the recommendation is suitable for such customer based on factors including the customer's financial situation, investment knowledge, investment objectives and risk tolerance.

Suitability Determination Not Required

- (r) Each Dealer Member that has applied for and received approval from the Corporation pursuant to Rule 1300.1(t), is not required to comply with Rule 1300.1(p), when accepting orders from a customer where no recommendation is provided, to make a determination that the order is suitable for such customer.
- (s) Each Dealer Member that executes a trade on the instructions of another Dealer Member, portfolio manager, investment counsel, limited market dealer, bank, trust company or insurer, pursuant to Section I.B (3) of Rule 2700 is not required to comply with Rule 1300.1(p).

Corporation Approval

- (t) The Corporation, in its discretion, shall only grant such approval where the Corporation is satisfied that the Dealer Member will comply with the policies and procedures outlined in Rule 3200. The application for approval shall be accompanied by a copy of the policies and procedures of the Dealer Member. Following such approval, any material changes in the policies and procedures of the Dealer Member shall promptly be submitted to the Corporation.

1300.2.

- (a) ~~Each Dealer Member shall designate a director, partner or officer or, in the case of a branch office, a branch manager reporting directly to the designated director, partner or officer who shall~~ A Dealer Member must designate a Supervisor to be responsible for the opening of new accounts and the supervision of account activity. Each such designated person shall be approved by the applicable District Council and, where necessary to ensure continuous supervision, the Dealer Member may appoint one or more alternates to such designated person who shall be so approved. The director, partner or officer as the case may be, shall be responsible for establishing and maintaining procedures acceptable to the Corporation for account supervision and such persons or, in the case of a branch office, the branch manager shall ensure that the handling of client business is within the bounds of ethical conduct, consistent with just and equitable principles of trade and not detrimental to the interests of the securities industry. As part of this supervision each new account ~~shall~~ must be opened pursuant to a new account form which ~~includes, at a minimum, the information required by Form No. 2,~~ and the designated person (other than a branch manager in the case of

~~discretionary accounts) shall prior to or promptly after the completion of any transaction specifically approve the opening of such account. In the absence or incapacity of the designated director, partner or officer or when the trading activity of the Dealer Member requires additional qualified persons in connection with the supervision of the Dealer Member's business, an alternate, if any, shall assume the authority and responsibility of such designated persons. meets the guidelines provided for in Rule 2500 for retail accounts, in Rule 2700 for institutional accounts and in Rule 3200 for accounts exempt from suitability reviews.~~

~~(b) Where a Dealer Member conducts more than one of retail business, institutional business and suitability-exempt business under Rules 1300.1(t) and 3200.B, the Dealer Member may designate separate Supervisors for each type of business.~~

~~(c) The Designated Supervisor or another Supervisor assigned the responsibility for doing so in the policies and procedures of the Dealer Member must approve and record the approval of the opening of an account prior to or promptly after the completion of any transaction.~~

~~(b) Notwithstanding Rule 1300.2(a), a Dealer Member or separate business unit of the Dealer Member is exempt from the requirement that a new account form include, at a minimum, the information required by Form No. 2 where the Dealer Member or separate business unit of the Dealer Member does not provide recommendations to any of its customers and has received approval pursuant to Rule 1300.1(e). In such circumstances, the Dealer Member or separate business unit of the Dealer Member shall not be required to include in the new account form the information currently set out in Form No. 2 of the Corporation that relates to suitability."~~

Discretionary and Managed Accounts

1300.3. In this Rule 1300 unless the context otherwise requires, the expression:

~~"associate portfolio manager" means any partner, director, officer or employee of a Dealer Member designated by the Dealer Member and approved pursuant to this Rule to manage managed accounts under the supervision of an approved portfolio manager or futures contracts portfolio manager;~~

~~"discretionary account" means an account of a customer other than a managed account in respect of which a Dealer Member or any person acting on behalf of the Dealer Member exercises any discretionary authority in trading by or for such account, provided that an account shall not be considered to be a discretionary account for the sole reason that discretion is exercised as to the price at which or time when an order given by a customer for the purchase or sale of a definite amount of a specified security, option, futures contract or futures contract option shall be executed;~~

~~"futures contracts managed account" means a managed account which includes only investments in commodity futures contracts or commodity futures contract options;~~

~~"futures contracts portfolio manager" means any partner, director, officer or employee of a Dealer Member designated by the Dealer Member and approved pursuant to this Rule to make investment decisions for futures contracts managed accounts only;~~

~~"investment" includes a commodity futures contract and a commodity futures contract option;~~

~~"managed account" means any account solicited by a Dealer Member or any partner, director, officer or registered representative of a Dealer Member, in which the investment decisions are made on a continuing basis by the Dealer Member or by a third party hired by the Dealer Member;"~~

~~"portfolio manager" means any partner, director, officer or employee of a Dealer Member designated by the Dealer Member and approved pursuant to this Rule to make investment decisions for managed accounts a registered representative exercising discretionary authority over a managed account;~~

~~"responsible person" means every individual who is a partner, director, officer, employee or agent of any a Dealer Member who:~~

~~(a) exercises discretionary authority over the account of a client or approves discretionary orders for an account when exercising such discretion or giving such approval pursuant to Rule 1300.4, or~~

~~(b) participates in the formulation of, or has prior access ~~prior to implementation of, information regarding~~ investment decisions made on behalf of or advice given to a managed account~~

~~but ~~shall~~does not include a sub-adviser under Rule 1300.7(a)(ii);~~

1300.4. ~~No person, other than a partner, director, officer or registered representative (other than a registered representative (mutual funds) or (non retail)) who has been approved as such pursuant to the applicable Rules of the Corporation, shall effect trades for a customer in a discretionary account and any such permitted trades shall only be effected if: A registered representative may not exercise discretionary authority over a customer account unless:~~

- ~~(a) the Dealer Member has designated a Supervisor or Supervisors to be responsible for discretionary accounts;~~
- ~~(ab) the customer has given prior written authorization has been given by the customer to the Dealer Member and accepted by the Dealer Member in compliance with~~ in compliance with Rule 1300.5; and
- ~~(b) the account has been specifically~~ (c) a Supervisor designated under subsection (a) has approved and accepted in writing the account as a discretionary account by the designated director, partner, officer, branch manager, futures contract principal or futures contract options principal, as the case may be, who authorized the opening of the account and recorded that approval,

~~and provided that any such person permitted~~ (d) the registered representative authorized to effect discretionary trades shall have for the account has actively dealt in, advised in respect of or performed analysis for a period of two year with respect to the securities or commodity futures contracts or options all types of products which are to be traded on a discretionary basis for a period of two years; and

- ~~(e) the account is maintained at the Dealer Member of the Registered Representative.~~

1300.5. The prior written authorization provided for by clause (a) of Rule 1300.4 ~~shall~~ must:

- (a) define the extent of the discretionary authority which has been given to the Dealer Member;
- (b) except for a managed account, have a term of no more than twelve months, unless the Dealer Member has satisfied the Corporation that a longer term is appropriate and the customer is aware of such longer term;
- (c) except for a managed account, only be renewable in writing;
- (d) only be terminated by the customer by notice in writing, ~~which notice shall be effective on receipt of the notice by the Dealer Member except with respect to transactions entered into prior to such~~ the receipt; and
- (e) only be terminated by the Dealer Member by notice in writing, ~~which notice shall be effective not less than 30 days from the date of mailing the notice delivery to the customer by pre-paid ordinary mail at the customer's last address appearing in the records of the Dealer Member.~~

1300.6. In addition to any other account supervision requirements under the Rules, the designated ~~partner, director, officer, branch manager, futures contract principal or futures contract options principal, as the case may be, with respect to each discretionary account (other than a managed account) shall~~ Supervisor must review at least monthly the financial performance of each ~~account discretionary account other than a managed account, including a review to determine whether any person permitted to effect discretionary trades for such~~ the account in accordance with Rule 1300.4 should continue to do so. The duties of the designated partner, director, officer, branch manager, futures contract principal or futures contract options principal hereunder may not be delegated Designated Supervisor may not be delegate the conduct of the review to any other person.

1300.7. ~~No~~ A Dealer Member ~~or any person acting on its behalf, shall~~ may not exercise any discretionary authority with respect to a managed account unless:

- (a) the individual who is responsible for the management of ~~such~~ the account is:
 - (i) ~~a partner, director, officer, employee or agent of the Dealer Member who has been approved by the Corporation as a portfolio manager or associate portfolio manager; or~~
 - (ii) a sub-adviser with which the Dealer Member has entered into a written sub-adviser agreement, provided that
 - A. the sub-adviser is an individual or firm registered in the jurisdiction in which it resides, in a category of registration that permits the person or company to provide discretionary portfolio management services or as a broker or investment dealer active as a portfolio manager; and

B. the Dealer Member has determined that the sub-adviser is subject to legislation or regulations containing conflict of interest provisions at least equivalent to Rules 1300.18 and 1300.19 or has entered into an agreement with the sub-adviser that the sub-adviser will comply with Rules 1300.18 and 1300.19.

- (b) ~~the customer has given prior authorization has been given by the customer to the Dealer Member in accordance with Rule 1300.8 and recorded in a manner acceptable to the Corporation;~~
- (c) ~~the account has been~~Supervisor designed under Rule 1300.15(b) or in the Dealer Member's policies and procedures has specifically approved and accepted the account as a managed account by a partner, director, officer or, in the case of a branch office, a branch manager, in a manner acceptable to the Corporation and the approval has been recorded;
- (d) the Dealer Member has provided to the accountholder a copy of its policy ensuring fair allocation of investment opportunities.

1300.8. The prior written authorization provided for by clause (b) of Rule 1300.7 ~~shall~~must:

- (a) describe the investment objectives and risk tolerance of the customer with respect to the managed account or accounts;
- (b) where permitted by the Dealer Member, describe any constraints imposed by customer on investments to be made in the managed account or accounts;
- (c) only be terminated by the customer by notice in writing, ~~which notice shall be effective on receipt by the Dealer Member except with respect to transactions entered into prior to such~~the receipt; and
- (d) only be terminated by the Dealer Member by notice in writing, ~~which notice shall be effective not less than 30 days from the date of mailing~~delivery of the notice to the customer by pre-paid ordinary mail at the customer's last address appearing in the records of the Dealer Member.";

1300.9. ~~Application for approval as a portfolio manager shall be made to the Corporation and may be granted where the applicant:~~

- ~~(a) has satisfied the applicable proficiency requirements outlined in Part I of Rule 2900; or~~
- ~~(b) has within the past three years held registration under Canadian securities legislation as a portfolio manager, investment counsel or any equivalent registration category;~~
- ~~(c) is a partner, director, officer, employee or agent of a Dealer Member; and~~
- ~~(d) makes an application for approval in such form as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe.~~

1300.10. ~~Application for designation and approval as an associate portfolio manager shall be made to the Corporation and may be granted where the applicant:~~

- ~~(a) has satisfied the applicable proficiency requirements outlined in Part I of Rule 2900;~~
- ~~(b) is a partner, director, officer, employee or agent of a Dealer Member; and~~
- ~~(c) makes an application for approval in such form as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe.~~

1300.11. ~~Approval as a portfolio manager or associate portfolio manager shall constitute approval to trade and advise in securities provided that a portfolio manager or associate portfolio manager shall not trade or advise in options, commodities or commodities futures contracts unless such person is approved to trade or advise in options, commodities or commodities futures contracts, as the case may be.~~

1300.12. ~~Application for approval as a futures contracts portfolio manager shall be made to the Corporation and may be granted where the applicant:~~

- ~~(a) has satisfied the applicable proficiency requirements outlined in Part I of Rule 2900; or~~

(b) ~~has within the past three years held registration under Canadian securities or commodity futures legislation as a portfolio manager, investment counsel or any equivalent registration category with respect to futures contracts;~~

(c) ~~is a partner, director, officer, employee or agent of a Dealer Member; and~~

(d) ~~makes an application for approval in such form as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe.~~

~~1300.13. Application for approval as an associate portfolio manager with discretionary authority with respect to futures contracts managed accounts shall be made to the Corporation and may be granted where the applicant:~~

~~(a) has satisfied the applicable proficiency requirements outlined in Part I of Rule 2900;~~

~~(b) is a partner, director, officer, employee or agent of a Dealer Member;~~

~~(c) makes an application for approval in such form as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe.~~

~~1300.14. Approval as a futures contracts portfolio manager or associate futures contracts portfolio manager shall constitute approval to trade and advise in futures contracts and futures contracts options.~~

1300.9. Repealed

1300.10. Repealed

1300.11. Repealed.

1300.12. Repealed.

1300.13. Repealed.

1300.14. Repealed.

1300.15. ~~Each~~ A Dealer Member that has managed accounts or futures contracts managed accounts ~~shall~~must establish and maintain a system acceptable to the Corporation to supervise the activities of those responsible for the management of such accounts under Rule 1300.7. ~~Such~~The system ~~should~~must be reasonably designed to achieve compliance with the Rules and Forms of the Corporation. A Dealer Member firm's supervisory system ~~shall~~must provide, at a minimum, for the following:

(a) the establishment and maintenance of written procedures, including:

(i) procedures designed to disclose when a responsible person has contravened Rules 1300.18 or 1300.19;

(ii) procedures to ensure fairness in the allocation of investment opportunities among its managed accounts;

(b) the designation of one or more ~~partners, directors, officers or futures contracts principals, as the case may be,~~Supervisors specifically responsible for the supervision of managed accounts. ~~The tasks of this Rule may be delegated by the persons designated to other persons who have the qualifications to perform them; however, pursuant to Rule 2500, responsibility for the tasks may not be delegated;~~

(c) direct supervision of any Registered Representative providing discretionary management to managed accounts who has less than two years experience providing such discretionary management, including at least one year managing on a discretionary basis more than \$5 million in assets, by

(i) a Registered Representative at the Dealer Member or another Dealer Member who is authorized to provide discretionary management to managed accounts and who is not in the period of supervision, or

(eii) A person registered as an advisor under Canadian securities legislation who has entered into a contract with the Dealer Member to provide the supervision.

The period of experience includes any period spent providing discretionary management as a registered advisor under Canadian securities legislation or while employed by a government-regulated institution.

- (d) in addition to any other account supervision requirements under the Rules, a review by the ~~person designated under subsection (b)~~ Designated Supervisor with respect to each managed account, to be conducted at least quarterly, to ensure that the investment objectives of the client are being diligently pursued and that the managed account or futures contracts managed account is being conducted in accordance with the Rules. The review may be conducted at an aggregate level for managed accounts for which key investment decisions are made centrally and applied across a number of managed accounts, subject to minor variations to allow for client-directed constraints and the timing of client cash flows into the managed account.
- (de) the establishment of a ~~managed account committee, which shall include at a minimum one person responsible for the supervision of such committee, including at least the Designated Supervisor of managed accounts and the Chief Compliance Officer,~~ that shall review at least annually the supervisory system and procedures established by the Dealer Member for managed accounts and recommend to senior management ~~the appropriate~~ any action ~~that will~~ necessary to achieve the Dealer Member's compliance with applicable securities legislation and with the Rules and Forms of the Corporation. ~~Such review shall be completed at least annually.~~

1300.16. ~~The~~ A Dealer Member may charge a client directly for services rendered to a managed account but, except with the written agreement of the client, ~~such~~ the charge ~~shall~~ may not be based on the volume or value of transactions initiated for the account or be contingent upon profits or performance.

1300.17. ~~Remuneration paid to an associate portfolio manager, portfolio manager, or futures contracts portfolio manager for managing an account must not be~~ A Dealer Member may not pay remuneration to anyone managing a managed account that is computed ~~in terms on the basis~~ of the value or volume of transactions in the account.

1300.18. No Dealer Member or responsible person shall trade for his or her or the Dealer Member's own account, or knowingly permit or arrange for any associate or affiliate to trade, in reliance upon information as to trades made or to be made for any discretionary or managed account.

1300.19. No Dealer Member or responsible person shall, without the written consent of the client, knowingly cause any managed account to:

- (a) invest in the securities of, or a futures contract or option that is based on the securities of, the Dealer Member or an issuer that is related or connected to the Dealer Member;
- (b) invest in the securities of any issuer, or a futures contract or option that is based on the securities of an issuer, of which a responsible person is an officer or director, and no such investment shall be made even with the written consent of the client unless such office or directorship shall have been disclosed to the client;
- (c) invest in new or secondary issues underwritten by the Dealer Member;
- (d) purchase or sell the securities of any issuer, or a futures contract or option that is based on the securities of an issuer, from or to the account of a responsible person, or from or to the account of an associate of a responsible person; or
- (e) make a loan to a responsible person or to an associate of a responsible person.

A Dealer Member or related company or a partner, director, officer, employee or associate of either of them shall be deemed not to have breached any provision of this Rule 1300.19 in connection with any trade or activity if conducted in compliance with any securities legislation or rule, policy, directive or order of any securities commission which specifically applies to the trade or activity.

1300.20. Where investment decisions are made centrally and applied across a number of managed accounts, Rule 29.3A ~~shall~~ does not apply ~~with regard to the~~ managed accounts of partners, directors, officers, registered persons, employees or agents of the Dealer Member ~~that~~ who participate on the same basis as client accounts in the implementation of ~~such~~ those decisions.

1300.21. Except as specifically permitted in the Rules or Rulings, ~~no~~ a Dealer Member ~~shall~~ may not charge a customer a fee that is contingent upon the profit or performance of the customer's account.

RULE 1800

COMMODITY FUTURES CONTRACTS AND OPTIONS

1800.1. For the purpose of this Rule 1800, unless the subject matter or context otherwise requires, the expression:

“Clearing Corporation” or “Clearing House” means an association or organization, whether incorporated or unincorporated, or part of a commodity futures exchange through which trades in contracts entered into on such exchange are cleared;

“Commodity” means, anything which (i) is defined or designated as a commodity in or pursuant to the Commodity Futures Act (Ontario) or similar legislation in any province of Canada not inconsistent therewith, or (ii) is the subject of a futures contract;

“Commodity Futures Exchange” means an association or organization whether incorporated or unincorporated, operated for the purpose of providing the physical facilities necessary for the trading of contracts by open auction;

“Contract” means any futures contract and any futures contract option;

“Dealer” means a person or company that trades in contracts in the capacity of principal or agent;

“Futures Contract” means a contract to make or take delivery of a specified quantity and quality, grade or size of a commodity during a designated future month at a price agreed upon when the contract is entered into on a commodity futures exchange pursuant to standardized terms and conditions set forth in such exchange’s by-laws, rules or regulations;

“Futures Contract Option” means a right, acquired for a consideration, to assume a long or short position in relation to a futures contract at a specified price and within a specified period of time and any other option of which the subject is a futures contract;

“Omnibus Account” means an account carried by or for a Dealer Member in which the transactions of two or more persons are combined and effected in the name of a Dealer Member without disclosure of the identity of such persons.

1800.2. ~~No Dealer Member or any person acting on its behalf, shall trade or advise in respect of futures contracts or futures contract options without prior approval of the Corporation and unless:~~(a) A Dealer Member that trades in futures contracts or futures contract options on behalf of customers must designate a Supervisor qualified to supervise trading in futures contracts and futures contract options to be responsible for the opening of new accounts and establishing and maintaining procedures acceptable to the Corporation for account supervision to ensure that the handling of client business is within the bounds of ethical conduct, consistent with just and equitable principles of trade and not detrimental to the interests of the securities industry.

~~(a) In the case of trading or advising in respect of futures contracts:~~

~~(i) One or more of the partners, directors or officers of the Dealer Member is appointed in writing by the Dealer Member as a designated futures contract principal and, if necessary to ensure continuous supervision, one or more alternate designated futures contract principals, who shall have the authority and be responsible for the matters described in Rule 1800.5; and~~

~~(ii) Any person designated as a futures contract principal or alternate under item (i) above, and every partner, director, officer or employee of a Dealer Member who deals with customers with respect to trading or advising in respect of futures contracts has been approved pursuant to Rule 1800.3;~~

~~(b) In the case of trading or advising in respect of futures contract options:~~

~~(i) One or more of the partners, directors or officers of the Dealer Member is appointed in writing by the Dealer Member as a designated futures contract options principal and, if necessary to ensure continuous supervision, one or more alternate designated futures contract options principals who shall have the authority and be responsible for the matters described in Rule 1800.5; and~~

~~(ii) Any person designated as a futures contract options principal or alternate under item (i) above, and every partner, director, officer or employee of the Dealer Member who deals with customers with respect to trading or advising in respect of futures contract options has been approved pursuant to Rule 1800.3;~~

- ~~(c) Each of the Dealer Member's customers has acknowledged receipt of a futures contract trading agreement or futures contract options trading agreement referred to in Rule 1800.9;~~
- ~~(d) The account of each customer of the Dealer Member trading in futures contracts or futures contract options has been authorized in accordance with Rule 1800.5 by a futures contracts principal in the case of futures contracts or by a futures contract options principal in the case of futures contract options, or (other than a branch manager in the case of discretionary or managed accounts) by the branch manager of the branch office handling the trade if the branch manager has been approved pursuant to Rule 1800.3 to supervise accounts trading in futures contracts or futures contract options, as applicable;~~
- (b) A Dealer Member must enter into a futures contract trading agreement or futures contract options trading agreement in compliance with Rule 1800.9 with a customer before effecting the customer's initial trade in futures contracts or futures contract options;
- (c) The Supervisor designated under Rule 1800.2(a) or another Supervisor qualified to supervise futures contracts or futures contract options trading must approve the opening of the account of each customer of the Dealer Member for trading in futures contracts or futures contract options before the customer's first trade in futures contracts or futures contract options.
- (d) A Dealer Member must:
 - (i) provide to each customer the then current risk disclosure statement approved by the Corporation and obtain from the customer acknowledgement of its receipt before the customer's initial trade in futures contracts or futures contract options
 - (ii) distribute to each customer having a futures contract or futures contract options account any amendments to the risk disclosure statement approved by the Corporation; and
 - (iii) Maintain records showing the names and addresses of all persons to whom a current risk disclosure statement or an amendment thereto has been provided and the date or dates on which they were provided;
- ~~(e) In the case of trading or advising in respect of trades in futures contracts, the Member:~~
 - ~~(i) Has available at each of its offices (other than a sub-branch office) to serve customers two or more persons qualified in accordance with Rule 1800.3 or 1800.4 to deal with customers in respect of futures contracts and one or more persons to carry out trading instructions, but only two of such persons must be available to serve customers at any time in normal circumstances and during usual business hours provided one of such persons is qualified in accordance with Rule 1800.3 or 1800.4;~~A Dealer Member must have systems and procedures to ensure that in normal circumstances customers of the Dealer Member have access at any time during usual business hours to a registered representative or investment representative, as appropriate to the services provided to the client, qualified to advise on or trade in futures contracts or futures contract options and registered as necessary in the jurisdiction in which the client resides.
 - ~~(ii) Distributes to each customer, prior to opening a futures contract account, a copy of the then current risk disclosure statement of the Dealer Member, the form of which has been approved by the Corporation and obtains from the customer written acknowledgement of the receipt thereof, and thereafter distributes to each such customer any amendments which have been approved by the Corporation to the then current risk disclosure statement; and~~
 - ~~(iii) Maintains a record available for inspection by the Corporation showing the names and addresses of all persons to whom a current risk disclosure statement or an amendment thereto has been distributed and the date or dates of such distribution;~~
- (f) In the case of trading or advising in respect of trades in futures contract options, the Member:
 - (i) Has available at each of its offices (other than a sub-branch office) to serve customers two or more persons qualified in accordance with Rule 1800.3 or 1800.4 to deal with customers in respect of futures contract options and one or more persons to carry out trading instructions, but only two of such persons must be available to serve customers at any time in normal circumstances and during usual business hours provided one of such persons is qualified in accordance with Rule 1800.3 or 1800.4;

- (ii) ~~Distributes to each customer, prior to opening a futures contract options account, a copy of the then current risk disclosure statement of the Dealer Member, the form of which has been approved by the Corporation and obtains from the customer written acknowledgement of the receipt thereof, and thereafter distributes to each such customer any amendments which have been approved by the Corporation to the then current risk disclosure statement; and~~
- (iii) ~~Maintains a record available for inspection by the Corporation showing the names and addresses of all persons to whom a current risk disclosure statement or an amendment thereto has been distributed and the date or dates of such distribution; and~~(g) The Dealer Member must obtain the approval of the Corporation shall have been obtained in respect of the procedures required by Rule 1800.5 and the of its accounting, settlement and credit control systems that the Dealer Member uses in trading and dealing with customers' accounts for trading in futures contracts or futures contract options for customer and firm accounts with respect to futures contracts or futures contract options before trading in futures contracts or futures contract options.

~~1800.3. The Corporation may grant approval as a futures contract principal or alternate, a futures contract options principal or alternate, or a person who deals with clients with respect to futures contracts or futures contract options, to any applicant who has satisfied the applicable proficiency requirements outlined in Part 1 of Rule 2900.~~

1800.3. Repealed.

1800.3A.Repealed.

1800.4. Repealed.

~~1800.5. The designated futures contract principal or designated futures contract options principal of a Dealer Member designated pursuant to Rule 1800.2 shall ensure that the handling of customer business relating to futures contracts or futures contract options, as the case may be, is in accordance with the Rules and Rulings of the Corporation. In this respect the Dealer Member shall have written procedures acceptable to the Corporation describing the control, supervisory and delegation procedures used by the Dealer Member to ensure compliance with the Rules and Rulings. In the absence or incapacity of the designated futures contract principal or futures contract options principal or when the trading activity of the Dealer Member requires additional qualified persons in connection with the supervision of the Dealer Member's business, an alternate, if any, shall assume the authority and responsibility of such designated persons. Without limiting the foregoing, each designated futures contract principal and designated futures contract options principal shall be responsible for the following matters with respect to trading or advising in respect of futures contracts and futures contract options, respectively:~~

- (a) ~~Subject to Rule 1300.2 opening all new contracts accounts pursuant to a new account application form approved by the Corporation and the approval of such form for all accounts prior to the commencement of any trading activity;~~
- (b) ~~Using due diligence to learn and remain informed of the essential facts relative to every customer (including the customer's identity, creditworthiness and reputation) and to every order or account accepted, to ensure that the acceptance of any order for any account is within the bounds of good business practice and, subject to Rule 1300.1(e), to use due diligence to ensure that the acceptance of any order from a customer is suitable for such customer based on factors including the customer's financial situation, investment knowledge, investment objectives and risk tolerance;~~
- (c) ~~Obtaining prior to the commencement of any trading activity in any futures account the executed futures contract or futures contract trading agreement referred to in Rule 1800.9 or the letter of undertaking referred to in Rule 1800.10;~~
- (d) ~~Imposing any appropriate restriction on futures contracts or futures contract options accounts and the proper designation of accounts and related orders;~~
- (e) ~~The continuous supervision of each day's trading in futures contracts and futures contract options and the completion of a review of each day's trading no later than the next following trading day;~~
- (f) ~~Reviewing on a monthly basis the cumulative trading activity of each futures contracts and futures contract options account no later than the date of mailing of the monthly statement for each month;~~
- (g) ~~Monitoring performance as necessary of any duties that have been delegated by the futures contract principal or futures contract options principal, as the case may be; and~~

~~(h) — Performing such other responsibilities as the Corporation may prescribe from time to time.~~

~~A designated futures contract principal or designated futures contract options principal may delegate by written direction the performance of any of his or her duties under this Rule 1800.5 (except those described in clauses (g) or (h) unless permitted by the Corporation and except those that are expressly stated not to be delegated) to any person whom he or she has reason to believe is capable of performing such duties; provided that the futures contract principal or futures contract options principal shall remain fully responsible for the performance of such duties.~~

~~1800.6. Notwithstanding Rule 1800.5 or any other Rule or Ruling, where a futures contracts or futures contract options account is opened by an acceptable institution, acceptable counter party, another dealer on its own behalf or on behalf of a customer by an adviser or other person qualified pursuant to any applicable legislation to advise in respect of trading or to effect trades, as the case may be, by that specific account in futures contracts or options and provided further that such adviser or other person is required by applicable legislation or other authority to ensure investments by its customers are suitable for them:~~

~~(a) — Where the person opening the account executes orders in its own name or identifies its clients by means of a code or symbols, the Dealer Member shall satisfy itself as to the credit worthiness of such person opening the account but shall not otherwise have any responsibility for the suitability of any trade for the customers of such person;~~

~~(b) — Where the person opening the account executes orders in the names of its customers with no agreement that payment of the account is guaranteed by such person, the Dealer Member shall:~~

~~(i) — Obtain full information concerning the customer with a view to determining the credit worthiness of the client; or~~

~~(ii) — Obtain a letter of undertaking from the person opening the account which letter shall refer to the familiarity of the person with applicable rules of account supervision and shall contain a covenant to make the investigation contemplated by those rules and to advise, where known, if the customer is a partner, director, officer, employee or security holder of a dealer or an associate of any such persons or an affiliate of the dealer;~~

~~But the Dealer Member shall not have the responsibility for determining the suitability of any trade for the customers.~~

1800.5. Repealed.

1800.6. Repealed.

~~1800.7. Each Dealer Member that trades in futures contracts shall must file such any reports on futures contracts trading as may be prescribed from time to time that are required by the Corporation. Each Dealer Member shall report to must report to the Corporation on a form of monthly position report approved by the Corporation the greater of the market value of the total long or the total short futures contracts for each commodity, determined as at the close of business on the last day of each month (or, where such that day is not a trading day, on the next preceding trading day). Such report shall be made on a form of monthly position report approved by the Corporation.~~

~~1800.8. All Registered Representative or Investment Representative must identify all non-customer orders entered for the purchase or sale of futures contracts or futures contract options shall be clearly identified as such. For the purpose of this Rule ~~1800.8~~ orders identified as A "non-customer" shall include order is an order for an account in which:~~

~~(a) — A Dealer Member;~~

~~(b) — A partner, director, or officer of a Dealer Member; or~~

~~(c) — An employee of a Dealer Member to the extent that such employee has received approval pursuant to the Rules of the Corporation; Has the Dealer Member or any Approved Person of the Dealer Member has a direct or indirect interest other than an interest in the commission charged.~~

~~1800.9. Each Dealer Member shall have and maintain with each customer trading in futures contracts or futures contract options an The account agreement in writing defining required in Rule 1800.2(b) must define the rights and obligations between them on such the Dealer Member and the customer on the subjects as that the Corporation may from time to time determine, and shall include including the following:~~

- (a) The rights of the Dealer Member to exercise discretion in accepting orders;
- (b) The ~~obligation of the Dealer Member's obligation~~ with respect to errors and/or omissions and qualification of the time periods during which orders will be accepted for execution;
- (c) The ~~customer's obligation of the customer~~ in respect of the payment of his or her indebtedness to the Dealer Member and the maintenance of adequate margin and security, including the conditions under which the funds, securities or other property held in the account or any other accounts of the customer may be applied to such indebtedness or margin;
- (d) The obligation of the customer in respect of commissions, if any, on futures contracts or futures contract options bought and sold for his or her account;
- (e) The obligation of the customer in respect of the payment of interest, if any, on debit balances in his or her account;
- (f) The extent of the right of the Dealer Member to make use of free credit balances in the customer's account either in its own business or to cover debit balances in the same or other accounts, and the consent, if given, of the customer to the Dealer Member taking the other side to the customer's transactions from time to time;
- (g) The rights of the Dealer Member in respect of raising money on and pledging securities and other assets held in the customer's account;
- (h) The extent of the right of the Dealer Member to otherwise deal with securities and other assets in the customer's account and to hold the same as collateral security for the customer's indebtedness;
- (i) The customer's obligation to comply with the rules pertaining to futures contracts or futures contract options with respect to reporting, position limits and exercise limits, as applicable, as established by the commodity futures exchange on which such futures contracts or futures contract options are traded or its clearing house;
- (j) The right of the Dealer Member, if so required, to provide regulatory authorities with information and/or reports related to reporting limits and position limits;
- (k) The acknowledgement by the customer that he or she has received the current risk disclosure statement ~~provided for in~~ required by Rule 1800.2 ~~unless provided for by other approved means~~ (d);
- (l) The right of the Dealer Member to impose trading limits and to close out futures contracts or futures contract options under specified conditions;
- (m) That minimum margin will be required from the customer in such amounts and at such times as the commodity futures exchange on which a contract is entered or its clearing house may prescribe and in such greater amounts at other times as prescribed by the Rules and as determined by the Dealer Member, and that such funds or property may be commingled and used by the Dealer Member in the conduct of its business;
- (n) In the case of futures contract options accounts, the method of allocation of exercise assignment notices and the customer's obligation to instruct the Dealer Member to close out contracts prior to the expiry date; and
- (o) Unless provided for in a separate agreement, the authority, if any, of the Dealer Member to effect trades for the customer on a discretionary basis, which authority shall be separately acknowledged in a part of the agreement prominently marked off from the remainder and shall not be inconsistent with any Rules relating to discretionary accounts.

1800.10. Rule 1800.9 ~~shall~~ does not apply to the opening of a futures contracts or futures contract options account where the customer is a dealer on its own behalf, a dealer on behalf of its customer if the dealer is required to maintain with its customer an account agreement substantially similar to that described in Rule 1800.9, ~~or is an adviser registered under any applicable legislation relating to trading or advising in respect of futures contracts or futures contract options or is~~ an acceptable institution or an acceptable counter-party, provided the Dealer Member has obtained from the customer a letter of undertaking specifying:

- (a) That the person opening the account will comply with the by-laws, rules and regulations of the exchange and clearing house upon or through which trades in contracts are to be effected including without limitation, the rules and regulations establishing position and reporting limits; and

- (b) Where the customer also maintains with the same Dealer Member an account on which the customer is charged interest when there is a debit balance in the account, the conditions under which transfers of funds, securities or other property held in such other account will be made between accounts, unless provision is made elsewhere in a document signed by the person opening the account.

~~1800.11.~~

1800.11 (a) ~~A record shall be kept by each Dealer Member in its office~~ must keep a record of any order or other instruction given or received with respect to a trade in a futures contract or futures contract option, whether executed or unexecuted, showing:

- (i) The terms and conditions of the order or instruction and any modification or cancellation of the order or instruction;
 - (ii) The account to which the order or instruction relates;
 - (iii) Where the order relates to an omnibus account, the component accounts within the omnibus account on whose behalf the order is to be executed;
 - (iv) Where the order or instruction is placed by a person other than the customer in whose name the account is operated, the name, or designation, of the party placing the order or instruction;
 - (v) The time of the entry of the order or instruction, and, where the order is entered pursuant to the exercise of discretionary authority ~~of~~ by the Dealer Member, identification to that effect;
 - (vi) To the extent feasible, the time of altering instructions or cancellation; and
 - (vii) The time of report of execution.
- (b) ~~A copy~~ Dealer Member must keep in a form accessible to the Corporation the records of all unexecuted orders ~~shall be kept for a period of two years and a copy of all executed orders shall be kept for a period of six~~ seven years from the date of the order.

RULE 1900

OPTIONS

1900.1. For the purposes of this Rule 1900, unless the subject matter or content otherwise requires:

“Option” means a call option or put option issued by ~~Trans-Canada Options Inc.~~ the Canadian Derivatives Clearing Corporation, Intermarket Services Inc., The Options Clearing Corporation, Intermarket Clearing Corporation, International Options Clearing Corporation or any other corporation or organization recognized by the Board of Directors for the purposes of this Rule but “option” does not include a futures contract or futures contract option as defined in Rule 1800.1.

1900.2. ~~No Dealer Member, or any person acting on its behalf, shall trade or advise in respect of options unless: (a) One or more of the partners, directors or officers of the Dealer Member is designated in writing by the Dealer Member as a registered options principal who shall be responsible for the authorization of new options accounts and (a)~~

A Dealer Member that trades in options on behalf of customers must designate a Supervisor qualified to supervise options trading to be responsible for approving customer accounts to trade in options and for establishing and maintaining procedures acceptable to the Corporation for the supervision of account activity involving options and, where necessary to ensure continuous supervision, one or more alternates to such registered options principal are appointed by the Dealer Member, to ensure that the handling of customer business is within the bounds of ethical conduct, consistent with just and equitable principles of trade and not detrimental to the interests of the securities industry;

~~(b) Each person designated as a registered options principal or alternated under subparagraph (a) or trading or advising in respect of options has been approved pursuant to Rule 1900.3; (c) Each of the Dealer Member’s clients has entered must enter into an options trading agreement referred to in compliance with Rule 1900.6 with a customer before effecting the customer’s initial trade in options;~~

~~(c) The Supervisor designated under Rule 1900.2(a) or another Supervisor qualified to supervise options trading must approve each customer account of the Dealer Member for trading in options before the customer’s first trade in options;~~

~~(d) The account of each client of the Dealer Member trading in options has been authorized in accordance with Rule 1900.4 by a registered options principal;~~

~~(e) The Member:~~

~~(i) Delivers or sends by prepaid mail to each client before the first trade made by such client of an option a copy of the then current disclosure statement, or similar disclosure document which complies with applicable securities legislation in the relevant jurisdiction, in respect of the option to be traded; and~~

~~(d) A Dealer Member must:~~

~~(i) provide to each customer the then current disclosure approved by the Corporation and obtain from the customer acknowledgement of its receipt before the customer’s first trade in options;~~

~~(ii) Delivers or sends by prepaid mail Provide to each client customer having an account approved for options trading each new any amendments to the disclosure document in subsection (i); and~~

~~(iii) Maintain records showing the names and addresses of all persons to whom a current disclosure statement or similar disclosure document which complies with applicable securities legislation in the relevant jurisdiction in respect of the option to be traded; and an amendment thereto has been provided and the date or dates on which they were provided.~~

~~(fe) The Dealer Member complies must comply with the applicable Rules rules and Rulings of the Corporation and rulings of any exchange, clearing corporation or other organization on or through which the option is traded or issued including, without limitation, those respecting position limits and exercise limits.~~

1900.3. ~~The Corporation may grant approval as a registered options principal, alternate, or a person trading or advising in respect of options, to any applicant who has satisfied he applicable proficiency requirements outlined in Part 1 of Rule 2900.~~

~~1900.4. A registered options principal of a Dealer Member designated pursuant to Rule 1900.2 shall be responsible for establishing and maintaining procedures for account supervision and shall ensure that the handling of customers' business relating to options is in accordance with the Rules and Rulings including, in particular, Rules 1300.1, 1300.2 and 1900.2(a). As part of this supervision, each new account involving trading in options shall be opened pursuant to an appropriate account application form and the registered options principal shall have, prior to the completion of the initial transaction, specifically approved the opening of such account, provided that in the case of a branch office or sub-branch office, such approval (other than in respect of discretionary or managed accounts) may be given by a branch manager unless such branch manager is not qualified for the supervision of options accounts. All procedures to carry out the provisions of the Rules including Rule 1300 as it relates to options trading shall be in writing and subject to review by the Corporation. In the absence or incapacity of the designated registered options principal or when the trading activity of the Dealer Member requires additional qualified persons in connection with the supervision of the Dealer Member's business, an alternate, if any, shall assume the authority and responsibility of the registered options principal.~~

1900.3. Repealed.

1900.4. Repealed

1900.5. ~~Each~~A Dealer Member that trades in options shallmust file reports in the form and manner and at the timesas required by the Corporation on the following matters:

- (a) All transactions together with a summary of open positions showing those that are covered and those that are uncovered; and
- (b) All holdings on the previous day in aggregate long or short positions of any single class of options of the minimum amount or over as specified by the rules, regulations or by-laws of the exchange or the clearing house on or through which the option is traded. For each class of option the report must include the number of options comprising each position and, in the case of short positions, whether they are covered ~~shall be reported.~~

~~1900.6.(a) Each Dealer Member shall have and maintain with each customer trading in options an (a) The options trading agreement in writing defining required in Rule 1900.2(b) must define the rights and obligations between them on such subjects as the Dealer Member considers appropriate or which and the customer on the subjects that the Corporation may from time to time determine, and shall include including the following:~~

- (i) The rights of the Dealer Member to exercise discretion in accepting orders;
 - (ii) The Dealer Member's obligations with respect to errors and/or omissions and qualification of the time periods during which orders will be accepted for execution;
 - (iii) The method of allocation of exercise assignment notices;
 - (iv) The notice that maximum limits may be set on short positions and that during the last 10 days to expiry cash only terms may be applied and, in addition, that the Corporation may impose other rules affecting existing or subsequent transactions;
 - (v) The customer's obligation to instruct the Dealer Member to close out contracts prior to expiry date;
 - (vi) The customer's obligation to comply with applicable Rules and Rulings of the Corporation and any exchange, clearing corporation or other organization on or through which the option is traded or issued including, without limitation, those respecting position limits and exercise limits;
 - (vii) The acknowledgement by the customer that he or she has received the current prospectus disclosure statement referred to in Rule 1900.2(ed);
 - (viii) A statement of the time limit set by the Dealer Member prior to which the client must submit an exercise notice; and
 - (ix) Any other matter which required by the exchange, clearing corporation or other organization on or through which an option is traded or issued ~~may require.~~
- (b) Notwithstanding Rule 1900.6(a), if the client is an acceptable institution or acceptable counter-party the Dealer Member may, in lieu of maintaining an options trading agreement, ~~have and maintain~~accept a letter of

undertaking from the acceptable institution or acceptable counter-party in which the institution or counter-party agrees to abide by the Rules, Rulings and requirements of the Corporation ~~or~~ and of the exchange, clearing corporation or other organization on or through which an option is traded including those ~~of the same~~ relating to exercise and position limits.

~~1900.7. The Rules and Rulings of the Corporation relating to trading or advising in respect of securities other than this Rule 1900 shall apply to any Dealer Member or person acting on its behalf trading or advising in respect of options except to the extent they are inconsistent with this Rule 1900.~~

RULE 2500

MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR RETAIL ACCOUNT SUPERVISION

Introduction

This Rule establishes minimum industry standards for retail account supervision. ~~These standards were developed by the Joint Industry Compliance Group (now the Compliance and Legal Section).~~

These standards represent the minimum requirements necessary to ensure that a Dealer Member has in place procedures to properly supervise retail account activity. The Rule does not:

- (a) relieve Dealer Members from complying with specific SRO by-laws, rules, regulations and policies and securities legislation applicable to particular trades or accounts; or
- (b) preclude Dealer Members from establishing a higher standard of supervision and in certain situations a higher standard may be necessary to ensure proper supervision.

Many of the standards in this Rule are taken from existing Rules of the Corporation and of other self-regulatory organizations. Securities legislation was generally not canvassed. To ensure that a Dealer Member has met all applicable standards, Dealer Members are required to know and comply with Corporation and other self-regulatory organization by-laws, rules, regulations and policies and applicable securities legislation which may apply in any given circumstance.

The following principles have been used to develop these minimum standards:

- (a) The term "review" in this Rule has been used to mean a preliminary screening to detect items for further investigation or an examination of unusual trading activity or both. It does not mean that every trade meeting the selection process of this Rule must be investigated. The reviewer must use reasonable judgement in selecting the items for further investigation.
- (b) ~~It has been assumed that~~ While Dealer Members have or will ~~must~~ provide the necessary resources and qualified supervisors to meet these standards, the standards do not specify what the resources must be. The Dealer Member must determine what resources and supervisors are necessary based on the nature of the Dealer Member's business.
- (c) The compliance with the know-your-client rule and suitability of investment requirements is primarily the responsibility of the registered representative. The supervisory standards in this Rule relating to know-your-client and suitability are intended to provide supervisors with ~~a check list against which~~ guidelines on how to monitor the handling of these responsibilities by the registered representative.

~~A Dealer Member shall, for accounts where no commission is generated for trades placed by a client (such as a fee-based account where no commission is charged), develop supervisory policies for the review of such accounts at the branch and head office in lieu of the commission levels specified herein. A Dealer Member may, with the written approval of its SRO, establish policies and procedures to carry out the supervision of client accounts pursuant to this Rule using criteria set out in, and by the persons designated by, such policies and procedures. Such policies and procedures may differ from this Rule in establishing the criteria used in selecting accounts for review and in the allocation of supervisory duties between Head Office and the Branch provided that, in the opinion of the SRO, the Dealer Member's policies and procedures are appropriate to supervise trading of its clients.~~

I. Establishing and Maintaining Procedures, Delegation and Education

Introduction

Effective self-regulation begins with the Dealer Member establishing and maintaining a supervisory environment which ~~both~~ fosters the business objectives of the Dealer Member and ~~maintains~~ enables the self-Dealer Member to meet ~~regulatory process requirements and its obligations to its customers.~~ To that end a Dealer Member must establish and maintain procedures which are supervised by qualified individuals. A major aspect of self-regulation is the ongoing education of staff in all areas of ~~sales compliance~~ business conduct.

A. Establishing Procedures

1. A Dealer Member must :
 - (a) appoint designated principals who have the necessary knowledge of industry regulations and Dealer Member policy to properly perform their duties;
 2. Written(b) maintain written policies must be established and procedures to document supervision requirements; and
 3. Written(c) supply written instructions must be supplied to all supervisors and alternates to advise them on what is expected of them.
4. All policies established or amended should have 2. A Dealer Member must have a procedure establishing the approval process for new policies and procedures. Those having a significant impact on the Dealer Member's compliance system should be approved by senior management approval.

B. Maintaining Procedures

1. Evidence of supervisory reviews must be maintained. Evidence of the review, such as inquiries made, replies received, actions taken, date of completion etc. must be maintained for seven years and on site for 1 year. 2. An on-going review of sales compliance A Dealer Member must have a reasonable process to review the efficacy of its business conduct procedures and practices must be undertaken both at head office and at branch offices and rectify any deficiencies identified.

C. Risk-based procedures

1. A Dealer Member may select accounts for review on the basis of risk-based procedures, taking into account factors such as the size of account, nature of the trading, products traded, volume of activity, commissions generated or Approved Persons advising the customer.
2. A Dealer Member must document the basis used for selecting accounts for review in its policies and procedures.
3. The procedures for selecting accounts for review must be applied consistently across retail accounts.
3. Closer 4. At a minimum, a Dealer Member must conduct enhanced supervision of trading by approved persons Approved Persons who have had a history of questionable conduct must be carried out both in the Branch and at Head Office. Evidence of such conduct can include trading activity that frequently raises questions in account reviews, frequent or serious client complaints, regulatory investigations, frequent account credit problems or failure to take appropriate remedial action on account problems identified.

C-D. Delegation

1. Tasks and procedures Supervisors may be delegated delegate tasks but not responsibility.
2. The A Dealer Member must advise supervisors of those specific functions that cannot be delegated. However, the accepting of discretionary accounts and the approval of new accounts may be delegated to qualified individuals.
3. The supervisor delegating the task must ensure that these tasks are being performed adequately and that exceptions are brought to his/ or her attention.
4. Those to whom tasks are delegated must have the qualifications to perform them and should be advised in writing what is expected.

DE. Education

1. The A Dealer Member's current sales practices and policies must be made available to must provide all sales and supervisory personnel. Dealer Members with the current sales practices and policies relevant to their functions. The provision can be done through access to electronic systems on which the policies and procedures are maintained, in which case personnel must be trained on use of the systems. A Dealer Member should obtain and record acknowledgements from all sales and supervisory personnel that they have received, read and understood the policies and procedures relevant to their responsibilities.

2. ~~Introductory~~ A Dealer Member must provide introductory and continuing education should be provided for to all approved persons on the Dealer Member's policies and procedures and any relevant changes to them.
3. ~~Information~~ A Dealer Member must communicate information contained in compliance-related bulletins from the Corporation and other SROs and Regulatory Organizations must be communicated to all sales and other approved persons. Procedures to whom it is relevant. A Dealer Member must maintain procedures relating to the method and timing of distribution of compliance-related bulletins must be clearly detailed in the Dealer Member's written procedures.

F. Records

1. A Dealer Member must maintain records of supervisory review for seven years.
2. A Dealer Member must maintain the records in a manner that permits them to be provided to the Corporation promptly for the first two years after its creation and within a reasonable time thereafter.
3. The evidence must record who conducted the review and when, inquiries made, replies received and actions taken.

II. Opening New Accounts

Introduction

To comply with the "Know-Your-Client" rule each Dealer Member must establish procedures to maintain accurate and complete information on each client. The first step towards compliance with this rule is completing proper documentation when opening new accounts. Accurate completion of the documentation when opening a new account allows both the registered representative and the supervisory staff to conduct the necessary review to ensure that recommendations made for any account are appropriate for the client and in keeping with his investment objectives. Maintaining accurate and current documentation will allow the registered representative and the supervisory staff to ensure that all recommendations made for any account are appropriate for the client and in keeping with the client's investment objectives.

"Know-Your-Client" procedures must also be directed at meeting a Dealer Member's gatekeeper obligations by identifying clients that present a high risk to the Dealer Member or a high risk of conducting improper activities in the securities markets. The procedures must also meet the requirements of anti-money laundering and terrorist financing legislation and regulations.

A. Documentation

1. ~~A New Account Application Form (NAAF) must be completed for each new account. Such forms shall be duly completed to conform with the "Know Your Client" rule.~~
1. A Dealer Member must complete an account application for each new customer that conforms to the account information requirements of this Policy.
2. ~~The new account must be approved by the branch manager or the designated director, partner or officer, prior to the initial trade or promptly thereafter (next day). A NAAF must not be approved by the branch manager or the designated director, partner or officer until it is complete. Complete~~ A Supervisor authorized in the Dealer Member's policies and procedures to do so must approve a fully completed new account application no later than the business day after the initial trade. 'Fully completed' means that all information necessary to assess suitability and creditworthiness and risk has been obtained (and but does not mean that the client must have signed the NAAF application if the Dealer Member requires that the client sign the NAAF) do so. Alternate procedures for securing interim approval will be acceptable to prevent undue delays provided the branch manager/Supervisor applies prompt final approval following the initial trade. If an account application received after the initial trade is not fully completed, a Dealer Member must restrict the account to liquidating trades only until a fully completed application has been approved.
3. ~~Where the client/customer is an employee or agent of another registered dealer, a Dealer Member must obtain written approval by of the customer's employer to open an account must be obtained prior to the or principal before opening of such an the account. Such~~ A Dealer Member must designate such accounts must be designated as non-client accounts.
4. ~~A Dealer Member must maintain a complete set of documentation must be maintained by the Dealer Member and registered representatives regarding each account. The Registered Representative(s) handling an account must maintain a copy of the NAAF account application. A Dealer Member can meet this requirement by maintaining the information on the application in an electronic application accessible to the Registered Representative.~~

5. ~~The registered representative~~Registered Representative must update the ~~NAAF~~information on the application where there is a material change in client information. ~~Such~~The update must be approved in the manner provided in ~~paragraph (2)~~subsection A.2. A Dealer Member must restrict the access of Registered Representatives and other persons to its electronic systems for maintaining know-your-client information so that material information cannot be changed without the required approval. A Dealer Member must have procedures independent of the Registered Representative for verifying material changes to customer information, such as changes of address, financial situation, investment objectives or risk tolerance.
6. When there is a change of ~~registered representative~~Registered Representative, the new ~~registered representative~~Registered Representative must verify the account information on the NAAF to ensure it is current. ~~There should be a signed acknowledgment by the new RR and branch manager that the NAAF~~A Dealer Member must have a procedure for recording that the new Registered Representative has reviewed the customer information and that the appropriate Supervisor is satisfied that it has been reviewed and has approved any material changes. It is acceptable to make for the Registered Representative to record and initial any changes on a photocopy of the old NAAF (existing application provided that the NAAF it was previously approved within two years of the review) and have the registered representative and branch manager initial any changes.
7. ~~Account numbers must not be assigned unless they are accompanied by~~A Dealer Member must not assign an account number for a new customer unless it has the proper name and address of the client and such name and address must be supported by the NAAF no later than the following day~~customer.~~

B. Pending Documents

1. ~~A Dealer Member~~Member must have procedures in place to ensure supporting documents are received within a reasonable period of time of opening the account.
 2. ~~Incomplete NAAFs and documentation not received must be noted, filed in a pending documentation file and be reviewed on a periodic basis.~~
2. A Dealer Member must have systems or procedures to prevent:
 - Trading on margin until the customer entered into a margin agreement with the customer as described in Rule 200.1(i)(2)
 - Trading in futures contracts or futures contract options until the customer has entered into a futures contracts or futures contract options trading agreement with the customer as described in Rule 1800.2(b)
 - Trading in options until the customer has entered into an options trading agreement with the customer as described in Rule 1900.2(b)
3. ~~Failure~~A Dealer Member must have a system for recording pending account documentation and following up where it is not received in a reasonable time.
4. A Dealer Member must take positive action specified in its policies and procedures to obtain required documentation not obtained within 25 clearing days must result in positive actions being taken. The nature of the positive action must be specified in the Dealer Member's written procedures~~business days of the opening of the account.~~

C. Client Master Files

C. Other Requirements

1. ~~Entering and amending client master files must be controlled and accompanied by proper documentation.~~ 2. ~~All hold mail must be authorized by the client in writing and be controlled, reviewed on a regular basis and maintained by the responsible supervisor~~Supervisor.
3. ~~2. Returned mail is to~~must be properly investigated and controlled by a person who is independent of the sales function ~~although such person~~but may be located within a branch.
4. ~~3.~~ For supervisory purposes, "non-client" accounts, RRSP accounts, managed accounts, discretionary accounts and restricted accounts must be readily identifiable.

III. Branch Office Account Supervision Generally

Introduction

~~Each branch manager must undertake certain activities within the branch for purposes of assessing compliance with regulatory requirements and the Dealer Member's policies. These activities should be designed to identify failures to adhere to required policy and procedure and provide a means of revealing and addressing undesirable account activity.~~

Rule 38.1 requires a Dealer Member to implement systems of supervision and control to ensure that is reasonably designed to achieve compliance with the Rules and Rulings of the Corporation and all other laws, regulations and policies applicable to the Dealer Member's securities and commodity futures business. This section provides guidance on the means used by Dealer Members to meet that requirement with respect to retail customer accounts.

A. Supervisory Structure

1. In maintaining a supervisory structure and appointing Supervisors, a Dealer Member must take into consideration all factors necessary to ensure the adequacy of the supervision, including the products traded, type of trading, location of business and other functions of Supervisors.
2. Where the Dealer Member conducts retail business in business locations outside its Head Office, it should consider the following:
 - A resident supervisor is in the best position to know the Registered Representatives in the office, know or meet many of the clients, understand local conditions and needs, facilitate business through the timely approval of new accounts and respond immediately to questions or problems. However, a Dealer Member may determine to what extent a resident supervisor is necessary, considering factors such as:
 - The number of Registered Representatives in the location
 - The experience of Registered Representatives in the location
 - The nature of the business conducting in the location
 - The availability of a Supervisor or Supervisors in nearby locations
 - Other systems and controls mitigating the risk of remote supervision
 - Where a business location does not have a Supervisor working in the office, it must have an outside Supervisor assigned to it. A Dealer Member's policies and procedures and the instructions to the outside Supervisor must include provision for periodic visits to the location by the Supervisor as necessary to ensure that business is being conducted properly at the location.
3. While it is not always possible in a very small firm, a Dealer Member should ensure independent supervision of all retail accounts. A Supervisor's advice and trades for his or her own clients should be supervised by another Supervisor.
4. A Dealer Member must ensure that a Supervisor who advises and trades for his or her own clients devotes sufficient time and attention to his or her supervisory role.
5. A Dealer Member must ensure that Supervisors are qualified to supervise trading activity in all products traded by those under his or her supervision and any other services that they provide to retain customers. Where the Supervisor is not so qualified, the Dealer Member may divide the supervision between two or more Supervisors, but must ensure that there are appropriate mechanisms for them to communicate with one another, that the system ensures that the Dealer Member maintains an overall view of the client's situation and activity and that the assignment of responsibilities is clear and complete. One acceptable mechanism for doing so is the appointment of a primary Supervisor to whom the other Supervisor(s) provide advice with regard to the activity in the products or services the primary Supervisor is not qualified to supervise.
6. A Dealer Member's supervisory system must provide Supervisors with the information necessary to properly conduct their supervision. For account reviews this includes readily accessible client information and full information about account activity including relevant non-trade activity such as receipts, deliveries, deposits, withdrawals and journal entries.

7. A Dealer Member's supervisory system must provide for back-up during the absence of responsible Supervisors. For any prolonged absence of a Supervisor, the back-up Supervisor should be advised as necessary of any ongoing issues or concerns as necessary to provide proper supervision.
8. A Dealer Member must have systems of supervision and review to ensure that Supervisors are properly fulfilling their supervisory functions. This requirement can be met by a two-tiered system of first and second level reviews as described in this policy.
9. A Supervisor must have sufficient authority to take effective and timely remedial action where account activity or any other matter under his or her supervision falls or appears to fall outside the bounds of proper conduct, just and equitable principles of trade or good business practice. Escalation for a decision by a more senior Supervisor or Executive will be considered an acceptable form of action.

B. Supervision of Account Activity

A Dealer Member must have systems and procedures to supervise trading activity in retail accounts. The supervision must provide reasonable assurance that the Dealer Member is meeting its regulatory obligations, including those to clients such as suitability and gatekeeper obligations such as preventing market abuses. The following principles should be taken into consideration:

1. Reviews may be conducted on a pre-trade or post-trade basis. A properly crafted pre-trade review process may obviate or lessen the need for post-trade reviews.
2. Review procedures must cover all accounts. Where a Dealer Member offers both commission and fee-based accounts, it cannot select accounts for review solely on the basis of commission levels; it must also have a procedure for selecting fee-based accounts for review.
3. Reviews procedures must be able to identify patterns of activity that are not apparent by reviewing trades singly. For example, a review of trading over a longer period may raise questions about the overall level of activity even though each trade, looked at singly, appears to be suitable for the client.
4. Reviews must encompass non-trade issues such as late payment, margin problems, trade cancellations or transfers and flows of funds or securities that might be suspicious of money laundering.
5. The selection of activity for post-trade review may be done using a risk-based approach reasonably designed to detect improper activity. A risk-based approach can be used to determine the period of activity to be reviewed. For example, in some cases it may be appropriate to conduct longer-term reviews of monthly activity; in others they may consider shorter or longer periods.
6. Reviews must take into consideration, and reviewers must have access to, information about customers that may reasonably be assessed as presenting a higher risk of improper market activity such as those known by the Dealer Member to have access to material non-public information about issuers, holders of control blocks of public issuers and market professionals.
7. All account activity of employees and agents should be subject to review.
8. Reviews must be done on a timely basis, as established in the Dealer Member's policies and procedures. The timing should be reasonably designed to identify as early as possible matters requiring supervisory attention.
9. It is acceptable to use computer analysis to assist in selecting activity to be reviewed.

IV. Two-Tier Reviews

In a Dealer Member with multiple business locations conducting retail account activity, a two-tier system of post-trade activity reviews as described in this section is an acceptable structure.

The first level review will normally be conducted by a Supervisor at each business location having a resident supervisor. Such reviews may also be carried out on a regional basis or at a Dealer Member's head office provided that the systems and resources to conduct the review are available at the regional or head office and that the Dealer Member has adequate systems and procedures for dealing with any issues identified.

The second-tier review will normally be conducted at the Dealer Member's Head Office, but may also be done regionally. The second level of supervision is generally not at the same depth as first level supervision. It should and be reasonably designed to

identify serious account problems, including all those listed regarding first level reviews, that may have been missed by the first level supervision and ensure that first level supervision is being adequately conducted.

Where second level reviews are conducted by personnel or a department responsible only for monitoring activity, the Dealer Member should have procedures for referring issues that cannot be resolved with first level Supervisors to a higher level Supervisor who has the authority to resolve them.

A. First-Tier Daily Reviews

1. ~~The branch manager (or designate) must~~ A first-tier review examines the previous day's trading using ~~any convenient means. This review is undertaken~~ means described in the Dealer Member's procedures to attempt to detect the following:

~~lack of suitability;~~

- unsuitable trading;
- undue concentration of securities in a single account or across accounts;
- excessive trade activity;
- trading in restricted securities;
- conflict of interest between registered representative and client trading activity;
- excessive trade transfers, trade cancellations etc. indicating possible unauthorized trading;
- inappropriate / high risk trading strategies;
- quality downgrading of client holdings;
- excessive / improper crosses of securities between clients;
- improper employee trading;
- front running;
- account number changes;
- late payment;
- outstanding margin calls;
- violation of any internal trading restrictions-

2. ~~In addition to transactional activity, branch managers must also keep themselves informed as to other client related matters such as:~~

~~client complaints; cash account violations ;~~

- undisclosed short sales;
 - ~~transfers of funds and securities between unrelated accounts or between pro and client accounts or deposits from pro to client accounts~~
- manipulative or deceptive trading under margin.;
- insider trading.

B. First-Tier Monthly Reviews

1. ~~Client and branch personnel~~A first-tier monthly statements must be reviewed on a monthly basis and review should encompass the areas of concern as discussed in the described in subsection IV.A for daily activity review reviews.
2. ~~It is recognized that it may not be possible to review each statement produced. However, branch managers must review all monthly statements which produce~~A first-tier monthly review starts with the selection, on a basis reasonably designed to detect improper account activity, of retail client accounts to be reviewed. A Dealer Member can meet this obligation by reviewing the activity of all customers charged gross commissions of \$1,500 or more for the month.
3. ~~All non-client accounts generating a statement must be reviewed on a monthly basis.~~
3. A first-tier monthly review should include all non-client accounts showing any activity other than receipt of dividends or interest or payment of interest.
4. This review should be completed within 21 days of the period covered ~~by the statement unless precluded by unusual circumstances.~~

IV. Head Office Account Supervision

Introduction

~~A two-tier structure is required to adequately supervise client account activity. While the head office or regional area level of supervision by its nature cannot be in the same depth as branch level supervision, it should cover all the same elements.~~

A. Daily Reviews

C. Second-Tier Daily Reviews

1. ~~The criteria to be used to conduct daily head office~~Daily reviews are~~should cover~~ the following:
 - trades meeting criteria established in the Dealer Member's policies and procedures. For this purpose, the following meet the requirement:
 - stock trades with a value over \$5,000 and a price under \$5.00 per share;
 - stock trades with value over \$20,000 and a price at or over \$5.00 per share;
 - bond trades over \$100,000 value per trade;
 - non-client trading;
 - client accounts of producing branch managers;
 - all client accounts not reviewed by a branch manager;
 - trade cancellations;
 - trading in restricted accounts;
 - trading in suspense accounts;
 - account number changes;
 - late payment;
 - outstanding margin calls.
2. Daily reviews should be completed ~~within a day~~no later than the business day following the activity unless precluded by unusual circumstances.

BD. Second-Tier Monthly Reviews

1. ~~The criteria to be used to conduct monthly head office reviews are, among other things, A Dealer Member must select accounts for second-tier review based on criteria established in its policies and procedures. This requirement can be met using the following criteria:~~
 - ~~clients' statements which generated accounts of customers charged more than \$3,000 in commission during the month;~~
 - ~~where a branch manager is unable to conduct a review, all client and non-client accounts not reviewed by such branch manager which generated accounts of all customers and non-clients charged more than \$1,500 in commission during the month. This includes the that were not subject to a first level review by the normal first level Supervisor, including the customer accounts of producing branch managers first-tier Supervisors.~~
2. ~~Concentration of securities must be reviewed.~~
3. ~~For all reviews evidence should be kept of inquiries, responses and actions. Monthly reviews should be completed within 21 business days of the period covered by the statement unless precluded by unusual circumstances.~~

E. Other Activity

In addition to transactional activity, a Dealer Member must have systems and procedures designed to identify, deal with and keep first level Supervisors informed about other client related matters such as:

- client complaints;
- cash account violations;
- transfers of funds and securities between unrelated accounts or between pro and client accounts or deposits from pro to client accounts;
- trading while under margin.

V. Option Account Supervision

Introduction

~~Each A Dealer Member dealing in options or Exchange traded commodity or index warrants must have an approved designated registered options principal (DROP) with appoint a Supervisor (the "Designated Options Supervisor") qualified to supervise options trading to have overall responsibility for the opening of new option accounts and the supervision of account activity. The Designated Options Supervisor must ensure that the Dealer Member implements policies and procedures reasonably designed to ensure that all recommendations made for any account are and continue to be appropriate for the client customer and in keeping with his/ or her investment objectives. In addition, there should be an alternate registered options principal (AROP) a Dealer Member should, where the level of options trading activity warrants it, have a qualified Supervisor to assist in supervisory activities and to carry out the functions of the DROP Designated Options Supervisor in his/ or her absence. All supervisory reviews procedures regarding options must be conducted by options qualified personnel. Any branch trading in options must have a branch manager who is options qualified Supervisors.~~

A. Account Opening and Approval

1. ~~The option trading agreement and option account approval form application must be completed, signed and on hand prior to and the client's agreement recorded before the first trade. This applies to new accounts or existing accounts approved for other products.~~
2. ~~The option trading agreement contents must meet or exceed Corporation requirements.~~
3. ~~All accounts must be approved in writing by the option-qualified branch manager or the DROP or the AROP.~~
3. The Designated Options Supervisor or another options qualified Supervisor must approve all accounts to trade in options and their approval and the date of approval must be recorded.

4. The approving Supervisor must determine whether the risk characteristics of the strategies the customer intends to use are appropriate for the customer and in keeping with his or her investment objectives and risk tolerance. If they are not, the approving Supervisor should restrict the account from using inappropriate strategies and note with the option account approval form must indicate any trading restrictions imposed. The Supervisor must ensure that the Registered Representative handling the account is aware of any restrictions.

B. Daily Activity Reviews

1. ~~Branch offices must review all~~A Dealer Member's supervisory procedures must include reviews of option daily trading activity for suitability, exceeding position or exercise limits, concentration, commission activity, and exposure of uncovered positions.

2. A two-tier post-trade review system using the following criteria is not mandatory but will be deemed to meet the review requirement:

- Daily first-tier review of all option trading activity:
- ~~2. Head office must~~Daily second-tier review on a daily basis all of opening option trading activity in excess of ten contracts in any one account. ~~In all options accounts, Head Office must monitor all trading to ensure that positions or exercise limits are not exceeded.~~

C. Monthly Reviews

1. ~~Branch offices must review on a monthly basis all option activity based on the same criteria as for regular equity trading activity.~~

2. ~~Head office must review on a monthly basis all option activity based on the same criteria as for regular equity trading activity.~~

D. DROP Responsibilities

1. ~~All discretionary and managed accounts must be reviewed by the DROP on a daily and monthly basis.~~

Accounts must be selected for monthly first- and second-tier reviews of account using criteria reasonably designed to detect improper activity. For accounts that trade in equities and fixed income products as well as options, it may be appropriate to use the criteria described in Section IV.D. For accounts in which the trading is more concentrated in options, the criteria should take into account the risks related to the type of strategies being used.

D. Other Options Policies and Procedures

A Dealer Member's policies and procedures must include, where applicable:

1. ~~The Designated Options Supervisor's involvement in the approval and daily and monthly reviews of any discretionary managed accounts trading in options. The Designated Options Supervisor need not conduct such reviews but should be aware of the use of options in discretionary or managed accounts and exercise heightened care to ensure that it is conducted and supervised properly.~~

2. ~~The DROP must establish procedures~~Procedures to ensure clients are notified of impending expiry dates.

3. ~~The DROP must establish procedures ensuring~~Procedures to ensure the dissemination of information on new developments in the trading and regulation of options ~~contracts~~ in a prudent and appropriate manner; and the dissemination to all clients of any changes in a firm's business policy.

4. ~~The DROP must ensure that only registered individuals engage in trading or advising in respect of options.~~

5. ~~All advertising and market letters to more than 10 clients relating to options, must be approved by the DROP.~~

6. ~~Solicitation of clients to use option programmes must have DROP approval.~~

4. Procedures for notifying clients of significant changes in options contracts in which they have open positions resulting from changes to the underlying security.

5. Procedures to ensure that only qualified Registered Representatives or Investment Representatives engage in trading in or advising on options and that they do so only after the Corporation has been notified as required in Rule 18.
6. Procedures to review and approve advertising and sales literature relating to options. The Designated Options Supervisor need not conduct such reviews but should be aware of the use of advertising or sales literature and exercise heightened care to ensure that it is prepared and supervised properly.
7. Procedures requiring the review and approval of the use of and solicitation of clients to use option programmes.

VI. Future/ and Futures Options Account Supervision

Introduction

~~Each~~ A Dealer Member dealing in futures must have an approved designated registered futures principal (DRFP) with contracts and futures contract options must designate a Supervisor qualified to supervise futures contract and futures contract options trading (the "Designated Futures Supervisor") to have overall responsibility for the opening of new futures and futures options accounts and the supervision of account activity. In addition, there should be an alternate registered futures principal (ARFP) The Designated Futures Supervisor must ensure that the Dealer Member implements policies and procedures reasonably designed to ensure that all recommendations made for any account are and continue to be appropriate for the client and in keeping with his or her investment objectives. In addition, a Dealer Member should, where the level of futures and futures options trading activity warrants it, have a qualified Supervisor to assist in supervisory activities and to carry out the functions of the DRFP in his/her absence. The DRFP must ensure that only registered individuals engage in trading or advising in respect to futures and that all recommendations made for any account are and continue to be appropriate for the client and in keeping with his/her investment objectives. These minimum standards also apply to futures contract options and the designated registered futures options principal (DRFOP) Designated Futures Supervisor in his or her absence. All supervisory procedures regarding futures and futures options must be conducted by futures and futures options qualified Supervisors.

A. Account Opening and Approval

1. ~~All accounts must be approved by a branch manager qualified as a futures contract supervisor, DRFP or ARFP prior to trading.~~
2. ~~All clients must acknowledge in writing receipt of the information statement and summary disclosure statement prior to trading.~~
1. The futures trading agreement or letter of undertaking under Rule 1800.2(b) and futures account application must be completed, and the client's agreement recorded, before the first trade. This applies to new accounts or existing accounts approved for other products.
2. The Designated Futures Supervisor or another futures qualified Supervisor must approve all accounts and their approval and the date of approval must be recorded before any trading.
3. ~~All clients must sign a futures contract trading agreement or letter of undertaking prior to trading.~~ 4. Before granting approval to a client as a hedger procedures must be present for The Supervisor approving the opening of a hedging account must ensure that the Dealer Member has reliable evidence establishing acceptability of a client as a hedger including use of. Such evidence can take the form of a hedge letter or statement and supported by verification procedures.
4. The approving Supervisor must determine whether the risk characteristics of the futures contracts or futures contract options and strategies the customer intends to use are appropriate for the customer and in keeping with his or her investment objectives and risk tolerance. If they are not, the approving Supervisor should restrict the account from using inappropriate contracts or strategies and record with the futures account approval any trading restrictions imposed. The approving Supervisor must ensure that the Registered Representative handling the account is aware of any restrictions.
5. ~~Any trading restrictions which apply to the account must be written on the new client account form.~~
5. A Dealer Member's futures account application or futures account agreement must include, other than for a hedging account, a risk limit for futures trading indicating the maximum amount of cumulative loss the client can afford to sustain. The maximum loss can be stated on a lifetime basis or on an annual basis. If the loss limit is stated on an annual basis, the Dealer Member must have a procedure to update it annually and the Designated Futures Supervisor or a Supervisor qualified to supervise futures must review and approve the updated loss limit and ensure that it takes into account any previously accumulated losses.

B. Supervision

1. ~~_____~~ Daily Reviews

~~A Dealer Member must conduct daily reviews of all futures and futures options trading activity. This review is undertaken to attempt to detect~~ Member's supervisory procedures must be reasonably designed to detect improper activity such as the following:

- excessive day trading resulting in trading large numbers of contracts;
- trading while under margin;
- trading ~~futures options~~ without approval of the account;
- trading beyond margin or credit limits;
- cumulative losses exceeding ~~stated risk capital (the aggregate of cumulative profits and cumulative losses)~~ risk limits;
 - ~~suitability~~;
 - unsuitable trading;
 - inappropriate trading strategies;
 - position and exercise limits;
 - front running;
 - conflicts of interest;
 - excessive commission activity;
 - ~~all guaranteed accounts~~.

2. ~~_____~~ Monthly Reviews

~~Dealer Members must conduct monthly reviews for futures and futures options trading activity. For example, a Dealer Member must review for:~~

- speculative trading in hedge accounts;
 - ~~cumulative losses exceeding stated risk capital (the aggregate of cumulative profits and cumulative losses)~~;
 - ~~trading beyond approved limits~~;
 - ~~continual awareness of pending delivery months~~;
 - ~~acceptability of a client as hedger~~;
 - ~~all guaranteed accounts~~.

C. ~~_____~~ Discretionary Accounts

- exposure to delivery through holding contracts into delivery month;
- excessive risk or loss to account guarantors.

C. Other Futures Policies and Procedures

A Dealer Member's policies and procedures must include where applicable:

1. Futures discretionary accounts must meet all the requirements for equity discretionary accounts. In addition to the requirements for equity discretionary accounts a DRFP must conduct the following additional activities for futures and The Designated Futures Supervisor's involvement in the approval and daily and monthly reviews of discretionary or managed futures or futures options accounts. The Designated Futures Supervisor should approve any use of discretionary authority in a futures account.
2. Discretionary authority must be accepted in writing by DRFP.3. DRFP mustA monthly review monthlyof the financial performance of each accountdiscretionary account by the Designated Futures Supervisor or a Supervisor qualified in futures contracts acting under the Designated Futures Supervisor's supervision.
3. Procedures to ensure that positions with pending delivery months are handled properly.
4. Procedures to ensure the dissemination of information on new developments in the trading and regulation of futures contracts, such as changes in minimum margin requirements, in a prudent and appropriate manner; and the dissemination to all clients of any changes in a firm's business policy.
5. Procedures to ensure that only qualified Registered Representatives engage in trading in or advising on futures contracts or futures contracts options and that they do so only after the Corporation has been notified as required in Rule 18.
6. Procedures to review and approve sales literature or advertising relating to futures The Designated Futures Supervisor need not conduct such reviews but should be aware of the use of futures advertising or sales literature and exercise heightened care to ensure that it is prepared and supervised properly.
7. Procedures requiring the review and approval of the use and solicitation of clients to use futures programmes.

VII. Discretionary and Managed Account Supervision

Introduction

Simple discretionary accounts are accounts where the discretionary authority has not been solicited and which are designed to accommodate customers who are frequently or temporarily unavailable to authorize trades.

Managed accounts are investment portfolios solicited for discretionary management on a continuing basis where the Dealer Member has held itself out as having special skills or abilities in the management of investment portfolios.

TheA Dealer Member must consent to accepting discretionary accounts and have the proper documentation and supervisory procedures in place to handle such accounts. A policy under which discretionary accounts are handled must be developed by the Dealer Member and distributed to all approved persons.

A. Simple Discretionary Accounts

1. Request for discretion must be approved in writing by a partner, director or officer (note: officer approval allowed only for Corporation and CDNX Members) appointed as the designated person.

A. Account Approval

1. The designated Supervisor under Rule 1300.4(a) must approve any request for discretion.
2. AThe Dealer Member and customer must enter into a discretionary account agreement must be signed by the client and the Dealer Member and must include that includes any restrictions to the trading authorizations which must be agreed to by the partner, director or officerauthorization. The Supervisor designated under Rule 1300.4(a) must approve the agreement.
3. No approved person may exercise discretionary authority over a client unless the account is maintained with the employer of the approved person.
3. The Dealer Member must identify discretionary accounts in its books and records in a manger that ensure that the Dealer Member can properly supervise them.

B. Entry of Orders

1. ~~All orders for discretionary accounts handled by registered representatives must be approved by a partner, director, branch manager or officer (if the officer is a designated person). A Supervisor must approve any discretionary order for a discretionary account handled by a Registered Representative prior to the order being entered unless:~~
 - the Registered Representative is qualified to provide discretionary management services and the Dealer Member has notified the Corporation that he or she provides those services, or
 - the Registered Representative is also an approved Executive.
2. ~~If a discretionary account may not hold any publicly traded securities of the Dealer Member, or that of its affiliates, are publicly traded no discretionary account may hold those securities.~~

C. Account Supervision

1. ~~Discretionary client account reviews must include all discretionary accounts handled by registered representatives, branch managers, partners, directors and officers. The Supervisor designated under Rule 1300.4(a) must review discretionary orders entered by an Executive no later than next day unless the Executive is also a Registered Representative qualified to provide discretionary management services and the Dealer Member has notified the Corporation that he or she provides those services.~~
2. ~~Persons conducting reviews must have adequate "Know-Your-Client" information readily available for each discretionary account.~~
3. ~~The Dealer Member must identify in its books and records discretionary accounts to ensure that proper supervision can occur.~~
4. ~~Orders initiated for client accounts by producing branch managers and partners, directors and officers must be reviewed no later than next day by head office.~~

D. Termination of Agreement

~~Either the client or the Dealer Member may cancel the authorization for discretion provided that it is in writing, giving an effective date which allows the client to make other arrangements. The Dealer Member must give the client 30 days notice.~~

E. Managed Accounts

1. ~~The Dealer Member must be approved by the Corporation to handle managed accounts and comply with all the requirements which are specifically detailed in the Rules. Only qualified portfolio managers may handle managed accounts.~~
2. ~~The client must sign a managed account agreement.~~
3. ~~Dealer Member must accept managed accounts in writing signed by a designated partner, director, officer or branch manager. The authorization must indicate the client's investment objectives.~~
4. ~~In a managed account the Dealer Member cannot without the written consent of the client:~~
 - ~~Invest in an issuer in which the responsible person is an officer or director. No such investment may be made unless such office or directorship has been disclosed to the client;~~
 - ~~Invest in a security which is being bought or sold from a responsible person's account to a managed account;~~
 - ~~Make a loan to a responsible person or to an associate.~~
5. ~~The Dealer Member must receive and acknowledge in writing cancellation by the client. The Dealer Member may terminate the arrangement in writing provided that it is not earlier than 30 days from the time of mailing.~~

VIII. Client Complaints

1. Each Dealer Member must establish procedures to deal effectively with client complaints.
 - (a) The Dealer Member must acknowledge all written client complaints.
 - (b) The Dealer Member must convey the results of its investigation of a client complaint to the client in due course.
 - (c) Client complaints involving the sales practices of a Dealer Member, its partners, directors, officers or employees must be in writing and signed by the client and then handled by sales supervisors or compliance staff. Copies of all such written submissions must be filed with the compliance department of the Dealer Member.
 - (d) Each Dealer Member must ensure that registered representatives and their supervisors are made aware of all complaints filed by their clients.
2. All pending legal actions must be made known to head office.
3. Each Dealer Member must put procedures in place so that senior management is made aware of complaints of serious misconduct and of all legal actions.
4. Each Dealer Member must maintain an orderly record of complaints together with follow-up documentation for regular internal/external compliance reviews. This record must cover the past two years at least.
5. Each Dealer Member must establish procedures to ensure that breaches of the by laws, regulations, rules and policies of the SROs as well as applicable securities legislation are subjected to appropriate internal disciplinary procedures.
6. When a Dealer Member finds complaints to be a significant factor, internal procedures and practices should be reviewed, with recommendations for changes to be submitted to the appropriate management level.

RULE 2700

MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR INSTITUTIONAL ACCOUNT OPENING, OPERATION AND SUPERVISION

Introduction

This Rule covers the opening, operation and supervision of institutional accounts, which are accounts for investors that are not individuals who meet the requirements of the definition herein.

This document sets out minimum standards governing the opening, operation and supervision of institutional accounts.

Pursuant to ~~Rules 29-27 and~~ Rule 38, the Dealer Member must provide adequate resources and qualified supervisors to achieve compliance with these standards.

Adherence to the minimum standards requires that a Dealer Member have in place procedures to properly open and operate institutional accounts and monitor their activity. Following these minimum standards, however, does not:

- (a) relieve a Dealer Member from complying with specific SRO by-laws, rules, regulations and policies and securities or other legislation applicable to particular trades or accounts; (e.g. best execution obligation, restrictions on short selling, order designations and identifiers, exposure of customer orders, trade disclosures);
- (b) relieve a Dealer Member from the obligation to impose higher standards where circumstances clearly dictate the necessity to do so to ensure proper supervision; or
- (c) preclude a Dealer Member from establishing higher standards.

Any account which is not an institutional account governed by these standards will be governed by the Minimum Standards for Retail Account Supervision (Rule 2500).

A Dealer Member may, with the written approval of the Corporation, establish policies and procedures that differ from this Rule, provided that, in the opinion of the Corporation, the Dealer Member's policies and procedures are appropriate to supervise trading of its institutional customers.

I. Account Opening

~~A. Definition of an Institutional Customer~~

~~For the purposes of this Rule, the following are defined as institutional customers:~~

- ~~1. Acceptable Counterparties (as defined in Form 1);~~
- ~~2. Acceptable Institutions (as defined in Form 1);~~
- ~~3. Regulated entities (as defined in Form 1);~~
- ~~4. Registrants (other than individual registrants) under securities legislation;~~
- ~~5. A non individual with total securities under administration or management exceeding \$10 million.~~

Customer Suitability

- 1. When dealing with an institutional customer, a Dealer Member must make a determination whether the customer is sufficiently sophisticated and capable of making its own investment decisions in order to determine the level of suitability owed to that institutional customer. Where a Dealer Member has reasonable grounds for concluding that the institutional customer is capable of making an independent investment decision and independently evaluating the investment risk, then a Dealer Member's suitability obligation is fulfilled for that transaction. If no such reasonable grounds exist, then the Dealer Member must take steps to ensure that the institutional customer fully understands the investment product, including the potential risks.
- 2. In making a determination whether a customer is capable of independently evaluating investment risk and is exercising independent judgment, relevant considerations could include:
 - (a) any written or oral understanding that exists between a Dealer Member and its customer regarding the customer's reliance on the Dealer Member;

- (b) the presence or absence of a pattern of acceptance of the Dealer Member's recommendations;
 - (c) the use by a customer of ideas, suggestions, market views and information obtained from other Dealer Members, market professionals or issuers particularly those relating to the same type of securities;
 - (d) the use of one or more investment dealers, portfolio managers, investment counsel or other third party advisors;
 - (e) the general level of experience of the customer in financial markets;
 - (f) the specific experience of the customer with the type of instrument(s) under consideration, including the customer's ability to independently evaluate how market developments would affect the security and ancillary risks such as currency rate risk; and
 - (g) the complexity of the securities involved.
3. ~~No~~A Dealer Member has no suitability obligation ~~shall exist pursuant to~~ under Section B(1.1) nor and is not required to make a determination required under Section B(2) ~~where a.2 when the~~ Dealer Member executes a trade on the instructions of another Dealer Member, a portfolio manager, investment counsel, limited market dealer, bank, trust company or insurer.
4. A Dealer Member has no suitability obligation under Section 1.1 and is not required to make a determination required under Section 1.2 when the Dealer Member executes a trade on the instructions of a "permitted client" as defined in Section 1.1(1) of National Instrument 31-103, other than an individual or a customer described in Section 1.3, if the customer has waived, in writing, the protections offered to the customer under Sections 1.1 and 1.2

CII. New Account Documentation and Approval

~~The following documentation is required for each institutional account opening:~~

- 1. ~~New~~A Dealer Member must complete a new customer account form for each Institutional Customer; and
- 2. ~~All documentation as required by the self regulatory organization governing the Dealer Member. The~~A Dealer Member may establish a 'master' new account documentation file, containing full documentation and, when opening sub-accounts, it should refer to the principal or 'master' account with which it is associated.
- 3. ~~Each new account must be approved by the~~a Supervisor who is Department Head or his/ or her designate ~~who is a partner, director or officer,~~ prior to the initial trade or promptly thereafter. Such approval must be ~~documented~~recorded in writing or auditable electronic form.
- 4. ~~The Dealer Member must exercise due diligence to ensure that the new customer account form is updated whenever the Dealer Member becomes aware that there is a material change in customer information.~~

IIII. Establishing and Maintaining Procedures, Delegation and Education

Introduction

Effective self-regulation begins with the Dealer Member establishing and maintaining a supervisory environment which fosters both the business objectives of the Dealer Member and maintains the self-regulatory process. To that end, a Dealer Member must establish and maintain procedures which are supervised by qualified individuals.

A. Establishing Procedures

- 1. ~~A Dealer Members Member~~ must appoint a designated ~~supervisor, who is a partner, director or officer and~~Supervisor, who has the necessary knowledge of industry regulations and Dealer Member policy to properly establish procedures reasonably designed to ensure adherence to regulatory requirements and to supervise Institutional Accounts.
- 2. Written policies must be established to document and communicate supervisory requirements.
- 3. All supervisory alternates must be advised of and adequately trained for their supervisory roles.
- 4. All policies established or amended should have senior management approval.

B. Maintaining Procedures

1. Evidence of supervisory reviews must be maintained for seven years and on-site for one year.
2. A periodic review of supervisory policies and procedures should be carried out by the Dealer Member to ensure they continue to be effective and reflect any material changes to the businesses involved.

C. Delegation of Procedures

1. Tasks and procedures may be delegated but not responsibility.
2. The supervisor delegating the task must take steps designed to ensure that these tasks are being performed adequately and that exceptions are brought to his/her attention.
3. Those to whom tasks are delegated must have the qualifications to perform them and should be advised in writing what is expected.

D. Education

1. The Dealer Member's current sales practices and policies must be made available to all sales and supervisory personnel. Dealer Members should obtain and record acknowledgements from all sales and supervisory personnel that they have received, read and understood the policies and procedures relevant to their responsibilities.
2. A major aspect of self-regulation is the ongoing education of staff. The Dealer Member is responsible for appropriate training of institutional sales and trading staff, as well as ensuring that Continuing Education requirements are being met.

E. Compliance Monitoring Procedures

Dealer Members must establish compliance procedures for monitoring and reporting adherence to rules, regulations, requirements, policies and procedures. A compliance monitoring system should be reasonably designed to prevent and detect violations. The compliance monitoring system will ordinarily include a procedure for reporting results of its monitoring efforts to management and, where appropriate, the board of directors or its equivalent.

III.V. Supervision of Accounts

A. Policies and Procedures

1. Dealer Members must implement policies and procedures for the supervision and review of activity in the accounts of institutional customers. Such procedures may include periodic reviews of account activity, exception reports or other means of analysis.
2. The policies and procedures may vary depending on factors including, but not limited to, the type of product, type of customer, type of activity or level of activity.
3. The policies and procedures should outline the action to be taken to deal with problems or issues identified from supervisory reviews.

B. Account Activity Detection

The supervisory procedures and the compliance monitoring procedures should be reasonably designed to detect account activity that is or may be a violation of applicable securities legislation, requirements of any self-regulatory organization applicable to the account activity and the rules and policies of any marketplace on which the account activity takes place, and would include the following:

1. Manipulative or deceptive methods of trading;
2. Trading in restricted list securities;
3. Employee or proprietary account frontrunning;
4. Exceeding position or exercise limits on derivative products; and

5. Transactions raising a suspicion of money laundering or terrorist financing activity.

IV. Client Complaints

1. Each Dealer Member must establish procedures to deal effectively with client complaints.
 - (a) The Dealer Member must acknowledge all written client complaints.
 - (b) The Dealer Member must convey the results of its investigation of a client complaint to the client in due course.
 - (c) Client complaints involving the sales practices of a Dealer Member, its partners, directors, officers or employees must be in writing and signed by the client and then handled by sales supervisors or compliance staff. Copies of all such written submissions must be filed with the compliance department of the Dealer Member.
 - (d) Each Dealer Member must ensure that registered representatives and their supervisors are made aware of all complaints filed by their clients.
2. All pending legal actions must be made known to head office.
3. Each Dealer Member must put procedures in place so that senior management is made aware of complaints of serious misconduct and of all legal actions.
4. Each Dealer Member must maintain an orderly record of complaints together with follow-up documentation for regular internal/external compliance reviews. This record must cover the past two years at least.
5. Each Dealer Member must establish procedures to ensure that breaches of the by-laws, regulations, rules and policies of the SROs as well as applicable securities legislation are subjected to appropriate internal disciplinary procedures.
6. When a Dealer Member finds complaints to be a significant factor, internal procedures and practices should be reviewed, with recommendations for changes to be submitted to the appropriate management level.

RULE 2900

PROFICIENCY AND EDUCATION:

PART I – PROFICIENCY REQUIREMENTS

INTRODUCTION

This Part I outlines the proficiency requirements for ~~registered persons~~ Approved Persons. These proficiency requirements consist of both entrance thresholds and on-going requirements.

DEFINITIONS

For the purpose of this Part I:

“Recognized Foreign Self-regulatory Organization” means a foreign self-regulatory organization which offers a reciprocal treatment to Canadian applicants and which has been approved as such by Corporation.

All courses and examinations, unless otherwise specified, are administered by ~~the Canadian Securities Institute~~ CSI Global Education Inc.

A. Proficiency Requirements for ~~Registered~~ Approved Persons

~~1. Branch Managers and Sales Managers~~

1. Supervisors

- (a) The proficiency requirements for ~~a sales manager, branch manager, assistant or co-branch manager under Rule 4.9 are:~~ Supervisors of Approved Persons dealing with retail customers are:
- (i) Two years of relevant experience ~~as a securities dealer or working in the office of~~ for a broker or dealer in securities ~~in various positions or such equivalent experience as may be acceptable to the applicable District Council;~~
 - (ii) ~~Approval as a registered representative; and~~ (iii) Successful if supervising Registered Representatives dealing with retail customers, successful completion of
 - A. The Branch Managers Course, and
 - B. The Options Supervisors Course if the Dealer Member trades options with the public and C. The Effective Management Seminar within 18 months of approval after beginning to supervise Registered Representatives dealing with retail customers.
 - (iii) If supervising Investment Representatives only, successful completion of the Branch Managers Course
 - (iv) If supervising options trading, successful completion of The Options Supervisors Course
 - (v) If supervising futures contract and futures contract options, successful completion of:
 - A. 1. The Derivatives Fundamentals Course and the Futures Licensing Course (“FLC”),
or
 - 2. The FLC and the National Commodity Futures Examination administered by the National Association of Securities Dealers;
 - and
 - B. the Canadian Commodity Supervisors Examination.
- (b) The proficiency requirements for ~~a branch manager (non retail), assistant branch manager (non retail) or co-branch manager (non retail) under Rule 4.9~~ Supervisors of Approved Persons dealing with institutional accounts only are:

- (i) Successful completion of:
 - A. The Branch Managers Course, or
 - B. the Partners, Directors and Senior Officers ~~Qualifying Examination~~ Course, and
- (ii) The proficiency requirements necessary to conduct or supervise any trading activity carried on by Approved Persons ~~in the branch he or she supervises.~~

2. ~~Partners, Directors and Officers~~ Executives

The proficiency requirements for a ~~partner, director~~ Director or ~~officer~~ Executive under Rule 7.3 or 7.4 are:

- (a) Successful completion of the Partners, Directors and Senior Officers ~~Qualifying Examination~~ Course;
- (b) If also approved in a trading category, ~~retail or non-retail~~ successful completion of the applicable proficiency requirements; and
- ~~(c) If supervising the handling of customer accounts, successful completion of the applicable proficiency requirements for Investment Representative, Registered Representative, or Registered Representative—Options/Futures; and~~ (c) If supervising a branch or sub-branch of a Dealer Member that is approved to trade options with the public, successful completion of the Options Supervisors Course—a Supervisor.

2A. Chief Financial Officers

~~1.~~ 1. The proficiency requirements for a chief financial officer pursuant to Rule ~~7.538.6~~ are:

- (a) A financial accounting designation, university degree or diploma, or equivalent work experience; and
- (b) Successful completion of the Partners, Directors and Senior Officers ~~Qualifying Examination~~ Course, and
- (c) Successful completion of the Chief Financial Officers Qualifying Examination.
- ~~(d) Notwithstanding subsection (c) above, any person approved as Chief Financial Officer with a Dealer Member as of January 5, 2004, shall have until July 5, 2005 to successfully complete the Chief Financial Officer Examination in order to maintain approval as Chief Financial Officer. A person approved as acting~~ 2. A person approved as Acting Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 7.5(b) shall have 90 days from the date of termination of the Chief Financial Officer to successfully complete of the Chief Financial ~~Officer~~ Officers Qualifying Examination.
- ~~(e)3.~~ 3. Any Dealer Member that fails to provide to the Corporation proof of successful completion of the Chief Financial Officers Qualifying Examination within 10 days of the dates specified for successful completion in ~~paragraph (d)~~ section 2 above, or such other dates as the Corporation may specify, shall be liable for and pay to the Corporation such fees as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe.

2B. Chief Compliance Officers

~~1.~~ 1. The proficiency requirements for a chief compliance officer pursuant to Rule ~~38.638.7~~ are:

- (a) Successful completion of the Partners, Directors and Senior Officers Qualifying Examination;
And
and
- (b) Successful completion of the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Examination.
- ~~(e)2.~~ 2. Notwithstanding subsection 1(b) above, any person approved as Chief Compliance Officer with a Dealer Member as of October 1, 2007 shall have until April 1, 2009 to successfully complete the Chief Compliance Officers Examination in order to maintain approval as Chief Compliance Officer.
- ~~(e)3.~~ 3. A person approved as acting Chief Compliance Officer pursuant to Rule 38.7 shall have 90 days from the date of termination of the Chief Compliance Officer to successfully complete of the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Examination.

~~(e)4.~~ Any Dealer Member that fails to provide to the Corporation proof of successful completion of the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Examination within 10 days of the dates specified for successful completion in ~~paragraphs (e)sections 2 or (d)3~~ above, or such other dates as the Corporation may specify, shall be liable for and pay to the Corporation such fees as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe.

3. Registered Representatives and Investment Representatives

The proficiency requirements for a ~~registered representative or investment representative~~ Registered Representative or Investment Representative under Rule 18.3 are:

- (a) ~~(i)~~ Successful completion of
- ~~(iA)~~ The Canadian Securities Course prior to commencing the training programme described in subsection ~~(#C)~~,
 - ~~(iB)~~ The Conduct and Practices Handbook Course, and
 - ~~(iC)~~ Either
 - ~~A.~~ For a ~~registered representative, except for a registered representative (non-retail), 1.~~ For a Registered Representative dealing with retail customers a three-month training programme during which time he or she has been employed with a Dealer Member firm on a full-time basis, or
 - ~~B-2.~~ For an ~~investment representative~~ Investment Representative, a 30-day training programme during which time he or she has been employed with a Dealer Member firm on a full-time basis;
- or
- ~~(b)i)~~ Successful completion of the New Entrants Course, where the person was registered or licensed with a recognized foreign self-regulatory organization within three years prior to application with the Corporation;
- and
- ~~(c)~~ ~~For a registered representative (b)~~ For a Registered Representative dealing with retail customers other than a registered representative ~~(dealing in mutual funds) or a registered representative (non-retail) only,~~ successful completion of the Wealth Management Essentials course within 30 months ~~of~~ after his or her approval as a ~~registered representative~~ Registered Representative.

4. Registered Representatives ~~(Mutual Funds)~~ and Investment Representatives (Dealing only in Mutual Funds)

The proficiency requirement for a ~~registered representative (Registered Representative or Investment Representative dealing only in mutual funds) or investment representative (mutual funds)~~ under Rule 18.7 is successful completion of:

- (a) The Canadian Securities Course;
- (b) The Canadian Investment Funds Course administered by IFIC,
- (c) The Investment Funds in Canada Course administered by the Institute of Canadian Bankers, or
- (d) The Principles of Mutual Funds Investment Course administered by the Canadian Trust Institute.

5. Traders

~~5-1~~ The proficiency requirement for a Trader under Rule 500.2 is:

- (a) for a Trader on the Toronto Stock Exchange or TSX Venture Exchange, the Trader Training Course, unless an exemption is granted by either exchange or its market regulation services provider.
- (b) for a Trader on the Bourse de Montreal, the proficiency requirements determined to be acceptable by Bourse de Montreal.

6. Portfolio Managers~~Management~~

6.1 The proficiency requirements for a ~~portfolio manager under Rule 1300.9~~Registered Representative providing discretionary portfolio management for managed accounts that do not trade in futures contracts are:

- (a) Successful completion of
 - (i) The ~~Portfolio Management Techniques~~Conduct and Practices Handbook Course, and
 - A. ~~The Professional Financial Planning Course prior to August 31, 2002, or~~
 - (ii) ~~either~~
 - A. The Portfolio Management Techniques Course and The Investment Management Techniques Course, or
 - B. ~~The Investment Management Techniques Course, or~~(ii) ~~The three levels of the Chartered Financial Analyst programme administered by the CFA Institute;~~
- and
- (b) Experience
 - (i) ~~Of at least three years as an associate portfolio manager, (ii) Of at least three years as a registered representative and two years of experience as an associate portfolio manager, (iii) Of at least three years as~~ a research analyst for a Dealer Member firm of a self regulatory organization and two years as an associate portfolio manager, or₂
 - (ii) Of at least two years ending not more than three years prior to the date of application as a registered advisor under Canadian securities legislation managing on a discretionary basis at least \$5,000,000 in aggregate assets; or
 - (iviii) Of at least five years ending not more than three years prior to the date of application, managing a portfolio of \$5,000,000 or more, on a discretionary basis, while employed by a government-regulated institution; and₂
 - (c) ~~For a period of not less than one year ending within the three years prior to the date of application, having had assets with an aggregate value of not less than \$5,000,000 under his or her direct administration on a discretionary basis.~~

6.2 The proficiency requirements for a ~~Registered Representative exercising discretionary authority over managed accounts trading in futures contracts~~ portfolio manager under Rule 1300.12 ~~or futures contracts options~~ are:

- (a) Successful completion of
 - (i) The Canadian Commodity Supervisors Exam, the Futures Licensing Course (FLC) and the courses necessary to attain the Derivatives Market Specialist Designation; or
 - (ii) The Chartered Financial Analyst program administered by the CFA Institute; and
- (b) Experience ending no earlier than three years prior to the date of application of: (i) commencing to exercise discretionary authority over managed accounts of at least 5 years as an Approved Person in ~~one of the categories of futures contracts approval under Rule 1800.3, or~~
 - (ii) ~~of at least 3 years as an Approved Person in one of the categories of futures contracts approval under Rule 1800.3 and two years as an associate futures contracts portfolio manager during which periods the applicant shall have been actively engaged in advising on trades in or managing futures contracts accounts and trading in futures contracts or futures contracts options for customer accounts.~~

6.3 ~~The proficiency requirements for an associate portfolio manager under Rule 1300.10 are:~~

- (a) ~~Successful completion of~~

- (i) ~~The Portfolio Management Techniques Course and~~
 - A. ~~The Professional Financial Planning Course prior to August 31, 2002, or~~
 - B. ~~The Investment Management Techniques Course, or~~
- (ii) ~~The three levels of the Chartered Financial Analyst programme administered by the CFA Institute; and~~

(b) ~~Experience~~

- (i) ~~Of at least two years as a registered and practising registered representative, or~~
- (ii) ~~Of at least two years as a research analyst for a member firm of a self regulatory organization.~~

6.4 ~~The proficiency requirements for an associate futures contracts portfolio manager under Rule 1300.13 are:~~

(a) ~~Successful completion of~~

- (i) ~~The Futures Licensing Course and the courses necessary to attain the Derivatives Market Specialist Designation; or~~
- (ii) ~~The Chartered Financial Analyst program administered by the CFA Institute; and~~

(b) ~~Experience ending no earlier than three years prior to the date of application of at least 3 years as an Approved Person in one of the categories of futures contracts approval under Rule 1800.3, during which period the applicant shall have been actively engaged in advising on trades in futures contracts.~~

7. Commodity Futures Contracts and Options

7.1 ~~The proficiency requirements for a person~~Registered Representative or Investment Representative who deals with customers ~~with respect to~~in futures contracts or futures contract options ~~under Rule 1800.3 are successful completion of:~~

- (a) ~~The Derivatives Fundamentals Course and the Futures Licensing Course (the "FLC"), or~~
- (b) ~~The FLC~~Futures Licensing Course and the National Commodity Futures Examination ~~(the "NCFE") administered by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority; and~~

7.2 ~~The proficiency requirements for a futures contract principal or alternate, futures contract options principal or alternate or branch manager authorized to supervise accounts trading in futures contracts or futures contract options are:~~

- (a) ~~Successful completion of the requirements of section 7.1, and~~(b) ~~Successful completion of the Canadian Commodity Supervisors Examination.~~

8. Options

~~The proficiency requirement for options under Rule 1900.3 and Rule 18.9 are~~Registered Representative or Investment Representative who deals with customers in options is successful completion of:(a) ~~The~~the Derivatives Fundamentals Course and the Options Licensing Course, and (b) ~~The Options Supervisors Course, in the case of a registered options principal or alternate.~~

B. General Exemption

(a) ~~Notwithstanding this Part I, the~~1. ~~The applicable District Council, pursuant to~~may, under Rule 20.24, ~~may~~ exempt any person or class of persons from the proficiency requirements on such terms and conditions, if any, as the applicable District Council may see fit.

(b)2. ~~The Board of Directors may prescribe a fee to be paid for any exemption application under paragraph (a)-~~1.

RULE 2900

PROFICIENCY AND EDUCATION:

PART II – EXAMINATION REWRITE REQUIREMENTS AND COURSE AND EXAMINATION EXEMPTIONS

INTRODUCTION

This Part II outlines the exemptions that exist from the Corporation's course and examination requirements for persons seeking to be approved in certain categories of registration. This Part II exempts applicants from the requirement to rewrite courses or examinations that they have successfully completed if they are re-entering the industry, re-registering in a category of registration or seeking initial registration within certain time periods. This Part II also provides exemptions to applicants from the requirements to initially write a course or examination if the applicant satisfies one of the specifically enumerated exemptions based on grandfathering provisions or the successful completion of other courses and examinations. In addition, this Part II sets out the basis upon which the applicable District Council may grant a discretionary exemption.

DEFINITIONS

For the purposes of this Part II:

~~"Approved Person" means an applicant that is approved by and registered with a self regulatory organization in a category of registration;~~

~~"Recognized Foreign Self regulatory Organization" means a foreign self regulatory organization which offers a reciprocal treatment to Canadian applicants and which has been approved as such by Corporation.~~

All courses and examinations, unless otherwise specified, are administered by ~~the Canadian Securities Institute~~ CSI Global Education Inc.

~~A. Exemptions from Rewriting~~

A. Requirement to Rewrite Courses and Examinations

1. Current and Former Approved Persons

~~(a) An applicant for Approval who was previously approved in a category must complete a proficiency requirement if he or she has not been approved in the category to which the requirement applies within the three years prior to the date of application.~~

~~(b) An Applicant or Approved Person who has previously conducted a type of business must complete a proficiency required to conduct the type of business if he or she has not conducted the type of business within the past three years.~~

~~(c) Sections (a) and (b) do not apply to new or amended course requirements not required when the Approved Person or applicant for Approval was initially approved or began to conduct the type of business, provided that the applicant was not under a requirement to complete the course or examination when the applicant's approval lapsed.~~

2. Approval after Completion of Course

~~An applicant for Approval who has never been approved or conducted a type of business must rewrite a required examination or course if it was completed more than two years before the date of application.~~

3. The Canadian Securities Course

~~An applicant shall be exempt from rewriting (a) An applicant for approval who has not previously been approved in a category or conducted a type of business requiring the Canadian Securities Course who would otherwise be required to rewrite the course is exempt if the applicant has:~~

~~(a) Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing;~~

~~(b) Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of that category of approval lapsing; (c) Is currently seeking approval within three years of successfully~~

~~completing the Canadian Securities Course or i) _____ within two years of prior to the date of application, successfully completing completed any one of the Professional Financial Planning Course, Wealth Management Techniques Course, Investment Management Techniques Course, Portfolio Management Techniques Course, or the three levels of the Chartered Financial Analyst programme administered by the CFA Institute; or;~~

~~(d) — Is seeking re-approval within three years of successfully completing the Professional Financial Planning Course, Wealth Management Techniques Course, Investment Management Techniques Course, Portfolio Management Techniques Course, or the three levels of the Chartered Financial Analyst programme administered by the CFA Institute; or~~

~~(e) — Is seeking approval or re-approval within three years of successfully completing the New Entrants Course ii) _____ within three years prior to the date of application completed the New Entrants Course or the Canadian Securities Course~~

~~(b) An applicant for approval in a category or to conduct business requiring the Canadian Securities Course who was approved in a category or conducted a type of business requiring the course and who would otherwise be required to rewrite the course is exempt if the applicant has within three years prior to the date of application successfully completed any one of the Professional Financial Planning Course, Wealth Management Techniques Course, Investment Management Techniques Course, Portfolio Management Techniques Course, or the three levels of the Chartered Financial Analyst programme administered by the CFA Institute.~~

~~2. — The Conduct and Practices Handbook Course~~

~~An applicant shall be exempt from rewriting the Conduct and Practices Handbook Course if the applicant~~

~~(a) — Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing;~~

~~(b) — Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of that category of approval lapsing; or~~

~~(c) — Is currently seeking approval within two years of successfully completing the Conduct and Practices Handbook Course.~~

~~3. — The Partners, Directors and Senior Officers Qualifying Examination~~

~~An applicant shall be exempt from rewriting the Partners, Directors and Senior Officers Qualifying Examination if the applicant~~

~~(a) — Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing;~~

~~(b) — Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of that category of approval lapsing; or~~

~~(c) — Is currently seeking approval within two years of successfully completing the Partners, Directors and Senior Officers Qualifying Examination.~~

~~3A. 4. — The Chief Financial Officers Qualifying Examination~~

~~An applicant shall be exempt from rewriting who would otherwise be required to rewrite the Chief Financial Officers Qualifying Examination is exempt if the applicant: (a) — is currently approved in any category other than chief financial officer and has, since completing the chief financial officers examination, has Chief Financial Officers Qualifying Examination, been working closely with and providing assistance to the chief financial officer; a Chief Financial Officer.~~

~~(b) — was approved as chief financial officer with a member and is currently seeking re-approval as such within three years of the end of the last approval date;~~

~~(c) — is currently seeking approval as chief financial officer within two years of successfully completing the chief financial officers examination.~~

4.5. The Derivatives Fundamentals Course

~~(a) An applicant shall be exempt from rewriting for Approval or Approved Person who will be dealing with customers in futures contracts or futures contracts options and who would otherwise be required to rewrite the Derivatives Fundamentals Course is exempt if the applicant~~

- ~~(a) Was an approved person currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing; (b) Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of that category of approval lapsing; or (c) Is currently seeking approval within two years of successfully completing the Derivatives Fundamentals Course, or Approved Person has within the past two years completed the Futures Licensing Course, Options Licensing course, or the Canadian Commodity Supervisors Examination;~~

5. The Options Licensing Course

~~(b) An applicant shall be exempt from rewriting the Options Licensing Course for Approval or Approved Person who will be dealing with customers in options and who would otherwise be required to rewrite the Derivatives Fundamentals Course is exempt if the applicant~~

- ~~(a) Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing; (b) Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of that category of approval lapsing; or (c) Is currently seeking approval within two years of successfully completing or Approved Person has within the past two years completed the Options Licensing Course.~~

6. The Options Supervisors Course

~~An applicant shall be exempt from rewriting the Options Supervisors Course if the applicant~~

- ~~(a) Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing;~~
- ~~(b) Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of that category of approval lapsing; or~~
- ~~(c) Is currently seeking approval within two years of successfully completing the Options Supervisors Course.~~
- ~~**7. The Futures Licensing Course**~~

~~An applicant shall be exempt from rewriting the Futures Licensing Course if the applicant~~

- ~~(a) Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing;~~
- ~~(b) Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of that category of approval lapsing; or~~
- ~~(c) Is currently seeking approval within two years of successfully completing the Futures Licensing Course or Canadian Commodity Supervisors Examination; or~~
- ~~(d) Is seeking re-approval within three years of successfully completing the Canadian Commodity Supervisors Examination.~~

8. The Canadian Commodity Supervisors Examination

~~An applicant shall be exempt from rewriting the Canadian Commodity Supervisors Examination if the applicant~~

- ~~(a) Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing;~~
- ~~(b) Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of that category of approval lapsing; or~~

- ~~(c) — Is currently seeking approval within two years of successfully completing the Canadian Commodity Supervisors Examination.~~

9. — The Branch Managers Course

An applicant shall be exempt from rewriting the Branch Managers Course if the applicant

- ~~(a) — Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing;~~
- ~~(b) — Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of that category of approval lapsing; or~~
- ~~(c) — Is currently seeking approval within two years of successfully completing the Branch Managers Course.~~

10. — The wealth management essentials course

An applicant for Approval or Approved Person who will be dealing with customers in futures contracts or futures contracts options and who would otherwise be required to rewrite the Futures Licensing Course is exempt if the applicant or Approved Person has within the past two years completed the Canadian Commodity Supervisors Examination.

7. — The Wealth Management Essentials course

An applicant shall be exempt from rewriting who would otherwise be required to rewrite the Wealth Management Essentials Course if the applicant

- ~~(a) — Was registered or approved in any trading capacity, including registration or approval restricted to mutual funds but excluding approval as a Trader (Bourse de Montreal), Trader (TSX), or Trade (TSX-VN) and is currently seeking to re-enter the industry within three years of the registration or approval lapsing;~~
- ~~(b) — Is currently registered or approved in any trading capacity, including registration or approval restricted to mutual funds but excluding approval as a Trader (Bourse de Montreal), Trader (TSX), or Trader (TSX-VN) and is seeking registration in another category; (c) is exempt if the applicant is currently seeking approval within two years of successfully completing the Investment Management Techniques Course, Portfolio Management Techniques Course, 3 levels of the Certified Financial Analyst programme administered by the CFA Institute, Professional Financial Planning Course, or the Wealth Management Techniques Course; ~~or,~~~~
- ~~(d) — Is seeking re-approval within three years of successfully completing the Investment Management Techniques Course, Portfolio Management Techniques Course, 3 levels of the Certified Financial Analyst programme administered by the CFA Institute, Professional Financial Planning Course or the Wealth Management Techniques Course.~~

11. — Repealed.

12. — The Canadian Investment Funds Course

An applicant shall be exempt from rewriting the Canadian Investment Funds Course administered by IFIC if the applicant

- ~~(a) — Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing;~~
- ~~(b) — Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of that category of approval lapsing; or~~
- ~~(c) — Is currently seeking approval within two years of successfully completing the Canadian Investment Funds Course.~~

13. — The Investment Funds in Canada Course

An applicant shall be exempt from rewriting the Investment Funds in Canada Course administered by the Institute of Canadian Bankers if the applicant

- ~~(a) — Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing;~~
- ~~(b) — Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of that category of approval lapsing; or~~
- ~~(c) — Is currently seeking approval within two years of successfully completing the Investment Funds in Canada Course.~~

14. ~~The Principles of Mutual Funds Investment Course~~

~~An applicant shall be exempt from rewriting the Principles of Mutual Funds Investment Course administered by the Canadian Trust Institute if the applicant~~

- ~~(a) — Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing;~~
- ~~(b) — an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of that category of approval lapsing; or~~
- ~~(c) — Is currently seeking approval within two years of successfully completing the Principles of Mutual Funds Investment Course.~~

8. 30-Day Training Program

An applicant is exempt from re-doing the 30-day training program required under Rule 2900 Part 1, section 3(a)(iii) B if, within three years prior to application, the applicant was approved for trading for retail clients in securities with a Dealer Member or by a recognized foreign regulatory authority or self regulatory organization or a Canadian securities regulatory authority.

9. 90-Day Training Program

An applicant is exempt from re-doing the 90-day training program required under Rule 2900 Part 1, section 3(a)(iii) A if, within three years prior to application, the applicant was approved for trading and advising retail clients in securities with a Dealer Member or by a recognized foreign regulatory authority or self regulatory organization or a Canadian securities regulatory authority.

B. Exemptions from Writing

1. Current and Former Approved Persons

- ~~(a) — An Approved Person is exempt from completing a new or amended proficiency requirement not in place at the time he or she was approved in a category unless the rule setting the requirement specifically provides otherwise.~~
- ~~(b) — An applicant for approval who was an Approved Person is exempt from completing a new or amended proficiency requirement not in place at the time of the applicant's previous approval in the same category for three years after the applicant's previous approval lapsed unless the rule setting the requirement specifically provides otherwise.~~

2. The Canadian Securities Course

An applicant ~~shall be~~ exempt from writing the Canadian Securities Course if the applicant

- ~~(a) — Has been approved continuously as a registered representative since November, 1962;~~
- ~~(b) — Has successfully completed the previously existing Corporation Course I and II, or the previously existing Corporation Course I and has acquired five consecutive years of industry experience and
 - ~~(i) — Is currently approved as an investment representative or registered representative,~~
 - ~~(ii) — Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing, or~~
 - ~~(iii) — Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of the approval of that category lapsing;~~~~

- (c) ~~Has successfully completed the Canadian Investment Management program, Parts I and II and~~
 - (i) ~~Is currently approved as an investment representative or a registered representative,~~
 - (ii) ~~Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of the approval lapsing,~~
 - (iii) ~~Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of that category of approval lapsing, or (d) Has has previously been registered or licensed with a recognized foreign regulatory authority or self-regulatory organization and has successfully completed the New Entrants Course within two years of the application.~~

2. ~~The Conduct and Practices Handbook Course~~

~~An applicant shall be exempt from writing the Conduct and Practices Handbook Course if the applicant~~

- (a) ~~Has been approved continuously as a registered representative since December, 1971; or~~
- (b) ~~Has successfully completed the Partners, Directors and Senior Officers Qualifying Examination and~~
 - (i) ~~Is currently approved as a partner, director, senior officer, investment representative or registered representative,~~
 - (ii) ~~Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing,~~
 - (iii) ~~Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of that category of approval lapsing, or (iv) Is currently seeking approval within two years of successfully completing the Partners, Directors and Senior Officers Qualifying Examination.~~

3. ~~The Partners, Directors and Senior Officers Qualifying Examination~~

~~An applicant shall be exempt from writing the Partners, Directors and Senior Officers Qualifying Examination if the applicant has been approved continuously as a partner, director or senior officer since March 1973.4. **The Derivatives Fundamentals Course**~~

~~An applicant shall be exempt from writing the Derivatives Fundamentals Course if the applicant has successfully completed the Canadian Options Course, the National Commodity Futures Examination, the Canadian Futures Examinations, Futures Licensing Course, or Canadian Commodity Supervisors Examination, and~~

- (a) ~~Is currently approved as a registered representative options,~~
- (b) ~~Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing,~~
- (c) ~~Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of that category of approval lapsing, or (d) Is currently seeking approval within two years of successfully completing the Options Course Licensing Course, the Options Supervisors Course, the Futures Licensing Course, or the Canadian Commodity Supervisors Examination.~~

5. ~~The Options Licensing Course~~

~~An applicant shall be exempt from writing the Options Licensing Course if the applicant has successfully completed the Canadian Options Course and~~

- (a) ~~Is currently approved as a registered representative options,~~
- (b) ~~Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing, or~~
- (c) ~~Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of that category of approval lapsing.~~

6. ~~The Options Supervisors Course~~

An applicant shall be exempt from writing the Options Supervisors Course if the applicant

- (a) ~~Has been approved continuously as a registered options principal since January, 1978; or~~
- (b) ~~Has successfully completed the Registered Options Principals Qualifying Examination and
 - (i) ~~Is currently approved as a registered options principal;~~
 - (ii) ~~Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing; or~~
 - (iii) ~~Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of that category of approval lapsing.~~~~

7. ~~The Futures Licensing Course~~

An applicant shall be exempt from writing the Futures Licensing Course if the applicant has successfully completed the National Commodity Futures Examination and the Canadian Commodity Futures Examination, or the Canadian Futures Examination, Parts I and II, or the National Commodity Futures Examination and the Canadian Futures Examination, Part II, or the Canadian Commodity Futures Examination and the Canadian Futures Examination, Part I and

- (a) ~~Is currently approved as a registered futures contract representative options;~~
- (b) ~~Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing; or~~
- (c) ~~Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of that category of approval lapsing.~~

8. ~~The Canadian Commodity Supervisors Examination~~

An applicant shall be exempt from writing the Canadian Commodity Supervisors Examination if the applicant has been approved continuously as a commodity supervisor since January, 1980.

9. ~~The Branch Managers Course~~

An applicant shall be exempt from writing the Branch Managers Course if the applicant

- (a) ~~Has been approved continuously as a branch manager since August 1, 1987;~~
- (b) ~~Has successfully completed the Canadian Branch Managers Qualifying Examination and
 - (i) ~~Is currently approved as a branch manager;~~
 - (ii) ~~Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing; or~~
 - (iii) ~~Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of that category of approval lapsing.~~~~
- (c) ~~Has been approved continuously as a sales manager since January 24, 1994, unless the sales manager is currently seeking approval as a branch manager; or~~
- (d) ~~Has successfully completed both
 - (i) ~~The Partners, Directors and Officers Qualifying Examination prior to February 1, 1990 and
 - A. ~~Is currently approved as a partner, director or officer;~~
 - B. ~~Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing; or~~~~~~

- ~~C. — Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of that category of approval lapsing, and~~
- ~~(ii) — The Registered Options Principals Qualifying Examination and~~
- ~~A. — Is currently approved as a designated registered options principal, an alternate registered options principal or a branch manager,~~
- ~~B. — Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing, or~~
- ~~C. — Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of that category of approval lapsing.~~

~~10. — The WEALTH MANAGEMENT ESSENTIALS COURSE~~

~~4. — The Wealth Management Essentials Course~~

~~An applicant shall be~~is exempt from writing the Wealth Management Essentials Course if the applicant

- ~~(a) Was registered for a minimum of two years with a Canadian securities regulatory authority or recognized foreign self-regulatory organization prior to the coming into force of this Rule 2900, Part II, and has not been out of the industry for a period of greater than three years;~~
- ~~(b) — Has successfully completed Part 1 or 2 of the Canadian Investment Management program, and~~
- ~~(i) — Is currently approved as an investment representative or a registered representative,~~
- ~~(ii) — Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing,~~
- ~~(iii) — Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of the approval of that category lapsing,~~
- ~~(iv) — Is currently seeking approval within two years of successfully completing the Wealth Management Techniques Course or the Portfolio Management Techniques Course; or~~
- ~~(v) — Is seeking re-approval within three years of successful completion of the Wealth Management Techniques Course or the Portfolio Management Techniques Course. (c) — Has) has successfully completed the Investment Management Techniques Course or the Professional Financial Planning Course prior to July 4, 2008, having been enrolled prior to July 4, 2006, and 2006 and~~
- ~~(i) — Is currently approved as an investment representative or a registered representative,~~
- ~~(ii) Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing,~~
- ~~(iii) — Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of the approval of that category lapsing, (iv) — Is currently is seeking approval within two years of successfully completing the Wealth Management Techniques Course or the Portfolio Management Techniques Course; or~~
- ~~(v) — Is seeking re-approval within three years of successful completion of the Wealth Management Techniques Course or the Portfolio Management Techniques Course.~~

~~11. — Repealed.~~

~~12. — The Canadian Investment Funds Course~~

~~An applicant shall be exempt from writing the Canadian Investment Funds Course administered by the Investment Funds Institute of Canada if the applicant has successfully completed the Canadian Securities Course and~~

- ~~(a) — Is currently approved as a registered mutual fund representative,~~

- ~~(b) — Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing,~~
- ~~(c) — Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of that category of approval lapsing, or~~
- ~~(d) — Is currently seeking approval within three years of successfully completing the Canadian Securities Course.~~

13. — The Investment Funds in Canada Course

~~An applicant shall be exempt from writing the Investment Funds in Canada Course administered by the Institute of Canadian Bankers if the applicant~~

- ~~(a) — Has successfully completed the Canadian Securities Course and
 - ~~(i) — Is currently approved as a registered mutual fund representative,~~
 - ~~(ii) — Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing,~~
 - ~~(iii) — Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of that category of approval lapsing, or~~
 - ~~(iv) — Is currently seeking approval within three years of successfully completing the Canadian Securities Course.~~~~

14. — The Principles of Mutual Funds Investment Course

~~An applicant shall be exempt from writing the Principles of Mutual Funds Investment Course administered by the Canadian Trust Institute if the applicant~~

- ~~(a) — has successfully completed the Canadian Securities Course and
 - ~~(i) — Is currently approved as a registered mutual fund representative,~~
 - ~~(ii) — Was an approved person, currently seeking to re-enter the industry within the same category of approval within three years of their approval lapsing,~~
 - ~~(iii) — Is an approved person, currently seeking re-approval within the same category of approval within three years of that category of approval lapsing, or~~
 - ~~(iv) — Is currently seeking approval within three years of successfully completing the Canadian Securities Course.~~~~

15. — 90-DAY AND 30-DAY TRAINING PROGRAMS

- ~~(b) — Is seeking re-approval within three years of successfully completing the Wealth Management Techniques Course or the Portfolio Management Techniques Course.~~

5. — 90-Day Training Program

An applicant is exempt from completing the 90-day training program if, within three years prior to application, the applicant was approved or registered with a Dealer Member, securities dealer or investment dealer; or by a recognized foreign regulatory authority or self regulatory organization; or as an investment advisor by a Canadian securities regulatory authority in a capacity permitting trading and advising in securities to retail clients.

6. — 30-Day Training Program

~~An applicant shall be~~is exempt from completing the 90-day or 30-day training program required under Rule 2900 Part 1, section 3(a)(iii) A and B if, within three years prior to application, the applicant was registered with a ~~member~~Dealer Member, securities dealer or investment dealer; or by a recognized foreign regulatory authority or self regulatory organization; or as an investment advisor by a Canadian securities regulatory authority in a capacity permitting trading in securities to retail clients.

C. Discretionary Exemptions

- (a) The applicable District Council, ~~pursuant to~~ may, under Rule 20.24, ~~may~~ grant an exemption from the requirement to rewrite or write any required course or examination, in whole or in part, subject to such conditions or restrictions as may be imposed in the exemption, if the applicant demonstrates adequate experience and/or successful completion of industry courses or examinations that the applicable District Council, in its opinion, determines is an acceptable alternative to the required proficiency.

- (b) The Board of Directors may prescribe a fee to be paid for any exemption application under this Rule 2900 Part II.

13.1.4 MFDA Sets Date for Kerry Scharfenberg Hearing in Edmonton, Alberta

NEWS RELEASE
For immediate release

**MFDA SETS DATE FOR KERRY SCHARFENBERG
HEARING IN EDMONTON, ALBERTA**

September 19, 2008 (Toronto, Ontario) – The Mutual Fund Dealers Association of Canada (“MFDA”) commenced a disciplinary proceeding in respect of Kerry Scharfenberg by Notice of Hearing dated June 27, 2008.

As specified in the Notice of Hearing, the first appearance in this proceeding took place today at 10:00 a.m. (Alberta) before a three-member Hearing Panel of the MFDA Prairie Regional Council.

The commencement of the hearing of this matter on the merits has been scheduled to take place before a Hearing Panel of the Prairie Regional Council on Tuesday, January 6, 2009 at 10:00 a.m. (Alberta) in the Hearing Room located at the Fairmont Hotel MacDonald, 10065 - 100th Street, Edmonton, AB, or as soon thereafter as the hearing can be held.

The hearing will be open to the public, except as may be required for the protection of confidential matters.

A copy of the Notice of Hearing is available on the MFDA web site at www.mfda.ca.

The Mutual Fund Dealers Association of Canada is the self-regulatory organization for Canadian mutual fund dealers. The MFDA regulates the operations, standards of practice and business conduct of its 157 members and their approximately 75,000 Approved Persons with a mandate to protect investors and the public interest.

For further information, please contact:

Yvette MacDougall
Hearings Coordinator
(416) 943-4606 or ymacdougall@mfda.ca